# **Drug Allergy: An Updated Practice Parameter**

These parameters were developed by the Joint Task Force on Practice Parameters, representing the American Academy of Allergy, Asthma and Immunology, the American College of Allergy, Asthma and Immunology, and the Joint Council of Allergy, Asthma and Immunology.

#### **Chief Editors**

Roland Solensky, MD, and David A. Khan, MD

#### Workgroup Contributors

I. Leonard Bernstein, MD; Gordon R. Bloomberg, MD; Mariana C. Castells, MD, PhD; Louis M. Mendelson, MD; and Michael E. Weiss, MD

#### **Task Force Reviewers**

David I. Bernstein, MD; Joann Blessing-Moore, MD; Linda Cox, MD; David M. Lang, MD; Richard A. Nicklas, MD; John Oppenheimer, MD; Jay M. Portnoy, MD; Christopher Randolph, MD; Diane E. Schuller, MD; Sheldon L. Spector, MD; Stephen Tilles, MD; and Dana Wallace, MD

#### Reviewers

Paul J. Dowling, MD – Kansas City, MO Mark Dykewicz, MD – Winston-Salem, NC Paul A. Greenberger, MD – Chicago, IL Eric M. Macy, MD – San Diego, CA Kathleen R. May MD – Cumberland, MD Myngoc T. Nguyen, MD – Piedmont, CA Lawrence B. Schwartz, MD, PhD – Richmond, VA

#### CONTRIBUTORS

The Joint Task Force has made a concerted effort to acknowledge all contributors to this parameter. If any contributors have been excluded inadvertently, the Task Force will ensure that appropriate recognition of such contributions is made subsequently.

Reprint requests: Joint Council of Allergy, Asthma & Immunology, 50 N. Brockway St, #3-3, Palatine, IL 60067.

© 2010 American College of Allergy, Asthma & Immunology. Published by Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

doi:10.1016/j.anai.2010.08.002

#### **CHIEF EDITORS**

Roland Solensky, MD Division of Allergy and Immunology The Corvallis Clinic Corvallis, Oregon David A. Khan, MD Professor of Medicine Division of Allergy & Immunology University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center Dallas, Texas

#### WORKGROUP CONTRIBUTORS

I. Leonard Bernstein, MD
Professor of Clinical Medicine
University of Cincinnati College of Medicine
Cincinnati, Ohio
Gordon R. Bloomberg, MD
Associate Professor, Department of Pediatrics
Division of Allergy & Pulmonary Medicine
Washington University School of Medicine
Saint Louis, Missouri
Mariana C. Castells, MD, PhD
Director, Desensitization Program
Associate Director, Allergy Immunology Training Program
Brigham & Women's Hospital
Harvard Medical School
Boston, Massachusetts

These parameters were developed by the Joint Task Force on Practice Parameters, representing the American Academy of Allergy, Asthma and Immunology; the American College of Allergy, Asthma and Immunology; and the Joint Council of Allergy, Asthma and Immunology.

The American Academy of Allergy, Asthma and Immunology (AAAAI) and the American College of Allergy, Asthma and Immunology (ACAAI) have jointly accepted responsibility for establishing "Drug Allergy: An Updated Practice Parameter." This is a complete and comprehensive document at the current time. The medical environment is a changing environment, and not all recommendations will be appropriate for all patients. Because this document incorporated the efforts of many participants, no single individual, including those who served on the Joint Task Force, is authorized to provide an official AAAAI or ACAAI interpretation of these practice parameters. Any request for information about or an interpretation of these practice of the AAAAI, the ACAAI should be directed to the Executive Offices of the AAAAI, the ACAAI, and the Joint Council of Allergy, Asthma and Immunology. These parameters are not designed for use by pharmaceutical companies in drug promotion.

#### Louis M. Mendelson, MD

Clinical Professor University of Connecticut Partner, Connecticut Asthma & Allergy Center, LLC West Hartford, Connecticut **Michael E. Weiss, MD** Clinical Professor of Medicine, University of Washington, School of Medicine Seattle, Washington

### TASK FORCE REVIEWERS

David I. Bernstein, MD Department of Clinical Medicine, Division of Immunology University of Cincinnati College of Medicine Cincinnati, Ohio Joann Blessing-Moore, MD Department of Immunology Stanford University Medical Center Palo Alto, California Linda Cox, MD Department of Medicine Nova Southeastern University Davie, Florida David M. Lang, MD Allergy/Immunology Section, Division of Medicine Cleveland Clinic Foundation Cleveland, Ohio **Richard A. Nicklas, MD** Department of Medicine George Washington Medical Center Washington, DC John Oppenheimer, MD Department of Internal Medicine New Jersey Medical School Morristown, New Jersey Jay M. Portnoy, MD Section of Allergy, Asthma & Immunology The Children's Mercy Hospital University of Missouri-Kansas City School of Medicine Kansas City, Missouri Christopher Randolph, MD Center for Allergy, Asthma and Immunology Yale Hospital Waterbury, Connecticut Diane E. Schuller, MD Department of Pediatrics Pennsylvania State University Milton S. Hershey Medical College Hershey, Pennsylvania Sheldon L. Spector, MD Department of Medicine UCLA School of Medicine Los Angeles, California

### Stephen A. Tilles, MD

Department of Medicine University of Washington School of Medicine Redmond, Washington **Dana Wallace, MD** Department of Medicine Nova Southeastern University Davie, Florida

### **Invited Reviewers**

Paul J. Dowling, MD – Kansas City, MO Mark S. Dykewicz, MD – Winston Salem, NC Paul A. Greenberger, MD – Chicago, IL Eric M. Macy, MD – San Diego, CA Kathleen R. May, MD – Cumberland, MD Myngoc T. Nguyen, MD – Piedmont, CA

### **Ad Hoc Reviewers**

Lawrence B. Schwartz, MD

# Acknowledgments

The Joint Task Force wishes to acknowledge the following individuals who also contributed substantially to the creation of this parameter: Erin Shae Johns, PhD, and Jessica Karle, MS, for their immense help with formatting and restructuring this document; Susan Grupe for providing key administrative help to the contributors and reviewers of this parameter; and Brett Buchmiller, MD, for his assistance in creating the algorithms in this parameter.

#### Classification of Recommendations and Evidence Category of evidence:

- Ia Evidence from meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials
- Ib Evidence from at least one randomized controlled trial
- IIa Evidence from at least one controlled study without randomization
- IIb Evidence from at least one other type of quasiexperimental study
- III Evidence from nonexperimental descriptive studies, such as comparative studies
- IV Evidence from expert committee reports or opinions or clinical experience of respected authorities or both

# Strength of recommendation:

- A Directly based on category I evidence
- B Directly based on category II evidence or extrapolated from category I evidence
- C Directly based on category III evidence or extrapolated from category I or II evidence
- D Directly based on category IV evidence or extrapolated from category I, II, or III evidence
- E Based on consensus of the Joint Task Force on Practice Parameters

#### PREFACE

The objective of "Drug Allergy: An Updated Practice Parameter" is to improve the care of patients by providing the practicing physician with an evidence-based approach to the diagnosis and management of adverse drug reactions. This document was developed by a Working Group under the aegis of the Joint Task Force on Practice Parameters, which has published 26 practice parameters and updated parameters for the field of allergy/immunology (these can be found online at www.jcaai.org). The 3 national allergy and immunology societies-the American Academy of Allergy, Asthma and Immunology (AAAAI), the American College of Allergy, Asthma and Immunology (ACAAI), and the Joint Council of Allergy, Asthma and Immunology (JCAAI)have given the Joint Task Force the responsibility for both creating new parameters and updating existing parameters. This parameter builds on "Disease Management of Drug Hypersensitivity: A Practice Parameter," which was published in 1999 by the Joint Task Force on Practice Parameters. It follows the same general format as that document, with some substantive changes reflecting advancements in scientific knowledge and their effect on management of drug allergy. This document was written and reviewed by specialists in the field of allergy and immunology and was exclusively funded by the 3 allergy and immunology organizations noted above.

A Working Group chaired by Roland Solensky, MD, prepared the initial draft, which was then reviewed by the Joint Task Force. A comprehensive search of the medical literature was conducted using Ovid MEDLINE and the Cochrane Database and Keywords relating to drug allergy. Published clinical studies were rated by category of evidence and used to establish the strength of clinical recommendations. The working draft of "Drug Allergy: An Updated Practice Parameter" was reviewed by a large number of experts in allergy and immunology. These experts included reviewers appointed by the AAAAI and ACAAI. The authors carefully reviewed and considered additional comments from these reviewers. The revised final document presented here was approved by the sponsoring organizations and represents an evidence-based; broadly accepted consensus parameter.

This updated parameter contains several significant changes from the original parameter on "Disease Management of Drug Hypersensitivity: A Practice Parameter." The title of the parameter was changed from drug hypersensitivity to drug allergy. In this updated parameter the term *drug allergy* is defined as an immunologically mediated response to a pharmaceutical and/or formulation (excipient) agent in a sensitized person. The implication is that drug allergy does not simply include only IgE-mediated reactions. Another significant change is the introduction of the new term *induction of drug tolerance* to encompass classic IgE-mediated drug desensitizations and other non–IgE-mediated "desensitization" procedures for various medications. In addition, several new sections have been added, including a new glossary with new terms, new classifications and subclassifications for drug reactions, and new sections on drug allergic reactions to chemotherapeutic agents, corticosteroids, disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs, antimycobacterial drugs, biologic modifiers, immunosuppressive agents, immunomodulatory agents, complementary medications, and druginduced granuloma with or without vasculitis. Significant updates to sections on cutaneous manifestations of drug reactions, laboratory testing,  $\beta$ -lactam allergy, cross-reactivity between carbapenems and penicillin, and human immunodeficiency virus medications have been added. Finally, a number of protocols for induction of drug tolerance procedures have been added.

The Executive Summary emphasizes the key updates since the 1999 drug hypersensitivity parameter. This Executive Summary has been significantly expanded to include the new sections and highlight the major updates to this parameter. It should be noted that the Executive Summary does not discuss all of this parameter's topics in depth. An annotated algorithm in this document summarizes the major decision points for the evaluation and treatment of patients who have experienced possible adverse drug reactions (Fig 1). This is followed by a list of summary statements that represent the key points to consider in the evaluation and management of drug hypersensitivity reactions. Within the evidence-based commentary, the summary statements are repeated and are followed by the text that supports that summary statement. The evidence-based commentary first discusses general issues relating to drug allergy, including definitions, classifications, risk factors, and the general approach to evaluation, diagnosis, management, and prevention (sections I through VI). Subsequently, specific types of drugs are discussed (section VID.

The Joint Task Force on Practice Parameters would like to thank the AAAAI, ACAAI, and JCAAI, who supported the preparation of the updated parameter, and the large number of individuals who have so kindly dedicated their time and effort to the preparation and review of this document.

#### **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

#### **Classification of Adverse Reactions to Drugs**

Adverse drug reactions (ADRs) result in major health problems in the United States in both the inpatient and outpatient settings. ADRs are broadly categorized into predictable (type A) and unpredictable (type B) reactions. Predictable reactions are usually dose dependent, are related to the known pharmacologic actions of the drug, and occur in otherwise healthy individuals. They are estimated to comprise approximately 80% of all ADRs. Unpredictable reactions are generally dose independent, are unrelated to the pharmacologic actions of the drug, and occur only in susceptible individuals. Unpredictable reactions are subdivided into drug intolerance, drug idiosyncrasy, drug allergy, and pseudoallergic reactions. Both type A and type B reactions may be influenced by genetic predisposition of the patient.



Figure 1. Algorithm for disease management of drug allergy.

In this parameter, drug allergy is defined as an immunologically mediated response to a pharmaceutical and/or formulation (excipient) agent in a sensitized person. The classification of drug allergies is impeded by our limited understanding of the underlying mechanisms. Although the Gell-Coombs classification served a useful purpose in its time, it does not account for many common clinical problems. Nevertheless, when applicable we will still refer to recent modifications of that system. Our knowledge of IgE-mediated drug allergy is derived chiefly from the vast amount of research involving penicillin allergy. Beyond this, our knowledge of drug allergy mechanisms is limited but emerging. There have, however, been great strides made in our understanding of other drug allergies and adverse drug reactions such as aspirin-exacerbated respiratory disease (AERD).

Drug allergy may be classified by the Gell-Coombs classification of human hypersensitivity: IgE-mediated (type I), cytotoxic (type II), immune complex (type III), and cellular mediated (type IV). Delayed hypersensitivity type IV reactions are mediated by cellular immune mechanisms. A recently proposed modification subdivides type IV reactions into 4 categories involving activation and recruitment of monocytes (IVa), eosinophils (IVb), CD4<sup>+</sup> or CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (IVc), and neutrophils (IVd).<sup>1</sup> The classic reaction in this category is contact dermatitis, a condition in which the topical induction and elicitation of sensitization by a drug is entirely limited to the skin. It appears that Gell-Coombs type IV reactions are also responsible for delayed cutaneous eruptions, such as maculopapular exanthems due to antibiotics (eg, amoxicillin and sulfonamides) and acute generalized exanthematous pustulosis. Drug allergy may also be classified by the predominant tissue or organ involved (eg, systemic, cutaneous, hepatic), which is useful in light of the difficulty that sometimes occurs in determining the immunologic mechanism involved. Table 1 highlights the spectrum of drug allergic reactions and syndromes that will be discussed in greater detail in this parameter.

The p-i concept (pharmacologic interaction with immune receptors) is a recently proposed addition to drug hypersensitivity classification. In this scheme, a drug binds noncovalently to a T-cell receptor, which may lead to an immune response via interaction with an major histocompatibility receptor. In this scenario, no sensitization is required because there is direct stimulation of memory and effector T cells, analogous to the concept of superantigens.<sup>2,3</sup>

The structural characteristics of certain drugs, such as penicillin and peptides, may help predict the type of hypersensitivity reaction; however, this is not always the case. Other drug-specific risk factors include the dose, route of administration, duration of treatment, repetitive exposure to the drug, and concurrent illnesses. Host risk factors include age, sex, atopy, specific genetic polymorphisms, and inherent

Table 1. Drug Allergic Reactions and Svr	ndromes
--	---------

	Clinical manifestations	Examples of causative agents
IgE mediated	Urticaria, angioedema, bronchospasm, anaphylaxis	β-Lactam antibiotics, platinum-based chemotherapeutics, perioperative agents
Cytotoxic	Hemolytic anemia, thrombocytopenia, granulocytopenia	Penicillin, quinine, sulfonamides
Immune complex	Serum sickness	Penicillin, infliximab, thymoglobulin
Delayed type hypersensitivity	Contact dermatitis, exanthems	Neomycin, glucocorticoids, penicillin, sulfonamide antibiotics
Hypersensitivity vasculitis	Cutaneous or visceral vasculitis	Hydralazine, penicillamine, propylthiouracil
DRESS	Cutaneous, fever, eosinophilia, hepatic dysfunction, lymphadenopathy	Anticonvulsants, sulfonamides, minocycline, allopurinol
Pulmonary drug hypersensitivity	Pneumonitis, fibrosis	Nitrofurantoin, bleomycin, methotrexate
Systemic drug-induced lupus erythematosus	Arthralgias, myalgias, fever, malaise	Hydralazine, procainamide, isoniazid
Cutaneous drug-induced lupus erythematosus	Erythematous/scaly plaques in photodistribution	Hydrochlorothiazide, calcium channel blockers, ACE inhibitors
Drug-induced granulomatous disease	Churg-Strauss syndrome, Wegener's granulomatosis	Propylthiouracil, leukotriene modifiers
Immunologic hepatitis	Hepatitis, cholestatic jaundice	Para-aminosalicylic acid, sulfonamides, phenothiazines
Blistering disorders	Erythema multiforme, SJS, TEN	Sulfonamides, cephalosporins, imidazole anticonvulsants, NSAIDs
Serum sickness-like reactions	Erythema multiforme, arthralgias	Cefaclor, cefprozil
Immunologic nephropathy	Interstitial nephritis, membranous glomerulonephritis	Penicillin, sulfonamides, gold, penicillamine, allopurinol

Abbreviations: ACE, angiotensin-converting enzyme; DRESS, drug rash with eosinophilia and systemic symptoms; NSAIDs, nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs; SJS, Stevens-Johnson syndrome; TEN, toxic epidermal necrolysis.

predisposition to react to multiple unrelated drugs (multiple drug allergy syndrome).

#### History and Physical Examination

The history, physical examination, and objective clinical and laboratory tests are important components in the clinical evaluation and diagnosis of drug hypersensitivity. The history should focus on such items as previous and current drug use, the toxicity and allergenicity of previously and currently used drugs, and the temporal sequence of events between initiation of therapy and onset of symptoms. Physical examination should include all systems that could possibly account for the clinical presentation. Cutaneous manifestations are the most common presentation for drug allergic reactions. Although drug allergic reactions may present with noncutaneous physical findings, these findings are generally nonspecific and are not nearly as helpful in diagnosis and management decisions. Therefore, the emphasis in this parameter on the physical examination focuses on cutaneous findings.

Characterization of cutaneous lesions is important in regard to determining the cause, further diagnostic tests, and management decisions. Numerous cutaneous reaction patterns have been reported in drug allergy, including exanthems, urticaria, angioedema, acne, bullous eruptions, fixed drug eruptions, erythema multiforme, lupus erythematosus, photosensitivity, psoriasis, purpura, vasculitis, pruritus, and life-threatening cutaneous reactions such as Stevens-Johnson syndrome (SJS), toxic epidermal necrolysis (TEN), exfoliative dermatitis, and drug rash with eosinophilia and systemic symptoms (DRESS).<sup>4</sup>

#### **Diagnostic Tests**

Possible clinical tests might include but are not limited to a chest x-ray examination, a complete blood cell count with differential, sedimentation rate, nuclear and cytoplasmic autoantibody tests, and other specific immunologic tests. A retrospective diagnosis of anaphylaxis may be determined by detecting an increase in serum total tryptase levels above baseline or in serum mature tryptase (also known as  $\beta$ -tryptase). The most useful test for detecting IgE-mediated drug reactions caused by many large-molecular-weight biologicals and penicillin is the immediate hypersensitivity skin test. Relatively few studies with small numbers of patients have evaluated the specificity and sensitivity of third-generation assays for detection of penicillin specific IgE in vitro.<sup>5,6</sup> These studies demonstrate relatively high specificity (97%-100%) but lower sensitivity (29%-68%) for penicillin specific IgE. Therefore, although a positive in vitro test result for penicillin specific IgE is highly predictive of penicillin allergy, a negative in vitro test result does not adequately exclude penicillin allergy. The basophil activation test is a recently described method of evaluating expression of CD63 on basophils after stimulation with an allergen.<sup>7</sup> There are limited data using this method to evaluate patients with possible allergies to  $\beta$ -lactam antibiotics and nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs).<sup>8-10</sup> Further confirmatory

studies, especially with commercially available tests, are needed before its general acceptance as a diagnostic tool.

Patch testing is the most reliable technique for diagnosis of contact dermatitis caused by topically applied drugs. The diagnosis of contact dermatitis usually can be verified by patch testing. In recent years there have been reports concerning the diagnostic utility of patch tests with systemically administered drugs in non–IgE-mediated cutaneous drug reactions.<sup>11</sup> Drug patch testing may be useful for certain types of cutaneous drug reactions, including maculopapular exanthems, acute generalized exanthematous pustulosis, and fixed drug eruptions,<sup>12-14</sup> but generally is not helpful for SJS or urticarial eruptions.<sup>12-15</sup>

In complex cases where multiple drugs are involved without a clear-cut temporal relationship, a skin biopsy may be useful in suggesting a drug-induced eruption. However, there are no absolute histologic criteria for the diagnosis of druginduced eruptions, and a skin biopsy may not definitively exclude alternative causes.<sup>16</sup>

#### **Induction of Drug Tolerance and Graded Challenges**

What has often been referred to as drug desensitization is more appropriately described in this parameter as a temporary induction of drug tolerance. Drug tolerance is defined as a state in which a patient with a drug allergy will tolerate a drug without an adverse reaction. Drug tolerance does not indicate either a permanent state of tolerance or that the mechanism involved was immunologic tolerance. Induction of drug tolerance procedures modify a patient's response to a drug to temporarily allow treatment with it safely. They are indicated only in situations where an alternate non-cross-reacting medication cannot be used. Induction of drug tolerance can involve IgE immune mechanisms, non-IgE immune mechanisms, pharmacologic mechanisms, and undefined mechanisms (Table 2). All procedures to induce drug tolerance involve administration of incremental doses of the drug. Through various mechanisms, these procedures induce a temporary state of tolerance to the drug, which is maintained only as long as the patient continues to take the specific drug.

Where there is a definite medical indication for the agent in question, either induction of drug tolerance or graded challenge procedures may be considered, depending on the history of the previous reaction and the likelihood that the patient is currently allergic to that agent. If there is a low likelihood of drug allergy, a graded challenge or test dose to the specific drug in question may provide a useful confirmation that administration of the drug will not result in an immediate reaction. The purpose of graded challenge is to cautiously administer a drug to a patient who is unlikely to be allergic to it and there is no intention to induce tolerance to the drug. Patients who tolerate a graded challenge are considered to not be allergic to the drug and are not at increased risk for future reactions compared with the general population.

The choice of whether to introduce a clinically indicated drug via graded challenge or via induction of drug tolerance

Tahla 2	Classification	of Induction of	Drug	Tolerance	(Formerly	Referred	to as	Desensitization)	а
Table 2.	Classification		Drug	TUIEI al ICE	(Formen)	y nelelleu	iu as	Desensitization	1

Type of drug tolerance	Time/duration	Initial dose	Possible outcomes	Example
Immunologic IgE (drug desensitization)	Hours	Micrograms	Antigen-specific mediator depletion, downregulation of receptors	Penicillin
Immunologic non-IgE	Hours to days	Milligrams	Unknown	Trimethoprim- sulfamethoxazole
Pharmacologic	Hours to days	Milligrams	Metabolic shift, internalization of receptors	Aspirin
Undefined	Days to Weeks	Micrograms to milligrams	Unknown	Allopurinol

<sup>a</sup> What has often been referred to as drug desensitization is more appropriately described as induction of drug tolerance. Induction of drug tolerance can involve IgE immune mechanisms, non-IgE immune mechanisms, pharmacologic mechanisms, and mixed or unknown mechanisms. All involved administration of incremental doses of the drug. This table indicates the characteristics of these 4 types of drug tolerance.

mainly depends on the likelihood that the patient is allergic at the time of the procedure. Patients who, based on their history and/or diagnostic test results, are unlikely to be allergic to a drug may undergo graded challenge. Patients who have a relatively higher likelihood of being allergic to a drug should undergo an induction of drug tolerance procedure. Graded challenge (or induction of drug tolerance) should almost never be performed if the reaction history is consistent with a severe non–IgE-mediated reaction, such as SJS, TEN, interstitial nephritis, hepatitis, or hemolytic anemia.

#### Other Immunologic Drug Allergy Syndromes

Specific drugs or classes of drugs may be associated with characteristic syndromes, which may not conform to typical presentations defined by the Gell-Coombs classification system. Table 1 lists the various other immunologic drug allergic syndromes discussed in the parameter.

#### Specific Drugs and Biologic Agents

Drug allergic reactions have been reported to most all medications. However, certain drugs are more frequently associated with specific types of reactions. Significant updates on the following drugs and biologic agents have been made in this updated parameter and are discussed elsewhere in more detail.

#### Antimicrobials

The most important causes of immediate hypersensitivity reactions are antibiotics, particularly  $\beta$ -lactam antibiotics. Approximately 10% of patients report a history of penicillin allergy. However, up to 90% of these individuals are able to tolerate penicillin and are designated as having "penicillin allergy" unnecessarily.<sup>17,18</sup> Use of broad-spectrum antibiotics in patients designated as being "penicillin allergic" is associated with higher costs, increased antibiotic resistance, and may compromise optimal medical care.<sup>19</sup> Penicillin skin testing is the most reliable method for evaluating IgE-mediated penicillin allergy. Ideally, both major and minor determinant reagents are used for skin testing. Penicillin challenges of individuals skin test negative to penicilloylpolylysine and penicillin G<sup>20,21</sup> have similar reaction rates compared with

individuals skin test negative to the full set of major and minor penicillin determinants.<sup>17,18</sup>

Varying degrees of allergic cross-reactivity between penicillin and cephalosporins have been documented. Overall, most patients with a history of penicillin allergy tolerate cephalosporins,<sup>22</sup> but there are rare reports of anaphylactic reactions, including fatal reactions.<sup>23</sup> Patients with a history of penicillin allergy who have negative skin test results to penicillin using major and minor determinants may receive cephalosporins safely.<sup>24</sup> Skin testing for cephalosporins and other  $\beta$ -lactam antibiotics is not standardized, as it is for penicillin. There is no allergic cross-reactivity between penicillin and monobactams. The degree of cross-reactivity between penicillin and carbapenems appears to be low.25,26 IgE-mediated reactions to non- $\beta$ -lactam antibiotics may occur but are less common. There is no standardized skin testing for evaluation of immediate-type allergy to non- $\beta$ lactam antibiotics.

Sulfonamide antibiotics rarely cause IgE-mediated reactions and more commonly result in delayed maculopapular exanthems, particularly in human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)-positive patients. There is no evidence to suggest allergic cross-reactivity between sulfonamide antibiotics and nonantibiotic sulfonamides.27 Vancomycin rarely causes IgEmediated reactions, but more than 50% of patients experience immediate cutaneous erythema, flushing, and pruritus (red man syndrome), which is the result of non-IgE-mediated histamine release. Red man syndrome reactions can be prevented by slowing the rate of infusion and premedicating with histamine<sub>1</sub> receptor antihistamines. Although aminoglycosides rarely cause hypersensitivity reactions, there are individual case reports of IgE-mediated systemic reactions. Reports of IgE-mediated anaphylactic reactions to quinolones appear to be increasing, possibly due to increased use of these agents.<sup>28-31</sup> In vitro studies suggest a large extent of allergic cross-reactivity among quinolones,<sup>2,28</sup> but there are no clinical studies to confirm this. Delayed cutaneous eruptions appear in approximately 2% of guinolone-treated patients.<sup>32,33</sup> There is evidence to show that drug-specific T cells are responsible for delayed maculopapular exanthems from guinolones.<sup>2</sup>

Allergic drug reactions to antimycobacterial drugs can induce both minor and life-threatening reactions. Many allergic reactions were also encountered after use of second-generation drugs, including isoniazid, ethambutol, pyrazinamide, and rifampicin.<sup>34</sup> These include anaphylaxis, angioedema, pulmonary infiltrates, and cutaneous reactions.<sup>35-39</sup>

#### Insulin and Oral Antidiabetic Drugs

Since the introduction of purified human recombinant insulin, allergy to insulin is rare and is now encountered in less than 1% of patients.<sup>40-43</sup> However, life-threatening allergic reactions to human insulin and insulin analogs (Aspart, Lispro, and Glargine) have been documented and can be confirmed by appropriate intracutaneous and/or in vitro testing.<sup>44,45</sup> The mechanisms of immunogenic reactions to recombinant human insulin are not entirely clear but may relate to structural changes of insulin, including insulin aggregation (fibrillation).<sup>46</sup> Leukocytoclastic vasculitis, generalized arteritis, granulomatous hepatitis, and autoimmune pemphigus vulgaris are rare immune-mediated reactions that have been described to occur during treatment with metformin and/or sulfonylurea antidiabetic agents.<sup>47-53</sup>

#### **Cancer Chemotherapeutic Agents**

Hypersensitivity reactions have been reported for virtually all commonly used chemotherapeutic agents. Reactions range from mild cutaneous eruptions to fatal anaphylaxis. Some reactions may be the result of excipients rather than the active drug, such as Cremophor-EL, a lipid solvent vehicle used in paclitaxel and other intravenous chemotherapeutics. In the taxane family, paclitaxel and docetaxel produce anaphylactic reactions in as many as 42% of patients on first administration,<sup>54</sup> suggesting an anaphylactoid mechanism. Pretreatment with systemic corticosteroids and antihistamines prevents the reaction in more than 90% of patients.<sup>55</sup> Patients who react despite pretreatment can usually be successfully desensitized.<sup>56-58</sup> Another option for patients who react to paclitaxel is to switch to docetaxel because most are able to tolerate it.59 Platinum compounds (cisplatin, carboplatin, and oxaliplatin) typically cause hypersensitivity reactions after completion of several treatment courses,<sup>60,61</sup> suggesting an immunologic mechanism. Pretreatment with corticosteroids and antihistamines does not prevent these reactions.<sup>62</sup> Skin testing with the undiluted drug has been found to identify patients at risk of reactions, and skin testing should be repeated before each subsequent course with the drug.<sup>61,63,64</sup> For patients with positive skin test results, various rapid induction of drug tolerance protocols have been reported, but they are not uniformly successful.<sup>61,63,64</sup> Recently, a 12-step desensitization protocol for a variety of chemotherapeutic agents, including platinum compounds, has been reported to be completely successful in 413 procedures, with 94% of procedures having only a mild or no reaction.58

Methotrexate is a cause of noncytotoxic pulmonary reactions.<sup>65,66</sup> Methotrexate pneumonitis occurs most frequently within the first year of treatment, and the reported incidence of this reaction varies from 0.86% to 6.9%.<sup>67,68</sup> If use of the drug is inadvertently continued, interstitial fibrosis may ensue.

# Medications for Patients With HIV Infections and AIDS

Drug reactions are common in patients infected with the HIV virus, and in some cases, the incidence of reactions may be related to the degree of immunodeficiency.<sup>69-73</sup> Adverse reactions to sulfonamides may complicate both treatment and prophylaxis of *Pneumocystis jiroveci* pneumonia in many patients with AIDS. The most common reaction to sulfonamides is a morbilliform, maculopapular eruption often associated with fever that occurs after 7 to 12 days of therapy. For HIV-positive individuals who develop typical delayed maculopapular rashes after trimethoprim and sulfamethoxazole administration, many different induction of drug tolerance protocols have been developed and used successfully.74-85 It is not clear how or to what extent the immune response to trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole is modified during these types of induction of drug tolerance procedures. In a randomized trial of trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole induction of drug tolerance vs rechallenge (single dose), the success rates were 79% and 72%, respectively, and the difference was not statistically significant.<sup>83</sup> Sulfadiazine, acyclovir, zidovudine, dapsone, and pentamidine induction of drug tolerance protocols have also been developed for patients with AIDS.<sup>86-91</sup>

At least 20 antiretroviral drugs are approved by the US Food and Drug Administration for highly active antiretroviral therapy of HIV-infected patients.<sup>92,93</sup> Many of these drugs have been associated with hypersensitivity responses ranging from mild cutaneous rashes to life-threatening SJS and TEN.<sup>94</sup>. Abacavir, a nucleoside-analogue reverse transcriptase inhibitor, causes severe hypersensitivity in 4% to 5% of patients.<sup>95,96</sup> Such reactions have been identified with a genetic risk factor, the presence of HLA B 5701.<sup>97,98</sup>

#### **Medications for Autoimmune Diseases**

A variety of allergic reactions to disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs (DMARDS) may occur, including gold salts, D-penicillamine, sulfasalazine, hydroxychloroquine, and leflunomide. Reactions such as vasculitis, DRESS, photodermatitis, and TEN have been reported with DMARDs. Newer immunomodulator agents have been introduced for several autoimmune diseases. Although hypersensitivity reactions to several of these have already occurred, it is too early to assess the global impact of adverse events for diverse immunologic interventions in early development. Allergic reactions to immunosuppressant and anti-inflammatory drugs may be encountered in the treatment of chronic cutaneous diseases. Dermatologic immunosuppressant drugs, such as macrolides (eg, cyclosporine, tacrolimus, pimecrolimus, and sirolimus), dapsone, and mycophenolate mofetil, have been reported to cause drug allergic reactions in addition to their known predictable adverse reactions.

#### **Perioperative Agents and Blood Products**

Anaphylactic and anaphylactoid reactions during general anesthesia may be due to induction agents, neuromuscular blocking agents, antibiotics, opiates, and latex. Because anaphylactic reactions cannot be distinguished from anaphylactoid, nonimmune occurrences, it has been recommended that plasma histamine, tryptase, and specific IgEs (if available) may be ordered at the time of reaction and skin tests be performed later.99 Immediate generalized reactions to protamine, including hypotension, shock, and death, have been reported.<sup>100,101</sup> Diabetic patients receiving protamine-containing insulins appear to be at 40 to 50 times greater risk for developing anaphylaxis.<sup>102,103</sup> Reactions due to blood and blood products include urticaria, anaphylaxis (particularly in patients with complete IgA deficiency), anaphylactoid reactions, and transfusion-related acute lung injury (TRALI). TRALI is a complex syndrome that has multiorgan manifestations and has only recently been identified to be an important cause of transfusion-associated morbidity and mortality.<sup>104,105</sup>

#### Opiates

Opiates and their analogs are a common cause of pseudoallergic reactions that are generally mild, are not life-threatening, and can be attenuated by preadministration of histamine<sub>1</sub> receptor antihistamines. Skin test results to opiates are difficult to interpret because these agents cause release of histamine from skin mast cells in all patients.

#### Corticosteroids

Allergic contact dermatitis due to topical application of corticosteroids is the most common type of allergic reaction induced by this class of drugs. Very rarely, immediate-type allergic reactions to corticosteroids have been described. Most such reported reactions are due to intravenous administration of methylprednisolone and hydrocortisone<sup>106-111</sup>; however, preservatives and diluents have also been implicated.

#### Heparin

Hypersensitivity reactions to unfractionated heparin and lowmolecular-weight heparin are uncommon and include thrombocytopenia, various cutaneous eruptions, hypereosinophilia, and anaphylaxis. Mild thrombocytopenia is due to platelet aggregation and occurs in 1% to 3% of patients treated with unfractionated heparin. Severe thrombocytopenia is caused by immune complexes, a component of which is heparindependent IgG specific for platelet factor 4.<sup>112</sup> This reaction usually occurs after approximately 5 days of treatment with unfractionated heparin and is associated with development of thrombosis and necrosis. A recent outbreak of anaphylactic reactions to heparin in the United States and Germany was attributed to a contaminant in heparin lots, an oversulfated form of chondroitin sulfate. This oversulfated chondroitin sulfate contaminant has been shown in vitro and in vivo to cause activation of the kinin-kallikrein pathway with generation of bradykinin, a potent vasoactive mediator, and C3a and C5a anaphylatoxins.<sup>113</sup> Clinically, reactions to contaminated heparin products were associated with hypotension and abdominal pain, and variably angioedema, but typically lacked urticaria and pruritus.<sup>114</sup> The findings of abdominal pain and angioedema are somewhat analogous to C1 inhibitor deficiency in which symptoms are due to local production of bradykinin.

# Local Anesthetics

Most adverse reactions to local anesthetics are not due to IgE-mediated mechanisms but are due to nonallergic factors that include vasovagal responses, anxiety, toxic reactions including dysrhythmias, and toxic or idiosyncratic reactions due to inadvertent intravenous epinephrine effects. Documentation of IgE-mediated reactions is extremely rare.<sup>115-118</sup> When there is concern about a previously reported reaction, skin testing and incremental challenge with a local anesthetic is a reasonable approach in the evaluation of a possible reaction.

#### **Radiocontrast Media**

Anaphylactoid reactions occur in approximately 1% to 3% of patients who receive ionic radiocontrast media (RCM) and less than 0.5% of patients who receive nonionic agents.<sup>119,120</sup> Severe life-threatening reactions are less common, occurring in 0.22% of patients receiving ionic RCM and 0.04% of patients receiving nonionic agents.<sup>121</sup> Risk factors for anaphylactoid reactions to RCM include female sex, asthma, and a history of previous anaphylactoid reaction to RCM;  $\beta$ -blocker exposure and/or the presence of cardiovascular conditions is associated with greater risk for more serious anaphylactoid reaction.<sup>122-126</sup> There is no convincing evidence in the medical literature that individuals with "seafood allergy" are at elevated risk for anaphylactoid reaction to RCM compared with the general population. Management of a patient who requires RCM and has had a prior anaphylactoid reaction to RCM includes the following: (1) determine whether the study is essential; (2) determine that the patient understands the risks; (3) ensure proper hydration; (4) use a nonionic, iso-osmolar RCM, especially in high-risk patients (asthmatic patients, patients taking  $\beta$ -blockers and those with cardiovascular disease); and (5) use a pretreatment regimen that has been documented to be successful in preventing most reactions.<sup>127-130</sup> Delayed reactions to RCM, defined as those occurring between 1 hour and 1 week after administration, occur in approximately 2% of patients.<sup>131</sup> These reactions most commonly manifest as mild, self-limited cutaneous eruptions and do not require any treatment.<sup>131</sup> The mechanism of delayed skin reactions to RCM appears to be T cell mediated.<sup>132</sup>

#### Aspirin, NSAIDs, and Platelet Inhibitors

Aspirin and NSAIDs can cause a spectrum of drug allergic reactions, including exacerbation of underlying respiratory disease, urticaria, angioedema, anaphylaxis, and rarely pneumonitis and meningitis. AERD is a clinical entity characterized by aspirin- and NSAID-induced respiratory reactions in patients with chronic rhinosinusitis and asthma. AERD does not fit precisely into a specific category of adverse drug reactions. The mechanism of AERD is related to aberrant arachidonic acid metabolism. Patients with AERD also have increased respiratory tract expression of the cysteinyl leukotriene 1 receptor and heightened responsiveness to inhaled leukotriene E4.133,134 Administration of aspirin leads to inhibition of cyclooxygenase 1 (COX-1) with resultant decrease in prostaglandin E<sub>2</sub>. Prostaglandin E<sub>2</sub> normally inhibits 5-lipoxygenase, but with a loss of this modifying effect, arachidonic acid molecules are preferentially metabolized in the 5-lipoxygenase pathway, resulting in increased production of cysteinyl leukotrienes. NSAIDs that preferentially inhibit COX-2 but also inhibit COX-1 at higher doses may result in reactions, depending on the dose given. Selective COX-2 inhibitors almost never cause reactions in patients with AERD and can typically be taken safely.<sup>135-139</sup>

When patients with a history suggestive of AERD (ie, asthma, rhinosinusitis, and history of respiratory reaction to aspirin or aspirin-like drug) are challenged with aspirin, approximately 85% will have a respiratory reaction confirming the diagnosis.<sup>140</sup> A recent study showed that 100% of patients with a history of aspirin causing a severe reaction (poor response to albuterol with need for medical intervention) had positive oral aspirin challenges.<sup>141</sup> Management of patients with AERD involves avoidance of aspirin and NSAIDs and aggressive medical and/or surgical treatment of underlying asthma and rhinitis/sinusitis. A pharmacologic induction of drug tolerance procedure (also known as aspirin desensitization), during which tolerance to aspirin can be induced and maintained, is an important therapeutic option for patients with AERD.

A second clinical presentation of aspirin and NSAID drug allergic reactions is an exacerbation of urticaria or angioedema in patients with chronic idiopathic urticaria. All drugs that inhibit COX-1 cross-react to cause this reaction. Selective COX-2 inhibitors are generally well tolerated in patients with chronic idiopathic urticaria, although there may be rare exceptions.<sup>142-144</sup> A third type of drug allergic reaction is aspirin or single NSAID-induced urticaria or angioedema or anaphylactic reaction, in which case other NSAIDs are tolerated.<sup>145-148</sup> A fourth type of drug allergic reaction to aspirin and NSAIDs is urticaria or angioedema due to aspirin and any NSAID that inhibits COX-1 in patients without chronic urticaria. These reactions may be either drug specific or crossreactive to other NSAIDs.<sup>148</sup> Rarely, some reactions to aspirin or NSAIDs do not fit precisely into these categories and may have blended respiratory and cutaneous reactions.

Allergic rashes are common adverse effects of clopidogrel, a thiopyridine inhibitor of platelet activation that is often recommended in aspirin-intolerant patients. Although the mechanisms of such reactions are unknown, successful oral induction of drug tolerance protocols have been reported.

#### **Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme Inhibitors**

Angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors have 2 major adverse effects—cough and angioedema. Cough occurs in up to 20% of patients, is typically dry and nonproductive, and occurs more commonly in women, blacks, and Asians. The cough generally begins within the first few weeks of treatment, but occasionally the onset may occur much later. Angiotensin receptor blockers (ARBs) are not associated with development of cough.

The incidence of angioedema with ACE inhibitors is approximately 0.1% to 0.7%<sup>149,150</sup> and appears to be more common in blacks.<sup>151,152</sup> The angioedema frequently involves the face or upper airway and can be life-threatening or fatal.<sup>153,154</sup> Reports of angioedema of the intestinal tract secondary to ACE inhibitors have also been described.<sup>155</sup> Patients with C1 esterase inhibitor deficiency are at increased risk of more frequent and severe episodes of angioedema with the administration of ACE inhibitors and should not receive these drugs. Patients typically take ACE inhibitors for months or even years before angioedema occurs. It is also puzzling that recurrent episodes of angioedema occur sporadically despite continued daily use of ACE inhibitors. Most patients with angioedema related to ACE inhibitor usually tolerate ARBs.<sup>156</sup>

#### **Biologic Modifiers**

In the past decade, a number of biologic agents have been developed to neutralize proinflammatory cytokines, their cellular receptors, and IgE antibody.<sup>157,158</sup> Because the clinical experience with these drugs varies (ie, phase 4 experiences), the spectrum of reported allergic reactions may not yet be fully known for all of them. A separate type of classification for adverse reactions to biological agents has been proposed based on the mechanism of reactions.<sup>159</sup> High-dose reactions are related to high cytokine levels administered directly or from cytokines released (cytokine release syndrome). Hypersensitivity reactions may be either antibody or cell-mediated. Immune or cytokine dysregulation may result in secondary immunodeficiency, autoimmunity, or allergic or atopic disorders. Cross-reactive reactions may occur when the biologic agent is intended for a pathologic cell type but cross-reacts with normal cells. Finally, biologics may also result in nonimmunologic adverse effects.

Cytokines, including interferons and anti–tumor necrosis factor  $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ) drugs, have been reported to cause a variety of drug allergic reactions. Allergic drug reactions ranging from cutaneous lesions to severe anaphylaxis may occur during treatment with recombinant interferons. A variety of immune-mediated reactions have occurred during infliximab (Remicade) treatment for adult and juvenile rheumatoid arthritis, Crohn's disease and psoriasis. These reactions include urticaria, flare-up of atopic dermatitis, maculopapular rashes, leukocytoclastic vasculitis, serum sickness, and at least 7 instances of life-threatening anaphylactic reactions.<sup>160-173</sup> Fewer adverse effects have been associated with adalimumab (Humira), another recently available, fully humanized antiTNF- $\alpha$  monoclonal antibody. These effects include injection site pruritic rashes and new-onset asthma.<sup>174,175</sup> New-onset asthma may also appear during treatment with both infliximab and etanercept (Enbrel). Immune-mediated reactions have also been rarely associated with the latter agent, a recombinant TNF- $\alpha$  extracellular protein domain fused to human IgG1 Fc, which neutralizes soluble TNF- $\alpha$ . These reactions include urticaria, rashes, injection site reactions, leukocytoclastic vasculitis, lupus erythematosus, and 1 instance of lung granulomatosis injury.<sup>176-182</sup>

Both cutaneous and systemic allergic reactions have been reported after treatment with both murine and humanized monoclonal antibodies. Hypersensitivity reactions to cetuximab (chimeric mouse-human IgG1 monoclonal antibody against the epidermal growth factor receptor), including IgEmediated anaphylaxis, has been reported to occur at a national rate of 3% or less but much higher (22%) in the Middle South region of the United States.<sup>183</sup> IgE antibodies in this condition are specific for an oligosaccharide galactose-  $\alpha$ -1, 3-galactose, which is present on the Fab portion of the cetuximab heavy chain. In most of these patients, specific IgE cetuximab antibodies were present in patients' sera before therapy.<sup>184</sup> Severe symptoms, such as fever, rigors, chills, and acute respiratory distress syndrome, may occur during administration of the first dose of certain monoclonal antibodies due to a cytokine release syndrome.185,186

Depending on the monoclonal antibody and type of reaction, readministration strategies may include medication pretreatment, slowing infusion rates, or induction of drug tolerance.<sup>184</sup> In patients with immediate-type reactions, successful induction of tolerance to rituximab, infliximab, and trastuzumab has been reported using a 6-hour protocol in combination with corticosteroid and antihistamine premedication.

Rare anaphylactic reactions to anti-IgE humanized monoclonal antibody (omalizumab) were described during phase 3 clinical trials and during the postmarketing surveillance period. The mechanism of these reactions is unclear. Many cases experienced either delayed-onset (2 hours) or protracted progression of signs and symptoms after dose administration. The Omalizumab Joint Task Force report recommended that patients receiving omalizumab should be directly observed, in a physician's office, after receiving omalizumab for 2 hours after the first 3 doses and 30 minutes after subsequent doses.<sup>187</sup>

#### **Complementary Medicines**

The term *complementary medicine* includes herbal products, vitamins, minerals, amino acids, and essential oils.<sup>188</sup> There is widespread belief that these products are safe because they are "natural."<sup>189</sup> However, well-recognized adverse effects, including anaphylaxis, have been reported in patients using bee pollen products.<sup>190</sup> Allergic reactions, including asthma and anaphylaxis, have been reported after ingestion of echinacea, an herb that is derived from several species of a flowering plant.<sup>191</sup> A variety of cutaneous reactions and 1 instance of TEN have been reported after use of Chinese herbal medications, which sometimes have been adulterated

with synthetic medications.<sup>192,193</sup> Because the extent of this problem is unknown, patients should be questioned about the use of herbs and health supplements.

#### **Other Agents**

A number of other agents have been reported to cause drug allergic reactions, including *N*-acetylcysteine, blue dyes, volume expanders, iron-containing dextran, and preservatives. These reactions are discussed further in the text of the parameter.

#### REFERENCES

Note: References after 193 can be found in the complete online version of the Practice Parameter at http://...

- 1. Pichler WJ. Delayed drug hypersensitivity reactions. *Ann Intern Med.* 2003;139:683–693. IV.
- Schmid DA, Depta JP, Luthi M, et al. Transfection of drug-specific T-cell receptors into hybridoma cells: tools to monitor drug interaction with T-cell receptors and evaluate cross-reactivity to related compounds. *Mol Pharmacol.* 2006;70:356–365. IIb.
- Sieben S, Kawakubo Y, Al Masaoudi T, et al. Delayed-type hypersensitivity reaction to p-phenylenediamine is mediated by two different pathways of antigen recognition by specific alpha-beta human T-cell clones. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2002;109:1005–1011. IIb.
- McKenna JK, Leiferman KM. Dermatologic drug reactions. *Immunol Allergy Clin North Am.* 2004;24:399–423. IV.
- Blanca M, Mayorga C, Torres MJ, et al. Clinical evaluation of Pharmacia CAP System RAST FEIA amoxicilloyl and benzylpenicilloyl in patients with penicillin allergy. *Allergy*. 2001;56:862–870. IIa.
- Fontaine C, Mayorga C, Bousquet PJ, et al. Relevance of the determination of serum-specific IgE antibodies in the diagnosis of immediate beta-lactam allergy. *Allergy*. 2007;62:47–52. IIa.
- Sanz ML, Maselli JP, Gamboa PM, et al. Flow cytometric basophil activation test: a review. J Investig Allergol Clin Immunol. 2002;12: 143–254. III.
- Gamboa P, Sanz ML, Caballero MR, et al. The flow-cytometric determination of basophil activation induced by aspirin and other non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) is useful for in vitro diagnosis of the NSAID hypersensitivity syndrome. *Clin Exp Allergy*. 2004;34:1448–1457. IIb.
- Sanz ML, Gamboa PM, Antepara I, et al. Flow cytometric basophil activation test by detection of CD63 expression in patients with immediate-type reactions to betalactam antibiotics. *Clin Exp Allergy*. 2002;32:277–286. IIb.
- Torres MJ, Padial A, Mayorga C, et al. The diagnostic interpretation of basophil activation test in immediate allergic reactions to betalactams. *Clin Exp Allergy*. 2004;34:1768–1775. IIb.
- Romano A, Viola M, Mondino C, et al. Diagnosing nonimmediate reactions to penicillins by in vivo tests. *Int Arch Allergy Immunol.*. 2002;129:169–174. III.
- Barbaud A, Reichert-Penetrat S, Trechot P, et al. The use of skin testing in the investigation of cutaneous adverse drug reactions. *Br J Dermatol.* 1998;139:49–58. IIb.
- Britschgi M, Steiner UC, Schmid S, et al. T-cell involvement in drug-induced acute generalized exanthematous pustulosis. J Clin Invest. 2001;107:1433–1441. III.
- Cuerda Galindo E, Goday Bujan JJ, Garcia Silva JM, et al. Fixed drug eruption from piroxicam. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol. 2004;18: 586–587. III.
- Wolkenstein P, Chosidow O, Flechet ML, et al. Patch testing in severe cutaneous adverse drug reactions, including Stevens-Johnson syndrome and toxic epidermal necrolysis. *Contact Dermatitis*. 1996;35: 234–236. III.
- Bronnimann M, Yawalkar N. Histopathology of drug-induced exanthems: is there a role in diagnosis of drug allergy? *Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol.* 2005;5:317–321. III.

- Sogn DD, Evans R, Shepherd GM, et al. Results of the National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases collaborative clinical trial to test the predictive value of skin testing with major and minor penicillin derivatives in hospitalized adults. *Ann Intern Med.* 1992;152: 1025–1032. IIa.
- Gadde J, Spence M, Wheeler B, et al. Clinical experience with penicillin skin testing in a large inner-city STD clinic. *JAMA*. 1993;270: 2456–2463. III.
- Lee CE, Zembower TR, Fotis MA, et al. The incidence of antimicrobial allergies in hospitalized patients: implications regarding prescribing patterns and emerging bacterial resistance. *Ann Intern Med.* 2000;160: 2819–2822. III.
- Green GR, Rosenblum AH. Report of the penicillin study group, American Academy of Allergy. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1971;48: 331–343. IIb.
- del Real GA, Rose ME, Ramirez-Atamoros MT, et al. Penicillin skin testing in patients with a history of beta-lactam allergy. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol.* 2007;98:355–359. III.
- Romano A, Gueant-Rodriguez RM, Viola M, et al. Cross-reactivity and tolerability of cephalosporins in patients with immediate hypersensitivity to penicillins. *Ann Intern Med.* 2004;141:16–22. IIb.
- Pumphrey RSH, Davis S. Under-reporting of antibiotic anaphylaxis may put patients at risk. *Lancet.* 1999;353:1157–1158. III.
- 24. Park M, Markus P, Matesic D, et al. Safety and effectiveness of a preoperative allergy clinic in decreasing vancomycin use in patients with a history of penicillin allergy. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol.* 2006;97:681–687. III.
- Romano A, Viola M, Gueant-Rodriguez RM, et al. Tolerability of meropenem in patients with IgE-mediated hypersensitivity to penicillins. *Ann Intern Med.* 2007;146:266–269. III.
- Romano A, Viola M, Gueant-Rodriquez RA, et al. Imipenem in patients with immediate hypersensitivity to penicillins. *N Engl J Med.* 2006;354:2835–2837. IIb.
- Strom BL, Schinnar R, Apter AJ, et al. Absence of cross-reactivity between sulfonamide antibiotics and sulfonamide nonantibiotics. N Engl J Med. 2003;349:1628–1635. IIb.
- Manfredi M, Severino M, Testi S, et al. Detection of specific IgE to quinolones. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2004;113:155–160. III.
- Heine H. Cutaneous adverse reaction to ciprofloxacin: demonstration of specific lymphocyte proliferation and cross-reactivity to ofloxacin *in vitro*. Acta Dermato-Venereol. 1997;77:285–286. III.
- 30. Sachs B, Riegel S, Seebeck J, et al. Fluoroquinolone-associated anaphylaxis in spontaneous adverse drug reaction reports in Germany: differences in reporting rates between individual fluoroquinolones and occurrence after first-ever use. *Drug Saf.* 2006;29:1087–1100. III.
- Venturini Diaz M, Lobera Labairu T, del Pozo Gil MD, et al. In vivo diagnostic tests in adverse reactions to quinolones. *J Investig Allergol Clin Immunol.* 2007;17:393–398. III.
- Halkin H. Adverse effects of fluoroquinolones. *Rev Infect Dis.* 1988; 10(suppl 1):S258–S261. IV.
- Schacht P, Arcieri G, Hullman R. Safety of oral ciprofloxacin. Am J Med. 1989;87(suppl 5A):98S-102S. IV.
- 34. Yee D, Valiquette C, Pelletier M, et al. Incidence of serious side effects from first-line antituberculosis drugs among patients treated for active tuberculosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2003;167:1472–1477. III.
- Bakkum RS, Waard-Van Der Spek FB, Thio HB. Delayed-type hypersensitivity reaction to ethambutol and isoniazid. *Contact Dermatitis*. 2002;46:359. III.
- Crook MJ. Isoniazid-induced anaphylaxis. J Clin Pharmacol. 2003;43: 545–546. III.
- Dukes CS, Sugarman J, Cegielski JP, et al. Severe cutaneous hypersensitivity reactions during treatment of tuberculosis in patients with HIV infection in Tanzania. *Trop Geogr Med.* 1992;44:308–311. III.
- Wong PC, Yew WW, Wong CF, et al. Ethambutol-induced pulmonary infiltrates with eosinophilia and skin involvement. *Eur Respir J.* 1995; 8:866–868. III.
- 39. Yagi S, Moriya O, Nakajima M, et al. A case of tuberculous pleurisy associated with myoclonus and Quincke's edema due to isoniazid and

isoniazid sodium methanesulfonate [in Japanese]. Kekkaku. 1989;64: 407-412. III.

- 40. Baur X, Bossert J, Koops F. IgE-mediated allergy to recombinant human insulin in a diabetic. *Allergy*. 2003;58:676–678. III.
- Heinzerling L, Raile K, Rochlitz H, et al. Insulin allergy: clinical manifestations and management strategies. *Allergy*. 2008;63:148–155. III.
- 42. Nagai Y, Mori T, Abe T, et al. Immediate-type allergy against human insulin associated with marked eosinophilia in type 2 diabetic patient. *Endocr J.* 2001;48:311–316. III.
- 43. Schernthaner G. Immunogenicity and allergenic potential of animal and human insulins. *Diabetes Care.* 1993;16(suppl 3):155–165. IV.
- 44. Adachi A, Fukunaga A, Horikawa T. A case of human insulin allergy induced by short-acting and intermediate-acting insulin but not by long-acting insulin. *Int J Dermatol.* 2004;43:597–599. III.
- 45. Castera V, Dutour-Meyer A, Koeppel M, et al. Systemic allergy to human insulin and its rapid and long acting analogs: successful treatment by continuous subcutaneous insulin lispro infusion. *Diabetes Metab.* 2005;31(4 pt 1):391–400. III.
- Brange J, Andersen L, Laursen ED, et al. Toward understanding insulin fibrillation. J Pharm Sci. 1997;86:517–525. IIb.
- Ben Salem C, Hmouda H, Slim R, et al. Rare case of metformininduced leukocytoclastic vasculitis. *Ann Pharmacother*. 2006;40: 1685–1687. III.
- Bukhalo M, Zeitouni NC, Cheney RT. Leukocytoclastic vasculitis induced by use of glyburide: a case of possible cross-reaction of a sulfonamide and a sulfonylurea. *Cutis.* 2003;71:235–238. III.
- 49. Clarke BF, Campbell IW, Ewing DJ, et al. Generalized hypersensitivity reaction and visceral arteritis with fatal outcome during glibenclamide therapy. *Diabetes*. 1974;23:739–742. III.
- Ernst EJ, Egge JA. Celecoxib-induced erythema multiforme with glyburide cross-reactivity. *Pharmacotherapy*. 2002;22:637–640. III.
- Goldberg I, Sasson A, Gat A, et al. Pemphigus vulgaris triggered by glibenclamide and cilazapril. *Acta Dermatovenerol Croat.* 2005;13: 153–155. III.
- 52. Ingelmo M, Vivancos J, Bruguera M, et al. Hypersensitivity vasculitis and granulomatous hepatitis induced by glybenclamide: a case report [in Spanish]. *Med Clin (Barc)*. 1980;75:306–308. III.
- Paterson AJ, Lamey PJ, Lewis MA, et al. Pemphigus vulgaris precipitated by glibenclamide therapy. *J Oral Pathol Med.* 1993;22:92–95. III.
- 54. Eisenhauer EA, ten Bokkel-Huinink WW, Swenerton KD, et al. European-Canadian randomized trial of paclitaxel in relapsed ovarian cancer: high-dose versus low-dose and long versus short infusion. J Clin Oncol. 1994;12:2654–2666. Ib.
- Markman M, Kennedy A, Webster K, et al. Paclitaxel-associated hypersensitivity reactions: experience of the gynecologic oncology program of the Cleveland Clinic cancer Center. J Clin Oncol. 2000; 18:102–105. III.
- Lee CW, Matulonis UA, Castells MC. Carboplatin hypersensitivity: a 12-step protocol effective in 35 desensitizations in patients with gynecological malignancies and mast cell/IgE-mediated reactions. *Gynecol Oncol.* 2004;95:370–376. III.
- Essayan DM, Kagey-Sobotka A, Colarusso PJ, et al. Successful parental desensitization to paclitaxel. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1996;97: 42–46. III.
- Castells MC, Tennant NM, Sloane DE, et al. Hypersensitivity reactions to chemotherapy: outcomes and safety of rapid desensitization in 413 cases. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2008;122:574–580. III.
- Bernstein BJ. Docetaxel as an alternative to paclitaxel after acute hypersensitivity reactions. *Ann Pharmacother*. 2000;11:1332–1335. IV.
- Polyzos A, Tsavaris N, Kosmas C, et al. Hypersensitivity reactions to carboplatin administration are common but not always severe: a 10year experience. *Oncology*. 2001;61:129–133. IIb.
- Zanotti KM, Rybicki LA, Kennedy AW, et al. Carboplatin skin testing: a skin-testing protocol for predicting hypersensitivity to carboplatin chemotherapy. J Clin Oncol. 2001;19:3126–3129. IIa.

- Goldberg A, Confino-Cohen R, Fishman A, et al. A modified, prolonged desensitization protocol in carboplatin allergy. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* 1996;98:841–843. III.
- Markman M, Zanotti K, Peterson G, et al. Expanded experience with an intradermal skin test to predict for the presence or absence of carboplatin hypersensitivity. J Clin Oncol. 2003;21:4611–4614. IIa.
- Garufi C, Cristaudo A, Vanni B, et al. Skin testing and hypersensitivity reactions to oxaliplatin. Ann Oncol. 2003;14:497–498. III.
- 65. Alarcon GS, Kremer JM, Macaluso M, et al; Methotrexate-Lung Study Group. Risk factors for methotrexate-induced lung injury in patients with rheumatoid arthritis: a multicenter, case-control study. *Ann Intern Med.* 1997;127:356–364. III.
- Cooper JJ, White D, Matthay R. Drug-induced pulmonary disease, part 1: cytotoxic drugs; and part 2: noncytotoxic drugs. *Am Rev Respir Dis.* 1986;133:321–340, 526-534. IV.
- 67. Saravanan V, Kelly CA. Reducing the risk of methotrexate pneumonitis in rheumatoid arthritis. *Rheumatology (Oxford).* 2004;43: 143–147. Ia.
- Zisman DA, McCune WJ, Tino G, et al. Drug-induced pneumonitis: the role of methotrexate. *Sarcoidosis Vasc Diffuse Lung Dis.* 2001;18: 243–252. III.
- Lee BL, Safrin S. Interactions and toxicities of drugs used in patients with AIDS. *Clin Infect Dis.* 1992;14:773–779. IV.
- Koopmans PP, vanderVen AJ, Vree TB, et al. Pathogenesis of hypersensitivity reactions to drugs in patients with HIV infection: allergic or toxic? *AIDS*. 1995;9:217–222. IV.
- Carr A, Cooper DA, Penny R. Allergic manifestations of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection. J Clin Immunol. 1991;11: 55–64. IV.
- Carr A, Swanson R, Penny R, et al. Clinical and laboratory markers of hypersensitivity to trimethoprim-sulphamethoxazole in patients with *Pneumocystis carinii* pneumonia and AIDS. *J Infect Dis.* 1993;167: 180–185. III.
- Bayard P, Berger T, Jacobson M. Drug hypersensitivity reactions and human immunodeficiency virus disease. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 1992;5:1237–1257. IV.
- Absar N, Daneshvar H, Beall G. Desensitization to trimethoprim/ sulfamethoxazole in HIV-infected patients. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1994;93:1001–1005. III.
- Gluckstein D, Ruskin J. Rapid oral desensitization to trimethoprimsulfathoxazole (TMP-SMZ): use in prophylaxis for *Pneumocystis carinii* pneumonia in patients with AIDS who were previously intolerant to TMP-SMZ. *Clin Infect Dis.* 1995;20:849–853. III.
- Nguyen M, Weiss PJ, Wallace MR. Two-day oral desensitization to trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole in HIV-infected patients. *AIDS*. 1995; 9:573–575. III.
- Belchi-Hernandez J, Espinosa-Parra FJ. Management of adverse reactions to prophylactic trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole in patients with human immunodeficiency virus infection. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol.* 1996;76:355–358. III.
- Kalanadhabhatta V, Muppidi D, Sahni H, et al. Successful oral desensitization to trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole in acquired immune deficiency syndrome. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. 1996;77:394–400. III.
- Caumes E, Guermonprez G, Lecomte C, et al. Efficacy and safety of desensitization with sulfamethoxazole and trimethoprim in 48 previously hypersensitive patients infected with human immunodeficiency virus. Arch Dermatol. 1997;133:465–469. III.
- Rich JD, Sullivan T, Greineder D, et al. Trimethoprim/sulfamethoxazole incremental dose regimen in human immunodeficiency virus-infected persons. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol.* 1997;79:409–414. III.
- Ryan C, Madalon M, Wortham DW, et al. Sulfa hypersensitivity in patients with HIV infection: onset, treatment, critical review of the literature. *Wis Med J.* 1998;97:23–27. III.
- Demoly P, Messaad D, Sahla H, et al. Six-hour trimethoprimsulfamethoxazole-graded challenge in HIV-infected patients. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* 1998;102(6 pt 1):1033–1036. III.
- Bonfanti P, Pusterla L, Parazzini F, et al. The effectiveness of desensitization versus rechallenge treatment in HIV-positive patients with

previous hypersensitivity to TMP-SMX: a randomized multicentric study. *Biomed Pharmacother*. 2000;54:45–49. Ib.

- 84. Yoshizawa S, Yasuoka A, Kikuchi Y, et al. A 5-day course of oral desensitization to trimethoprim/sulfamethoxazole (T/S) in patients with human immunodeficiency virus type-1 infection who were previously intolerant to T/S. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. 2000;85:241–244. III.
- Moreno JN, Poblete RB, Maggio C, et al. Rapid oral desensitization for sulfonamides in patients with the acquired immunodeficiency syndrome. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol.* 1995;74:140–146. III.
- Tenant-Flowers M, Boyle MJ, Carey D, et al. Sulphadiazine desensitization in patients with AIDS and cerebral toxoplasmosis. *AIDS*. 1991;5:311–315. III.
- Carr A, Penny R, Cooper DA. Allergy and desensitization to zidovudine in patients with acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS). J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1993;91:683–685. III.
- Henry RE, Wegmann JA, Hartle JE, et al. Successful oral acyclovir desensitization. Ann Allergy. 1993;70:386–388. III.
- Duque S, delaPuente J, Rodriguez F, et al. Zidovudine-related erythroderma and successful desensitization: a case report. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1996;98:234–235. III.
- Cook DE, Kossey JL. Successful desensitization to dapsone for *Pneumocystis carinii* prophylaxis in an HIV-positive patient. *Ann Pharmacother.* 1998;32:1302–1305. III.
- 91. Metroka CE, Lewis NJ, Jacobus DP. Desensitization to dapsone in HIV-positive patients [letter]. JAMA. 1992;267:512. III.
- Davis CM, Shearer WT. Diagnosis and management of HIV drug hypersensitivity. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2008;121:826–832e5. IV.
- Temesgen Z, Beri G. HIV and drug allergy. Immunol Allergy Clin North Am. 2004;24:521–531. VIII.
- Rotunda A, Hirsch RJ, Scheinfeld N, et al. Severe cutaneous reactions associated with the use of human immunodeficiency virus medications. *Acta Derm Venereol.* 2003;83(1):1–9. III.
- Clay PG. The abacavir hypersensitivity reaction: a review. *Clin Ther*. 2002;24:1502–1514. III.
- King D, Tomkins S, Waters A, et al. Intracellular cytokines may model immunoregulation of abacavir hypersensitivity in HIV-infected subjects. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2005;115:1081–1087. IIb.
- Hetherington S, Hughes AR, Mosteller M, et al. Genetic variations in HLA-B region and hypersensitivity reactions to abacavir. *Lancet.* 2002; 359:1121–1122. IIb.
- Mallal S, Phillips E, Carosi G, et al. HLA-B\*5701 screening for hypersensitivity to abacavir. N Engl J Med. 2008;358:568–579. Ib.
- McNeill O, Kerridge RK, Boyle MJ. Review of procedures for investigation of anaesthesia-associated anaphylaxis in Newcastle, Australia. *Anaesth Intensive Care*. 2008;36:201–207. III.
- Weiss ME, Nyhan D, Peng ZK, et al. Association of protamine IgE and IgG antibodies with life-threatening reactions to intravenous protamine. N Engl J Med. 1989;320:886–892. III.
- 101. Vincent GM, Janowski M, Menlove R. Protamine allergy reactions during cardiac catheterization and cardiac surgery: risk in patients taking protamine-insulin preparations. *Cathet Cardiovas Diag.* 1991; 23:164–168. III.
- Gottschlich GM, Gravlee GP, Georgitis JW. Adverse reactions to protamine sulfate during cardiac surgery in diabetic and non-diabetic patients. *Ann Allergy*. 1988;61:277–281. III.
- Stewart WJ, McSweeney SM, Kellett MA, et al. Increased risk of severe protamine reactions in NPH insulin-dependent diabetics undergoing cardiac catheterization. *Circulation*. 1984;70:788–792. III.
- 104. Cherry T, Steciuk M, Reddy VV, et al. Transfusion-related acute lung injury: past, present, and future. Am J Clin Pathol. 2008;129:287–297. III.
- Goldman M, Webert KE, Arnold DM, et al. Proceedings of a consensus conference: towards an understanding of TRALI. *Transfus Med Rev.* 2005;19:2–31. IV.
- Peller JS, Bardana EJ. Anaphylactoid reaction to corticosteroid: case report and review of the literature. Ann Allergy. 1986;54:302–305. III.

- 107. Freedman MD, Schocket AL, Chapel N, et al. Anaphylaxis after intravenous methylprednisolone administration. JAMA. 1981;245: 607–608. III.
- Mendelson LM, Meltzer EO, Hamburger RN. Anaphylaxis-like reactions to corticosteroid therapy. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1974;54: 125–131. III.
- Butani L. Corticosteroid-induced hypersensitivity reactions. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. 2002;89:439–445. III.
- Burgdorff T, Venemalm L, Vogt T, et al. IgE-medicated anaphylactic reaction induced by succinate ester of methylprednisolone. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol.* 2002;89:425–428. III.
- Rasanen L, Tarvainen K, Makinen-Kiljunen S. Urticaria to hydrocortisone. *Allergy*. 2001;56:352–353. III.
- 112. Warkentin TE, Greinacher A. Heparin-induced thrombocytopenia: recognition, treatment, and prevention: the Seventh ACCP Conference on Antithrombotic and Thrombolytic Therapy. *Chest.* 2004;126: 311S–337S. IV.
- 113. Kishimoto TK, Viswanathan K, Ganguly T, et al. Contaminated heparin associated with adverse clinical events and activation of the contact system. *N Engl J Med.* 2008;358:2457–2467. IIb.
- 114. Schwartz LB. Heparin comes clean. N Engl J Med. 2008;358: 2505–2509. IV.
- Cuesta-Herranz J, de las Heras M, Fernandez M, et al. Allergic reaction caused by local anesthetic agents belonging to the amide group. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1997;99:427–428. III.
- 116. Gonzalez-Delgado P, Anton R, Soriano V, et al. Cross-reactivity among amide-type local anesthetics in a case of allergy to mepivacaine. *J Investig Allergol Clin Immunol.* 2006;16:311–313. III.
- 117. Prieto A, Herrero T, Rubio M, et al. Urticaria due to mepivacaine with tolerance to lidocaine and bupivacaine. *Allergy*. 2005;60:261–262. III.
- Venemalm L, Degerbeck F, Smith W. IgE-mediated reaction to mepivacaine. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2008;121:1058–1059. III.
- Coleman WP, Ochsner SF, Watson BE. Allergic reactions in 10,000 consecutive intravenous urographies. *Southern Med.* 1964;57: 1401–1404. III.
- 120. Wolf GL, Mishkin MM, Roux SG, et al. Comparison of the rates of adverse drug reactions: Ionic contrast agents, ionic agents combined with steroids, and nonionic agents. *Invest Radiol.* 1991;26:404–410. III.
- 121. Katayama H, Yamaguchi K, Kozuka T, et al. Adverse reactions to ionic and nonionic contrast media: a report from the Japanese Committee on the Safety of Contrast Media. *Radiology*. 1990;175:621–628. III.
- Lang DM, Alpern MB, Visintainer PF, et al. Gender risk for anaphylactoid reaction to radiographic contrast media. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1995;95:813–817. III.
- 123. Enricht T, Chau-Lim E, Duda E, et al. The role of a documented allergic profile as a risk factor for radiographic contrast media reaction. *Ann Allergy.* 1989;62:302–305. III.
- 124. Schatz M, Patterson R, O'Rourke J, et al. The administration of radiographic contrast media to patients with a history of a previous reaction. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* 1975;55:358–366. IIb.
- 125. Lang DM, Alpern MB, Visintainer PF, et al. Increased risk for anaphylactoid reaction from contrast media in patients on beta-adrenergic blockers or with asthma. *Ann Intern Med.* 1991;115:270–276. III.
- 126. Lang DM, Alpern MB, Visintainer PF, et al. Elevated risk of anaphylactoid reaction from radiographic contrast media is associated with both beta-blocker exposure and cardiovascular disorders. *Ann Intern Med.* 1993;153:2033–2040. III.
- 127. Greenberger PA, Patterson R, Tapio CM. Prophylaxis against repeated radiocontrast media reactions in 857 cases. Adverse experience with cimetidine and safety of beta-adrenergic antagonists. *Ann Intern Med.* 1985;145:2197–2200. IIb.
- Greenberger PA, Patterson R. The prevention of immediate generalized reactions to radiocontrast media in high-risk patients. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1991;87:867–872. IIb.
- Lasser EC, Berry CC, Mishkin MM, et al. Pretreatment with corticosteroids to prevent adverse reactions to nonionic contrast media. *AJR Am J Roentgenol.* 1994;162:523–526. IIb.

- Marshall GD, Lieberman PL. Comparison of three pretreatment protocols to prevent anaphylactoid reactions to radiocontrast media. *Ann Allergy*. 1991;67:70–74. IIb.
- Webb JA, Stacul F, Thomsen HS, et al. Late adverse reactions to intravascular iodinated contrast media. *Eur Radiol.* 2003;13:181–184. IV.
- 132. Kanny G, Pichler W, Morisset M, et al. T cell-mediated reactions to iodinated contrast media: evaluation by skin and lymphocyte activation tests. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* 2005;115:179–185. III.
- 133. Arm JP, O'Hickey SP, Hawksworth RJ, et al. Asthmatic airways have a disproportionate hyperresponsiveness to LTE4, as compared with normal airways, but not to LTC4, LTD4, methacholine, and histamine. *Am Rev Respir Dis.* 1990;142:1112–1118. IIb.
- 134. Sousa AR, Parikh A, Scadding G, et al. Leukotriene-receptor expression on nasal mucosal inflammatory cells in aspirin-sensitive rhinosinusitis. *N Engl J Med.* 2002;347:1493–1499. IIa.
- Martin-Garcia C, Hinojosa M, Berges P, et al. Safety of a cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitor in patients with aspirin-sensitive asthma. *Chest.* 2002;121:1812–1817. IIa.
- 136. Gyllfors P, Bochenek G, Overholt J, et al. Biochemical and clinical evidence that aspirin-intolerant asthmatic subjects tolerate the cyclooxygenase 2-selective analgetic drug celecoxib. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2003;111:1116–1121. IIa.
- Woessner K, Simon RA, Stevenson DD. The safety of celecoxib in aspirin exacerbated respiratory disease. *Arthritis Rheum.* 2002;46: 2201–2206. IIa.
- Stevenson DD, Simon RA. Lack of cross-reactivity between rofecoxib and aspirin in aspirin-sensitive patients with asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2001;108:47–51. IIa.
- Baldassarre S, Schandene L, Choufani G, et al. Asthma attacks induced by low doses of celecoxib, aspirin, and acetaminophen. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2006;117:215–217. III.
- Szczeklik A, Stevenson DD. Aspirin-induced asthma: advances in pathogenesis, diagnosis, and management. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2003;111:913–921. IV.
- 141. Dursun AB, Woessner KA, Simon RA, et al. Predicting outcomes of oral aspirin challenges in patients with asthma, nasal polyps, and chronic sinusitis. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol.* 2008;100:420–425. III.
- 142. Perrone MR, Artesani MC, Viola M, et al. Tolerability of rofecoxib in patients with adverse reactions to nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs: a study of 216 patients and literature review. *Int Arch Allergy Immunol.* 2003;132:82–86. IIa.
- 143. Sanchez-Borges M, Capriles-Hulett A, Caballero-Fonseca F, et al. Tolerability to new COX-2 inhibitors in NSAID-sensitive patients with cutaneous reactions. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol.* 2001;87: 2001–2004. IIb.
- 144. Nettis E, DiPaola R, Ferrannini A, et al. Tolerability of rofecoxib in patients with cutaneous adverse reactions to nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol.* 2002;88:331–334. IIa.
- 145. Moore ME, Goldsmith DP. Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory intolerance: an anaphylactic reaction to tolmentin. *Ann Intern Med.* 1980;140:1105–1106. III.
- Quiralte J, Blanco C, Castillo R, et al. Anaphylactoid reactions due to nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs: clinical and cross-reactivity studies. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol.* 1997;78:293–296. IIb.
- Alkhawajah AM, Eifawal M, Mahmoud SF. Fatal anaphylactic reaction to diclofenac. *Forensic Sci Int.* 1993;60:107–110. III.
- 148. Quiralte J, Blanco C, Delgado J, et al. Challenge-based clinical patterns of 223 Spanish patients with nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory-druginduced-reactions. *J Investig Allergol Clin Immunol.* 2007;17:182–188. IIb.
- 149. Dykewicz MS. Cough and angioedema from angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors: new insights into mechanisms and management. *Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol.* 2004;4:267–270. IV.
- 150. Israili ZH, Hall WD. Cough and angioneurotic edema associated with angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor therapy: A review of the

literature and pathophysiology. Ann Intern Med. 1992;117:234-242. IV.

- Sondhi D, Lippmann M, Murali G. Airway compromise due to angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor-induced angioedema. *Chest.* 2004; 126:400–404. III.
- 152. Burkhart DG, Brown NJ, Griffin MR, et al. Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor-associated angioedema: higher risk in blacks than whites. *Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf.* 1996;5:149–154. III.
- Zanotetti E, Bertino G, Malvezzi L, et al. Angioneurotic edema of the upper airways and antihypertensive therapy. *Acta Otolaryngol.* 2003; 123:960–964. III.
- Jason DR. Fatal angioedema associated with Captopril. J Forensic Sci. 1992;37:1418–1421. III.
- Orr KK, Myers JR. Intermittent visceral edema induced by long-term enalapril administration. Ann Pharmacother. 2004;38:825–827. III.
- 156. Malde B, Regalado J, Greenberger PA. Investigation of angioedema associated with the use of angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors and angiotensin receptor blockers. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol.* 2007; 98:57–63. III.
- 157. Portielje JE, Kruit WH, Eerenberg AJ, et al. Subcutaneous injection of interleukin 12 induces systemic inflammatory responses in humans: implications for the use of IL-12 as vaccine adjuvant. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. 2005;54:37–43. III.
- 158. Weber RW. Adverse reactions to biological modifiers. *Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol.* 2004;4:277–283. III.
- Pichler WJ. Adverse side-effects to biological agents. Allergy. 2006; 61:912–920. IV.
- 160. Anandacoomarasamy A, Kannangara S, Barnsley L. Cutaneous vasculitis associated with infliximab in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. *Intern Med J.* 2005;35:638–640. III.
- Chan JL, Davis-Reed L, Kimball AB. Counter-regulatory balance: atopic dermatitis in patients undergoing infliximab infusion therapy. J Drugs Dermatol. 2004;3:315–318. III.
- 162. Chavez-Lopez MA, Delgado-Villafana J, Gallaga A, et al. Severe anaphylactic reaction during the second infusion of infliximab in a patient with psoriatic arthritis. *Allergol Immunopathol (Madr)*. 2005; 33:291–292. III.
- 163. Devos SA, Van Den Bossche N, De Vos M, et al. Adverse skin reactions to anti-TNF-alpha monoclonal antibody therapy. *Dermatol*ogy. 2003;206:388–390. III.
- Diamanti A, Castro M, Papadatou B, et al. Severe anaphylactic reaction to infliximab in pediatric patients with Crohn's disease. *J Pediatr.* 2002;140:636–637. III.
- 165. Dumont-Berset M, Laffitte E, Gerber C, et al. Eczematous drug eruption after infliximab. Br J Dermatol. 2004;151:1272–1273. III.
- 166. Gamarra RM, McGraw SD, Drelichman VS, et al. Serum sickness-like reactions in patients receiving intravenous infliximab. J Emerg Med. 2006;30:41–44. IV
- Krishnan RS, Hsu S. Serum sickness due to infliximab in a patient with psoriasis. J Drugs Dermatol. 2004;3:305–308. III.
- McIlwain L, Carter JD, Bin-Sagheer S, et al. Hypersensitivity vasculitis with leukocytoclastic vasculitis secondary to infliximab. *J Clin Gastroenterol.* 2003;36:411–413. III.
- O'Connor M, Buchman A, Marshall G. Anaphylaxis-like reaction to infliximab in a patient with Crohn's disease. *Dig Dis Sci.* 2002;47: 1323–1325. III.
- 170. Puchner TC, Kugathasan S, Kelly KJ, et al. Successful desensitization and therapeutic use of infliximab in adult and pediatric Crohn's disease patients with prior anaphylactic reaction. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* 2001;7: 34–37. III.
- 171. Soykan I, Ertan C, Ozden A. Severe anaphylactic reaction to infliximab: report of a case. Am J Gastroenterol. 2000;95:2395–2396. III.
- 172. Stallmach A, Giese T, Schmidt C, et al. Severe anaphylactic reaction to infliximab: successful treatment with adalimumab - report of a case. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol.* 2004;16:627–630. III.

- 173. Wasserman MJ, Weber DA, Guthrie JA, et al. Infusion-related reactions to infliximab in patients with rheumatoid arthritis in a clinical practice setting: relationship to dose, antihistamine pretreatment, and infusion number. *J Rheumatol.* 2004;31:1912–1917. III.
- 174. Bennett AN, Wong M, Zain A, et al. Adalimumab-induced asthma. *Rheumatology (Oxford).* 2005;44:1199–1200. III.
- 175. Youdim A, Vasiliauskas EA, Targan SR, et al. A pilot study of adalimumab in infliximab-allergic patients. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* 2004; 10:333–338. III.
- Brion PH, Mittal-Henkle A, Kalunian KC. Autoimmune skin rashes associated with etanercept for rheumatoid arthritis. *Ann Intern Med.* 1999;131:634. III.
- 177. Cairns AP, Duncan MK, Hinder AE, et al. New onset systemic lupus erythematosus in a patient receiving etanercept for rheumatoid arthritis. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2002;61:1031–1032. III.
- Mohan N, Edwards ET, Cupps TR, et al. Leukocytoclastic vasculitis associated with tumor necrosis factor-alpha blocking agents. J Rheumatol. 2004;31:1955–1958. III.
- 179. Mor A, Bingham C III, Barisoni L, et al. Proliferative lupus nephritis and leukocytoclastic vasculitis during treatment with etanercept. J *Rheumatol.* 2005;32:740–743. III.
- Peno-Green L, Lluberas G, Kingsley T, et al. Lung injury linked to etanercept therapy. *Chest.* 2002;122:1858–1860. III.
- Skytta E, Pohjankoski H, Savolainen A. Etanercept and urticaria in patients with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. *Clin Exp Rheumatol.* 2000; 18:533–534. III.
- 182. Zeltser R, Valle L, Tanck C, et al. Clinical, histological, and immunophenotypic characteristics of injection site reactions associated with etanercept: a recombinant tumor necrosis factor alpha receptor: Fc fusion protein. Arch Dermatol. 2001;137:893–899. III.
- 183. O'Neil BH, Allen R, Spigel DR, et al. High incidence of cetuximabrelated infusion reactions in Tennessee and North Carolina and the association with atopic history. J Clin Oncol. 2007;25:3644–3648. III.
- Chung CH, Mirakhur B, Chan E, et al. Cetuximab-induced anaphylaxis and IgE specific for galactose-alpha-1,3-galactose. N Engl J Med. 2008;358:1109–1117. IIb.
- Montero AJ, McCarthy JJ, Chen G, et al. Acute respiratory distress syndrome after rituximab infusion. *Int J Hematol.* 2005;82:324–326. III.
- 186. Winkler U, Jensen M, Manzke O, et al. Cytokine-release syndrome in patients with B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia and high lymphocyte counts after treatment with an anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody (rituximab, IDEC-C2B8). *Blood.* 1999;94:2217–2224. III.
- 187. Cox L, Platts-Mills TA, Finegold I, et al. American Academy of Allergy, Asthma & Immunology/American College of Allergy, Asthma and Immunology Joint Task Force Report on omalizumab-associated anaphylaxis. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2007;120:1373–1377. IV.
- Bielory L. Complementary and alternative interventions in asthma, allergy, and immunology. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol.* 2004;93(2 suppl 1):S45–S54. IV.
- Schafer T. Epidemiology of complementary alternative medicine for asthma and allergy in Europe and Germany. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. 2004;93(2 suppl 1):S5–S10. III.
- Ernst E. Adverse effects of herbal drugs in dermatology. Br J Dermatol. 2000;143:923–929. IV.
- Mullins RJ, Heddle R. Adverse reactions associated with echinacea: the Australian experience. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol.* 2002;88:42–51. III.
- 192. Lim YL, Thirumoorthy T. Serious cutaneous adverse reactions to traditional Chinese medicines. *Singapore Med J.* 2005;46:714–717. III.
- 193. Mather J, Knowles SR, Shapiro L, et al. Skin eruption following the use of two Chinese herbal preparations: a case report. *Can J Clin Pharmacol.* 2002;9:69–71. III.

# **Drug Allergy: An Updated Practice Parameter**

These parameters were developed by the Joint Task Force on Practice Parameters, representing the American Academy of Allergy, Asthma and Immunology, the American College of Allergy, Asthma and Immunology, and the Joint Council of Allergy, Asthma and Immunology.

#### **Chief Editors**

Roland Solensky, MD, and David A. Khan, MD

#### Workgroup Contributors

I. Leonard Bernstein, MD; Gordon R. Bloomberg, MD; Mariana C. Castells, MD, PhD; Louis M. Mendelson, MD; and Michael E. Weiss, MD

#### **Task Force Reviewers**

David I. Bernstein, MD; Joann Blessing-Moore, MD; Linda Cox, MD; David M. Lang, MD; Richard A. Nicklas, MD; John Oppenheimer, MD; Jay M. Portnoy, MD; Christopher Randolph, MD; Diane E. Schuller, MD; Sheldon L. Spector, MD; Stephen Tilles, MD; and Dana Wallace, MD

#### Reviewers

Paul J. Dowling, MD – Kansas City, MO Mark Dykewicz, MD – Winston-Salem, NC Paul A. Greenberger, MD – Chicago, IL Eric M. Macy, MD – San Diego, CA Kathleen R. May MD – Cumberland, MD Myngoc T. Nguyen, MD – Piedmont, CA Lawrence B. Schwartz, MD, PhD – Richmond, VA

TABLE OF CONTENTS

# Preface

Glossary

**Executive Summary** 

- Algorithm for Disease Management of Drug Hypersensitivity
- Annotations for Disease Management of Drug Hypersensitivity

Summary Statements of the Evidence-Based Commentary Evidence-Based Commentary

- I. Introduction
- **II. Definitions**
- III. Classification of Immunologically Mediated Drug Reactions
  - A. IgE-mediated reactions (Gell-Coombs type I)
  - **B.** Cytotoxic reactions (Gell-Coombs type II)
  - C. Immune complex reactions (Gell-Coombs type III)
  - D. Cell-mediated reactions (Gell-Coombs type IV)
  - E. Miscellaneous syndromes
    - 1. Hypersensitivity vasculitis
    - 2. Drug rash with eosinophilia and systemic symptoms
    - **3.** Pulmonary drug hypersensitivity
    - 4. Drug-induced lupus erythematosus
    - 5. Drug-induced granulomatous disease with or without vasculitis
    - 6. Immunologic hepatitis
    - 7. Blistering disorders
      - a. Erythema multiforme minor
      - b. Erythema multiforme major/Stevens-Johnson syndrome
      - c. Toxic epidermal necrolysis
    - 8. Serum sickness–like reactions associated with specific cephalosporins
    - 9. Immunologic nephropathy

These parameters were developed by the Joint Task Force on Practice Parameters, representing the American Academy of Allergy, Asthma and Immunology; the American College of Allergy, Asthma and Immunology; and the Joint Council of Allergy, Asthma and Immunology.

The American Academy of Allergy, Asthma and Immunology (AAAAI) and the American College of Allergy, Asthma and Immunology (ACAAI) have jointly accepted responsibility for establishing "Drug Allergy: An Updated Practice Parameter." This is a complete and comprehensive document at the current time. The medical environment is a changing environment, and not all recommendations will be appropriate for all patients. Because this document incorporated the efforts of many participants, no single individual, including those who served on the Joint Task Force, is authorized to provide an official AAAAI or ACAAI interpretation of these practice parameters. Any request for information about or an interpretation of these practice parameters by the AAAAI or ACAAI should be directed to the Executive Offices of the AAAAI, the ACAAI, and the Joint Council of Allergy, Asthma and Immunology. These parameters are not designed for use by pharmaceutical companies in drug promotion.

*Reprint requests:* Joint Council of Allergy, Asthma & Immunology, 50 N. Brockway St, #3-3, Palatine, IL 60067.

F. Other classification systems for drug allergy

**IV. Risk Factors** 

- V. Clinical Evaluation and Diagnosis of Drug Allergy A. History
  - **B.** Physical examination
  - C. General clinical tests
  - D. Specific tests
  - E. Tissue diagnosis
- VI. Management and Prevention of Drug Allergic Reactions
  - A. General
  - **B. Induction of drug tolerance**
  - C. Immunologic IgE induction of drug tolerance (drug desensitization)
  - D. Immunologic non-IgE induction of drug tolerance for nonanaphylactic reactions
  - E. Pharmacologic induction of drug tolerance (eg, aspirin desensitization)
  - F. Undefined induction of drug tolerance
- G. Graded challenge
- VII. Specific Drugs
  - A.  $\bar{\beta}$ -Lactam antibiotics
    - 1. Penicillin
    - 2. Ampicillin and amoxicillin
    - 3. Cephalosporins
    - 4. Cephalosporin administration to patients with a history of penicillin allergy
    - 5. Penicillin administration to patients with a history of cephalosporin allergy
    - 6. Monobactams (aztreonam)
    - 7. Carbapenems
  - **B.** Non– $\beta$ -lactam antibiotics
  - C. Antimycobacterial drugs
  - **D.** Diabetes medications
  - E. Cancer chemotherapeutic agents
  - F. Human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) medications
  - G. Disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs (DMARDs)
  - H. Immunomodulatory agents for autoimmune diseases
  - I. Modifying drugs for dermatologic diseases
  - J. Perioperative agents
  - K. Blood and blood products
  - L. Opiates
  - M. Corticosteroids
  - N. Protamine
  - O. Heparin
  - P. Local anesthetics
  - Q. Radiocontrast media (RCM)
  - R. Aspirin and nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs)
  - S. Angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors
  - T. Biologic modifiers
    - 1. Cytokines
    - 2. Anti–TNF- $\alpha$  drugs
    - 3. Monoclonal antibodies
    - 4. Omalizumab
    - 5. Anticancer monoclonal antibodies

- **U.** Complementary medicines
- V. Other agents

### CONTRIBUTORS

The Joint Task Force has made a concerted effort to acknowledge all contributors to this parameter. If any contributors have been excluded inadvertently, the Task Force will ensure that appropriate recognition of such contributions is made subsequently.

# **CHIEF EDITORS**

Roland Solensky, MD Division of Allergy and Immunology The Corvallis Clinic Corvallis, Oregon David A. Khan, MD Professor of Medicine Division of Allergy & Immunology University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center Dallas, Texas

# WORKGROUP CONTRIBUTORS

### I. Leonard Bernstein, MD

Professor of Clinical Medicine University of Cincinnati College of Medicine Cincinnati, Ohio Gordon R. Bloomberg, MD Associate Professor, Department of Pediatrics Division of Allergy & Pulmonary Medicine Washington University School of Medicine Saint Louis, Missouri Mariana C. Castells, MD, PhD Director, Desensitization Program Associate Director, Allergy Immunology Training Program Brigham & Women's Hospital Harvard Medical School Boston, Massachusetts Louis M. Mendelson, MD **Clinical Professor** University of Connecticut Partner, Connecticut Asthma & Allergy Center, LLC West Hartford, Connecticut Michael E. Weiss, MD Clinical Professor of Medicine, University of Washington, School of Medicine Seattle, Washington

# TASK FORCE REVIEWERS

David I. Bernstein, MD

Department of Clinical Medicine, Division of Immunology University of Cincinnati College of Medicine Cincinnati, Ohio Joann Blessing-Moore, MD Department of Immunology

Stanford University Medical Center Palo Alto, California Linda Cox, MD Department of Medicine Nova Southeastern University Davie, Florida David M. Lang, MD Allergy/Immunology Section, Division of Medicine Cleveland Clinic Foundation Cleveland, Ohio **Richard A. Nicklas. MD** Department of Medicine George Washington Medical Center Washington, DC John Oppenheimer, MD Department of Internal Medicine New Jersey Medical School Morristown, New Jersey Jay M. Portnoy, MD Section of Allergy, Asthma & Immunology The Children's Mercy Hospital University of Missouri-Kansas City School of Medicine Kansas City, Missouri Christopher Randolph, MD Center for Allergy, Asthma and Immunology Yale Hospital Waterbury, Connecticut Diane E. Schuller, MD Department of Pediatrics Pennsylvania State University Milton S. Hershey Medical College Hershey, Pennsylvania Sheldon L. Spector, MD Department of Medicine UCLA School of Medicine Los Angeles, California Stephen A. Tilles, MD Department of Medicine University of Washington School of Medicine Redmond, Washington Dana Wallace, MD Department of Medicine Nova Southeastern University Davie, Florida

#### **Invited Reviewers**

Paul J. Dowling, MD – Kansas City, MO Mark S. Dykewicz, MD – Winston Salem, NC Paul A. Greenberger, MD – Chicago, IL Eric M. Macy, MD – San Diego, CA Kathleen R. May, MD – Cumberland, MD Myngoc T. Nguyen, MD – Piedmont, CA

#### Ad Hoc Reviewers

Lawrence B. Schwartz, MD

### Acknowledgments

The Joint Task Force wishes to acknowledge the following individuals who also contributed substantially to the creation of this parameter: Erin Shae Johns, PhD, and Jessica Karle, MS, for their immense help with formatting and restructuring this document; Susan Grupe for providing key administrative help to the contributors and reviewers of this parameter; and Brett Buchmiller, MD, for his assistance in creating the algorithms in this parameter.

### PREFACE

The objective of "Drug Allergy: An Updated Practice Parameter" is to improve the care of patients by providing the practicing physician with an evidence-based approach to the diagnosis and management of adverse drug reactions. This document was developed by a Working Group under the aegis of the Joint Task Force on Practice Parameters, which has published 26 practice parameters and updated parameters for the field of allergy/immunology (these can be found online at www.jcaai.org). The 3 national allergy and immunology societies-the American Academy of Allergy, Asthma and Immunology (AAAAI), the American College of Allergy, Asthma and Immunology (ACAAI), and the Joint Council of Allergy, Asthma and Immunology (JCAAI)have given the Joint Task Force the responsibility for both creating new parameters and updating existing parameters. This parameter builds on "Disease Management of Drug Hypersensitivity: A Practice Parameter," which was published in 1999 by the Joint Task Force on Practice Parameters. It follows the same general format as that document, with some substantive changes reflecting advancements in scientific knowledge and their effect on management of drug allergy. This document was written and reviewed by specialists in the field of allergy and immunology and was exclusively funded by the 3 allergy and immunology organizations noted above.

A Working Group chaired by Roland Solensky, MD, prepared the initial draft, which was then reviewed by the Joint Task Force. A comprehensive search of the medical literature was conducted using Ovid MEDLINE and the Cochrane Database and Keywords relating to drug allergy. Published clinical studies were rated by category of evidence and used to establish the strength of clinical recommendations. The working draft of "Drug Allergy: An Updated Practice Parameter" was reviewed by a large number of experts in allergy and immunology. These experts included reviewers appointed by the AAAAI and ACAAI. The authors carefully reviewed and considered additional comments from these reviewers. The revised final document presented here was approved by the sponsoring organizations and represents an evidence-based; broadly accepted consensus parameter.

This updated parameter contains several significant changes from the original parameter on "Disease Management of Drug Hypersensitivity: A Practice Parameter." The title of the parameter was changed from drug hypersensitivity to drug allergy. In this updated parameter the term *drug* 

allergy is defined as an immunologically mediated response to a pharmaceutical and/or formulation (excipient) agent in a sensitized person. The implication is that drug allergy does not simply include only IgE-mediated reactions. Another significant change is the introduction of the new term induction of drug tolerance to encompass classic IgE-mediated drug desensitizations and other non-IgE-mediated "desensitization" procedures for various medications. In addition, several new sections have been added, including a new glossary with new terms, new classifications and subclassifications for drug reactions, and new sections on drug allergic reactions to chemotherapeutic agents, corticosteroids, disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs, antimycobacterial drugs, biologic modifiers, immunosuppressive agents, immunomodulatory agents, complementary medications, and druginduced granuloma with or without vasculitis. Significant updates to sections on cutaneous manifestations of drug reactions, laboratory testing,  $\beta$ -lactam allergy, cross-reactivity between carbapenems and penicillin, and human immunodeficiency virus medications have been added. Finally, a number of protocols for induction of drug tolerance procedures have been added.

The Executive Summary emphasizes the key updates since the 1999 drug hypersensitivity parameter. This Executive Summary has been significantly expanded to include the new sections and highlight the major updates to this parameter. It should be noted that the Executive Summary does not discuss all of this parameter's topics in depth. An annotated algorithm in this document summarizes the major decision points for the evaluation and treatment of patients who have experienced possible adverse drug reactions (Fig 1). This is followed by a list of summary statements that represent the key points to consider in the evaluation and management of drug hypersensitivity reactions. Within the evidence-based commentary, the summary statements are repeated and are followed by the text that supports that summary statement. The evidence-based commentary first discusses general issues relating to drug allergy, including definitions, classifications, risk factors, and the general approach to evaluation, diagnosis, management, and prevention (sections I through VI). Subsequently, specific types of drugs are discussed (section VII).

The Joint Task Force on Practice Parameters would like to thank the AAAAI, ACAAI, and JCAAI, who supported the preparation of the updated parameter, and the large number of individuals who have so kindly dedicated their time and effort to the preparation and review of this document.

#### GLOSSARY

• Adverse drug reactions include all unintended pharmacologic effects of a drug except therapeutic failures, intentional overdosage, abuse of the drug, or errors in administration. They can be classified as predictable or unpredictable. Unpredictable reactions are further subdivided into drug intolerance, drug idiosyncrasy, drug allergy, and pseudoallergic reactions.

- *Drug allergy* is an immunologically mediated response to a pharmaceutical and/or formulation (excipient) agent in a sensitized person.
- *Anaphylaxis* is an immediate systemic reaction that occurs when a previously sensitized individual is reexposed to an allergen. It is caused by rapid IgE-mediated immune release of vasoactive mediators from tissue mast cells and peripheral basophils with a potential late component.
- *Pseudoallergic (anaphylactoid) reactions* are immediate systemic reactions that mimic anaphylaxis but are caused by non–IgE-mediated release of mediators from mast cells and basophils.
- *Drug intolerance* is an undesirable pharmacologic effect that may occur at low or usual doses of the drug without underlying abnormalities of metabolism, excretion, or bio-availability of the drug. Humoral or cellular immune mechanisms are not thought to be involved, and a scientific explanation for such exaggerated responses has not been established (eg, aspirin-induced tinnitus at low doses).
- *Drug idiosyncrasy* is an abnormal and unexpected effect that is unrelated to the intended pharmacologic action of a drug and has an unknown mechanism. It is not mediated by a humoral or cellular immune response but is reproducible on readministration. It may be due to underlying abnormalities of metabolism, excretion, or bioavailability (eg,: quinidine-induced drug fever).
- Aspirin-exacerbated respiratory disease (AERD) is a clinical entity characterized by aspirin- or nonsteroidal antiinflammatory-induced respiratory reactions in patients with underlying asthma and/or rhinitis or sinusitis. AERD does not fit precisely into a specific category of adverse drug reactions.
- *Drug tolerance* is defined as a state in which a patient with a drug allergy will tolerate a drug without an adverse reaction. Drug tolerance does not indicate either a permanent state of tolerance or that the mechanism involved was immunologic tolerance.
- *Induction of drug tolerance,* which has often been referred to as drug desensitization, is more appropriately described as a temporary induction of drug tolerance. Induction of drug tolerance can involve IgE immune mechanisms, non-IgE immune mechanisms, pharmacologic mechanisms, and undefined mechanisms. All procedures to induce drug tolerance involve administration of incremental doses of the drug. See Table 1 for characteristics of these 4 types of drug tolerance.
- *Drug desensitization* is one form of induction of immune drug tolerance (see above) by which effector cells are rendered less reactive or nonreactive to IgE-mediated immune responses by rapid administration of incremental doses of an allergenic substance.
- *Graded challenge* or test dosing describes administration of progressively increasing doses of a medication until a full dose is reached. The intention of a graded challenge is to verify that a patient will not experience an immediate



Figure 1. Algorithm for disease management of drug allergy.

Table 1.	Classification	of Induction of	f Drua	Tolerance	(Formerly	/ Referred	to as	Desensitization)	а
	0.000.000.000							Dooonaleanon	

Type of drug tolerance	Time/duration	Initial dose	Possible outcomes	Example
Immunologic IgE (drug desensitization)	Hours	Micrograms	Antigen-specific mediator depletion, downregulation of receptors	Penicillin
Immunologic non-IgE	Hours to days	Milligrams	Unknown	Trimethoprim- sulfamethoxazole
Pharmacologic	Hours to days	Milligrams	Metabolic shift, internalization of receptors	Aspirin
Undefined	Days to Weeks	Micrograms to milligrams	Unknown	Allopurinol

<sup>a</sup> What has often been referred to as drug desensitization is more appropriately described as induction of drug tolerance. Induction of drug tolerance can involve IgE immune mechanisms, non-IgE immune mechanisms, pharmacologic mechanisms, and mixed or unknown mechanisms. All involved administration of incremental doses of the drug. This table indicates the characteristics of these 4 types of drug tolerance.

adverse reaction to a given drug. The medication is introduced in a controlled manner to a patient who has a low likelihood of reacting to it. Unlike procedures that induce drug tolerance, graded challenges usually involve fewer doses, are of shorter duration, and are not intended to induce drug tolerance.

• The drug rash with eosinophilia and systemic symptoms (DRESS) syndrome is a drug-induced, multiorgan inflammatory response that may be life threatening. First described in conjunction with anticonvulsant drug use, it has since been ascribed to a variety of drugs.

#### EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

#### **Classification of Adverse Reactions to Drugs**

Adverse drug reactions (ADRs) result in major health problems in the United States in both the inpatient and outpatient settings. ADRs are broadly categorized into predictable (type A) and unpredictable (type B) reactions. Predictable reactions are usually dose dependent, are related to the known pharmacologic actions of the drug, and occur in otherwise healthy individuals. They are estimated to comprise approximately 80% of all ADRs. Unpredictable reactions are generally dose independent, are unrelated to the pharmacologic actions of the drug, and occur only in susceptible individuals. Unpredictable reactions are subdivided into drug intolerance, drug idiosyncrasy, drug allergy, and pseudoallergic reactions. Both type A and type B reactions may be influenced by genetic predisposition of the patient.

In this parameter, drug allergy is defined as an immunologically mediated response to a pharmaceutical and/or formulation (excipient) agent in a sensitized person. The classification of drug allergies is impeded by our limited understanding of the underlying mechanisms. Although the Gell-Coombs classification served a useful purpose in its time, it does not account for many common clinical problems. Nevertheless, when applicable we will still refer to recent modifications of that system. Our knowledge of IgE-mediated drug allergy is derived chiefly from the vast amount of research involving penicillin allergy. Beyond this, our knowledge of drug allergy mechanisms is limited but emerging. There have, however, been great strides made in our understanding of other drug allergies and adverse drug reactions such as aspirin-exacerbated respiratory disease (AERD).

Drug allergy may be classified by the Gell-Coombs classification of human hypersensitivity: IgE-mediated (type I), cytotoxic (type II), immune complex (type III), and cellular mediated (type IV). Delayed hypersensitivity type IV reactions are mediated by cellular immune mechanisms. A recently proposed modification subdivides type IV reactions into 4 categories involving activation and recruitment of monocytes (IVa), eosinophils (IVb), CD4<sup>+</sup> or CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (IVc), and neutrophils (IVd).1 The classic reaction in this category is contact dermatitis, a condition in which the topical induction and elicitation of sensitization by a drug is entirely limited to the skin. It appears that Gell-Coombs type IV reactions are also responsible for delayed cutaneous eruptions, such as maculopapular exanthems due to antibiotics (eg, amoxicillin and sulfonamides) and acute generalized exanthematous pustulosis. Drug allergy may also be classified by the predominant tissue or organ involved (eg, systemic, cutaneous, hepatic), which is useful in light of the difficulty that sometimes occurs in determining the immunologic mechanism involved. Table 2 highlights the spectrum of drug allergic reactions and syndromes that will be discussed in greater detail in this parameter.

The p-i concept (pharmacologic interaction with immune receptors) is a recently proposed addition to drug hypersensitivity classification. In this scheme, a drug binds noncovalently to a T-cell receptor, which may lead to an immune response via interaction with an major histocompatibility receptor. In this scenario, no sensitization is required because there is direct stimulation of memory and effector T cells, analogous to the concept of superantigens.<sup>2,3</sup>

The structural characteristics of certain drugs, such as penicillin and peptides, may help predict the type of hypersensitivity reaction; however, this is not always the case. Other drug-specific risk factors include the dose, route of administration, duration of treatment, repetitive exposure to the drug, and concurrent illnesses. Host risk factors include age, sex, atopy, specific genetic polymorphisms, and inherent

#### Table 2. Drug Allergic Reactions and Syndromes

	Clinical manifestations	Examples of causative agents
IgE mediated	Urticaria, angioedema, bronchospasm, anaphylaxis	β-Lactam antibiotics, platinum-based chemotherapeutics, perioperative agents
Cytotoxic	Hemolytic anemia, thrombocytopenia, granulocytopenia	Penicillin, quinine, sulfonamides
Immune complex	Serum sickness	Penicillin, infliximab, thymoglobulin
Delayed type hypersensitivity	Contact dermatitis, exanthems	Neomycin, glucocorticoids, penicillin, sulfonamide antibiotics
Hypersensitivity vasculitis	Cutaneous or visceral vasculitis	Hydralazine, penicillamine, propylthiouracil
DRESS	Cutaneous, fever, eosinophilia, hepatic dysfunction, lymphadenopathy	Anticonvulsants, sulfonamides, minocycline, allopurinol
Pulmonary drug hypersensitivity	Pneumonitis, fibrosis	Nitrofurantoin, bleomycin, methotrexate
Systemic drug-induced lupus erythematosus	Arthralgias, myalgias, fever, malaise	Hydralazine, procainamide, isoniazid
Cutaneous drug-induced lupus erythematosus	Erythematous/scaly plaques in photodistribution	Hydrochlorothiazide, calcium channel blockers, ACE inhibitors
Drug-induced granulomatous disease	Churg-Strauss syndrome, Wegener's granulomatosis	Propylthiouracil, leukotriene modifiers
Immunologic hepatitis	Hepatitis, cholestatic jaundice	Para-aminosalicylic acid, sulfonamides, phenothiazines
Blistering disorders	Erythema multiforme, SJS, TEN	Sulfonamides, cephalosporins, imidazole anticonvulsants, NSAIDs
Serum sickness-like reactions	Erythema multiforme, arthralgias	Cefaclor, cefprozil
Immunologic nephropathy	Interstitial nephritis, membranous glomerulonephritis	Penicillin, sulfonamides, gold, penicillamine, allopurinol

Abbreviations: ACE, angiotensin-converting enzyme; DRESS, drug rash with eosinophilia and systemic symptoms; NSAIDs, nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs; SJS, Stevens-Johnson syndrome; TEN, toxic epidermal necrolysis.

predisposition to react to multiple unrelated drugs (multiple drug allergy syndrome).

#### History and Physical Examination

The history, physical examination, and objective clinical and laboratory tests are important components in the clinical evaluation and diagnosis of drug hypersensitivity. The history should focus on such items as previous and current drug use, the toxicity and allergenicity of previously and currently used drugs, and the temporal sequence of events between initiation of therapy and onset of symptoms. Physical examination should include all systems that could possibly account for the clinical presentation. Cutaneous manifestations are the most common presentation for drug allergic reactions. Although drug allergic reactions may present with noncutaneous physical findings, these findings are generally nonspecific and are not nearly as helpful in diagnosis and management decisions. Therefore, the emphasis in this parameter on the physical examination focuses on cutaneous findings.

Characterization of cutaneous lesions is important in regard to determining the cause, further diagnostic tests, and management decisions. Numerous cutaneous reaction patterns have been reported in drug allergy, including exanthems, urticaria, angioedema, acne, bullous eruptions, fixed drug eruptions, erythema multiforme, lupus erythematosus, photosensitivity, psoriasis, purpura, vasculitis, pruritus, and life-threatening cutaneous reactions such as Stevens-Johnson syndrome (SJS), toxic epidermal necrolysis (TEN), exfoliative dermatitis, and drug rash with eosinophilia and systemic symptoms (DRESS).<sup>4</sup>

#### **Diagnostic Tests**

Possible clinical tests might include but are not limited to a chest x-ray examination, a complete blood cell count with differential, sedimentation rate, nuclear and cytoplasmic autoantibody tests, and other specific immunologic tests. A retrospective diagnosis of anaphylaxis may be determined by detecting an increase in serum total tryptase levels above baseline or in serum mature tryptase (also known as  $\beta$ -tryptase). The most useful test for detecting IgE-mediated drug reactions caused by many large-molecular-weight biologicals and penicillin is the immediate hypersensitivity skin test. Relatively few studies with small numbers of patients have evaluated the specificity and sensitivity of third-generation assays for detection of penicillin specific IgE in vitro.<sup>5,6</sup> These studies demonstrate relatively high specificity (97%-100%) but lower sensitivity (29%-68%) for penicillin specific IgE. Therefore, although a positive in vitro test result for penicillin specific IgE is highly predictive of penicillin allergy, a negative in vitro test result does not adequately exclude penicillin allergy. The basophil activation test is a recently described method of evaluating expression of CD63

on basophils after stimulation with an allergen.<sup>7</sup> There are limited data using this method to evaluate patients with possible allergies to  $\beta$ -lactam antibiotics and nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs).<sup>8-10</sup> Further confirmatory studies, especially with commercially available tests, are needed before its general acceptance as a diagnostic tool.

Patch testing is the most reliable technique for diagnosis of contact dermatitis caused by topically applied drugs. The diagnosis of contact dermatitis usually can be verified by patch testing. In recent years there have been reports concerning the diagnostic utility of patch tests with systemically administered drugs in non–IgE-mediated cutaneous drug reactions.<sup>11</sup> Drug patch testing may be useful for certain types of cutaneous drug reactions, including maculopapular exanthems, acute generalized exanthematous pustulosis, and fixed drug eruptions,<sup>12-14</sup> but generally is not helpful for SJS or urticarial eruptions.<sup>12-15</sup>

In complex cases where multiple drugs are involved without a clear-cut temporal relationship, a skin biopsy may be useful in suggesting a drug-induced eruption. However, there are no absolute histologic criteria for the diagnosis of druginduced eruptions, and a skin biopsy may not definitively exclude alternative causes.<sup>16</sup>

#### Induction of Drug Tolerance and Graded Challenges

What has often been referred to as drug desensitization is more appropriately described in this parameter as a temporary induction of drug tolerance. Drug tolerance is defined as a state in which a patient with a drug allergy will tolerate a drug without an adverse reaction. Drug tolerance does not indicate either a permanent state of tolerance or that the mechanism involved was immunologic tolerance. Induction of drug tolerance procedures modify a patient's response to a drug to temporarily allow treatment with it safely. They are indicated only in situations where an alternate non-cross-reacting medication cannot be used. Induction of drug tolerance can involve IgE immune mechanisms, non-IgE immune mechanisms, pharmacologic mechanisms, and undefined mechanisms (Table 1). All procedures to induce drug tolerance involve administration of incremental doses of the drug. Through various mechanisms, these procedures induce a temporary state of tolerance to the drug, which is maintained only as long as the patient continues to take the specific drug.

Where there is a definite medical indication for the agent in question, either induction of drug tolerance or graded challenge procedures may be considered, depending on the history of the previous reaction and the likelihood that the patient is currently allergic to that agent. If there is a low likelihood of drug allergy, a graded challenge or test dose to the specific drug in question may provide a useful confirmation that administration of the drug will not result in an immediate reaction. The purpose of graded challenge is to cautiously administer a drug to a patient who is unlikely to be allergic to it and there is no intention to induce tolerance to the drug. Patients who tolerate a graded challenge are considered to not be allergic to the drug and are not at increased risk for future reactions compared with the general population.

The choice of whether to introduce a clinically indicated drug via graded challenge or via induction of drug tolerance mainly depends on the likelihood that the patient is allergic at the time of the procedure. Patients who, based on their history and/or diagnostic test results, are unlikely to be allergic to a drug may undergo graded challenge. Patients who have a relatively higher likelihood of being allergic to a drug should undergo an induction of drug tolerance procedure. Graded challenge (or induction of drug tolerance) should almost never be performed if the reaction history is consistent with a severe non–IgE-mediated reaction, such as SJS, TEN, interstitial nephritis, hepatitis, or hemolytic anemia.

#### **Other Immunologic Drug Allergy Syndromes**

Specific drugs or classes of drugs may be associated with characteristic syndromes, which may not conform to typical presentations defined by the Gell-Coombs classification system. Table 2 lists the various other immunologic drug allergic syndromes discussed in the parameter.

#### **Specific Drugs and Biologic Agents**

Drug allergic reactions have been reported to most all medications. However, certain drugs are more frequently associated with specific types of reactions. Significant updates on the following drugs and biologic agents have been made in this updated parameter and are discussed elsewhere in more detail.

#### Antimicrobials

The most important causes of immediate hypersensitivity reactions are antibiotics, particularly  $\beta$ -lactam antibiotics. Approximately 10% of patients report a history of penicillin allergy. However, up to 90% of these individuals are able to tolerate penicillin and are designated as having "penicillin allergy" unnecessarily.<sup>17,18</sup> Use of broad-spectrum antibiotics in patients designated as being "penicillin allergic" is associated with higher costs, increased antibiotic resistance, and may compromise optimal medical care.<sup>19</sup> Penicillin skin testing is the most reliable method for evaluating IgE-mediated penicillin allergy. Ideally, both major and minor determinant reagents are used for skin testing. Penicillin challenges of individuals skin test negative to penicilloylpolylysine and penicillin G<sup>20,21</sup> have similar reaction rates compared with individuals skin test negative to the full set of major and minor penicillin determinants.17,18

Varying degrees of allergic cross-reactivity between penicillin and cephalosporins have been documented. Overall, most patients with a history of penicillin allergy tolerate cephalosporins,<sup>22</sup> but there are rare reports of anaphylactic reactions, including fatal reactions.<sup>23</sup> Patients with a history of penicillin allergy who have negative skin test results to penicillin using major and minor determinants may receive cephalosporins safely.<sup>24</sup> Skin testing for cephalosporins and other  $\beta$ -lactam antibiotics is not standardized, as it is for penicillin. There is no allergic cross-reactivity between penicillin and monobactams. The degree of cross-reactivity between penicillin and carbapenems appears to be low.<sup>25,26</sup> IgE-mediated reactions to non– $\beta$ -lactam antibiotics may occur but are less common. There is no standardized skin testing for evaluation of immediate-type allergy to non– $\beta$ lactam antibiotics.

Sulfonamide antibiotics rarely cause IgE-mediated reactions and more commonly result in delayed maculopapular exanthems, particularly in human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)-positive patients. There is no evidence to suggest allergic cross-reactivity between sulfonamide antibiotics and nonantibiotic sulfonamides.27 Vancomycin rarely causes IgEmediated reactions, but more than 50% of patients experience immediate cutaneous erythema, flushing, and pruritus (red man syndrome), which is the result of non-IgE-mediated histamine release. Red man syndrome reactions can be prevented by slowing the rate of infusion and premedicating with histamine, receptor antihistamines. Although aminoglycosides rarely cause hypersensitivity reactions, there are individual case reports of IgE-mediated systemic reactions. Reports of IgE-mediated anaphylactic reactions to quinolones appear to be increasing, possibly due to increased use of these agents.<sup>28-31</sup> In vitro studies suggest a large extent of allergic cross-reactivity among quinolones,<sup>2,28</sup> but there are no clinical studies to confirm this. Delayed cutaneous eruptions appear in approximately 2% of quinolone-treated patients.<sup>32,33</sup> There is evidence to show that drug-specific T cells are responsible for delayed maculopapular exanthems from quinolones.<sup>2</sup>

Allergic drug reactions to antimycobacterial drugs can induce both minor and life-threatening reactions. Many allergic reactions were also encountered after use of second-generation drugs, including isoniazid, ethambutol, pyrazinamide, and rifampicin.<sup>34</sup> These include anaphylaxis, angioedema, pulmonary infiltrates, and cutaneous reactions.<sup>35-39</sup>

#### Insulin and Oral Antidiabetic Drugs

Since the introduction of purified human recombinant insulin, allergy to insulin is rare and is now encountered in less than 1% of patients.<sup>40-43</sup> However, life-threatening allergic reactions to human insulin and insulin analogs (Aspart, Lispro, and Glargine) have been documented and can be confirmed by appropriate intracutaneous and/or in vitro testing.<sup>44,45</sup> The mechanisms of immunogenic reactions to recombinant human insulin are not entirely clear but may relate to structural changes of insulin, including insulin aggregation (fibrillation).<sup>46</sup> Leukocytoclastic vasculitis, generalized arteritis, granulomatous hepatitis, and autoimmune pemphigus vulgaris are rare immune-mediated reactions that have been described to occur during treatment with metformin and/or sulfonylurea antidiabetic agents.<sup>47-53</sup>

#### **Cancer Chemotherapeutic Agents**

Hypersensitivity reactions have been reported for virtually all commonly used chemotherapeutic agents. Reactions range from mild cutaneous eruptions to fatal anaphylaxis. Some reactions may be the result of excipients rather than the active drug, such as Cremophor-EL, a lipid solvent vehicle used in paclitaxel and other intravenous chemotherapeutics. In the taxane family, paclitaxel and docetaxel produce anaphylactic reactions in as many as 42% of patients on first administration,<sup>54</sup> suggesting an anaphylactoid mechanism. Pretreatment with systemic corticosteroids and antihistamines prevents the reaction in more than 90% of patients.55 Patients who react despite pretreatment can usually be successfully desensitized.<sup>56-58</sup> Another option for patients who react to paclitaxel is to switch to docetaxel because most are able to tolerate it.59 Platinum compounds (cisplatin, carboplatin, and oxaliplatin) typically cause hypersensitivity reactions after completion of several treatment courses,<sup>60,61</sup> suggesting an immunologic mechanism. Pretreatment with corticosteroids and antihistamines does not prevent these reactions.<sup>62</sup> Skin testing with the undiluted drug has been found to identify patients at risk of reactions, and skin testing should be repeated before each subsequent course with the drug.<sup>61,63,64</sup> For patients with positive skin test results, various rapid induction of drug tolerance protocols have been reported, but they are not uniformly successful.<sup>61,63,64</sup> Recently, a 12-step desensitization protocol for a variety of chemotherapeutic agents, including platinum compounds, has been reported to be completely successful in 413 procedures, with 94% of procedures having only a mild or no reaction.58

Methotrexate is a cause of noncytotoxic pulmonary reactions.<sup>65,66</sup> Methotrexate pneumonitis occurs most frequently within the first year of treatment, and the reported incidence of this reaction varies from 0.86% to 6.9%.<sup>67,68</sup> If use of the drug is inadvertently continued, interstitial fibrosis may ensue.

#### Medications for Patients With HIV Infections and AIDS

Drug reactions are common in patients infected with the HIV virus, and in some cases, the incidence of reactions may be related to the degree of immunodeficiency.<sup>69-73</sup> Adverse reactions to sulfonamides may complicate both treatment and prophylaxis of Pneumocystis jiroveci pneumonia in many patients with AIDS. The most common reaction to sulfonamides is a morbilliform, maculopapular eruption often associated with fever that occurs after 7 to 12 days of therapy. For HIV-positive individuals who develop typical delayed maculopapular rashes after trimethoprim and sulfamethoxazole administration, many different induction of drug tolerance protocols have been developed and used successfully.74-85 It is not clear how or to what extent the immune response to trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole is modified during these types of induction of drug tolerance procedures. In a randomized trial of trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole induction of drug tolerance vs rechallenge (single dose), the success rates were 79% and 72%, respectively, and the difference was not statistically significant.<sup>83</sup> Sulfadiazine, acyclovir, zidovudine, dapsone, and pentamidine induction of drug tolerance protocols have also been developed for patients with AIDS.<sup>86-91</sup>

At least 20 antiretroviral drugs are approved by the US Food and Drug Administration for highly active antiretroviral therapy of HIV-infected patients.<sup>92,93</sup> Many of these drugs have been associated with hypersensitivity responses ranging from mild cutaneous rashes to life-threatening SJS and TEN.<sup>94</sup>. Abacavir, a nucleoside-analogue reverse transcriptase inhibitor, causes severe hypersensitivity in 4% to 5% of patients.<sup>95,96</sup> Such reactions have been identified with a genetic risk factor, the presence of HLA B 5701.<sup>97,98</sup>

#### **Medications for Autoimmune Diseases**

A variety of allergic reactions to disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs (DMARDS) may occur, including gold salts, D-penicillamine, sulfasalazine, hydroxychloroquine, and leflunomide. Reactions such as vasculitis, DRESS, photodermatitis, and TEN have been reported with DMARDs. Newer immunomodulator agents have been introduced for several autoimmune diseases. Although hypersensitivity reactions to several of these have already occurred, it is too early to assess the global impact of adverse events for diverse immunologic interventions in early development. Allergic reactions to immunosuppressant and anti-inflammatory drugs may be encountered in the treatment of chronic cutaneous diseases. Dermatologic immunosuppressant drugs, such as macrolides (eg, cyclosporine, tacrolimus, pimecrolimus, and sirolimus), dapsone, and mycophenolate mofetil, have been reported to cause drug allergic reactions in addition to their known predictable adverse reactions.

#### **Perioperative Agents and Blood Products**

Anaphylactic and anaphylactoid reactions during general anesthesia may be due to induction agents, neuromuscular blocking agents, antibiotics, opiates, and latex. Because anaphylactic reactions cannot be distinguished from anaphylactoid, nonimmune occurrences, it has been recommended that plasma histamine, tryptase, and specific IgEs (if available) may be ordered at the time of reaction and skin tests be performed later.99 Immediate generalized reactions to protamine, including hypotension, shock, and death, have been reported.<sup>100,101</sup> Diabetic patients receiving protamine-containing insulins appear to be at 40 to 50 times greater risk for developing anaphylaxis.<sup>102,103</sup> Reactions due to blood and blood products include urticaria, anaphylaxis (particularly in patients with complete IgA deficiency), anaphylactoid reactions, and transfusion-related acute lung injury (TRALI). TRALI is a complex syndrome that has multiorgan manifestations and has only recently been identified to be an important cause of transfusion-associated morbidity and mortality. 104,105

# Opiates

Opiates and their analogs are a common cause of pseudoallergic reactions that are generally mild, are not life-threatening, and can be attenuated by preadministration of histamine<sub>1</sub> receptor antihistamines. Skin test results to opiates are difficult to interpret because these agents cause release of histamine from skin mast cells in all patients.

### Corticosteroids

Allergic contact dermatitis due to topical application of corticosteroids is the most common type of allergic reaction induced by this class of drugs. Very rarely, immediate-type allergic reactions to corticosteroids have been described. Most such reported reactions are due to intravenous administration of methylprednisolone and hydrocortisone<sup>106-111</sup>; however, preservatives and diluents have also been implicated.

### Heparin

Hypersensitivity reactions to unfractionated heparin and lowmolecular-weight heparin are uncommon and include thrombocytopenia, various cutaneous eruptions, hypereosinophilia, and anaphylaxis. Mild thrombocytopenia is due to platelet aggregation and occurs in 1% to 3% of patients treated with unfractionated heparin. Severe thrombocytopenia is caused by immune complexes, a component of which is heparindependent IgG specific for platelet factor 4.112 This reaction usually occurs after approximately 5 days of treatment with unfractionated heparin and is associated with development of thrombosis and necrosis. A recent outbreak of anaphylactic reactions to heparin in the United States and Germany was attributed to a contaminant in heparin lots, an oversulfated form of chondroitin sulfate. This oversulfated chondroitin sulfate contaminant has been shown in vitro and in vivo to cause activation of the kinin-kallikrein pathway with generation of bradykinin, a potent vasoactive mediator, and C3a and C5a anaphylatoxins.<sup>113</sup> Clinically, reactions to contaminated heparin products were associated with hypotension and abdominal pain, and variably angioedema, but typically lacked urticaria and pruritus.<sup>114</sup> The findings of abdominal pain and angioedema are somewhat analogous to C1 inhibitor deficiency in which symptoms are due to local production of bradykinin.

# Local Anesthetics

Most adverse reactions to local anesthetics are not due to IgE-mediated mechanisms but are due to nonallergic factors that include vasovagal responses, anxiety, toxic reactions including dysrhythmias, and toxic or idiosyncratic reactions due to inadvertent intravenous epinephrine effects. Documentation of IgE-mediated reactions is extremely rare.<sup>115-118</sup> When there is concern about a previously reported reaction, skin testing and incremental challenge with a local anesthetic is a reasonable approach in the evaluation of a possible reaction.

#### **Radiocontrast Media**

Anaphylactoid reactions occur in approximately 1% to 3% of patients who receive ionic radiocontrast media (RCM) and less than 0.5% of patients who receive nonionic agents.<sup>119,120</sup> Severe life-threatening reactions are less common, occurring in 0.22% of patients receiving ionic RCM and 0.04% of patients receiving nonionic agents.<sup>121</sup> Risk factors for anaphylactoid reactions to RCM include female sex, asthma, and

a history of previous anaphylactoid reaction to RCM;  $\beta$ -blocker exposure and/or the presence of cardiovascular conditions is associated with greater risk for more serious anaphylactoid reaction.<sup>122-126</sup> There is no convincing evidence in the medical literature that individuals with "seafood allergy" are at elevated risk for anaphylactoid reaction to RCM compared with the general population. Management of a patient who requires RCM and has had a prior anaphylactoid reaction to RCM includes the following: (1) determine whether the study is essential; (2) determine that the patient understands the risks; (3) ensure proper hydration; (4) use a nonionic, iso-osmolar RCM, especially in high-risk patients (asthmatic patients, patients taking  $\beta$ -blockers and those with cardiovascular disease); and (5) use a pretreatment regimen that has been documented to be successful in preventing most reactions.<sup>127-130</sup> Delayed reactions to RCM, defined as those occurring between 1 hour and 1 week after administration, occur in approximately 2% of patients.131 These reactions most commonly manifest as mild, self-limited cutaneous eruptions and do not require any treatment.<sup>131</sup> The mechanism of delayed skin reactions to RCM appears to be T cell mediated.<sup>132</sup>

### Aspirin, NSAIDs, and Platelet Inhibitors

Aspirin and NSAIDs can cause a spectrum of drug allergic reactions, including exacerbation of underlying respiratory disease, urticaria, angioedema, anaphylaxis, and rarely pneumonitis and meningitis. AERD is a clinical entity characterized by aspirin- and NSAID-induced respiratory reactions in patients with chronic rhinosinusitis and asthma. AERD does not fit precisely into a specific category of adverse drug reactions. The mechanism of AERD is related to aberrant arachidonic acid metabolism. Patients with AERD also have increased respiratory tract expression of the cysteinyl leukotriene 1 receptor and heightened responsiveness to inhaled leukotriene E4.133,134 Administration of aspirin leads to inhibition of cyclooxygenase 1 (COX-1) with resultant decrease in prostaglandin E2. Prostaglandin E2 normally inhibits 5-lipoxygenase, but with a loss of this modifying effect, arachidonic acid molecules are preferentially metabolized in the 5-lipoxygenase pathway, resulting in increased production of cysteinyl leukotrienes. NSAIDs that preferentially inhibit COX-2 but also inhibit COX-1 at higher doses may result in reactions, depending on the dose given. Selective COX-2 inhibitors almost never cause reactions in patients with AERD and can typically be taken safely.<sup>135-139</sup>

When patients with a history suggestive of AERD (ie, asthma, rhinosinusitis, and history of respiratory reaction to aspirin or aspirin-like drug) are challenged with aspirin, approximately 85% will have a respiratory reaction confirming the diagnosis.<sup>140</sup> A recent study showed that 100% of patients with a history of aspirin causing a severe reaction (poor response to albuterol with need for medical intervention) had positive oral aspirin challenges.<sup>141</sup> Management of patients with AERD involves avoidance of aspirin and NSAIDs and aggressive medical and/or surgical treatment of underlying

asthma and rhinitis/sinusitis. A pharmacologic induction of drug tolerance procedure (also known as aspirin desensitization), during which tolerance to aspirin can be induced and maintained, is an important therapeutic option for patients with AERD.

A second clinical presentation of aspirin and NSAID drug allergic reactions is an exacerbation of urticaria or angioedema in patients with chronic idiopathic urticaria. All drugs that inhibit COX-1 cross-react to cause this reaction. Selective COX-2 inhibitors are generally well tolerated in patients with chronic idiopathic urticaria, although there may be rare exceptions.<sup>142-144</sup> A third type of drug allergic reaction is aspirin or single NSAID-induced urticaria or angioedema or anaphylactic reaction, in which case other NSAIDs are tolerated.<sup>145-148</sup> A fourth type of drug allergic reaction to aspirin and NSAIDs is urticaria or angioedema due to aspirin and any NSAID that inhibits COX-1 in patients without chronic urticaria. These reactions may be either drug specific or crossreactive to other NSAIDs.148 Rarely, some reactions to aspirin or NSAIDs do not fit precisely into these categories and may have blended respiratory and cutaneous reactions.

Allergic rashes are common adverse effects of clopidogrel, a thiopyridine inhibitor of platelet activation that is often recommended in aspirin-intolerant patients. Although the mechanisms of such reactions are unknown, successful oral induction of drug tolerance protocols have been reported.

### Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme Inhibitors

Angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors have 2 major adverse effects—cough and angioedema. Cough occurs in up to 20% of patients, is typically dry and nonproductive, and occurs more commonly in women, blacks, and Asians. The cough generally begins within the first few weeks of treatment, but occasionally the onset may occur much later. Angiotensin receptor blockers (ARBs) are not associated with development of cough.

The incidence of angioedema with ACE inhibitors is approximately 0.1% to 0.7%<sup>149,150</sup> and appears to be more common in blacks.<sup>151,152</sup> The angioedema frequently involves the face or upper airway and can be life-threatening or fatal.<sup>153,154</sup> Reports of angioedema of the intestinal tract secondary to ACE inhibitors have also been described.<sup>155</sup> Patients with C1 esterase inhibitor deficiency are at increased risk of more frequent and severe episodes of angioedema with the administration of ACE inhibitors and should not receive these drugs. Patients typically take ACE inhibitors for months or even years before angioedema occurs. It is also puzzling that recurrent episodes of angioedema occur sporadically despite continued daily use of ACE inhibitors. Most patients with angioedema related to ACE inhibitor usually tolerate ARBs.<sup>156</sup>

#### **Biologic Modifiers**

In the past decade, a number of biologic agents have been developed to neutralize proinflammatory cytokines, their cel-

Table	3.	Classification	of	Adverse	Reactions to	Biologics
-------	----	----------------	----	---------	--------------	-----------

Type of adverse reaction	Example
High dose	Cytokine release syndrome
Hypersensitivity	Delayed infusion reactions
Secondary Immunodeficiency	Tuberculosis with anti-TNF
Autoimmunity	SLE or vasculitis
Atopic disorders	Atopic dermatitis
Cross-reactivity	Acne from anti-epidermal growth factor receptor
Nonimmunologic adverse effects	Depression from interferons

Abbreviations: SLE, systemic lupus erythematosus; TNF, tumor necrosis factor.

lular receptors, and IgE antibody.<sup>157,158</sup> Because the clinical experience with these drugs varies (ie, phase 4 experiences), the spectrum of reported allergic reactions may not yet be fully known for all of them. A separate type of classification for adverse reactions to biological agents has been proposed based on the mechanism of reactions (Table 3).<sup>159</sup> High-dose reactions are related to high cytokine levels administered directly or from cytokines released (cytokine release syndrome). Hypersensitivity reactions may be either antibody or cell-mediated. Immune or cytokine dysregulation may result in secondary immunodeficiency, autoimmunity, or allergic or atopic disorders. Cross-reactive reactions may occur when the biologic agent is intended for a pathologic cell type but cross-reacts with normal cells. Finally, biologics may also result in nonimmunologic adverse effects.

Cytokines, including interferons and anti-tumor necrosis factor  $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ) drugs, have been reported to cause a variety of drug allergic reactions. Allergic drug reactions ranging from cutaneous lesions to severe anaphylaxis may occur during treatment with recombinant interferons. A variety of immune-mediated reactions have occurred during infliximab (Remicade) treatment for adult and juvenile rheumatoid arthritis, Crohn's disease and psoriasis. These reactions include urticaria, flare-up of atopic dermatitis, maculopapular rashes, leukocytoclastic vasculitis, serum sickness, and at least 7 instances of life-threatening anaphylactic reactions.<sup>160-173</sup> Fewer adverse effects have been associated with adalimumab (Humira), another recently available, fully humanized anti-TNF- $\alpha$  monoclonal antibody. These effects include injection site pruritic rashes and new-onset asthma.174,175 New-onset asthma may also appear during treatment with both infliximab and etanercept (Enbrel). Immune-mediated reactions have also been rarely associated with the latter agent, a recombinant TNF- $\alpha$  extracellular protein domain fused to human IgG1 Fc, which neutralizes soluble TNF- $\alpha$ . These reactions include urticaria, rashes, injection site reactions, leukocytoclastic vasculitis, lupus erythematosus, and 1 instance of lung granulomatosis injury.176-182

Both cutaneous and systemic allergic reactions have been reported after treatment with both murine and humanized monoclonal antibodies. Hypersensitivity reactions to cetuximab (chimeric mouse-human IgG1 monoclonal antibody against the epidermal growth factor receptor), including IgEmediated anaphylaxis, has been reported to occur at a national rate of 3% or less but much higher (22%) in the Middle South region of the United States.<sup>183</sup> IgE antibodies in this condition are specific for an oligosaccharide galactose-  $\alpha$ -1, 3-galactose, which is present on the Fab portion of the cetuximab heavy chain. In most of these patients, specific IgE cetuximab antibodies were present in patients' sera before therapy.<sup>184</sup> Severe symptoms, such as fever, rigors, chills, and acute respiratory distress syndrome, may occur during administration of the first dose of certain monoclonal antibodies due to a cytokine release syndrome.<sup>185,186</sup>

Depending on the monoclonal antibody and type of reaction, readministration strategies may include medication pretreatment, slowing infusion rates, or induction of drug tolerance.<sup>184</sup> In patients with immediate-type reactions, successful induction of tolerance to rituximab, infliximab, and trastuzumab has been reported using a 6-hour protocol in combination with corticosteroid and antihistamine premedication.

Rare anaphylactic reactions to anti-IgE humanized monoclonal antibody (omalizumab) were described during phase 3 clinical trials and during the postmarketing surveillance period. The mechanism of these reactions is unclear. Many cases experienced either delayed-onset (2 hours) or protracted progression of signs and symptoms after dose administration. The Omalizumab Joint Task Force report recommended that patients receiving omalizumab should be directly observed, in a physician's office, after receiving omalizumab for 2 hours after the first 3 doses and 30 minutes after subsequent doses.<sup>187</sup>

#### **Complementary Medicines**

The term *complementary medicine* includes herbal products, vitamins, minerals, amino acids, and essential oils.<sup>188</sup> There is widespread belief that these products are safe because they are "natural."<sup>189</sup> However, well-recognized adverse effects, including anaphylaxis, have been reported in patients using bee pollen products.<sup>190</sup> Allergic reactions, including asthma and anaphylaxis, have been reported after ingestion of echinacea, an herb that is derived from several species of a flowering plant.<sup>191</sup> A variety of cutaneous reactions and 1 instance of TEN have been reported after use of Chinese herbal medications, which sometimes have been adulterated with synthetic medications.<sup>192,193</sup> Because the extent of this problem is unknown, patients should be questioned about the use of herbs and health supplements.

#### **Other Agents**

A number of other agents have been reported to cause drug allergic reactions, including *N*-acetylcysteine, blue dyes, volume expanders, iron-containing dextran, and preservatives. These reactions are discussed further in the text of the parameter.

#### ANNOTATIONS (FIGURE 1):

# <u>ANNOTATION 1:</u> Patient develops a possible adverse drug reaction.

Adverse drug reactions encompass a wide range of clinical symptoms and signs that may be confused with a preexistent disease, a proximate unexpected clinical event (eg, druginduced liver disease vs viral hepatitis), or a disorder that would not have occurred if the drug had not been used (eg, aseptic necrosis after glucocorticosteroids). As defined by the World Health Organization, such reactions do not include therapeutic failures, intentional overdose, abuse of the drug, or errors in administration. Adverse drug reactions occur more frequently in seriously ill patients requiring multiple drugs, human immunodeficiency virus-positive patients, or patients with underlying hepatic or renal impairment. Occasionally, the occurrence of an unexpected event during drug administration may be mistakenly attributed to extension of the underlying disease rather than to the drug itself. In certain instances, there may be an excessive reaction to the primary effect of the drug (eg, diarrhea after a laxative).

In making a determination about whether the patient is experiencing an adverse drug reaction, the physician must appreciate the wide scope of such reactions with special emphasis on early recognition, pathophysiologic mechanisms, and severity. Predictable adverse drug reactions (type A) are usually dose dependent and related to the known pharmacologic effects of the drug; examples include pharmacologic adverse effects and drug-drug interactions. Unpredictable reactions (type B) are elicited by relatively small doses and are usually unrelated to the pharmacologic actions of the drug.

In assessing the possibility of an adverse drug reaction, knowledge about the dose, duration of use, temporal relationship of drug administration, and predilection of individual drugs to cause tissue or organ-specific adverse effects is important. In addition, the pharmacologic properties of drugs may provide useful clues about the type of adverse effects that is most likely to occur. Attention to these factors usually can distinguish pseudoallergic reactions, which occur as a result of mediator release from mast cells or basophils, from specific drug allergic reactions.

# <u>ANNOTATION 2:</u> Review of medical history, the patient's records, physical examination findings, and clinical tests support an adverse drug reaction.

A careful history, including a review of all available medical records, is essential. The history should include the following: (1) timing of the onset, course, and duration of symptoms; (2) a description of symptoms with special attention to the organ system(s) involved; (3) the possible temporal relationship of symptoms with medication use; (4) a detailed list and description of all medications, both prescription and nonprescription, that the patient is or was taking, including dose, dosing interval, and length of treatment; (5) a detailed history of previously suspected drug reactions; and (6) a description of the management of previous drug reactions and measures taken to prevent recurrence of such reactions. A review of available medical records will help to confirm the patient's medication history and may provide details about previously suspected drug reactions, including the treatment of these reactions. Host risk factors obtained from the history, such as age, sex, race, genetic associations (eg, atopy [usually for reactions to high-molecular=weight biologicals], genetic polymorphisms of HLA-DR, and various drug metabolizing enzymes), and presence of underlying disease (such as human immunodeficiency virus or systemic lupus erythematosus) may support the possibility of a drug allergic reaction.

Because adverse drug reactions may involve any organ system, a complete physical examination is recommended in any patient who presents with a possible adverse reaction to a drug. On the basis of the history and physical examination findings, laboratory tests, including differential, blood tests, such as liver or renal function tests, a chest x-ray examination, and/or an electrocardiogram may be advisable. Specific tests that may help to define immunopathogenesis are described in Annotations 5-11.

#### **ANNOTATION 3:** Consider other possibilities.

If review of medical history, examination findings, and laboratory test results do not indicate an adverse drug reaction, other causes should be considered. For example, chronic urticaria, non-drug-related contact dermatitis, gastroenteritis, and viral exanthems are often mistaken for adverse drug reactions.

# <u>ANNOTATION 4:</u> Is drug-induced allergic reaction suspected?

Once a suspected drug-induced reaction is confirmed, determining whether this reaction is allergic in nature is an important next step. Drug allergy should be strongly suspected when (1) the symptoms and physical findings are compatible with an immune drug reaction; (2) there is (or was) a definite temporal relationship between administration of the drug and an adverse event; (3) the class and/or structure of the drug have been associated with immune reactions; (4) the patient had previously received the drug (or a cross-reacting drug) on 1 or more occasions; (5) there is no other clear cause for the presenting manifestations in a patient who is receiving medications known to cause hypersensitivity reactions; and (6) the skin tests and/or laboratory findings are compatible with drug hypersensitivity.

Involvement of the skin is often a prominent physical sign of drug allergy. The spectrum of drug-induced skin lesions includes urticaria, morbilliform rashes, papulovesicular and bullous eruptions, and exfoliative dermatitis. In addition to cutaneous manifestations, acute life-threatening anaphylactic reactions also may involve the cardiorespiratory and gastrointestinal systems. Allergic reactions to many drugs may present with a wide array of abnormal physical findings involving mucous membranes, lymph nodes, kidneys, liver, pleura, lungs, joints, and other organs or tissues. Typical examples of drug allergy corresponding to the different types of Gell-Coombs reactions (using penicillin as an example) include (1) urticaria, laryngeal edema, and hypotension immediately after penicillin administration; (2) anemia in a patient receiving large doses of penicillin; (3) fever, arthralgias, lymphadenopathy, and an urticarial rash 7 to 21 days after an injection of penicillin; and (4) maculopapular eruption several days after initiation of penicillin therapy. Patients' presentations may not always be as typical as these examples.

#### <u>ANNOTATION 5:</u> The adverse reaction is predictable (eg, toxicity, side effect, drug interaction) or due to idiosyncrasy, intolerance, or pseudoallergic effects of the drug.

Most adverse drug reactions are predictable type A reactions. Examples of this type of reaction include acetaminophen-induced hepatic toxicity, sedation from antihistamines, and interference of theophylline metabolism by erythromycin. Clinical presentations of idiosyncratic and intolerance reactions are often characteristic for certain drugs. Aspirin-induced tinnitus at therapeutic or subtherapeutic doses is an example of drug intolerance. Hemolytic anemia induced by dapsone in patients with glucose-6phosphate dehydrogenase deficiency is an example of drug idiosyncrasy. By contrast, pseudoallergic reactions are often symptomatically identical to IgE-mediated drug allergy, may occur without a prior history of exposure, and do not require prior sensitization. Pruritus after administration of opiates is an example of a pseudoallergic reaction. Some but not all nonimmunologic reactions can be confirmed by a graded challenge, including aspirin challenge in patients with possible aspirin-exacerbated respiratory disease.

# <u>ANNOTATION 6:</u> Future management and prevention of nonimmune adverse drug reactions.

Dose modification may be possible in specific instances of toxicity, adverse effects, or drug interactions. In many cases, use of the drug should be discontinued, and if available, a suitable alternative drug should be used. If the suspect drug is essential, gradually increasing doses of the drug may be administered by various graded challenge regimens in an attempt to minimize adverse effects and to demonstrate tolerance.

Cautious use of some agents inducing severe pseudoallergic reactions (eg, radiocontrast media) may be possible if patients are treated with premedication regimens consisting of corticosteroids and antihistamines. Preventive measures include education of the patient about the potential severity and treatment of subsequent reactions, avoidance of the drug and cross-reactive drugs, and personal use of Medic-Alert tags and/or bracelets are recommended.

# <u>ANNOTATION 7:</u> Are appropriate confirmatory tests available?

Diagnosis of many cases of drug allergy is presumptive because specific confirmatory tests are usually not available. Useful clinical testing is predicated on the immunopathogenesis of the drug allergic reaction. The diagnostic potential of percutaneous and intracutaneous tests in IgE-mediated allergy induced by large-molecular-weight biologicals is comparable to similar test reagents used in the diagnosis of inhalant allergy. For low-molecular-weight biologicals, adequate data are not available to determine the predictive value of skin testing except for penicillin. Penicillin and a limited number of other agents (eg, insulin) are the only agents for which optimal negative predictive values for IgE-mediated reactions have been established. Despite this lack of information about predictive values, testing for other agents may provide useful information.

In situations where skin test results cannot be interpreted properly (ie, generalized eczema, dermatographism, or lack of response to the positive histamine control) some in vitro assays for specific IgE are available. However, they are not as sensitive as skin tests and generally do not have optimal negative predictive value. A diagnosis of anaphylaxis may be confirmed by an increase in plasma histamine, serum mature tryptase ( $\beta$ -tryptase), or 24-hour urine *N*-methylhistamine (see Anaphylaxis Practice Parameter).

Immunopathogenesis of delayed drug reactions consistent with type II (cytotoxic) or type III (serum sickness–like) according to the Gell-Coombs classification may be confirmed by nonspecific and specific laboratory tests. Nonspecific tests, such as a complete blood cell count, total eosinophil and platelet counts, sedimentation rate or C-reactive protein, nuclear and/or cytoplasmic autoantibodies, complement components (C3, C4), cryoglobulins, and/or a C1q binding assay may be appropriate. The results of specific tests, such as indirect and direct Coombs tests, are often positive in drug-induced hemolytic anemia, and specific tests for immunocytotoxic thrombocytopenia and granulocytopenia are available in some medical centers.

Contact dermatitis (type IV Gell-Coombs reaction) may be verified by drug-specific (eg, neomycin) epicutaneous patch tests. Because sensitized T cells have been demonstrated in some delayed cutaneous reactions to oral drugs, patch tests to those drugs may also be a helpful diagnostic adjunct. In oral antibiotic-induced delayed cutaneous reactions, drug-specific lymphocyte proliferation and isolation of specific T-cell clones can be demonstrated in some patients. However, the predictive value of such patch testing and in vitro tests is unknown, and they are not available in most medical centers.

When laboratory tests are not diagnostic or available in non–IgE-mediated drug reactions, cautious provocative drug challenges under controlled conditions may be considered if the risk of performing the challenge is thought to be less than the risk of not using the drug. However, such drug challenges are generally contraindicated in cases of severe, life-threatening immunocytotoxic reactions, such as vasculitic syndromes, exfoliative dermatitis, erythema multiforme major or Stevens-Johnson syndrome, toxic epidermal necrolysis, hepatitis, hemolytic anemia, and nephritis.

# ANNOTATION 8: Are test results positive?

A positive immediate hypersensitivity skin test result using a nonirritating concentration of a drug suggests that the patient has specific IgE antibodies to the drug being tested and may be at significant risk for anaphylaxis or less severe immediate hypersensitivity reactions, such as urticaria or angioedema. The positive and negative predictive values of immediate hypersensitivity skin tests are unknown except for few agents. A positive skin test result to the major and/or minor determinants of penicillin has a high predictive value of an immediate hypersensitivity reaction to penicillin. If the skin test result is positive, there may be at least a 50% chance of an immediate reaction to penicillin. Positive skin test results to protein agents (eg, insulin, heterologous antisera, streptokinase) generally have good positive predictive value, although few large-scale, prospective studies to determine this index are available. Positive immediate hypersensitivity skin test results to nonirritating concentrations of nonpenicillin antibiotics may be interpreted as a presumptive risk of an immediate reaction to such agents. Unfortunately, substantive data are limited on what constitutes a nonirritating concentration for many drugs. A positive in vitro specific IgE reaction to a drug or biological (eg, the major determinant of penicillin, insulin, protamine) and basophil activation tests also indicates significant risk for an immediate reaction, but a negative test result lacks adequate sensitivity to exclude drug allergy. As discussed in Annotation 7, various nonspecific and drug specific tests may help to confirm which immunopathogenic pathway is involved.

# <u>ANNOTATION 9:</u> Diagnosis of drug hypersensitivity and immunologic reactions confirmed.

The diagnosis of drug hypersensitivity is confirmed by appropriate specific or nonspecific skin and laboratory tests as discussed in Annotations 5 and 6. Drug-specific tests are most useful for the diagnosis of Gell-Coombs types I and IV reactions and occasionally type II reactions. Various nonspecific immunologic tests discussed in Annotation 5 may aid in the diagnosis of type III responses and atypical drug reactions, with clinical manifestations suggesting mixed immunopathogenetic mechanisms. It should be emphasized that skin and in vitro tests for IgE-mediated reactions, such as immune complex diseases, immunocytotoxic reactions, life-threatening blistering syndromes, or vasculitic disorders.

# ANNOTATION 10: Management.

Acute anaphylactic reactions require immediate discontinuation of the drug therapy and prompt emergency measures, as discussed in detail in the Anaphylaxis Practice Parameter.<sup>194</sup> Documented non–IgE-mediated reactions usually require prompt discontinuation of the drug therapy. If symptoms do not resolve spontaneously, additional symptomatic therapy may be indicated. In the case of immune complex reactions, corticosteroids and antihistamines may be beneficial. In severe cytotoxic or T-cell–mediated reactions, corticosteroids may also be indicated. The use of glucocorticosteroids in advanced stages of the erythema multiforme major or Stevens-Johnson syndrome and TEN is controversial and may increase the risk of infectious complications.

If the drug is determined to be the cause of the reaction, it should be avoided in the future and alternative drugs should be considered. If this is not possible, induction of drug tolerance (eg, desensitization) or graded challenge should be considered. The prophylactic regimens before graded challenge or induction of drug tolerance may be necessary in some cases and are similar to those described in Annotation 4. Readministration of a drug(s) that caused certain severe non–IgE-mediated reactions (eg, Stevens-Johnson syndrome, toxic epidermal necrolysis, Churg-Strauss syndrome, and exfoliative dermatitis) is generally contraindicated with rare exceptions, such as when the benefit of treatment of a lifethreatening illness outweighs the risk of a potentially lifethreatening reaction.

Every effort should be made to prevent allergic reactions to medications. Cross-reactivity between chemically related drugs should be considered. Medications should be prescribed only for medically sound indications, and simultaneous use of multiple drugs should be avoided whenever possible. Orally administered drugs are less likely to produce systemic reactions than drugs given topically or parenterally. For patients with a history of reactions to multiple antibiotics, antibiotics for presumptive diagnosis of respiratory tract infections should be avoided without further testing to confirm the necessity of antimicrobial therapy.

Patients should be carefully instructed about avoiding the drug that caused the reaction or possible cross-reactive drugs. Patients also need to be informed about agents that could be present in over-the-counter preparations having trade names that do not identify the drug. Emergency measures for the treatment of anaphylaxis, such as prompt use of self-administered epinephrine, should be fully explained. In such situations, patients should not hesitate to call 911 or other emergency help telephone numbers. MedicAlert jewelry is a useful way of alerting providers about previous drug reactions, thereby preventing inadvertent readministration of the drug.

# <u>ANNOTATION 11:</u> Does test have high negative predictive value?

If an in vivo or an in vitro test result is negative for specific IgE antibodies directed against the drug, the likelihood that the patient will tolerate the drug depends on the negative predictive value of the test. The negative predictive value for insulin skin testing is good. The only antibiotic for which reliable negative predictive value has been determined is

penicillin. The negative predictive value of commercial in vitro tests for IgE-mediated penicillin allergy is inferior to skin testing, and they do not test for minor determinants. Tests for other small-molecular-weight drugs have unknown negative predictive values. Therefore, the likelihood of developing an IgE-mediated reaction cannot be ruled out by either skin or in vitro tests for such drugs. Valid negative predictive test values are not available for drugs that induce cytotoxic or immune complex reactions.

#### ANNOTATION 12: Patient not allergic to this drug.

Within the limitations discussed in Annotations 7 and 8, a negative test result for IgE-mediated, cytotoxic, immune complex, or contactant hypersensitivity suggests that the patient is not allergic to the suspected drug and the drug may be administered cautiously under observation.

# <u>ANNOTATION 13:</u> Patient may be allergic (despite negative drug-specific or nonspecific confirmatory test results).

Drug hypersensitivity cannot be confirmed by drug-specific tests in most cases because the positive and negative predictive values have not been determined for most agents. Moreover, comparable data about the allergenicity of the parent compound and its reactive end products or metabolites have only been determined for a few drugs, including penicillin. Because the general availability of tests for cytotoxic drug reactions is limited, a determination of the causal relationship of the drug can usually be made from the history, physical examination, and nonspecific tests. Similarly, only nonspecific laboratory tests can be used for the evaluation of drugmediated immune complex disease. There are a number of drug reactions for which immunologic mechanisms are strongly suspected but not yet been demonstrated. Thus, the diagnosis of most allergic drug reactions is presumptive, based on the characteristic features of history, physical examination, and nonspecific laboratory adjunctive tests without definitive confirmation by positive drug-specific test results.

#### Classification of Recommendations and Evidence Category of evidence:

- Ia Evidence from meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials
- Ib Evidence from at least 1 randomized controlled trial
- IIa Evidence from at least 1 controlled study without randomization
- IIb Evidence from at least 1 other type of quasiexperimental study
- III Evidence from nonexperimental descriptive studies, such as comparative studies
- IV Evidence from expert committee reports or opinions or clinical experience of respected authorities or both

#### Strength of recommendation:

- A Directly based on category I evidence
- B Directly based on category II evidence or extrapolated from category I evidence
- C Directly based on category III evidence or extrapolated from category I or II evidence
- D Directly based on category IV evidence or extrapolated from category I, II, or III evidence
- E Based on consensus of the Joint Task Force on Practice Parameters

# SUMMARY STATEMENTS OF THE EVIDENCE-BASED COMMENTARY

# I. INTRODUCTION

*Summary Statement 1:* Adverse drug reactions (ADRs) are commonly encountered in both inpatient and outpatient settings and result in major health problems in the United States. (C)

#### **II. DEFINITIONS**

*Summary Statement 2:* ADRs are broadly categorized into predictable and unpredictable reactions. (D)

*Summary Statement 3:* Unpredictable reactions are subdivided into drug intolerance, drug idiosyncrasy, drug allergy, and pseudoallergic reactions. (D)

*Summary Statement 4:* Drug intolerance is an undesirable pharmacologic effect that occurs at low and sometimes sub-therapeutic doses of the drug without underlying abnormalities of metabolism, excretion, or bioavailability of the drug. (D)

*Summary Statement 5:* Drug idiosyncrasy is an abnormal and unexpected effect that is unrelated to the intended pharmacologic action of a drug. (D)

*Summary Statement 6:* Drug allergy reactions are immunologically mediated responses that result in the production of drug-specific antibodies, T cells, or both. (B)

*Summary Statement 7:* Manifestations of pseudoallergic reactions mimic IgE-mediated allergic reactions, but they are due to direct release of mediators from mast cells and basophils and do not require a preceding period of sensitization. (B)

#### III. CLASSIFICATION OF IMMUNOLOGICALLY MEDIATED DRUG HYPERSENSITIVITY REACTIONS

*Summary Statement 8:* Some drug allergic reactions may be classified by the Gell-Coombs classification paradigm of hypersensitivity (type I: IgE mediated; type II: cytotoxic; type III: immune complex; type IV: cell mediated), whereas others cannot be classified because of lack of knowledge of their immunopathogenesis or a mixed mechanism. (C)

*Summary Statement 9:* Allergic drug reactions may also be classified according to the predominant organ system involved (eg, cutaneous, hepatic, renal) or according to the temporal relationship to onset of symptoms (immediate, accelerated, delayed). (D)

*Summary Statement 10:* To some extent, the structural characteristics of drugs may permit predictions about the type of hypersensitivity reactions they are likely to cause. (C)

#### A. IgE-Mediated Reactions (Gell-Coombs Type I)

Summary Statement 11: IgE-mediated reactions may occur after administration of a wide variety of drugs, biologicals, and drug formulation agents, with the most common agents being antibiotics. (C)

#### **B.** Cytotoxic Reactions (Gell-Coombs Type II)

Summary Statement 12: Cytotoxic reactions are very serious and potentially life-threatening. (C)

Summary Statement 13: Immunohemolytic anemias have occurred after treatment with quinidine,  $\alpha$ -methyldopa, and penicillin. (C)

Summary Statement 14: Positive direct and indirect Coombs test results in immunohemolytic anemia may reflect the presence of drug-specific IgG, complement, or an Rh determinant autoantibody. (C)

Summary Statement 15: Immune-induced thrombocytopenia may result from treatment with heparin, quinidine, propylthiouracil, gold salts, sulfonamides, vancomycin, and other drugs. (C) Platelet membrane damage is mediated mainly by drug-immune serum complexes, which are adsorbed onto platelet membranes. (C)

*Summary Statement 16:* Immune-mediated granulocytopenia is uncommon but may be induced by cytotoxic antibodies synthesized in response to a variety of drugs. (C)

#### C. Immune Complex Reactions (Gell-Coombs Type III)

Summary Statement 17: Immune complex (serum sickness) reactions were originally described with use of heterologous antisera, but they may also be caused by some small-molecular-weight drugs and monoclonal antibodies. (C)

*Summary Statement 18:* The chief manifestations of fever, rash, urticaria, lymphadenopathy, and arthralgias typically appear 1 to 3 weeks after starting use of an offending agent. (C)

*Summary Statement 19:* The prognosis for complete recovery from serum sickness is excellent; however, symptoms may last as long as several weeks. Treatment with systemic corticosteroids and histamine<sub>1</sub> receptor antihistamines may be required. (C)

Summary Statement 20: Drug-induced immune complex disease may occur after exposure to heterologous proteins (eg, thymoglobulin) or simple drugs (eg, penicillin, procain-amide, phenylpropanolamine). (C)

#### D. Cell-Mediated Reactions (Gell-Coombs Type IV)

*Summary Statement 21:* Contact dermatitis produced by topical drugs (such as bacitracin, neomycin, glucocorticosteroids, local anesthetics, and antihistamines) and/or excipients contained in topical formulations are due to cell-mediated reactions. (C)

Summary Statement 22: It is postulated that Gell-Coombs type IV reactions are also responsible for some delayed

cutaneous maculopapular eruptions due to oral antibiotics, such as amoxicillin and sulfonamides. (C)

Summary Statement 23: Patch testing at proper concentrations may be successful in detection of suspected contact allergens. (B)

*Summary Statement 24:* After avoidance is instituted, topical and/or systemic corticosteroids may be required for total clearing of the dermatitis (provided that these drugs were not the primary causes). (C)

#### **E.** Miscellaneous Syndromes

Summary Statement 25: Some drugs or classes of drugs are associated with characteristic syndromes that often do not conform to specific Gell-Coombs categories and sometimes are referred to as mixed drug reactions (ie, a mixture of immunologic mechanism). (C)

*Summary Statement 26:* Many drugs, hematopoietic growth factors, cytokines, and interferons are associated with vasculitis of skin and visceral organs. (C)

*Summary Statement 27:* The drug rash with eosinophilia and systemic symptoms (DRESS) syndrome is a drug-induced, multiorgan inflammatory response that may be lifethreatening. First described in conjunction with anticonvulsant drug use, it has since been ascribed to a variety of drugs. (C)

*Summary Statement 28:* Anticonvulsant hypersensitivity syndrome is mainly associated with aromatic anticonvulsant drugs and is related to an inherited deficiency of epoxide hydrolase, an enzyme required for the metabolism of arene oxide intermediates produced during hepatic metabolism. (B) Phenytoin, carbamazepine, and phenobarbital are considered cross-reactive, but valproic acid, gabapentin, and lamotrigine are therapeutic alternatives. (C) It is slower in onset than DRESS and presents with skin nodules, plaques, and lymphadenopathy at times confused with lymphoreticular malignant tumors (ie, pseudolymphoma). (B)

*Summary Statement 29:* Pulmonary manifestations of allergic drug reactions include anaphylaxis, lupuslike reactions, alveolar or interstitial pneumonitis, noncardiogenic pulmonary edema, and granulomatous vasculitis (ie, Churg-Strauss syndrome). Specific drugs are associated with different types of pulmonary reactions, such as bleomycin-induced fibrosis. (C)

*Summary Statement 30:* Drug-induced lupus erythematosus (DILE) can have systemic forms and predominantly cutaneous forms. Procainamide and hydralazine are the most frequently implicated drugs for systemic DILE, and antihistone antibodies are present in more than 90% of patients but occur less commonly with minocycline, propylthiouracil, and statins. (C)

*Summary Statement 31:* Drugs most commonly associated with cutaneous DILE include hydrochlorothiazide, calcium channel blockers, angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors, and systemic antifungal agents. Anti-Ro and anti-SSA antibodies are usually present, whereas antihistone antibodies are much less frequent. (C)

*Summary Statement 32:* The recognition of immunologically mediated, drug-induced granulomatous disease with or without vasculitis has increased in recent years. (C)

*Summary Statement 33:* Immunologic hepatitis may occur after sensitization to para-aminosalicylic acid, sulfonamides, and phenothiazines. (C)

Summary Statement 34: Erythema multiforme minor is a cell-mediated hypersensitivity reaction associated with viruses, other infectious agents, and drugs. It manifests as pleomorphic cutaneous eruptions, with target lesions being most characteristic. (C)

*Summary Statement 35:* There is no consensus on the distinction between erythema multiforme major and Stevens-Johnson syndrome. These disorders involve mucosal surfaces as well as the skin. (D)

*Summary Statement 36:* Use of systemic corticosteroids for treatment of erythema multiforme major or Stevens-Johnson syndrome is controversial. (D)

*Summary Statement 37:* Toxic epidermal necrolysis (ie, Lyell syndrome) is distinguished from Stevens-Johnson syndrome by the extent of epidermal detachment. (D)

*Summary Statement 38:* Systemic corticosteroids are associated with increased mortality when used for the management of advanced toxic epidermal necrolysis (C). Treatment with high-dose intravenous immunoglobulin is controversial. (D)

Summary Statement 39: Toxic epidermal necrolysis should be managed in a burn unit. (D)

*Summary Statement 40:* Serum sickness–like reactions caused by cephalosporins (especially cefaclor) usually are due to altered metabolism of the drug, resulting in reactive intermediates. (B)

*Summary Statement 41:* Immunologically mediated nephropathies may present as interstitial nephritis (such as with methicillin) or as membranous glomerulonephritis (eg, gold, penicillamine, and allopurinol). (C)

#### F. Other Classification Systems for Drug Allergy

*Summary Statement 42:* In addition to Gell-Coombs hypersensitivity reactions, there are a number of other mechanistic and clinical classifications for drug allergy. (C)

*Summary Statement 43:* The p-i concept (pharmacologic interaction with immune receptors) is a recently proposed addition to drug hypersensitivity classification in which a drug binds noncovalently to a T-cell receptor, which may lead to an immune response via interaction with a major histocompatibility complex receptor. (C)

*Summary Statement 44:* From a clinical standpoint, the most practical method of classifying drug reactions is by predilection for various tissue and organ systems. (D)

*Summary Statement 45:* The structural characteristics of drugs and biological products may permit predictions about what type of hypersensitivity reactions to expect from certain classes of therapeutic substances. (C)

#### **IV. RISK FACTORS**

*Summary Statement 46:* The most important risk factors for drug hypersensitivity may be related to the chemical property and molecular weight of drugs. (C)

*Summary Statement 47:* Other drug-specific risk factors for drug hypersensitivity include the dose, route of administration, duration of treatment, repetitive exposure to the drug, and concurrent illnesses (eg, Epstein-Barr virus infection and amoxicillin rash). (C)

*Summary Statement 48:* Host risk factors for drug hypersensitivity include age, sex, atopy, underlying diseases (such as lupus erythematous and human immunodeficiency virus), and specific genetic polymorphisms. (C)

#### V. CLINICAL EVALUATION AND DIAGNOSIS OF DRUG ALLERGY

*Summary Statement 49:* The history should focus on previous and current drug use and the temporal sequence of events between initiation of therapy and onset of symptoms. (C)

*Summary Statement 50:* Physical examination should include all systems that could possibly account for the clinical presentation. (C)

Summary Statement 51: Cutaneous manifestations are the most common presentation for drug allergic reactions. Characterization of cutaneous lesions is important in regard to determining the cause, further diagnostic tests, and management decisions. (C)

Summary Statement 52: Numerous cutaneous reaction patterns have been reported in drug allergy, including exanthems, urticaria, angioedema, acne, bullous eruptions, fixed drug eruptions, erythema multiforme, lupus erythematosus, photosensitivity, psoriasis, purpura, vasculitis, pruritus, and life-threatening cutaneous reactions, such as Stevens-Johnson syndrome, toxic epidermal necrolysis, exfoliative dermatitis, and drug rash with eosinophilia and systemic symptoms (DRESS). (C)

*Summary Statement 53:* Possible laboratory tests might include but are not limited to a chest x-ray examination, electrocardiography, a complete blood cell count with differential, sedimentation rate or C-reactive protein, autoantibody tests, and specific immunologic tests. (C)

Summary Statement 54: The most useful test for detecting IgE-mediated drug reactions caused by penicillin and many large-molecular-weight biologicals is immediate hypersensitivity skin testing. (B)

*Summary Statement 55:* Specialized immunologic tests are sometimes able to confirm the immunologic basis of drug-induced cytotoxic reactions. (B)

*Summary Statement 56:* Drug patch testing may be useful for certain types of cutaneous drug reactions, including maculopapular exanthems, acute generalized exanthematous pustulosis, and fixed drug eruptions, but generally is not helpful for Stevens-Johnson syndrome or urticarial eruptions. The lack of standardization of reagent concentrations may limit the clinical usefulness of drug patch testing. (B)

Summary Statement 57: Lymphocyte proliferation assays may have utility as retrospective indicators of cell-mediated drug reactions, but their positive and negative predictive values have not been determined and they are not available in most medical centers. (C)

*Summary Statement 58:* In complex cases where multiple drugs are involved without a clear-cut temporal relationship, a skin biopsy may be useful in suggesting a drug-induced eruption. However, there are no absolute histologic criteria for the diagnosis of drug-induced eruptions, and a skin biopsy may not definitively exclude alternative causes. (C)

#### VI. MANAGEMENT AND PREVENTION OF DRUG ALLERGIC REACTIONS

*Summary Statement 59:* Ideally ADRs should be prevented. Steps to prevent allergic drug reactions include (1) a careful history to determine host risk factors, (2) avoidance of cross-reactive drugs, (3) use of predictive tests when available, (4) proper and prudent prescribing of drugs (especially antibiotics) that are frequently associated with adverse reactions, (5) use of oral drugs when possible, and (6) documentation of ADR in the patient's medical record. (D)

*Summary Statement 60:* For some allergic drug reactions, withdrawal of the drug may be all that is required for treatment. (C)

Summary Statement 61: Anaphylactic drug reactions require prompt emergency treatment as discussed extensively in "The Diagnosis and Management of Anaphylaxis: An Updated Practice Parameter." (B)

*Summary Statement 62:* Glucocorticosteroids may be required for immune complex reactions, drug-induced hematologic diseases, early stages of erythema multiforme major/ Stevens-Johnson syndrome, and contact sensitivities. (C)

Summary Statement 63: What has often been referred to as drug desensitization is more appropriately described in this parameter as a temporary induction of drug tolerance. (D)

Summary Statement 64: Induction of drug tolerance modifies a patient's response to a drug to temporarily allow treatment with it safely. It is only indicated in situations where an alternate non-cross-reacting medication cannot be used. (B)

*Summary Statement 65:* Through various mechanisms, induction of drug tolerance procedures induces a temporary state of tolerance to the drug that is maintained only as long as the patient continues to take the specific drug. (B)

*Summary Statement 66:* Immunologic IgE induction of drug tolerance (drug desensitization) is the progressive administration of an allergenic substance to render effector cells less reactive. These procedures typically are performed within hours, and the typical starting dose is in the microgram range. (B)

*Summary Statement 67:* For some delayed non–IgE-mediated cutaneous reactions, immunologic non-IgE induction of drug tolerance may be performed to allow treatment with the drug. However, it is generally contraindicated, with rare exceptions, for serious non–IgE-mediated reactions, such as Stevens-Johnson syndrome or toxic epidermal necrolysis. One example of when the benefit of treatment may outweigh the risk of reaction is imatinib for treatment of malignant tumors. (C)

*Summary Statement 68:* Pharmacologic induction of drug tolerance to aspirin (eg, aspirin desensitization) is primarily intended for patients with AERD, and unlike other types of desensitization, its purpose is to cautiously induce (rather than prevent) a reaction, after which patients become tolerant of aspirin and nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs). (B)

*Summary Statement 69:* Some induction of drug tolerance procedures have been described that appear to be successful through currently undefined mechanisms. (C)

*Summary Statement 70:* The objective of a graded challenge is to cautiously introduce a drug in patients who are unlikely to be allergic to it. Unlike induction of drug tolerance, it does not modify patients' response to a drug. (D)

# VII. SPECIFIC DRUGS

#### A. β-Lactam Antibiotics 1. Penicillin

*Summary Statement 71:* Approximately 10% of patients report a history of penicillin allergy, but after complete evaluation, up to 90% of these individuals are able to tolerate penicillins. (B)

*Summary Statement 72:* Treatment of patients assumed to be penicillin allergic with alternate broad-spectrum antibiotics may compromise optimal medical care by leading to multiple drug-resistant organisms, higher costs, and increased toxic effects. (C)

*Summary Statement 73:* Evaluation of patients with penicillin allergy by skin testing leads to reduction in the use of broad-spectrum antibiotics and may decrease costs. (B)

*Summary Statement 74:* The rate of penicillin-induced anaphylaxis after parenteral administration is approximately 1 to 2 per 10,000 treated patients. (C)

*Summary Statement 75:* Penicillin is immunologically inert and haptenates proteins after undergoing spontaneous conversion under physiologic conditions to reactive intermediates. These transformation products are known as penicillin major and minor antigenic determinants. (C)

*Summary Statement 76:* Penicillin skin testing is the most reliable method for evaluating IgE-mediated penicillin allergy. (B) Ideally, penicillin skin testing should be performed with both major and minor determinants. The negative predictive value of penicillin skin testing for immediate reactions approaches 100%, whereas the positive predictive value is between 40% and 100%. (B)

*Summary Statement 77:* Skin testing with the major determinant and penicillin G only (without penicilloate or penilloate) may miss up to 20% of allergic patients, but data on this are conflicting. (C)

Summary Statement 78: Penicillin G left in solution ("aged" penicillin) does not spontaneously degrade to form

antigenic determinants and has no role in penicillin skin testing. (B)

Summary Statement 79: Penicillin skin testing without the major determinant is not recommended because this would fail to identify many patients with penicillin specific IgE antibodies. (B)

*Summary Statement 80:* When performed by skilled personnel using proper technique, serious reactions due to penicillin skin testing are extremely rare. (C)

*Summary Statement 81:* Penicillin skin testing may be performed electively—when patients are well and not in immediate need of antibiotic therapy. Alternatively, penicillin skin testing may be performed when treatment with a penicillin compound is contemplated. (D)

*Summary Statement 82:* Patients who have had negative skin test results to penicillin major and minor determinants may receive penicillin with minimal risk of an IgE-mediated reaction. Depending on the reaction history, the first dose may need to be given via graded challenge. (D)

*Summary Statement 83:* Penicillin skin test–positive patients should avoid penicillin, but if they develop an absolute need for penicillin, rapid induction of drug tolerance may be performed. (B)

*Summary Statement 84:* Resensitization after treatment with oral penicillin is rare, and therefore penicillin skin testing does not routinely need to be repeated in patients with a history of penicillin allergy who have tolerated 1 or more courses of oral penicillin. (B)

*Summary Statement 85:* Resensitization after treatment with parenteral penicillin appears to be higher than for oral treatment, and therefore repeat penicillin skin testing may be considered in patients with a history of penicillin allergy who have tolerated a course of parenteral penicillin. (C)

*Summary Statement 86:* The negative predictive value of penicillin skin testing without penicilloylpolylysine is poor because many allergic patients show skin test reactivity only to the major determinant. (B)

*Summary Statement* 87: When penicillin skin testing is unavailable, evaluation of penicillin allergy is based on the reaction history and likelihood of needing treatment with penicillins. (C)

*Summary Statement 88:* Patients with a vague and/or distant history of penicillin allergy may be candidates to receive penicillins via graded challenge. Patients with recent or convincing reaction histories should only receive penicillins via rapid induction of drug tolerance. (C)

Summary Statement 89: The usefulness of in vitro tests for penicillin specific IgE is limited by their uncertain predictive value. They are not suitable substitutes for penicillin skin testing. (C)

#### 2. Ampicillin and amoxicillin

Summary Statement 90: Some patients with immediatetype reactions to amoxicillin and ampicillin have IgE antibodies directed at the R-group side chain (rather than the core penicillin determinants) and are able to tolerate other penicillin class compounds. (C)

*Summary Statement 91:* Amoxicillin and ampicillin are associated with the development of a delayed maculopapular rash in approximately 5% to 10% of patients. (C) These reactions are not related to IgE-mediated allergy, and they are postulated in many cases to require the presence of a concurrent viral infection or another underlying illness. (D)

#### 3. Cephalosporins

*Summary Statement 92:* The overall reaction rate to cephalosporins is approximately 10-fold lower than it is for penicillin. (C)

Summary Statement 93: Most hypersensitivity reactions to cephalosporins are probably directed at the R-group side chains rather than the core  $\beta$ -lactam portion of the molecule. (D)

*Summary Statement 94:* Skin testing with native cephalosporins is not standardized, but a positive skin test result using a nonirritating concentration suggests the presence of drug specific IgE antibodies. (D) A negative skin test result does not rule out an allergy because the negative predictive value is unknown. (D)

Summary Statement 95: Patients with a history of an immediate-type reaction to 1 cephalosporin should avoid cephalosporins with similar R-group side chains. (D) Treatment with cephalosporins with dissimilar side chains may be considered, but the first dose should be given via graded challenge or induction of drug tolerance, depending on the severity of the previous reaction. (D)

Summary Statement 96: Cephalosporins and penicillins share a common  $\beta$ -lactam ring structure and moderate cross-reactivity has been documented in vitro. (B)

# 4. Cephalosporin administration to patients with a history of penicillin allergy

Summary Statement 97: Since 1980, studies show that approximately 2% of penicillin skin test-positive patients react to treatment with cephalosporins, but some of these reactions may be anaphylactic reactions. (C)

Summary Statement 98: Without preceding penicillin skin testing, cephalosporin treatment of patients with a history of penicillin allergy, selecting out those with severe reaction histories, show a reaction rate of 0.1% based on recent studies. (C)

*Summary Statement 99:* Penicillin skin testing, when available, should be considered before administration of cephalosporins in patients with a history of penicillin allergy. (E)

Summary Statement 100: Patients who have a history of a possible IgE-mediated reaction to penicillin, regardless of the severity of the reaction, may receive cephalosporins with minimal concern about an immediate reaction if skin test results for penicillin major and minor determinants are negative. (B)

Summary Statement 101: Treatment options for penicillin skin test-positive patients include (1) administration of an

alternate (non- $\beta$ -lactam) antibiotic, (2) administration of cephalosporin via graded challenge, or (3) administration of cephalosporin via rapid induction of drug tolerance. (E)

*Summary Statement 102:* Skin testing to the cephalosporin followed by graded challenge appears to be a safe method for administration of some cephalosporins in penicillin allergic patients. (B)

*Summary Statement 103:* If penicillin and cephalosporin skin testing is unavailable, depending on the reaction history, cephalosporins may need to be given via graded challenge or rapid induction of drug tolerance. (E)

# 5. Penicillin administration to patients with a history of cephalosporin allergy

Summary Statement 104: Patients allergic to amoxicillin should avoid cephalosporins with identical R-group side chains (cefadroxil, cefprozil, cefatrizine) or receive them via rapid induction of drug tolerance. (C) Similarly, patients allergic to ampicillin should avoid cephalosporins and carbacephems with identical R-group side chains (cephalexin, cefaclor, cephradine, cephaloglycin, loracarbef) or receive them via rapid induction of drug tolerance. (C)

*Summary Statement 105:* Patients with a history of an immediate-type reaction to a cephalosporin should undergo penicillin skin testing, if available, before treatment with penicillin. (E) If test results are negative, they may safely receive penicillins. (B) If test results are positive, an alternate drug should be used or they should undergo rapid penicillin induction of drug tolerance. (B) If penicillin skin testing is unavailable, penicillin may be administered via cautious graded challenge. (C)

#### 6. Monobactams (aztreonam)

Summary Statement 106: Aztreonam is less immunogenic than penicillin and cephalosporins, and clinical allergic reactions to aztreonam are less common than other  $\beta$ -lactam antibiotics. (C)

Summary Statement 107: Aztreonam does not cross-react with other  $\beta$ -lactams except for ceftazidime, with which it shares an identical R-group side chain. (B)

#### 7. Carbapenems

*Summary Statement 108:* Limited data indicate lack of significant allergic cross-reactivity between penicillin and carbapenems. (B) Penicillin skin test–negative patients may safely receive carbapenems. (C) Penicillin skin test–positive patients and patients with a history of penicillin allergy who do not undergo skin testing should receive carbapenems via graded challenge. (C)

#### B. Non–β-Lactam Antibiotics

Summary Statement 109: Any non- $\beta$ -lactam antibiotic has the potential of causing an IgE-mediated reaction, but these appear to occur less commonly than with  $\beta$ -lactam antibiotics. (C)

Summary Statement 110: There are no validated diagnostic tests for evaluation of IgE-mediated allergy to non- $\beta$ -lactam

antibiotics. (C) Evaluation of possible allergy to these antibiotics should be limited to situations when treatment with the drug is anticipated (rather than electively as for penicillin). (D)

Summary Statement 111: Skin testing with nonirritating concentrations of non- $\beta$ -lactam antibiotics is not standardized. A negative skin test result does not rule out the possibility of an immediate-type allergy. A positive skin test result suggests the presence of drug specific IgE antibodies, but the predictive value is unknown. (D)

Summary Statement 112: Patients with a history of reactions to non- $\beta$ -lactam antibiotics consistent with an IgE-mediated mechanism should only receive them if an alternate agent cannot be substituted and only via rapid induction of drug tolerance. (D)

*Summary Statement 113:* Sulfonamide antibiotics rarely cause IgE-mediated reactions and more commonly result in delayed maculopapular rashes, particularly in human immunodeficiency virus–positive patients. (C)

*Summary Statement 114:* There is no evidence to suggest allergic cross-reactivity between sulfonamide antibiotics and nonantibiotic sulfonamides. (C)

Summary Statement 115: Vancomycin rarely causes IgEmediated reactions, but more than 50% of patients experience immediate cutaneous erythema, flushing, and pruritus (red man syndrome), which is the result of non–IgE-mediated histamine release. (C)

*Summary Statement 116:* Red man syndrome reactions can be prevented by slowing the rate of infusion and premedicating with histamine<sub>1</sub> receptor antihistamines. (C)

Summary Statement 117: Aminoglycosides rarely cause drug allergic reactions, including IgE-mediated systemic reactions. (C)

Summary Statement 118: IgE-mediated and non–IgE-mediated anaphylactic reactions have been reported with quinolones. In vitro studies suggest a large extent of allergic cross-reactivity among quinolones, but there are no clinical studies to confirm this. (C)

Summary Statement 119: Anaphylactic or anaphylactoid reactions during the operative and perioperative periods may be caused by induction agents, muscle-relaxing agents, opiates, antibiotics, and latex allergy. (C)

#### **C.** Antimycobacterial Drugs

*Summary Statement 120:* Allergic drug reactions to antimycobacterial drugs present significant problems in the implementation of long-term treatment regimens and preventing drug resistance to *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. (C)

#### **D.** Diabetes Medications

*Summary Statement 121:* The advent of human recombinant insulin has greatly reduced the incidence of life-threatening allergic reactions to approximately 1%. (C)

*Summary Statement 122:* Metformin and sulfonylurea antidiabetic drugs rarely cause immune-mediated reactions, such as leukocytoclastic vasculitis, generalized arteritis, gran-
ulomatous hepatitis, and autoimmune pemphigus vulgaris. (C)

## **E.** Cancer Chemotherapeutics

Summary Statement 123: Cancer chemotherapeutic agents, such as taxanes (paclitaxel, docetaxel), platinum compounds (cisplatin, carboplatin, oxaliplatin), and asparaginase, may cause severe immediate-type reactions, which may be either anaphylactic or anaphylactoid in nature. (C)

*Summary Statement 124:* For some chemotherapeutics (primarily the platinum-based compounds), skin testing may assist in identifying allergic patients who are at increased risk for an allergic reaction and for confirming IgE-mediated sensitivity. (C)

Summary Statement 125: Rapid induction of drug tolerance protocols are available for most chemotherapeutic agents that cause immediate-type reactions, but they are not uniformly successful. (C)

*Summary Statement 126:* Methotrexate can cause interstitial reactions in the lungs, which can progress to fibrosis if use of the drug is continued. (C)

#### F. Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) Medications

Summary Statement 127: Patients infected with HIV have an increased frequency of adverse reactions to a variety of drugs, and the pathogenesis of these reactions is likely multifactorial. (C)

Summary Statement 128: The most common ADR in HIVpositive patients who take trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole is a morbilliform and/or maculopapular eruption, often associated with fever that occurs after 7 to 12 days of therapy. (C)

Summary Statement 129: HIV-positive patients who have experienced typical delayed exanthematous reactions to trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole and who require treatment with the drug (such as for *Pneumocystis carinii* pneumonia) may undergo one of several published trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole induction of drug tolerance protocols. (D) Usually, this should be done after waiting for at least 1 month after the reaction to increase the likelihood of success. (D)

Summary Statement 130: Reintroduction of trimethoprimsulfamethoxazole in HIV-positive patients with a history of more severe reactions to trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole, such as Stevens-Johnson syndrome or toxic epidermal necrolysis, is generally contraindicated, with rare exceptions, such as treatment of a life-threatening infection, in which case the benefit of treatment outweighs the risk of a potentially life-threatening reaction. (D)

*Summary Statement 131:* Antiretroviral drugs used for highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) of HIV-infected patients may cause allergic reactions of various kinds. (C)

*Summary Statement 132:* Abacavir is the most common HAART drug to cause severe allergic reactions, and this risk is associated with the presence of HLA B 5701. (C)

## G. Disease-Modifying Antirheumatic Drugs (DMARDS)

Summary Statement 133: Apart from adverse reactions to aspirin, other NSAIDs, and certain pyrazolone derivatives (discussed in VII-R), a variety of allergic reactions to other DMARDs may occur. (C)

#### H. Modifying Drugs for Dermatologic Diseases

Summary Statement 134: Although hypersensitivity reactions to several unique therapeutic agents for autoimmune diseases have already occurred, it is too early to assess the global impact of adverse events for diverse immunologic interventions in early development. (C)

#### I. Immunomodulatory Agents for Autoimmune Diseases

*Summary Statement 135:* Allergic reactions to immunosuppressant and anti-inflammatory drugs are commonly encountered in the treatment of chronic cutaneous diseases. (C)

#### J. Perioperative Agents

Summary Statement 136: Anaphylactic or anaphylactoid reactions during the operative and perioperative periods may be caused by induction agents, muscle-relaxing agents, opiates, antibiotics, and latex allergy. (C)

## K. Blood and Blood Products

Summary Statement 137: Reactions due to blood and blood products include urticaria, anaphylaxis (particularly in patients with complete IgA deficiency), anaphylactoid reactions, and transfusion-related acute lung injury (TRALI). (C)

#### L. Opiates

*Summary Statement 138:* Opiates and their analogs are a common cause of pseudoallergic reactions that are generally mild, are not life-threatening, and can be attenuated by preadministration of histamine<sub>1</sub> receptor antihistamines. (C)

#### **M.** Corticosteroids

*Summary Statement 139:* Immediate-type reactions to corticosteroids are rare and may be either anaphylactic or anaphylactoid in nature. (C)

Summary Statement 140: Most reported reactions to corticosteroids involved intravenous methylprednisolone and hydrocortisone, and preservatives and diluents have also been implicated. (C)

#### **N. Protamine**

Summary Statement 141: Severe immediate reactions may occur in patients receiving protamine for reversal of hepa-rinization. (C)

Summary Statement 142: Diabetic patients receiving protamine-containing insulin are at greatest risk of severe reactions due to intravenous protamine. (C)

#### O. Heparin

*Summary Statement 143:* Hypersensitivity reactions to unfractionated heparin and low-molecular-weight heparin are uncommon and include thrombocytopenia, various cutaneous eruptions, hypereosinophilia, and anaphylaxis. (C)

## P. Local Anesthetics

Summary Statement 144: Most adverse reactions to local anesthetics are not due to IgE-mediated mechanisms but are due to nonallergic factors that include vasovagal responses, anxiety, toxic reactions including dysrhythmias, and toxic or idiosyncratic reactions due to inadvertent intravenous epinephrine effects. (C)

*Summary Statement 145:* To exclude the rare possibility of an IgE-mediated reaction to local anesthetics, skin testing and graded challenge can be performed in patients who present with a reaction history suggestive of possible IgE-mediated allergy to these drugs. (B)

## **Q.** Radiocontrast Media (RCM)

Summary Statement 146: Anaphylactoid reactions occur in approximately 1% to 3% of patients who receive ionic RCM and less than 0.5% of patients who receive nonionic RCM. (C)

Summary Statement 147: Risk factors for anaphylactoid reactions to RCM include female sex, atopy, concomitant use of  $\beta$ -blocking drugs, and a history of previous reactions to RCM. (C)

*Summary Statement 148:* Although asthma is associated with an increased risk of a RCM reaction, specific sensitivity to seafood (which is mediated by IgE directed to proteins) does not further increase this risk. There is no evidence that sensitivity to iodine predisposes patients to RCM reactions. (C)

*Summary Statement 149:* Patients who experienced previous anaphylactoid reactions to RCM should receive nonionic, iso-osmolar agents and be treated with a premedication regimen, including systemic corticosteroids and histamine<sub>1</sub> receptor antihistamines; this will significantly reduce, but not eliminate, the risk of anaphylactoid reaction with re-exposure to contrast material. (D)

Summary Statement 150: Delayed reactions to RCM, defined as reactions occurring 1 hour to 1 week after administration, occur in approximately 2% patients. (C) Most are mild, self-limited cutaneous eruptions that appear to be T-cell mediated, although more serious reactions, such as Stevens-Johnson syndrome, toxic epidermal necrolysis, and DRESS syndrome have been described.

## R. Aspirin and Nonsteroidal Anti-inflammatory Drugs (NSAIDs)

*Summary Statement 151:* One type of adverse reaction to aspirin/NSAIDs is AERD, a clinical entity characterized by aspirin- and NSAID-induced respiratory reactions in patients with underlying asthma and/or rhinitis or sinusitis. (B)

Summary Statement 152: The mechanism of AERD appears to be related to aberrant arachidonic acid metabolism. (B)

*Summary Statement 153:* Controlled oral provocation with aspirin is considered to be the most conclusive way to confirm the diagnosis of AERD. (B)

Summary Statement 154: Aspirin and NSAIDs that inhibit cyclooxygenase 1 (COX-1) cross-react and cause respiratory reactions in AERD, whereas selective COX-2 inhibitors almost never cause reactions in patients with AERD and can typically be taken safely. (B)

Summary Statement 155: Aspirin desensitization followed by daily aspirin therapy to perpetuate the aspirin tolerant state in patients with AERD is indicated in patients with AERD if aspirin or NSAIDs are therapeutically necessary for treatment of some other condition, such as cardiac or rheumatologic diseases. (D)

Summary Statement 156: Aspirin desensitization followed by daily aspirin has been associated with improved outcomes in patients with AERD who are poorly controlled with medical and/or surgical management. (D)

Summary Statement 157: A second reaction type to aspirin and NSAIDs is exacerbation of urticaria and angioedema in approximately 20% to 40% of patients with underlying chronic idiopathic urticaria. (C) Drugs that inhibit COX-1 cross-react to cause this reaction, whereas selective COX-2 inhibitors typically are better tolerated by these patients. (C)

Summary Statement 158: A third reaction type to aspirin and NSAIDs is suggestive of an IgE-mediated mechanism and manifests as urticaria or angioedema or anaphylaxis, and it occurs in patients with no underlying respiratory or cutaneous disease. (C) These reactions appear to be drug specific, and there is no cross-reactivity with other NSAIDs. (D)

Summary Statement 159: A fourth reaction type to aspirin and NSAIDs is urticaria or angioedema caused by all drugs that inhibit COX-1, and it occurs in patients without a prior history of chronic urticaria. (C)

*Summary Statement 160:* Rarely, patients exhibit combined ("blended") respiratory and cutaneous reaction to aspirin or NSAIDs and hence cannot be classified into 1 of the 4 reaction types described above. (C)

#### S. Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme (ACE) Inhibitors

*Summary Statement 161:* ACE inhibitors are associated with 2 major adverse effects—cough and angioedema. (C)

*Summary Statement 162:* ACE inhibitor–related cough often begins within the first few weeks of treatment and occurs in up to 20% of patients, particularly women, blacks, and Asians. (C)

*Summary Statement 163:* The mechanism of ACE inhibitor–related cough is unclear. The cough resolves with discontinuation of the drug therapy in days to weeks. (D)

Summary Statement 164: Patients with ACE inhibitorrelated cough are able to tolerate angiotensin receptor blockers (ARBs). (A)

Summary Statement 165: ACE inhibitor-induced angioedema occurs in approximately 0.1% to 0.7% of patients and is most common in blacks. (C)

*Summary Statement 166:* ACE inhibitor–induced angioedema frequently involves the face and oropharynx and can be life-threatening or fatal. (C) *Summary Statement 167:* The mechanism of ACE inhibitor–induced angioedema may be related to interference with bradykinin degradation. It may take months or years after initiation of therapy for a reaction to appear and often occurs sporadically despite persistent treatment. (C)

*Summary Statement 168:* ACE inhibitor–induced angioedema is treated with discontinuation of the drug therapy and subsequent avoidance of all ACE inhibitors. (D)

Summary Statement 169: Most patients who experience angioedema during ACE inhibitor treatment are able to tolerate ARBs. (C)

Summary Statement 170: Patients with a history of angioedema or C1 esterase inhibitor deficiency are at increased risk of more frequent and severe episodes of angioedema with the administration of ACE inhibitors, so they should not receive these drugs. (C)

## T. Biologic Modifiers

*Summary Statement 171:* Allergic drug reactions ranging from cutaneous lesions to severe anaphylaxis may occur during treatment with recombinant interferons. (C)

Summary Statement 172: Both cutaneous and systemic allergic reactions have been reported after treatment with infliximab, a human monoclonal antibody against tumor necrosis factor  $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ). (C)

*Summary Statement 173:* Both cutaneous and systemic allergic reactions have been reported after treatment with both murine and humanized monoclonal antibodies. (C)

*Summary Statement 174:* Rare anaphylactic reactions to anti-IgE humanized monoclonal antibody (omalizumab) were described during phase III clinical trials and during the post-marketing surveillance period. (C)

*Summary Statement 175:* The cytokine release syndrome must be distinguished between anaphylactoid and anaphylactic reactions due to anticancer monoclonal antibodies. (C)

#### **U. Complementary Medicines**

Summary Statement 176: Allergic reactions may occur after use of complementary medicines such as bee pollen, echinacea, and vitamins. (C)

## V. Other Agents

Summary Statement 177: N-acetylcysteine may cause anaphylactoid reactions. (C)

Summary Statement 178: Anaphylactoid reactions and deaths have been associated with intravenous iron preparations, particularly iron-dextran. (C)

*Summary Statement 179:* Life-threatening anaphylactic reactions have occurred after intravenous use of isosulfan blue and Patent Blue V dyes. (C)

Summary Statement 180: Anaphylactoid reactions may occur after treatment with colloid volume expanders, mannitol, Cremophor-EL, and preservatives. (C)

*Summary Statement 181:* Preservatives and additives in medications rarely cause immunologic drug reactions. (C)

## EVIDENCE-BASED COMMENTARY I. INTRODUCTION

*Summary Statement 1:* Adverse drug reactions (ADRs) are commonly encountered in both inpatient and outpatient settings and result in major health problems in the United States. (C)

ADRs result in major health problems in the United States. In a meta-analysis of inpatient ADR prospective studies, 15.1% of patients sustained ADRs, and 6.7% of patients experienced serious ADRs.<sup>195</sup> Using the same data, the authors estimated that inpatient ADRs are responsible for 106,000 deaths annually in the United States. Depending on whether one uses the lower or upper limit of this confidence interval, inpatient ADRs constitute either the fourth or sixth leading cause of death in the United States.<sup>195</sup>

Although most drugs are prescribed for outpatients, few studies have evaluated the frequency and severity of ADRs in this setting. In a 4-week, prospective cohort study of outpatients followed up in primary care clinics, 25% of patients reported ADRs, 13% of which were serious.<sup>196</sup> In another retrospective study, 17% of outpatients reported ADRs due to a prescribed medication.<sup>197</sup>

## **II. DEFINITIONS**

*Summary Statement 2:* ADRs are broadly categorized into predictable and unpredictable reactions. (D)

*Summary Statement 3:* Unpredictable reactions are subdivided into drug intolerance, drug idiosyncrasy, drug allergy, and pseudoallergic reactions. (D)

*Summary Statement 4:* Drug intolerance is an undesirable pharmacologic effect that occurs at low and sometimes sub-therapeutic doses of the drug without underlying abnormalities of metabolism, excretion, or bioavailability of the drug. (D)

*Summary Statement 5:* Drug idiosyncrasy is an abnormal and unexpected effect that is unrelated to the intended pharmacologic action of a drug. (D)

*Summary Statement 6:* Drug allergy reactions are immunologically mediated responses that result in the production of drug-specific antibodies, T cells, or both. (B)

*Summary Statement 7:* Manifestations of pseudoallergic reactions mimic IgE-mediated allergic reactions, but they are due to direct release of mediators from mast cells and basophils and do not require a preceding period of sensitization. (B)

ADRs are broadly categorized into predictable and unpredictable reactions.<sup>198</sup> Predictable reactions are usually dose dependent, are related to the known pharmacologic actions of the drug, and occur in otherwise healthy individuals. They are estimated to comprise approximately 80% of all ADRs. Unpredictable reactions are generally dose independent, are unrelated to the pharmacologic actions of the drug, and occur only in susceptible individuals. Unpredictable reactions are subdivided into drug intolerance, drug idiosyncrasy, drug allergy, and pseudoallergic reactions. Drug intolerance is an undesirable pharmacologic effect that occurs at low and sometimes subtherapeutic doses of the drug without underlying abnormalities of metabolism, excretion, or bioavailability of the drug. Humoral or cellular immune mechanisms are not thought to be involved, and a scientific explanation for such exaggerated responses has not been established. A typical example is aspirin-induced tinnitus occurring at usual therapeutic or subtherapeutic doses.

Drug idiosyncrasy is an abnormal and unexpected effect that is unrelated to the intended pharmacologic action of a drug. It is not mediated by a humoral or cellular immune response but is reproducible on readministration. Unlike drug intolerance, it is usually due to underlying abnormalities of metabolism, excretion, or bioavailability. A typical example is primaquine-induced hemolytic anemia in glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase-deficient individuals.

Drug allergy and hypersensitivity reactions are immunologically mediated responses to pharmacologic agents or pharmaceutical excipients. They occur after a period of sensitization and result in the production of drug-specific antibodies, T cells, or both.

Pseudoallergic reactions, also called anaphylactoid (non-IgE-mediated anaphylaxis) reactions, mimic anaphylactic allergic reactions. Unlike allergic reactions, pseudoallergic reactions do not require a preceding period of sensitization and are not due to the presence of specific IgE antibodies. Pseudoallergic reactions are mediated by a diverse group of agents, such as opiates, colloid volume expanders, basic polypeptide agents (eg, polymyxin B, ACTH), radiocontrast media, excipients (eg, Cremophor-EL), vancomycin, and others. Acute reactions to these substances are caused by direct release of mediators from mast cells and basophils, resulting in the classic end organ effects that these mediators exert. Direct mediator release occurs without evidence of a prior sensitization period, specific IgE antibodies, or antigen-antibody bridging on the mast cell-basophil cell membrane. The reaction is immediate and often severe. Because it does not require a preceding period of sensitization, it may occur the first time that the host is exposed to these agents. The reactions are of further interest because they can also be elicited by small doses of the offending substance. It is possible that some of these reactions could be based in part on nonimmunologic release of anaphylatoxins (C3a, C5a) through activation of the alternative complement pathway. Neuropeptides (eg, substance P) and endorphins may also activate and induce mediator release from mast cells. Osmotic alterations may lead to nonspecific mediator release (eg, hyperosmolar mannitol), but such physical effects are more likely to occur at local tissue sites, such as the nose or bronchi.

## III. CLASSIFICATION OF IMMUNOLOGICALLY MEDIATED DRUG HYPERSENSITIVITY REACTIONS

*Summary Statement 8:* Some drug allergic reactions may be classified by the Gell-Coombs classification paradigm of hypersensitivity (type I: IgE mediated; type II: cytotoxic; type

III: immune complex; type IV: cell mediated), whereas others cannot be classified because of lack of knowledge of their immunopathogenesis or a mixed mechanism. (C)

*Summary Statement 9:* Allergic drug reactions may also be classified according to the predominant organ system involved (eg, cutaneous, hepatic, renal) or according to the temporal relationship to onset of symptoms (immediate, accelerated, delayed). (D)

*Summary Statement 10:* To some extent, the structural characteristics of drugs may permit predictions about the type of hypersensitivity reactions they are likely to cause. (C)

Clinical presentations of drug allergy are often diverse, depending on type(s) of immune responses and target organ specificities). If immunopathogenesis is mixed, some drug reactions may be difficult to classify by criteria previously established for naturally occurring human hypersensitivity. On the other hand, the characteristics and mechanisms of many allergic drug reactions are consistent with the chief categories of human hypersensitivity defined by the Gell-Coombs classification of human hypersensitivity (immediate hypersensitivity [type I], cytotoxic [type II], immune complex [type IIII], and cell mediated [type IV]).<sup>199</sup>

## A. IgE-Mediated Reactions (Gell-Coombs Type I)

*Summary Statement 11:* IgE-mediated reactions may occur after administration of a wide variety of drugs, biologicals, and drug formulation agents, with the most common agents being antibiotics. (C)

Immediate hypersensitivity type I reactions are IgE mediated and result in immediate reactions, such as anaphylaxis. These are exemplified by symptoms of urticaria, laryngeal edema, wheezing, and cardiorespiratory collapse, which typically occur within minutes of exposure to the drug. IgEmediated hypersensitivity reactions may occur after administration of a wide variety of drugs, biologicals, and drug formulation agents. Common causes are large-molecularmass biologicals and many drugs (eg, penicillin). The most important drug causes of immediate hypersensitivity reactions are antibiotics. Other common drugs that cause such reactions are insulin, enzymes (asparaginase), heterologous antisera (equine antitoxins, antilymphocyte globulin), murine monoclonal antibodies, protamine, and heparin.100,200-205 Allergic type I reactions have also been reported rarely after exposure to excipients, such as eugenol, carmine, vegetable gums, paraben, sulfites, formaldehyde, polysorbates, and sulfonechloramide.<sup>206-208</sup> In this parameter, we will consider both  $\beta$ -lactam and non- $\beta$ -lactam antibiotics as the major prototypes in this category.

#### **B.** Cytotoxic Reactions (Gell-Coombs Type II)

Summary Statement 12: Cytotoxic reactions are very serious and potentially life-threatening. (C)

Summary Statement 13: Immunohemolytic anemias have occurred after treatment with quinidine,  $\alpha$ -methyldopa, and penicillin. (C)

Summary Statement 14: Positive direct and indirect Coombs test results in immunohemolytic anemia may reflect the presence of drug-specific IgG, complement, or an Rh determinant autoantibody. (C)

Summary Statement 15: Immune-induced thrombocytopenia may result from treatment with heparin, quinidine, propylthiouracil, gold salts, sulfonamides, vancomycin, and other drugs. (C) Platelet membrane damage is mediated mainly by drug-immune serum complexes, which are adsorbed onto platelet membranes. (C)

*Summary Statement 16:* Immune-mediated granulocytopenia is uncommon but may be induced by cytotoxic antibodies synthesized in response to a variety of drugs. (C)

Cytotoxic (type II) reactions are induced by complementmediated cytotoxic IgM or IgG antibodies, which are formed in response to drug altered cell surface membranes. Classic examples of this phenomenon are acquired hemolytic anemia induced by  $\alpha$ -methyldopa and penicillin or thrombocytopenia caused by quinidine. Cytotoxic reactions are very serious and potentially life-threatening.

Immunohemolytic anemias due to drugs have clearly been identified after treatment with quinidine,  $\alpha$ -methyldopa, and penicillin.<sup>209-211</sup> In the case of penicillin, circulating antipenicillin antibodies of the immunoglobulin G isotype have been implicated.<sup>209</sup> The condition is rare because it apparently develops only in those individuals capable of synthesizing an atypical variety of IgG antipenicillin antibody. Penicillin binding by erythrocytes is an essential preliminary step in the sensitization process and is more likely to occur in patients receiving very large and prolonged dose regimens of penicillin, as may be required in the long-term treatment of subacute bacterial endocarditis. As previously discussed, positive direct and indirect Coombs test results in this condition also may indicate the presence of complement on the red cell membrane or an autoantibody to an Rh determinant.

Thrombocytopenia resulting from drug-induced immune mechanisms has been well documented. The most thoroughly evaluated drugs in this category are quinine, quinidine, acetaminophen, propylthiouracil, gold salts, vancomycin, and the sulfonamides.<sup>212-216</sup> Platelet membrane damage is mediated chiefly by circulating drug–immune serum complexes, which are adsorbed onto platelet membranes.

Granulocytopenia also may be produced by cytotoxic antibodies synthesized in response to such drugs as pyrazolone derivatives, phenothiazines, thiouracils, sulfonamides, and anticonvulsives.<sup>217,218</sup> Immunologically mediated destruction of peripheral neutrophils occurs within minutes after readministration of the drug and the immunologic specificity of the antibody has been verified by passive transfer to nonsensitive volunteers (in the pre-AIDS era).

## C. Immune Complex Reactions (Gell-Coombs Type III)

Summary Statement 17: Immune complex (serum sickness) reactions were originally described with use of heterologous antisera, but they may also be caused by some small-molecular-weight drugs and monoclonal antibodies. (C)

*Summary Statement 18:* The chief manifestations of fever, rash, urticaria, lymphadenopathy, and arthralgias typically appear 1 to 3 weeks after starting use of an offending agent. (C)

*Summary Statement 19:* The prognosis for complete recovery from serum sickness is excellent; however, symptoms may last as long as several weeks. Treatment with systemic corticosteroids and histamine<sub>1</sub> receptor antihistamines may be required. (C)

Summary Statement 20: Drug-induced immune complex disease may occur after exposure to heterologous proteins (eg, thymoglobulin) or simple drugs (eg, penicillin, procain-amide, phenylpropanolamine). (C)

Type III reactions are mediated by immune complexes formed in slight antigen excess. Serum sickness is the prototype for type III reactions. Serum sickness was originally noted when heterologous antisera were used extensively for passive immunization of infectious diseases. However, many small-molecular-weight drugs are also associated with serum sickness-like symptoms. These drugs include penicillin, sulfonamides, thiouracils, and phenytoin. Monoclonal antibody therapies have also been associated with serum sickness-like reactions to several agents, including infliximab, rituximab, omalizumab, and natalizumab. The chief manifestations of fever, rash, urticaria, lymphadenopathy, and arthralgias typically appear 1 to 3 weeks after starting use of an offending drug and begin to subside when the drug and/or its metabolites are completely eliminated from the body.<sup>219</sup> In previously sensitized individuals, the reaction may begin within a few days after administration of the drug. Most of the clinical symptoms are thought to be mediated by IgG and possibly IgM-drug complexes. However, the overall immune response in immune complex reactions is heterogeneous because in some cases, IgE antibodies can also be demonstrated and may be associated with urticarial lesions seen early in the disease. A serum sickness-like reaction also can occur with reactive metabolites (Summary Statement 96). The prognosis for complete recovery is excellent; however, symptoms may last as long as several weeks. Treatment consists of systemic corticosteroids and histamine<sub>1</sub> receptor antihistamines and in some cases nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs).

Polyclonal antibody therapy (Anti-thymocyte globulin and thymoglobulin) is often used in solid organ transplantation for an immunologic induction and treatment of acute graft rejection.<sup>220</sup> Immune complex–mediated illness (serum sickness) manifested by fever, arthritis, rash, lymphadenopathy, and/or renal failure may occur at a prevalence rate between 7% and 27% of renal transplant patients who receive polyclonal antibody therapy.<sup>221,222</sup>. Other drugs that may induce immune complex–mediated serum sickness or vasculitis include penicillin, procainamide, hydralazine, and phenylpropanolamine.<sup>223-225</sup>

#### D. Cell-Mediated Reactions (Gell-Coombs Type IV)

Summary Statement 21: Contact dermatitis produced by topical drugs (such bacitracin, neomycin, glucocorticoste-

roids, local anesthetics, and antihistamines) and/or excipients contained in topical formulations are due to cell-mediated reactions. (C)

*Summary Statement 22:* It is postulated that Gell-Coombs type IV reactions are also responsible for some delayed cutaneous maculopapular eruptions due to oral antibiotics, such as amoxicillin and sulfonamides. (C)

Summary Statement 23: Patch testing at proper concentrations may be successful in detection of suspected contact allergens. (B)

*Summary Statement 24:* After avoidance is instituted, topical and/or systemic corticosteroids may be required for total clearing of the dermatitis (provided that these drugs were not the primary causes). (C)

Delayed hypersensitivity type IV reactions are mediated by cellular immune mechanisms. A recently proposed modification subdivides type IV reactions into 4 categories involving activation and recruitment of monocytes (IVa), eosinophils (IVb), CD4<sup>+</sup> or CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (IVc), and neutrophils (IVd).(1) The classic reaction in this category is contact dermatitis, a condition in which the topical induction and elicitation of sensitization by a drug is entirely limited to the skin. It appears that Gell-Coombs type IV reactions are also responsible for delayed cutaneous eruptions, such as maculopapular exanthems due to antibiotics (eg, amoxicillin and sulfonamides). Delayed hypersensitivity responses may also be systemic, involving lymphoid organs and other tissues throughout the body. Sensitized T cells produce a wide array of proinflammatory cytokines that can ultimately lead to lymphocytic infiltrates, disseminated granulomata, and fibrosis. It has been suggested there is a marked clinicopathological similarity between some late-onset drug reactions and graft va host reactions that are initiated and maintained by T cells.<sup>226</sup>

Allergic contact dermatitis after exposure to medications containing active drugs, additives, or lipid vehicles in ointments is the most frequent form of drug-mediated delayed hypersensitivity. Morphologically, it usually cannot be distinguished from contact irritant dermatitis. Almost any drug applied locally is a potential sensitizer, but fewer than 40 allergens produce most cases of contact dermatitis. Among the drugs involved, the most universally accepted offenders are topical formulations of bacitracin, neomycin, glucocorticosteroids, local anesthetics, and antihistamines. Potent excipient topical sensitizers include the parabens, formaldehyde, ethylenediamine, lanolin, and thimerosal.<sup>206</sup> Complex topical products may contain many potential antigens and additives, and in many instances the major component of a complex mixture may not necessarily be the sensitizer. Photoallergic dermatitis morphologically resembles allergic contact dermatitis and is caused by such drugs as sulfonamides, thiazides, quinidine, chlorpromazine, and fluoroquinolones. Once induction sensitization has occurred, elicitation of dermatitis requires minimal exposure to light. Phototoxic, nonallergic reactions (eg, erythrosine) are histologically similar to photoallergic inflammatory responses.

In addition to reactions due to topical application, it is postulated that Gell-Coombs type IV reactions are also responsible for some delayed cutaneous maculopapular eruptions due to oral antibiotics, such as amoxicillin and sulfon-amides.<sup>227,228</sup>

## E. Miscellaneous Syndromes

Summary Statement 25: Some drugs or classes of drugs are associated with characteristic syndromes that often do not conform to specific Gell-Coombs categories and sometimes are referred to as mixed drug reactions (ie, a mixture of immunologic mechanism). (C)

Some drugs or classes of drugs are associated with characteristic syndromes that often do not conform to specific Gell-Coombs categories. Table 2 highlights the spectrum of drug allergic reactions and syndromes that will be discussed in greater detail in this parameter. Although various specific immune phenomena can often be demonstrated in these syndromes, their roles in the immunopathogenesis of the disease have not been clearly established. Isolation of T-cell clones with characteristic cytokine profiles in some of these reactions suggest that they may ultimately be classified into modified Gell-Coombs categories involving activation and recruitment of monocytes and macrophages (IVa), eosinophils (IVb), cytotoxic T cells (IVc), and neutrophils (IVd).

## 1. Hypersensitivity vasculitis

*Summary Statement 26:* Many drugs, hematopoietic growth factors, cytokines, and interferons are associated with vasculitis of skin and visceral organs. (C)

Many agents, hematopoietic growth factors, cytokines, and the interferons are suspected of causing widespread vascular inflammation of skin and visceral organs.<sup>229,230</sup> Frequently, the vascular changes occur during or at the endstage of drug-induced syndromes of serum sickness or drug fever. Drugs such as hydralazine, antithyroid medications, minocycline, and penicillamine are often associated with antinuclear cytoplasmic antibody– or periantinuclear cytoplasmic antibody–positive vasculitis-like disease.<sup>231</sup> Antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibody–positive vasculitis is also associated with hydralazine-induced systemic lupus erythematosus. Similar findings also apply to propylthiouracil. A Henoch-Schönlein syndrome with cutaneous vasculitis and glomerulonephritis may be induced by carbidopa/levodopa.<sup>232</sup>

## 2. Drug Rash With Eosinophilia and Systemic Symptoms (DRESS) Syndrome

*Summary Statement 27:* The drug rash with eosinophilia and systemic symptoms (DRESS) syndrome is a drug-induced, multiorgan inflammatory response that may be lifethreatening. First described in conjunction with anticonvulsant drug use, it has since been ascribed to a variety of drugs. (C)

*Summary Statement 28:* Anticonvulsant hypersensitivity syndrome is mainly associated with aromatic anticonvulsant drugs and is related to an inherited deficiency of epoxide hydrolase, an enzyme required for the metabolism of arene

oxide intermediates produced during hepatic metabolism. (B) Phenytoin, carbamazepine, and phenobarbital are considered cross-reactive, but valproic acid, gabapentin, and lamotrigine are therapeutic alternatives. (C) It is slower in onset than DRESS and presents with skin nodules, plaques, and lymphadenopathy at times confused with lymphoreticular malignant tumors (ie, pseudolymphoma) (B)

The DRESS syndrome is a drug-induced, multiorgan inflammatory response that may be life-threatening. First described in conjunction with anticonvulsant drug use, it has since been ascribed to a variety of drugs. The terms describing this syndrome have varied in the literature, with various terms preferred by some authors, including *phenytoin hyper*sensitivity syndrome, drug hypersensitivity syndrome, druginduced hypersensitivity syndrome, and drug-induced delayed multiorgan hypersensitivity syndrome. Characteristic features of DRESS vary and may include cutaneous eruptions (exanthems, erythema multiforme purpura), fever, eosinophilia (most but not all cases), hepatic dysfunction, renal dysfunction, and lymphadenopathy.<sup>233</sup> Case definitions for DRESS have recently been proposed for a multinational survey.<sup>234</sup> These proposed inclusion criteria include 3 or more of the following: hospitalization, reaction suspected to be drug related, acute rash, temperature higher than 38°C, enlarged lymph nodes at least 2 sites, involvement of at least 1 internal organ, and hematologic abnormalities. Medications implicated in DRESS include anticonvulsants, sulfonamides, allopurinol, minocycline, dapsone, sulfasalazine, abacavir, nevirapine, and hydroxychloroquine. DRESS is atypical from other drug allergic reactions in that the reaction develops later, usually 2 to 8 weeks after therapy is started; symptoms may worsen after the drug therapy is discontinued; and symptoms may persist for weeks or even months after the drug therapy has been discontinued. Human herpesvirus 6 reactivation has been detected in many patients with DRESS within 2 to 3 weeks of the eruption and may be an indicator of more severe disease.235

Systemic symptoms of the DRESS syndrome include fever, involvement of internal organs, and an association with previous exposure or infection with a herpesvirus (human herpesvirus 6).<sup>232,236</sup> In addition to anticonvulsants, a variety of drugs have been reported to cause DRESS, including trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole, minocycline, sulfasalazine, NSAIDs, D-penicillamine, hydrochlorothiazide, cyclosporine, nevirapine, and allopurinol.<sup>237</sup> In the case of allopurinol, toxic intermediates may mediate the abnormal lymphocyte responses.<sup>238</sup> The occurrence of this syndrome after use of valproic acid or gabapentin is rare.

Anticonvulsant hypersensitivity syndrome is life-threatening and may occur after varying (usually longer than DRESS) periods of exposure to anticonvulsive medications. It appears to result from an inherited deficiency of epoxide hydrolase, an enzyme required for the metabolism of arene oxide intermediates produced during hepatic metabolism of aromatic anticonvulsant drugs. It is characterized by fever, a maculopapular rash, and generalized lymphadenopathy, resembling the progression of symptoms that occur during a serum sickness–like reaction.<sup>232</sup> Lymphadenopathy mimicking the clinical manifestations of malignant lymphoma (the pseudolymphoma syndrome) was first reported in patients undergoing anticonvulsant therapy. Two presentations are recognized: (1) DRESS 2 to 8 weeks after initiation of therapy and (2) a more insidious onset with skin nodules and plaques, suggesting a pseudolymphoma without systemic symptoms.<sup>232</sup> Hepatitis, nephritis, and leukocytosis with atypical lymphocytes and eosinophils may be part of the syndrome. Facial edema occurs in 25% of the patients. These multiorgan reactions may be induced by phenytoin, carbamazepine, or phenobarbital, and cross-reactivity may occur among all aromatic anticonvulsants that produce toxic arene oxide metabolites

Treatment involves removing the offending agent, and although corticosteroids have been used, their efficacy is unknown. Unlike Stevens-Johnson syndrome or toxic epidermal necrolysis, there is almost never mucosal involvement with DRESS. Unlike serum sickness–like reactions, there is usually no arthralgia. DRESS is atypical of most all other drug reactions in that symptoms and organ involvement can continue to progress after use of the offending agent has been discontinued. Furthermore, symptoms may persist for many months after drug therapy discontinuation. Relapses have occurred after tapering of corticosteroids. There are limited data on the use of intravenous immunoglobulin and other immunomodulatory agents in resistant cases.<sup>239</sup>

#### 3. Pulmonary Drug Hypersensitivity

*Summary Statement 29:* Pulmonary manifestations of allergic drug reactions include anaphylaxis, lupuslike reactions, alveolar or interstitial pneumonitis, noncardiogenic pulmonary edema, and granulomatous vasculitis (ie, Churg-Strauss syndrome). Specific drugs are associated with different types of pulmonary reactions, such as bleomycin-induced fibrosis. (C)

Pulmonary manifestations of allergic drug reactions include anaphylaxis, lupuslike reactions, alveolar or interstitial pneumonitis, edema, granulomatosis, and fibrosis.<sup>240</sup> Acute pneumonitis with fever, rash, and eosinophilia occurs after treatment with nitrofurantoin, NSAIDs, and sulfasalazine. If the drugs are not eliminated properly, these lesions may progress to a chronic course with interstitial fibrosis. Hypersensitivity pneumonitis may occur in association with NSAID treatment. Biopsy-proven eosinophilic pneumonia may occur after use of sulfonamides, penicillin, and para-aminosalicylic acid. Patchy pneumonitis, pleuritis, and pleural effusion may appear during various drug-induced lupus syndromes.<sup>241</sup> Whether pleuropulmonary fibrosis has an immunologic basis is unknown at the present time. Characteristic histologic fibrotic changes are caused by certain cytotoxic drugs, such as bisulphan, cyclophosphamide, and bleomycin. Acute pulmonary reactions produced by other fibrogenic drugs, such as methotrexate, procarbazine, and melphalan, are similar to those of nitrofurantoin pneumonitis and therefore appear to be mediated by hypersensitivity mechanisms.<sup>240</sup> These leTable 4. Drug-Induced Lupus Erythematosus (DILE)

	Systemic DILE	Cutaneous DILE
Incidence	Rare	More frequent cause of subcutaneous lupus erythematosus
Drugs Implicated	Hydralazine, procainamide, isoniazid, methyldopa, quinidine, minocycline, chlorpromazine	Hydrochlorothiazide, calcium channel blockers, ACE inhibitors, systemic antifungal agents
Onset of symptoms	Gradual escalation of symptoms over months	Onset of symptoms within 4-8 weeks
Systemic Symptoms	Arthralgias and myalgias frequent	No systemic symptoms
Cutaneous symptoms	Photosensitivity, purpura, erythema nodosum more frequent	Photosensitive erythema, scaly annular plaques
Serologic testing	Antihistone antibodies >90% overall	Antihistone antibodies <25%
0 0	Anti-Ro/SSA and/or anti-La/SSB usually negative	Anti-Ro/SSA and/or anti-La/SSB frequently positive

Abbreviation: ACE, angiotensin-converting enzyme.

sions are sometimes confused with noncardiac pulmonary edema, which occurs after administration of heroin, methadone, propoxyphene, or hydrochlorothiazide. The clinical spectrum of pulmonary hypersensitivity reactions may include interstitial pneumonitis (with or without eosinophilia), bronchiolitis obliterans (with or without chronic organizing pneumonia), the pulmonary-renal syndrome associated with p-penicillamine, and several granulomatous vasculitides.<sup>240,242</sup>

#### 4. Drug-Induced Lupus

Summary Statement 30: Drug-induced lupus erythematosus (DILE) can have systemic forms and predominantly cutaneous forms. Procainamide and hydralazine are the most frequently implicated drugs for systemic DILE, and antihistone antibodies are present in more than 90% of patients but occur less commonly with minocycline, propylthiouracil, and statins. (C)

Summary Statement 31: Drugs most commonly associated with cutaneous DILE include hydrochlorothiazide, calcium channel blockers, angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors, and systemic antifungal agents. Anti-Ro and anti-SSA antibodies are usually present, where antihistone antibodies are much less frequent. (C)

DILE is thought to represent up to 10% of systemic lupus erythematosus cases.<sup>243</sup> Similar to idiopathic lupus, DILE can have systemic forms and predominantly cutaneous forms (Table 4). Systemic DILE usually occurs after years of exposure to the offending drug and resolves within weeks to months after withdrawal of the causative agent. Procainamide and hydralazine are the most frequently implicated drugs, but causal evidence is also convincing for isoniazid, methyldopa, quinidine, minocycline, and chlorpromazine.<sup>244</sup> The most frequent signs and symptoms of systemic DILE are arthralgias, myalgias, fever, malaise, and weight loss. Hypocomplementemia and antibodies to doublestranded DNA (dsDNA) are rare, whereas antihistone antibodies are present in more than 90% of patients with DILE overall but occur less frequently with minocycline, propylthiouracil, and statins.<sup>244</sup> DILE related to anti-tumor necrosis factor  $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ) drugs demonstrate several differences from classic DILE, including more frequent rash (>70%), antibodies to dsDNA (90%), and hypocomplementemia (>50%) and less frequent antihistone antibodies.245

Cutaneous DILE differs from systemic DILE in respect to several features. Drugs most commonly associated with cutaneous DILE include hydrochlorothiazide, calcium channel blockers, angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors, and systemic antifungal agents.<sup>246</sup> Anti-Ro and anti-SSA antibodies are usually present, whereas antihistone antibodies are much less frequent.<sup>244</sup> The onset of cutaneous DILE is much faster than systemic DILE, with disease being triggered typically in 4 to 8 weeks.

## 5. Drug-Induced Granulomatous Disease With or Without Vasculitis

*Summary Statement 32:* The recognition of immunologically mediated, drug-induced granulomatous disease with or without vasculitis has increased in recent years. (C)

Drug-induced, antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibody-positive patients may present either as the Churg-Strauss Syndrome (CSS) or Wegener granulomatosis (WG), both of which are classified as systemic granulomatous vasculitides.<sup>247,248</sup> Case reports have documented their occurrence in patients receiving various drugs (cocaine, estrogens, acetaminophen, macrolide antibiotics, antithyroid drugs, and leukotriene-modifying agents).<sup>249-253</sup> Antithyroid drugs (eg, propylthiouracil) are more likely to induce WG and a lupuslike syndrome, but a few instances of CSS have been reported.<sup>252</sup> Several published investigations have attributed a higher prevalence of CSS in association with antiasthma drugs, particularly the use of antileukotrienes.<sup>254-256</sup>. This has been postulated to occur because of the oral steroid sparing effect of these agents with subsequent unmasking of quiescent CSS as steroids are tapered, although CSS has occurred in some antileukotriene-treated patients who did not receive prior glucocorticosteroids.<sup>251</sup> However, given the inconclusive and contradictory reports on this subject, no direct causal effect of leukotriene modifiers has been established and further research is needed.<sup>257</sup>

## 6. Immunologic Hepatitis

*Summary Statement 33:* Immunologic hepatitis may occur after sensitization to para-aminosalicylic acid, sulfonamides, and phenothiazines. (C)

There is strong circumstantial evidence that immunologic hepatitis occurs after sensitization to para-aminosalicylic acid, sulfonamides, and phenothiazines.<sup>258</sup> Cholestatic jaundice is a prominent feature of liver disease induced by phenothiazine, amoxicillin/clavuronic acid, and ranitidine.<sup>259-261</sup> Less well defined are possible immunologic aberrations associated with hepatocellular changes occurring after halothane, anticonvulsives, erythromycin, indomethacin, and isoniazid.

Drugs such as oxyphenisatin, methyldopa, nitrofurantoin, diclofenac, interferon, pernoline, minocycline, and atorvastin may induce hepatocellular damage that mimics autoimmune hepatitis.<sup>262</sup>. Herbal agents, such as black cohosh and daisaiko-to, may trigger autoimmune hepatitis. Whether these drugs or herbs unmask or induce autoimmune hepatitis or cause drug-induced hepatitis with accompanying autoimmune features is unknown. There are no generally available diagnostic methods to distinguish between hepatic immuno-allergic and toxic reactions due to drugs, such as itraconazole.

## 7. Blistering Disorders

Summary Statement 34: Erythema multiforme minor is a cell-mediated hypersensitivity reaction associated with viruses, other infectious agents, and drugs. It manifests as pleomorphic cutaneous eruptions, with target lesions being most characteristic. (C)

*Summary Statement 35:* There is no consensus on the distinction between erythema multiforme major and Stevens-Johnson syndrome. These disorders involve mucosal surfaces and the skin. (D)

*Summary Statement 36:* Use of systemic corticosteroids for treatment of erythema multiforme major or Stevens-Johnson syndrome is controversial. (D)

*Summary Statement 37:* Toxic epidermal necrolysis (ie, Lyell syndrome) is distinguished from Stevens-Johnson syndrome by the extent of epidermal detachment. (D)

*Summary Statement 38:* Systemic corticosteroids are associated with increased mortality when used for the management of advanced toxic epidermal necrolysis (C). Treatment with high-dose intravenous immunoglobulin is controversial. (D)

Summary Statement 39: Toxic epidermal necrolysis should be managed in a burn unit. (D)

#### a. Erythema Multiforme Minor

Erythema multiforme minor appears to be a cell-mediated hypersensitivity reaction associated with viruses, other infectious agents, and drugs. It is manifested by pleomorphic cutaneous eruptions; at times bullous and target lesions are also characteristic. A specific form of erythema multiforme minor may develop in the radiation field of oncologic patients receiving phenytoin for prophylaxis of seizures caused by brain metastases (EMPACT: EM associated with Phenytoin and Cranial Radiation Therapy).<sup>263</sup> If a drug cause is suspected, use of the drug should be stopped immediately and the addition of glucocorticosteroids may be necessary. Anti-

histamines may assist with treatment of pruritus. Early treatment of erythema multiforme minor with systemic corticosteroids may prevent progression to the more serious erythema multiforme major/Stevens-Johnson syndrome.

## b. Erythema Multiforme Major/Stevens-Johnson Syndrome

Drugs are an important cause of the erythema multiforme major/Stevens-Johnson syndrome (SJS) and toxic epidermal necrolysis (TEN). Thus far, more than a hundred drugs have been implicated as causes of these syndromes. In a large prospective cohort study, drugs associated with a high relative risk of developing SJS or TEN were sulfonamides, cephalosporins, imidazole agents, and oxicam derivatives, whereas drugs in the moderate risk category included quinolones, carbamazepine, phenytoin, valproic acid, and glucocorticosteroids.<sup>264</sup> Rarely, vancomycin may induce several forms of bullous skin disease. One of these is subdermal, blistering disorder characterized by IgA deposition beneath the basement membrane. Biopsy with direct immunofluorescence is required to distinguish this reaction from the SJS and TEN, which can also be induced by this drug. As described under the Physical Examination section (section V), target and bullous lesions primarily involving the extremities and mucous membranes are characteristic of erythema multiforme major, whereas the features of SJS are confluent purpuric macules on face and trunk and severe, explosive mucosal erosions, usually at more than 1 mucosal surface, that are accompanied by a high temperature and severe constitutional symptoms. Ocular involvement may be particularly serious. Liver, kidney, and lungs may be involved singly or in combination. As soon as the diagnosis is established, use of the suspected drug should be stopped immediately. The use of glucocorticosteroid therapy is controversial.<sup>265-267</sup> If it is started, it should probably be initiated early in the disease and very high doses should be used.<sup>268</sup> However, if this treatment is started too late in the disease (ie, 3 to 4 days after onset), it is possible that TEN could supervene, in which case systemic glucocorticosteroids are contraindicated.265,269

## c. Toxic Epidermal Necrolysis

SJS and TEN are probably part of a single disease spectrum. According to a commonly used classification scheme, if epidermal detachment is less than 10%, the disease is SJS, but when epidermal detachment reaches 30% or more, the diagnosis is TEN.<sup>270</sup> In cases with detachment of 10% to 30% of the epidermis, the 2 syndromes are considered overlapping. TEN is almost always drug induced and is manifested by widespread areas of confluent erythema followed by epidermal necrosis and detachment with severe mucosal involvement. Significant loss of skin equivalent to a third-degree burn occurs. Glucocorticosteroids are contraindicated in this condition, which must be managed in a burn unit.<sup>265</sup> There is a significant risk of infection, and mortality rates as high as 50% have been reported.<sup>271</sup> TEN should be distinguished from the scalded skin syndrome, a disorder caused by staphylococcal bacterial toxin and characterized by the massive skin cleavage and separation in the uppermost epidermis. A number of open-label, retrospective, and prospective noncontrolled studies have demonstrated improved outcomes (such as lower mortality rates, shorter time to interruption of lesion progression, shorter time to complete reepithelialization) in patients with TEN treated with high-dose intravenous immunoglobulins (IVIGs).<sup>272-276</sup> Other studies using similar methods found no beneficial effects of IVIG on TEN.<sup>277-279</sup> The typical dose of IVIG used in these studies was approximately 0.5 to 1 g/kg per day for 3 to 4 days. The mechanism of action of IVIG is believed to be inhibition of Fas-Fas ligand associated apoptosis, which has been found to be extensive in keratinocytes of patients with TEN.<sup>280</sup> There are limited data to suggest that anti–TNF- $\alpha$  treatment is beneficial in TEN.<sup>281,282</sup>

## 8. Serum Sickness–Like Reactions Associated With Specific Cephalosporins

*Summary Statement 40:* Serum sickness–like reactions caused by cephalosporins (especially cefaclor) usually are due to altered metabolism of the drug, resulting in reactive intermediates. (B)

Cefaclor and to a lesser extent cefprozil are associated with serum-sickness–like reactions characterized primarily by severe erythema multiforme and arthralgias. There is no evidence of an antibody-mediated basis for this reaction.<sup>283-286</sup> Serum-sickness–like reactions to cefaclor appear to result from altered metabolism of the parent drug, resulting in toxic reactive intermediate compounds.<sup>283</sup> This altered metabolism can often be documented in a parent of the patient.<sup>283</sup> Anecdotally, affected patients later have tolerated other cephalosporins. In vitro tests for toxic metabolites have confirmed a lack of cross-reactivity between cefaclor and other cephalosporins.<sup>287</sup> Therefore, patients with serum sickness–like reactions to cefaclor and cefprozil may not need to avoid other cephalosporins.

## 9. Immunologic Nephropathy

Summary Statement 41: Immunologically mediated nephropathies may present as interstitial nephritis (such as with methicillin) or as membranous glomerulonephritis (eg, gold, penicillamine, and allopurinol). (C)

The major example of drug-induced immunologic nephropathy is an interstitial nephritis induced by large doses of benzylpenicillin, methicillin, or sulfonamides.<sup>288,289</sup> In addition to symptoms of tubular dysfunction, these patients demonstrate fever, rash, eosinophilia (especially in the urine), and high levels of total IgE, which revert to normal on discontinuation of use of the offending drug.<sup>290</sup> The predominant lesion of the nephrotic syndrome induced by gold, penicillamine, and allopurinol is a membranous glomerulonephritis.<sup>288,291</sup> An immunologic basis of this lesion is suggested by deposition of IgG, IgM, and C3 in glomerular lesions.<sup>292</sup> In the rare pulmonary-renal syndrome induced by penicillamine, "lumpy" intraglomerular deposits of complement and/or immunoglobulins are commonly observed.<sup>242</sup> Renal vasculitis has also been reported.<sup>293,294</sup>

## F. Other Classification Systems for Drug Allergy

*Summary Statement 42:* In addition to Gell-Coombs hypersensitivity reactions, there are a number of other mechanistic and clinical classifications for drug allergy. (C)

*Summary Statement 43:* The p-i concept (pharmacologic interaction with immune receptors) is a recently proposed addition to drug hypersensitivity classification in which a drug binds noncovalently to a T-cell receptor, which may lead to an immune response via interaction with a major histocompatibility complex receptor. (C)

*Summary Statement 44:* From a clinical standpoint, the most practical method of classifying drug reactions is by predilection for various tissue and organ systems. (D)

*Summary Statement 45:* The structural characteristics of drugs and biological products may permit predictions about what type of hypersensitivity reactions to expect from certain classes of therapeutic substances. (C)

In addition to the Gell-Coombs human hypersensitivity classification, there are a number of drug reactions associated with specific T-cell activation, for which immunopathogenesis has not been fully established, such as drug fever and fixed drug reactions. The latter are caused by such drugs as barbiturates and sulfonamides. The term *fixed* is applied to this lesion because reexposure to the drug usually produces recurrence of the lesion at the original site.

The p-i concept (pharmacologic interaction with immune receptors) is a recently proposed addition to drug hypersensitivity classification. In this scheme, a drug binds noncovalently to a T-cell receptor, which may lead to an immune response via interaction with a major histocompatibility complex receptor. In this scenario, no sensitization is required because there is direct stimulation of memory and effector T cells, analogous to the concept of superantigens.<sup>2,3</sup>

From the clinical standpoint, the most practical method of classifying drug reactions is by predilection for various tissue and organ systems. Cutaneous drug reactivity represents the most common form of restricted tissue responsiveness to drugs. The pulmonary system is also recognized as a favorite site for certain drug hypersensitivity reactions. Other individual tissue responses to drugs include cytotoxic effects on blood components and hypersensitivity sequelae in liver, kidneys, and blood vessels. Some drugs, however, induce heterogeneous immune responses and tissue manifestations. Thus, sensitization to penicillin or its degradation products may eventuate in anaphylaxis, morbilliform rashes, serum sickness, drug fever, cytotoxic effects (eg, hemolytic anemia), hypersensitivity vasculitis, interstitial nephritis, or severe contact dermatitis if applied topically. Finally, the temporal relationship to onset of symptoms after administration of a specific drug may constitute another type of classification, ranging from immediate (minutes to an hour), accelerated (1 hour to 3 days), or delayed (beyond 3 days).<sup>295</sup>

To some extent, the structural characteristics of drugs and biological products permit predictions about what type of hypersensitivity reactions to expect from certain classes of therapeutic substances. Allergic reactions to peptides and proteins are most often mediated by either IgE antibodies or immune complex responses. Such reactions may also be mixed. In specific situations, the process may culminate in a multisystem, vasculitic disease of small and medium blood vessels. Although immune responses induced by carbohydrate agents are infrequent, anaphylaxis has been described after topical exposure to carboxymethycellulose.<sup>296</sup> Any single or mixed variety of immune responses may occur after exposure to low-molecular-mass ( $\leq 1,000$ Da) inorganic or organic medicinal chemicals. The immunogenic potential of such drugs is often determined by 1 or more reactive end products or metabolites, which haptenate with various body proteins. The parent compound itself is not immunogenic because of its small size and inability to conjugate with proteins in a stable covalent linkage. Metabolism of drugs by cytochrome oxidase pathways may occur in the liver, skin, and phagocytic cells. In addition, patients with certain genetic polymorphisms of metabolic enzymes may be at higher risk for allergic and autoimmune disorders induced by drugs.<sup>283,297,298</sup> As a general rule, increases in molecular mass and structural complexity are often associated with increased immunogenicity, at least as far as humoral-mediated hypersensitivity is concerned.

## **IV. RISK FACTORS**

*Summary Statement 46:* The most important risk factors for drug hypersensitivity may be related to the chemical property and molecular weight of drugs. (C)

*Summary Statement 47:* Other drug-specific risk factors for drug hypersensitivity include the dose, route of administration, duration of treatment, repetitive exposure to the drug, and concurrent illnesses (eg, Epstein-Barr virus infection and amoxicillin rash). (C)

*Summary Statement 48:* Host risk factors for drug hypersensitivity include age, sex, atopy, underlying diseases (such as lupus, erythematous, and human immunodeficiency virus) and specific genetic polymorphisms. (C)

The chemical properties, amount and duration of exposure to the drug, and host factors may all interact in the development of drug allergy. Large-molecular-weight agents, such as proteins and some polysaccharides, may be immunogenic and therefore are much more likely to induce antibody-mediated drug hypersensitivity reactions, especially in atopic individuals. On the other hand, specific structural moieties in nonprotein medicinal chemicals are often critical determinants in inducing drug hypersensitivity. How these particular structures (eg,  $\beta$ -lactam rings of penicillins and cephalosporins) are degraded is of crucial importance. Prolonged drug and metabolite(s) clearance may occur because of genetic polymorphisms of metabolic enzyme pathways (eg, hydralazine, azathioprine).<sup>299,300</sup> Parenteral and cutaneous administrations of a drug enhance the possibility of sensitization, whereas the oral route of administration may be safer.<sup>301</sup> Single doses of a prophylactic antibiotic are less likely to sensitize compared with high-dose prolonged parenteral administration of the same drug. Frequent repetitive courses of therapy are also more likely to sensitize, which accounts for the high prevalence of sensitization in patients with cystic fibrosis.

Host factors and concurrent medical illnesses are significant risk factors. In the case of penicillin, allergic reactions appear to occur less frequently in children and in elderly patients.<sup>302</sup> Immaturity and senescence of the immune response may account for these observations. Older age was found to be a risk factor for development of ADRs in hospitalized patients,<sup>303</sup> and this may be related to declining cognitive function.<sup>304</sup> In a prospective study, women were shown to have a 35% higher incidence of adverse cutaneous reactions to drugs than men.<sup>305</sup> In another study, the odds ratio for women developing reactions to radiocontrast media was 20fold greater than for men.<sup>122</sup>

A subset of patients shows a marked tendency to react to clinically unrelated drugs, especially antibiotics.<sup>27,306-308</sup> These reactions encompass urticaria, rashes, serum sickness–like drug reactions, angioedema, anaphylaxis, and SJS. Compared with monosensitive patients, many of these patients show evidence of circulating histamine-releasing factors, as assessed by autologous serum skin tests.<sup>309</sup> It has also been suggested that previous intolerance to NSAIDs might be a risk factor for some patients with this condition.<sup>310</sup> Allergic reactions to multiple structurally unrelated antibiotics appear to occur more often in women.<sup>308</sup> There are limited data to suggest a familial component to drug allergy, but the studies are limited by a reliance on patient history (which is known to be a poor predictor of drug allergy) and by lack of confirmatory testing or provocative challenges.<sup>311</sup>

A genetic relationship to histocompatibility antigenic determinants (HLA-DR3) exists in patients with rheumatoid arthritis who are treated with gold or penicillamine and subsequently develop drug-induced nephropathy.<sup>312</sup> Allergic reactions to abacavir have been associated with the presence of HLA B 5701.97,98 Patients with systemic lupus erythematous appear to have an increased prevalence of drug reactions, although it is not clear that this predilection is causally related to the underlying immunologic abnormalities or the fact that such patients are exposed more often to drugs.<sup>313,314</sup> Patients with systemic mastocytosis appear to be at increased risk of pseudoallergic reactions to narcotics and vancomycin. The presence of an atopic diathesis (allergic rhinitis, allergic asthma, and/or atopic dermatitis) predisposes patients to a higher rate of allergic reactions to proteins (eg, latex) but not to low-molecular-weight agents.<sup>315-317</sup> Paradoxically, atopic patients appear to have a greater risk of non-IgE-mediated, pseudoallergic reactions induced by radiocontrast media.<sup>123</sup> Asthma appears to be associated with a substantially increased risk of serious allergic reactions (including certain

causes of anaphylaxis) once an IgE antibody response to any drug has developed.<sup>301,302</sup>

## V. CLINICAL EVALUATION AND DIAGNOSIS OF DRUG ALLERGY

#### A. History

*Summary Statement 49:* The history should focus on previous and current drug use and the temporal sequence of events between initiation of therapy and onset of symptoms. (C)

The first question facing the physician in the evaluation of a patient with a suspected ADR is whether the clinical problem is drug related. The subsequent clinical evaluation and diagnosis of unpredictable (type B) drug reactions is based on a number of clinical criteria:

- 1) The symptoms and physical findings are compatible with an unpredictable (type B) drug reaction;
- 2) There is a temporal relationship between administration of the drug and an adverse event. Patients may develop drug reactions after discontinuation of use of the drug.
- 3) The class and chemical structure of the drug have been associated with unpredictable reactions;
- 4) In cases of drug allergic reactions, the patient has previously been exposed to the drug on 1 or more occasions (with the possible exception of serum sickness-like reactions). For infants, the prior exposure may have taken place either in utero or via breast milk.
- 5) There is no other clear cause for the presenting manifestations in a patient who is receiving medications known to cause hypersensitivity reactions; and
- 6) Skin test results and/or laboratory findings (if available) are compatible with drug allergic reactions.

For most drug reactions, these questions are answered on the basis of information derived from the history and physical examination. A careful history of previous and current drug use, focusing particularly on the temporal sequence of events between initiation of therapy and onset of symptoms is probably the most useful information for the diagnosis of an allergic drug reaction. In this regard, specific knowledge about the pharmacology and allergenicity of the involved drugs often is valuable in trying to delineate the causal factor. This is particularly important when a patient is receiving multiple drugs. As previously discussed, general and specific host risk factors should also be noted in the medical history.

## **B.** Physical Examination

*Summary Statement 50:* Physical examination should include all systems that could possibly account for the clinical presentation. (C)

Summary Statement 51: Cutaneous manifestations are the most common presentation for drug allergic reactions. Characterization of cutaneous lesions is important in regard to determining the cause, further diagnostic tests, and management decisions. (C)

Summary Statement 52: Numerous cutaneous reaction patterns have been reported in drug allergy, including exanthems, urticaria, angioedema, acne, bullous eruptions, fixed drug eruptions, erythema multiforme, lupus erythematosus, photosensitivity, psoriasis, purpura, vasculitis, pruritus, and life-threatening cutaneous reactions, such as Stevens-Johnson syndrome, toxic epidermal necrolysis, exfoliative dermatitis, and drug rash with eosinophilia and systemic symptoms (DRESS). (C)

Because drug reactions may involve virtually any organ system, a careful physical examination is recommended. Cutaneous manifestations are the most common presentation for drug allergic reactions. Characterization of cutaneous lesions is important in regard to determining the cause, further diagnostic tests, and management decisions. Numerous cutaneous reaction patterns have been reported in drug allergy, including exanthems, urticaria, angioedema, acne, bullous eruptions, fixed drug eruptions, erythema multiforme, lupus erythematosus, photosensitivity, psoriasis, purpura, vasculitis, pruritus, and life-threatening cutaneous reactions, such as Stevens-Johnson syndrome, toxic epidermal necrolysis, exfoliative dermatitis, and drug rash with eosinophilia and systemic symptoms.<sup>4</sup>

The most common cutaneous manifestation of drug allergic reactions is a generalized exanthem (maculopapular eruption). These lesions are pruritic, often beginning as macules that can evolve into papules and eventually may coalesce into plaques. Drug-induced exanthems typically involve the trunk and spread outward to the limbs in a bilateral symmetric pattern. Many drug-induced exanthems are manifestations of delayed-type hypersensitivity. The development of a drug exanthem typically evolves after several days of taking the offending drug. With resolution of an exanthem, scaling may occur. This should be distinguished from the type of epidermal detachment seen in severe cutaneous reactions that occurs early in the reaction. Drug-induced exanthems do not evolve into anaphylactic reactions because they are not IgEmediated reactions. Many drugs are capable of causing exanthems; however, certain medications, such as allopurinol, aminopenicillins, cephalosporins, antiepileptic agents, and antibacterial sulfonamides, are some of the more frequent culprit drugs.<sup>318</sup> Symmetrical drug-related intertriginous and flexural exanthema (SDRIFE) specifically refers to the distinctive, sharply demarcated erythema of the gluteal/perianal area and/or V-shaped erythema of the inguinal/perigenital area along with involvement of at least 1 other intertriginous/ flexural region.<sup>319</sup> This specific pattern of exanthem has been previously referred to as baboon syndrome; however, the term SDRIFE has been proposed to distinguish this reaction from topical contact allergens.

Fixed drug eruptions recur at the same skin or mucosal site on reintroduction of the causative drug. Typical fixed drug eruptions present as round or oval, sharply demarcated, red to livid, slightly elevated plaques, ranging from a few millimeters to several centimeters in diameter.<sup>320</sup> They may also present as vesicles, and mucosal lesions are usually bullous. Fixed drug eruptions have a predilection for the lips, hands, and genitalia (especially in men). Fixed drug eruptions can occur with a number of medications, including tetracycline, NSAIDs, and carbamazepine.

Urticaria and angioedema are the most common manifestations of IgE-mediated drug allergy. However, it is important to recognize that non–IgE-mediated drug allergic reactions can manifest with urticaria and angioedema too. Urticaria is the most common manifestation of serum sickness; however, the presence of maculopapular lesions of the sides of the fingers and toes or a serpiginous distribution of such lesions along lateral aspects of both soles may be more specific for serum sickness. Angioedema due to ACE inhibitors is likely a bradykinin-mediated manifestation of angioedema.

Photoallergic reactions may present with eczematous eruptions in a photodistribution on the face, "V" area of the neck, dorsa of hands, and arms, with sparing of the scalp, submental, and periorbital areas. Phototoxic reactions typically present with erythroderma within minutes to hours of sunlight exposure but may present with vesicles with severe reactions. Drug-induced cutaneous lupus may also present with eruptions in a photodistribution, typically with erythema or scaly, annular plaques.

Lichenoid drug eruptions may resemble lichen planus and present with violaceous, polygonal papules. Medications reported to cause lichenoid drug eruptions include ACE inhibitors, furosemide, NSAIDs, proton pump inhibitors, and imatinib.

Palmar-plantar erythrodysesthesia (also known as handfoot syndrome) presents typically 2 to 12 days after chemotherapy with edema and erythema of the palms and soles and may progress to blistering, ulceration, or necrosis.<sup>321</sup> Doxorubicin, especially the pegylated liposomal form, is a common culprit.

Several cutaneous drug reactions may present with pustules. Acne can occur with glucocorticoids, androgens, lithium, phenytoin, and isoniazid and is common with the immunosuppressant sirolimus.<sup>322</sup> Acute generalized eczematous pustulosis (AGEP) is a rare type of drug eruption that begins with erythema or edema in the intertriginous areas or face. Afterward, fine nonfollicular sterile pustules develop. Fever, neutrophilia, and, in one-third of cases, eosinophilia may also be present.<sup>323</sup> Atypical target lesions, blisters, and oral mucosal involvement are uncommon but may be confused with SJS. Implicated drugs include antibiotics and calcium channel blockers. AGEP is T-cell-mediated drug reaction with drug-specific CXCL8 T cells secreting interleukin 8, resulting in a neutrophilic dermatitis.<sup>324</sup> Finally, drug-induced Sweet syndrome may present with fever, painful nodules, pustules, and plaques and a neutrophilic dermatosis. Granulocyte colony-stimulating factor, sulfonamide antibiotics, and minocycline may all cause drug-induced Sweet syndrome.

Drug allergic reactions may also present with vesicles. Drug-induced pemphigus is most often caused by drugs containing a thiol group (eg, captopril, penicillamine) and presents with flaccid blisters. Drug-induced bullous pemphigoid presents with tense bullae on the extremities, trunk, and occasionally mucous membranes. ACE inhibitors, furosemide, penicillin, and sulfasalazine are some of the causative drugs implicated in drug-induced bullous pemphigoid. A similar drug eruption with tense bullae is linear IgA bullous disease, with vancomycin being the most commonly incriminated drug. Vancomycin-induced linear IgA bullous disease is not dose dependent, and the severity does not appear to correlate with serum vancomycin levels.<sup>325</sup>

Purpura and petechiae are often cutaneous stigmata of vasculitis, which can be drug induced. Leukocytoclastic vasculitis may be drug induced by many drugs, including antibiotics, NSAIDs, and diuretics.

Erythema multiforme is a polymorphous maculopapular lesion that spreads peripherally and clears centrally to form an annular pattern known as a "target" lesion. This consists of 3 zones: an erythematous central papule that may blister, an edematous middle ring, and an erythematous outer ring.

In an exaggerated form, erythema multiforme may progress to the development of blisters and progressive involvement of the mucous membranes. Although this symptom complex is termed erythema multiforme major and is often used synonymously with the SJS, some clinicians specify that the 2 conditions have distinguishing features. Target lesions, particularly on the extremities, are still present in erythema multiforme major, whereas widespread blistering purpuric macules of the face, trunk, and proximal extremities are characteristic of SJS.<sup>265</sup> At this stage, more than 1 mucosal site is involved and there are progressive constitutional symptoms. The clinical presentation of SJS may evolve into TEN, a severe drug-induced skin disease in which apoptotic, epidermal cell death results in the separation of large areas of skin at the dermoepidermal junction, producing the appearance of scalded skin.<sup>265</sup> SJS and TEN are probably part of a single disease spectrum, with epidermal detachment less than 10% in SJS, greater than 30% in TEN, and 10% to 30% detachment is considered an overlap syndrome.

Exfoliative dermatitis is a severe end-stage dermatosis that usually progresses from other types of late-onset cutaneous drug reactions and consists of large confluent areas of shedding scaly and erythematous epidermis. Systemic manifestations, such as chills and fever, are common.

Acute life-threatening drug reactions can involve the upper and lower respiratory tracts and the cardiovascular system. For a more detailed discussion of signs and symptoms of anaphylaxis, see the Anaphylaxis Practice Parameter.<sup>326</sup> Drug reactions may present as an isolated fever, occasionally with a temperature in excess of  $104^{\circ}$ F. In addition, drug reactions may cause a wide array of physical abnormalities, including mucous membrane lesions, lymphadenopathy, hepatosplenomegaly, pleuropneumonopathic abnormalities, and joint tenderness or swelling. With any drug reaction associated with the loss of skin integrity, secondary infection should be considered.

#### **C. General Clinical Tests**

Summary Statement 53: Possible laboratory tests might include but are not limited to a chest x-ray examination,

electrocardiography, a complete blood cell count with differential, sedimentation rate or C-reactive protein, autoantibody tests, and specific immunologic tests. (C)

Routine laboratory evaluation appropriate to the clinical setting may be useful for the evaluation of a patient with suspected drug reaction, depending on the history and physical examination findings (see below). A complete blood cell count with a differential cell count and a total platelet count may help to exclude the possibility of cytotoxic reactions. Eosinophilia may be observed as an accompaniment of drug fever, immune complex syndromes, eosinophilic pneumonias, and the Churg-Strauss Syndrome, although most drug reactions are not associated with eosinophilia. If renal involvement is suspected (eg, serum sickness, vasculitis), urinalysis should be considered, looking for the presence of proteinuria, casts, and eosinophils. The presence of urine eosinophils combined with an increase in total IgE may suggest the presence of interstitial nephritis.<sup>290</sup>

The following tests may be helpful for identifying inflammation associated with drug-induced vasculitis. These include measurement of a sedimentation rate (or C-reactive protein), complement tests (looking for evidence of consumption indicated by reduced total complement or complement components) and several autoantibody tests (antinuclear antibody [ANA], antinuclear cytoplasmic antibody [c-ANCA], and perinuclear cytoplasmic antibody [p-ANCA]). A positive ANA result may point to the diagnosis of the drug-induced lupus syndrome induced by drugs such as procainamide and hydralazine. Abnormalities in c-ANCA or p-ANCA frequently occur in drug-induced systemic vasculitides and the Churg-Strauss syndrome.<sup>229</sup> In serum sickness-like reactions, several nonspecific techniques may at times be helpful in certain situations. The most common screening test for detection of immune complexes is a test for cryoglobulins or cold precipitable serum protein. C1q binding and Raji cell assays are also available for detection of immune complexes, but these are rarely necessary in the routine evaluation of drug-induced serum sickness-like reactions. Positive test results are helpful, but negative test results do not exclude the possibility of immune complex disease.

A retrospective diagnosis of anaphylaxis may be made by detecting an increase in serum total tryptase levels above baseline or in serum mature tryptase (also known as  $\beta$ -tryptase), which peak 0.5 to 2 hours after drug administration and then decrease with a half-life of approximately 2 hours. Practically, an elevated level may be detected in the serum for 2 to 4 hours (or more) after the reaction, depending on the magnitude of hypotension, which correlates with the peak elevation of serum mature or total tryptase. An elevated 24-hour urine histamine and/or *N*-methylhistamine also may be detected as a clinical indicator of anaphylaxis.<sup>327</sup>

## **D. Specific Tests**

Summary Statement 54: The most useful test for detecting IgE-mediated drug reactions caused by penicillin and many

large-molecular-weight biologicals is immediate hypersensitivity skin testing. (B)

*Summary Statement 55:* Specialized immunologic tests are sometimes able to confirm the immunologic basis of drug-induced cytotoxic reactions. (B)

*Summary Statement 56:* Drug patch testing may be useful for certain types of cutaneous drug reactions, including maculopapular exanthems, acute generalized exanthematous pustulosis, and fixed drug eruptions, but generally is not helpful for Stevens-Johnson syndrome or urticarial eruptions. The lack of standardization of reagent concentrations may limit the clinical usefulness of drug patch testing. (B)

*Summary Statement 57:* Lymphocyte proliferation assays may have utility as retrospective indicators of cell-mediated drug reactions, but their positive and negative predictive values have not been determined and they are not available in most medical centers. (C)

Two criteria are used to demonstrate the immunologic basis of an adverse drug reaction: (1) detection of an immune response to the drug or its metabolite(s) and (2) demonstration that the immune response is causally related to the immunopathological sequelae in an affected individual. Although an immune response to a drug is an essential component of all immunologic drug reactions, it does not prove that the patient's symptoms are due to a drug allergy. The second criterion concerning the drug's immunopathological role in the reaction is more difficult to document. In the case of immediate hypersensitivity reactions mediated by IgE antibodies, demonstration of the presence of drug specific IgE is usually taken as sufficient evidence that the individual is at significant risk of having a type I reaction if the drug is administered. This is helpful in the case of high-molecularweight agents.<sup>328</sup> Penicillin is the only low-molecular-weight agent for which validated testing has been documented (see section VII on penicillin testing for details).<sup>17,328</sup> Insufficient knowledge about drug degradation products and/or metabolites and how they are conjugated with body proteins has been an impediment to developing either skin or in vitro assays for assessing immune responses to most small-molecular-weight drug chemicals.

The presence of other isotypic antibody classes (eg, drugspecific IgG4) or cell-mediated immunity often is poorly correlated with immunopathological mechanisms because many individuals receiving drugs may demonstrate drugspecific immune responses but do not react adversely to the drug, even if challenged. Thus, the utility of specific immunologic tests (apart from IgE-mediated syndromes) is limited in most instances of drug hypersensitivity. At best, such tests provide adjunctive support for the clinical diagnosis.

Assessment of drug specific IgE antibodies induced by many high-molecular-weight and several low-molecularweight agents may be useful for confirming the diagnosis and prediction of future IgE-mediated reactions, such as anaphylaxis and urticaria.<sup>17,317,328</sup> Immediate type skin tests are usually the most sensitive diagnostic tests, but in certain cases where skin testing is not possible (ie, a negative histamine control test result, dermatographism or generalized eczema), specific IgE in vitro assays (eg, RAST, Immunocap, Immunolite) are available, although most are not adequately standardized. In the case of small-molecular-weight drugs, validated and reliable skin test reagents are only available for penicillin. Relatively few studies with small numbers of patients have evaluated the specificity and sensitivity of thirdgeneration assays for detection of penicillin specific IgE in vitro.<sup>5,6</sup> These studies demonstrate relatively high specificity (97%-100%) but lower sensitivity (29%-68%) for penicillin specific IgE. Therefore, although a positive in vitro test result for penicillin specific IgE is highly predictive of penicillin allergy, a negative in vitro test result does not adequately exclude penicillin allergy. Immunoassays for penicillin specific IgE antibodies are less sensitive than skin tests and therefore skin testing is preferred. More detailed information about the methods, reliability, and predictive capability of skin test reagents for the diagnosis of immediate drug allergic reactions may be found in sections V and VII. It should be emphasized that neither immediate skin nor in vitro tests for IgE antibodies are diagnostic of cytotoxic, immune complex, or cell-mediated drug-induced allergic reactions.

Both direct and indirect Coombs tests are often present in drug-induced hemolytic anemia. This may reflect the presence of complement and/or a drug on the red cell membrane or an Rh determinant autoantibody (eg, as occurs with  $\alpha$ -methyldopa). Sensitive drug-specific assays for IgG and IgM antibodies have been developed. Although these may be useful as diagnostic adjuncts, elevated levels can occur in individuals who receive the drug and do not experience a clinical reaction.<sup>329</sup> Complement-dependent assays to detect drug-specific cytotoxic antibodies have also been reported. However, by and large, these tests are only available in specific research laboratories and therefore are not clinically applicable for most drugs.

The diagnosis of contact dermatitis can be verified by patch testing. The details of this technique are discussed in greater detail in the diagnostic testing practice parameter.<sup>330</sup> In recent years there have been reports concerning the diagnostic utility of patch tests with systemically administered drugs in non-IgE-mediated cutaneous drug reactions.<sup>331,332</sup> Drug patch testing may be useful for certain types of cutaneous reactions, including maculopapular exanthems, acute generalized exanthematous pustulosis, and fixed drug eruptions,<sup>12-14</sup> but generally is not helpful for SJS or urticarial eruptions.<sup>12,15</sup> A positive reaction may be useful by identifying a specific drug in a patient receiving multiple drugs, provided that it is properly compared with a group of negative controls. The lack of standardization of reagent concentrations may limit the clinical usefulness of this procedure; however, recommendations for a standardized approach to drug patch tests have been proposed.333

The lymphocyte transformation test has been studied as an in vitro correlate of drug-induced cellular reactions.<sup>334</sup> This is used primarily as a retrospective test and is not clinically available in most medical centers. There is considerable dis-

agreement among investigators about the value of this assay in evaluating drug allergies because neither its positive nor negative predictive value has been systematically investigated. The lymphocyte transformation test has recently become commercially available for selected drugs, but there are no published studies using these assays, either alone or in comparison with previous independent assays. One potential advantage of the lymphocyte transformation test for some patients is that it is possible to obtain in vitro evidence of lymphocyte transformation by the parent drug itself and liver microsomal products of the drug, thereby bypassing the need for precise knowledge of metabolic determinants.<sup>334,335</sup> Although the general clinical applicability of these tests has not been validated in any large-scale study, a number of investigators have shown that drugs may induce both CD4<sup>+</sup> and  $CD8^+$  T-cell responses and drug specific  $T_H1$  and/or  $T_H2$  responses.<sup>227,228,336-338</sup> The basophil activation test is a recently described method of evaluating expression of CD63 on basophils after stimulation with an allergen.<sup>7</sup> There are limited data using this method to evaluate patients with possible allergies to β-lactam antibiotics and NSAIDs.<sup>8-10</sup> Further confirmatory studies, especially with commercially available tests, are needed before its general acceptance as a diagnostic tool.

## **E.** Tissue Diagnosis

*Summary Statement 58:* In complex cases where multiple drugs are involved without a clear-cut temporal relationship, a skin biopsy may be useful in suggesting a drug-induced eruption. However, there are no absolute histologic criteria for the diagnosis of drug-induced eruptions, and a skin biopsy may not definitively exclude alternative causes. (C)

Occasionally biopsies of involved organs may define specific histopathological lesions. Skin biopsies may also be of value in the diagnosis and management of drug allergic reactions. However, they usually are not helpful for implicating a particular drug. In complex cases where multiple drugs are involved without a clear-cut temporal relationship, a skin biopsy may be useful in suggesting a drug-induced eruption. Skin biopsies are useful in differentiating vasculitis, bullous diseases, and contact dermatitis.<sup>265</sup> However, there are no absolute histologic criteria for the diagnosis of drug-induced eruptions, and a skin biopsy may not definitively exclude alternative causes.<sup>16</sup> Furthermore, features suggestive of drug exanthems, such as interface dermatitis with vacuolar alteration of keratinocytes, foci of spongiosis, and tissue eosinophilia, are not specific and may be seen with other cutaneous diseases.

A liver biopsy helps to differentiate between cholestatic and hepatocellular drug reactions but does not identify the specific cause. Membranous glomerulonephritis initiated by deposition of immune complexes in the kidney can be readily identified by immunofluorescent stains for IgG, IgM, and complement in renal biopsy specimens.<sup>292</sup> In interstitial nephritis, fluorescent antibody studies of renal biopsy specimens reveal that implicated drugs bind to tubular basement membranes and may induce an immune response to bound antigen or the modified basement membrane protein. Lung biopsies also may be helpful for identifying conditions such as interstitial fibrosis and eosinophilia.

## VI. MANAGEMENT AND PREVENTION OF DRUG HYPERSENSITIVITY REACTIONS

## A. General

Summary Statement 59: Ideally ADRs should be prevented. Steps to prevent allergic drug reactions include (1) a careful history to determine host risk factors, (2) avoidance of cross-reactive drugs, (3) use of predictive tests when available, (4) proper and prudent prescribing of drugs (especially antibiotics) that are frequently associated with adverse reactions, (5) use of oral drugs when possible, and (6) documentation of ADR in the patient's medical record. (D)

*Summary Statement 60:* For some allergic drug reactions, withdrawal of the drug may be all that is required for treatment. (C)

Summary Statement 61: Anaphylactic drug reactions require prompt emergency treatment as discussed extensively in "The Diagnosis and Management of Anaphylaxis: An Updated Practice Parameter." (B)

*Summary Statement 62:* Glucocorticosteroids may be required for immune complex reactions, drug-induced hematologic diseases, early stages of erythema multiforme major/ Stevens-Johnson syndrome, and contact sensitivities. (C)

Drugs should be prescribed only for valid indications and combinations of drugs should be used sparingly. This is especially important in individuals who have had multiple reactions to various drugs. Ideally, ADRs should be prevented. Steps to prevent allergic drug reactions include (1) a careful history to determine host risk factors, (2) avoidance of cross-reactive drugs, (3) use of predictive tests when available, (4) proper and prudent prescribing of drugs (especially antibiotics) that are frequently associated with adverse reactions, (5) use of oral drugs when possible, and (6) documentation of ADR in the patient's medical record.

Patients should be questioned directly concerning previous drug reactions, and medical records should be reviewed for previous notations of drug allergy. Cross-reactivity between chemically related drugs should be considered. Orally administered drugs are less likely to produce reactions than drugs given by the topical or parenteral route. MedicAlert tags and bracelets represent a useful way of alerting health care providers to a previous severe allergic reaction, although historical diagnoses of drug allergy may not be an indicator of current risk. Even so, the drug should not be given until the patient's current status is evaluated.

A few states now require that the names and concentrations of all medications appear on prescription labels. This is a useful advance that helps to ensure that the patient is being educated about prescribed medications. In addition, the routine establishment of individual patient drug profiles by some hospitals and commercial pharmacies facilitates identification of potential allergic reactions.

The management of drug allergy begins with the suspicion that any unexplained clinical manifestation may represent a

type B, unpredictable drug reaction. For some reactions, simple withdrawal of the drug may be all that is required for treatment. Acute anaphylactic reactions should be treated as described elsewhere.<sup>326</sup> Immune complex reactions usually resolve spontaneously once the antigen is cleared. However, therapy with antihistamines and possibly glucocorticosteroids and/or NSAIDs may be useful for control of urticaria, joint symptoms, or vasculitis. Glucocorticosteroids may also be required for the treatment of drug-induced hemolytic, thrombocytopenic, or granulocytic cytopenias, especially in situations where the responsible drug must be continued as a life-saving measure.

Allergic drug reactions or a history of such reactions are occasionally encountered in other clinical situations where continued use of the drug is imperative. Among the most important conditions for which continued drug use may be justified are diabetic ketoacidosis, bacterial endocarditis, inflammatory bowel disease, neurosyphilis, AIDS, and pulmonary tuberculosis. Primary and secondary prevention of coronary artery disease and stroke may also justify the use of medications to which patients have experienced hypersensitivity reactions. When no equally effective alternative drug is available for therapy, the risk of continued administration of the offending drug may be less than the risk of not using the drug.

## **B. Induction of Drug Tolerance**

*Summary Statement 63:* What has often been referred to as drug desensitization is more appropriately described in this parameter as a temporary induction of drug tolerance. (D)

Summary Statement 64: Induction of drug tolerance modifies a patient's response to a drug to temporarily allow treatment with it safely. It is only indicated in situations where an alternate non-cross-reacting medication cannot be used. (B)

*Summary Statement 65:* Through various mechanisms, induction of drug tolerance procedures induce a temporary state of tolerance to the drug that is maintained only as long as the patient continues to take the specific drug. (B)

What has often been referred to as drug desensitization is more appropriately described in this parameter as a temporary induction of drug tolerance. Drug tolerance is defined as a state in which a patient with a drug allergy will tolerate a drug without an adverse reaction. Drug tolerance does not indicate either a permanent state of tolerance or that the mechanism involved was immunologic tolerance. Induction of drug tolerance procedures modify a patient's response to a drug to temporarily allow treatment with it safely. They are indicated only in situations where an alternate non-cross-reacting medication cannot be used. Induction of drug tolerance can involve IgE immune mechanisms, non-IgE immune mechanisms, pharmacologic mechanisms, and undefined mechanisms (Table 1). All procedures to induce drug tolerance involve administration of incremental doses of the drug. Through various mechanisms, these procedures induce a temporary state of tolerance to the drug that is maintained only as long as the patient continues to take the specific drug.

When there is a definite medical indication for the agent in question, either induction of tolerance or graded challenge procedures may be considered, depending on the history of the previous reaction and the likelihood that the patient is currently allergic to that agent. The goal of induction of tolerance is to modify an individual's immune response to a given drug to allow treatment with it safely. If there is a low likelihood of drug allergy, a graded challenge or test dose to the specific drug in question may provide a useful confirmation that administration of the drug will not result in an immediate reaction. The purpose of a graded challenge is to cautiously administer a drug to a patient who is unlikely to be allergic to it when there is no intention to alter the immune response. This differs from procedures that induce drug tolerance because graded challenges do not alter the patient's underlying sensitivity to the agent. Patients who tolerate a graded challenge are considered to not be allergic to the drug and are not at increased risk for future reactions compared with the general population. The use of prophylactic medications to prevent systemic reactions in these procedures is optional. These protocols require the supervision of a health care professional with previous experience performing these procedures.

The choice of whether to introduce a clinically indicated drug via graded challenge or via induction of drug tolerance mainly depends on the likelihood that the patient is allergic at the time of the procedure. Patients who, based on their history and/or diagnostic test results, are unlikely to be allergic to a drug may undergo graded challenge. For example, if penicillin skin testing is unavailable and a patient with a history of a mild pruritic rash during penicillin treatment 30 years ago requires penicillin therapy, it would be reasonable to administer penicillin via graded challenge. Patients who have a relatively higher likelihood of being allergic to a drug should undergo an induction of drug tolerance procedure. For example, if penicillin skin testing is unavailable and a patient with a recent history of penicillin-induced anaphylaxis requires penicillin, it should be administered via induction of drug tolerance. When the likelihood of allergy is unknown, patients should undergo induction of drug tolerance.

Graded challenge (or induction of drug tolerance) should almost never be performed if the reaction history is consistent with a severe non–IgE-mediated reaction, such as SJS, TEN, interstitial nephritis, hepatitis, or hemolytic anemia. Furthermore, these procedures are not indicated for all drug reactions, such as ACE inhibitor angioedema.

# C. Immunologic IgE Induction of Drug Tolerance (Drug Desensitization)

*Summary Statement 66:* Immunologic IgE induction of drug tolerance (drug desensitization) is the progressive administration of an allergenic substance to render effector cells less reactive. These procedures typically are done within

hours, and the typical starting dose is in the microgram range. (B)

Immunologic IgE induction of drug tolerance (also known as drug desensitization) is the progressive administration of an allergenic substance to render effector cells less reactive. These procedures typically are done within hours, and the typical starting dose is in the microgram range. The procedure can be performed via oral, intravenous, or subcutaneous routes. There are no comparative studies to compare the safety of different routes of induction of drug tolerance, such as oral vs intravenous. The resulting state is temporary, and its maintenance requires continued administration of the offending drug. Induction of drug tolerance procedures vary with individual drugs, and they are intended for agents that induce IgE-mediated reactions and, in some cases, for anaphylactoid (non-IgE-mediated anaphylaxis) reactions (such as for paclitaxel and other chemotherapeutic agents). For example, in penicillin induction of drug tolerance, the initial dose is typically approximately 1/10,000 of the full therapeutic dose.<sup>339-341</sup> Further dosage increases are typically twice the previous dose and are administered at 15- to 30-minute intervals until therapeutic levels are achieved. The duration of the procedure varies, depending on the drug and route of administration, but, in most cases, can be accomplished within 4 to 12 hours. Induction of drug tolerance should be performed in an appropriate setting, supervised by physicians familiar with the procedure, with continual monitoring of the patient and readiness to treat reactions, including anaphylaxis, should it occur. Induction of drug tolerance protocols are available for a variety of drugs, including virtually all classes of antibiotics, insulin, chemotherapeutic agents, and biological agents, such as humanized monoclonal antibodies.<sup>56,342-352</sup> In most cases, desensitization results in reversal of skin test reactivity from positive to negative.340,353-355 Approximately a third of patients who undergo penicillin induction of drug tolerance experience allergic reactions, which are generally mild and occur predominantly after the procedure, during treatment with penicillin.<sup>339,340,353</sup> In the case of induction of drug tolerance with chemotherapeutics, 11% of patients experienced allergic reactions, none of which prevented completion of the procedure.<sup>356</sup> Example protocols for various Immunologic IgE induction of drug tolerance procedures are given in Tables 5, 6, 7, and 8.

## **D.** Immunologic Non-IgE Induction of Drug Tolerance for Nonanaphylactic Reactions

*Summary Statement 67:* For some delayed non–IgE-mediated cutaneous reactions, immunologic non-IgE induction of drug tolerance may be performed to allow treatment with the drug. However, it is generally contraindicated, with rare exceptions, for serious non–IgE-mediated reactions, such as Stevens-Johnson syndrome or toxic epidermal necrolysis. One example of when the benefit of treatment may outweigh the risk of reaction is imatinib for treatment of malignant tumors. (C)

Step <sup>a</sup>	Penicillin, mg/mL	Amount, mL	Dose given, mg	Cumulative dose, mg	
1	0.5	0.1	0.05	0.05	
2	0.5	0.2	0.1	0.15	
3	0.5	0.4	0.2	0.35	
4	0.5	0.8	0.4	0.75	
5	0.5	1.6	0.8	1.55	
6	0.5	3.2	1.6	3.15	
7	0.5	6.4	3.2	6.35	
8	5	1.2	6	12.35	
9	5	2.4	12	24.35	
10	5	5	25	49.35	
11	50	1	50	100	
12	50	2	100	200	
13	50	4	200	400	
14 50 8 400 800					
Observe patient for 30 minutes, then give full therapeutic dose					
by the desired route.					

Table 5. Penicillin Oral Immunologic IgE Induction of Drug Tolerance (eg, Desensitization) Protocol.<sup>679</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Interval between doses is 15 minutes.

Immunologic non-IgE induction of drug tolerance procedures are intended for patients who require a given drug to which they have previously experienced delayed non–IgEmediated, typically cutaneous reactions. These are typically performed over hours to days with an initial dose in the milligram range.<sup>74,357,358</sup> Examples of reactions in which these procedures may be used are trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole– induced typical delayed drug eruptions in human immunodeficiency virus–positive patients, as well as some delayed cutaneous reactions due to sulfasalazine. The mechanism of this drug tolerance induction procedure is unknown. For certain conditions (eg, SJS, TEN, exfoliative dermatitis), readministration is generally contraindicated, with rare exceptions, such as when benefit of treatment of a life-threat-

Table 6. Representative Paclitaxel Immunologic IgE Induction of Drug Tolerance (eg, Desensitization) Protocol.<sup>56</sup>

Step	Solution <sup>a</sup>	Rate, mL/h	Time, min	Dose given, mg	Cumulative dose, mg
1	А	2	15	0.006	0.006
2	А	5	15	0.015	0.021
3	А	10	15	0.03	0.051
4	А	20	15	0.06	0.111
5	В	5	15	0.15	0.261
6	В	10	15	0.3	0.561
7	В	20	15	0.6	1.161
8	В	40	15	1.2	2.361
9	С	10	15	3	5.361
10	С	20	15	6	11.361
11	С	40	15	12	23.361
12	С	75	221.3	276.639	300

<sup>a</sup> Solution A is 0.012 mg/mL (3 mg in 250 mL); solution B, 0.12 mg/mL (30 mg in 250 mL); and solution C, 1.2 mg/mL (300 mg in 250 mL).

Table 7. Example of Intravenous Cephalosporin IgE Induction of Drug Tolerance  $\mbox{Protocol}^a$ 

		Preparation of Solutions				
		Volume of diluent (eg, 0.9% sodium chloride)		Total to be injected in each bottle	Final concentration, mg/mL	
Solutio	on 1		250 ml		10 mg	0.04
Solutio	on 2		250 ml		100 mg	0.4
Solutio	on 3		250 ml		1000 mg	4
		Indu	ction of	Drug To	olerance Proto	col
Step	Solu	tion	Rate, mL/h	Time, min	Administered dose, mg	d Cumulative dose, mg
1	1		2	15	0.02	0.02
2	1		5	15	0.05	0.07
3	1		10	15	0.1	0.17
4	1		20	15	0.2	0.37
5	2	2	5	15	0.5	0.87
6	2	2	10	15	1	1.87
7	2	2	20	15	2	3.87
8	2	2	40	15	4	7.87
9	3	3	10	15	10	17.87
10	3	3	20	15	20	37.87
11	3	3	40	15	40	77.87
12	3	3	75	184.4	922.13	1000

<sup>a</sup> Full dose equals 1,000 mg. Total time was 349.4 minutes.

ening illness outweighs the risk of a potentially life-threatening reaction. Table 9 depicts a rapid (6-hour) procedure, whereas Table 10 depicts a slower 10-day outpatient procedure for immunologic non-IgE induction of drug tolerance to trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole.

Table 8.	Vancomycin	Induction	of Drug	Tolerance	Procedure <sup>344a</sup>
----------	------------	-----------	---------	-----------	---------------------------

Time, min	Concentration of vancomycin, mg/mL	Infusion rate, mL/min	Vancomycin infusion rate, mg/min	Cumulative dose, mg
0	0.0001 <sup>b</sup>	1.0	0.00010	0
10	0.001	0.33	0.00033	0.0010
20	0.001°	1.0	0.001	0.0043
30	0.01	0.33	0.0033	0.0143
40	0.01	1.0	0.01	0.047
50	0.1	0.33	0.033	0.147
60	0.1	1.0	0.1	0.48
70	1	0.33	0.33	1.48
80	1	1	1	4.78
90	10	0.22	2.2	14.8
100	10	0.44	4.4	37

<sup>a</sup> Rest of infusion maintained at 4.4 mg/min of vancomycin until final dosage reached. Antihistamine pretreatment and concurrent treatment used during protocol.

<sup>b</sup> Typical starting concentration in patients with severe vancomycin reactions.

 $^{\circ}$  Typical starting concentration in patients with moderate vancomycin reactions.

Table 9. Six-Hour Trimethoprim-Sulfamethoxazole Induction	۱ of
Drug tolerance Procedure <sup>82a</sup>	

Step	Drug dosage	Concentration of TMP-SMX	Volume of TMP-SMX solution, mL	Time, min
1	0.2/1 μg	8/40 μg/mL	0.025	0
2	0.6/3 μg	8/40 μg/mL	0.075	30
3	1.8/9 μg	8/40 μg/mL	0.225	60
4	6/30 μg	8/40 μg/mL	0.75	90
5	18/90 μg	8/40 μg/mL	2.25	120
6	60/300 μg	8/40 μg/mL	7.5	150
7	0.2/1 mg	80/400 µg/mL	2.5	180
8	0.6/3 mg	80/400 µg/mL	7.5	210
9	1.8/9 mg	0.8/4 mg/mL	2.25	240
10	6/30 mg	8/40 mg/mL	0.75	270
11	18/90 mg	8/40 mg/mL	2.25	300
12	60/300 mg	8/40 mg/mL	7.5	330

<sup>a</sup> Concentrations can be made by making 3 sequential 10-fold dilutions from the pediatric trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole (TMP-SMX) solution available as 40/200/5 mL (8/40 mg/mL).

# E. Pharmacologic Induction of Drug Tolerance (eg, Aspirin Desensitization)

*Summary Statement 68:* Pharmacologic induction of drug tolerance to aspirin (eg, aspirin desensitization) is primarily intended for patients with aspirin-exacerbated respiratory disease (AERD), and unlike other types of desensitization, its purpose is to cautiously induce (rather than prevent) a reaction, after which patients become tolerant of aspirin and NSAIDs. (B)

Aspirin desensitization is a form of pharmacologic induction of drug tolerance. Similar to other induction of drug tolerance procedures, pharmacologic induction of drug tolerance procedures induce a temporary state of tolerance to aspirin that is maintained only as long as the patient continues to take aspirin. After aspirin desensitization, loss of tolerance generally returns in 2 to 4 days after discontinuation of continuous aspirin therapy.<sup>359</sup>

Pharmacologic induction of drug tolerance is typically performed in hours to days and generally starts with milligram amounts. It is commonly used for patients with AERD (see section VII.R). The protocol differs from both IgE and non-IgE induction of drug tolerance. It involves a metabolic shift, reduction in urinary leukotriene E4, internalization of cysteinyl leukotriene receptor 1 receptors, and, in some reports, release of mast cell tryptase. Precautions for aspirin desensitization should emphasize frequent monitoring of lung function and management of severe bronchospasm along with those used for other forms of induction of drug tolerance.

The most commonly cited and tested protocol (Table 11) involves incremental oral administration of aspirin during 2 to 4 days, starting at 15 to 30 mg and going to 650 mg.<sup>247,360,361</sup> Table 12 depicts a more practical protocol; however, there are no data on the safety and efficacy of this protocol. Continued daily administration of 325 to 650 mg of

aspirin is required for patients to remain in a tolerant state.<sup>359</sup> Leukotriene-modifying agents have been found to diminish the lower respiratory asthmatic response during aspirin desensitization and therefore should be considered as pretreatment for patients with AERD not already taking one of these agents.<sup>362,363</sup> Once patients are desensitized, universal crossreactivity with all NSAIDs is achieved. One indication for aspirin desensitization is patients with AERD who require aspirin (eg, cardiovascular disease).<sup>364</sup> The other indication is poorly controlled AERD despite use of appropriate medications or patients who require long-term treatment with systemic corticosteroids to control their respiratory disease. Several long-term studies of patients maintained with longterm aspirin desensitization demonstrated improved clinical courses.<sup>247,360,361</sup> For upper respiratory tract disease, long-term aspirin desensitization was associated with significant improvements in nasal symptom scores, frequency of sinusitis, need for polypectomies or sinus operations, sense of smell, and dose of intranasal corticosteroids.<sup>247,360,361</sup> For lower respiratory tract disease, improved clinical outcomes included reductions in asthma symptom scores, hospitalizations, emergency department visits, and dose of inhaled corticosteroids.<sup>247,360,361,365</sup> Long-term aspirin desensitization also resulted in a reduction in the number of bursts of oral corticosteroids and allowed patients taking long-term corticosteroids to decrease their dose.<sup>247,360,361</sup>

In contrast to the aforementioned 2- to 4-day protocols for induction of drug tolerance to aspirin (aspirin desensitization) in patients with AERD, there are limited data on more rapid (2-5 hours) protocols in patients with histories predominantly of cutaneous reactions (urticaria or angioedema) to aspirin but also including a few patients with histories of respiratory reactions.<sup>364-367</sup> Although generally successful for most patients, patients with chronic urticaria or angioedema that is exacerbated by aspirin do not achieve tolerance via either rapid (2-5 hours) or standard (2-4 days) aspirin challenge or desensitization protocols and continue to experience flares of their cutaneous condition with exposure to aspirin or cross-

Table 10. Ten-Day Trimethoprim-Sulfamethoxazole Induction of Drug Tolerance Procedure  $^{680a}$ 

•			
Day	Dosage, mg	Concentration/tablet	Amount
1	0.4/2	0.4/2 mg/mL	1 mL
2	0.8/4	0.4/2 mg/mL	2 mL
3	1.6/8	0.4/2 mg/mL	4 mL
4	3.2/16	0.4/2 mg/mL	8 mL
5	8/40	8/40 mg/mL	1 mL
6	16/80	8/40 mg/mL	2 mL
7	32/160	8/40 mg/mL	4 mL
8	64/320	8/40 mg/mL	8 mL
9	80/400	80/400-mg tablet	1 tablet
10	160/800	160/800-mg tablet	1 tablet

<sup>a</sup> The 0.4/2-mg/mL concentration can be made by making a 1:20 dilution of the pediatric Trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole solution available as 40/200/5 mL (8/40 mg/mL).

TILL AA ALL'S	La di sa Pasa		<b>T</b> - I	<b>•</b> • • • • •	D
Table 11. Aspirin	Induction	of Drug	Iolerance	Scripps	Protocol

Assessment and premedication (1-7 days before procedure)	FEV <sub>1</sub> >60% predicted (>1.5 L) Start or continue treatment with montelukast, 10 mg daily Start or continue treatment with inhaled corticosteroid and long-acting β-agonist Systemic steroid burst if low FEV <sub>1</sub> or bronchial instability

Pi	rotocol
Time	Aspirin Dose
Day 1: 0	30 mg
Day 1: 3 hours	60 mg
Day 1: 6 hours	100 mg
Day 2: 0	150 mg
Day 2: 3 hours	325 mg
Day 2: 6 hours	650 mg

Start intravenous catheter with heparin lock (keep in for 2-3 days).

 $FEV_1$  and clinical assessment every hour and with symptoms.

- Reactions typically occur with a provoking dose of 20-101mg. Treat with medications described below. Chance of reaction to repeated threshold dose is small, but if occurs, repeat dose until reactions cease and then proceed.
- After patient completely stabilized, provoking dose can be repeated (assuming another 3 hours of observation time), otherwise start with provoking dose on day 2.
- If nasal, gastrointestinal, or cutaneous reactions occur on day 1, pretreat with histamine<sub>1</sub> and histamine<sub>2</sub> receptor antagonists for remainder of procedure.

#### Medications for treatment of aspirin-induced reactions

Ocular	Topical antihistamines
Nasal	Antihistamine, topical decongestant
Laryngeal	Racemic epinephrine nebulization
Bronchial	$\beta$ -Agonists
Gastrointestinal	Histamine <sub>2</sub> -receptor antagonists
Urticaria/angioedema	Antihistamine
Hypotension	Epinephrine

Abbreviation: FEV<sub>1</sub>, forced expiratory volume in 1 second.

reacting NSAIDs.<sup>366</sup> Although these protocols have been associated with success in allowing patients who otherwise would have been denied the benefits of aspirin to receive this drug safely, it is unclear whether these protocols truly induce drug tolerance (desensitization) or are simply a multistepped graded-dose challenge. Most of the patients described in these reports required aspirin for acute coronary syndromes or before coronary stents and had a history of prior adverse reaction to aspirin. No confirmatory challenge studies could be performed to determine whether the previous reactions were causally or coincidentally associated with aspirin. For this reason, it is uncertain whether these patients were truly aspirin sensitive. An example of a rapid aspirin challenge desensitization protocol is provided in Table 13.

Table 12. Aspirin Induction of Drug Tolerance, Aspirin Desensitization Joint Task Force Recommendations<sup>662a</sup>

Assessment and premedication (within 1 week before procedure)	FEV <sub>1</sub> >70% predicted Consider starting or continuing leukotriene modifier therapy Start or continue treatment with high-dose inhaled corticosteroid and long- acting β-agonist if poorly controlled asthma Systemic steroid burst if low FEV <sub>1</sub> or bronchial instability If receiving maintenance systemic steroids, consider doubling daily dose (if on alternate day steroids change to daily dose)
Due	ta a al

Protocol	
Time	Aspirin Dose
0	20.25 mg
90 min	40.5 mg
180 min	81 mg
270 min	162.5 mg
360 min	325 mg

Document informed consent and advise patient it may take several days to complete (most will take 2 days).

Establish intravenous access.

 $\mathsf{FEV}_1$  and clinical assessment every 90 minutes and with symptoms.

Dosing interval may be extended to 3 hours based on individual patient characteristics.

Reactions will likely occur with early doses, usually 81mg. Treat reactions as indicated below.

After patient completely stabilized (but not less than 3 hours after the last dose), the provoking dose can be repeated. A persistent >15% decrease in FEV<sub>1</sub>, with or without associated symptoms, lasting longer than 3 hours despite therapy, is an indication to discontinue the desensitization process for the day.

If nasal, gastrointestinal, or cutaneous reactions occur on day 1, pretreat with histamine<sub>1</sub> and histamine<sub>2</sub> receptor antagonists for remainder of procedure.

Medications for treatment of aspirin-induced reactions

Ocular	Oral antihistamines
Nasal	Oral antihistamine, topical decongestant
Laryngeal	Racemic epinephrine nebulization and/or
	intramuscular epinephrine
Bronchial	$\beta$ -Agonists
Urticaria/angioedema	Oral or intravenous antihistamines
Hypotension	Parenteral epinephrine

Abbreviation: FEV<sub>1</sub>, forced expiratory volume in 1 second.

<sup>a</sup> This recommended protocol is intended to be more practical, using doses based on commercially available 81 mg aspirin products and a shorter dosing interval. There are no data on safety and efficacy of this protocol.

· ····································			
Timeª	Aspirin dose, mg		
0	0.1		
15	0.3		
30	1		
45	3		
60	10		
75	20		
90	40		
105	81		
120	162		
135	325		

Table 13. Rapid Aspirin Challenge/Desensitization Protocol for Patients With Coronary Artery Disease Requiring Aspirin<sup>366</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Dosing interval shown is 15 minutes but may also dose every 20 minutes with premedication with oral antihistamine.

#### F. Undefined Induction of Drug Tolerance

*Summary Statement 69:* Some induction of drug tolerance procedures have been described that appear to be successful through currently undefined mechanisms. (C)

Some induction of drug tolerance procedures have been reported for other drugs, but the mechanism of the adverse reaction to the drug and the mechanism of drug tolerance remains undefined. An example is the procedures (Tables 14 and 15) used to induce drug tolerance in patients with histories of cutaneous reactions to allopurinol. Although largely successful, these protocols have been associated with the subsequent development of significant adverse reactions.

#### G. Graded Challenge

*Summary Statement 70:* The objective of a graded challenge is to cautiously introduce a drug in patients who are unlikely to be allergic to it. Unlike induction of drug tolerance, it does not modify patients' response to a drug. (D)

Graded challenge (also known as test dosing), unlike induction of drug tolerance, does not modify an individual's immune response to a given drug. The objective of a graded challenge is to introduce a medication cautiously so as not to

Table 14. Allopurinol (Standard Patient) Induction of Drug Tolerance Procedure<sup>358a</sup>

Daily dose	Concentration/tablet	Amount	Days
50 μg	1 mg/5 mL	0.25 mL	1-3
100 µg	1 mg/5 mL	0.5 mL	4-6
200 µg	1 mg/5 mL	1 mL	7-9
500 μg	1 mg/5 mL	2.5 mL	10-12
1 mg	1 mg/5 mL	5 mL	13-15
5 mg	10 mg/5 mL	2.5 mL	16-18
10 mg	10 mg/5 mL	5 mL	19-21
25 mg	10 mg/5 mL	12.5 mL	22-24
50 mg	100-mg tablet	1/2 tablet	25-27
100 mg	100-mg tablet	1 tablet	≥28

<sup>a</sup> Standard patient had a history of pruritic, erythematous exanthem after initiation of allopurinol with resolution of rash after drug therapy discontinuation.

Table 15. Allopurinol (High-Risk Patients) Induction of Drug	g
Tolerance Procedure <sup>a</sup>	

Daily dose	Concentration/tablet	Amount	Days
10 μg	1 mg/5 mL	0.05 mL	1-7
25 µg	1 mg/5 mL	0.12 mL	8-14
50 µg	1 mg/5 mL	0.25 mL	15-21
100 µg	1 mg/5 mL	0.5 mL	22-28
200 µg	1 mg/5 mL	1 mL	29-35
500 µg	1 mg/5 mL	2.5 mL	36-42
1 mg	1 mg/5 mL	5 mL	43-49
5 mg	10 mg/5 mL	2.5 mL	50-56
10 mg	10 mg/5 mL	5 mL	57-63
25 mg	10 mg/5 mL	12.5 mL	64-70
50 mg	100-mg tablet	1/2 tablet	71-77
100 mg	100-mg tablet	1 tablet	≥78

<sup>a</sup> High-risk patients were frail, elderly patients with multiple medical comorbid diseases, renal impairment, or more widespread eruptions, particularly if associated with fever.

induce a severe reaction.368 Although it is not possible to be absolutely certain that a patient is not allergic to a drug because valid diagnostic tests are not available for most drugs, the procedure is intended for patients who, after a full evaluation, are unlikely to be allergic to the given drug. The starting dose for a graded challenge is higher than for induction of drug tolerance, and the number of steps in the procedure may be 2 or several. It is possible that a "graded challenge" consisting of more than 4 or 5 steps may induce modifications of immune effector cells and therefore induce drug tolerance in the patient. For that reason, future administrations of the drug should be given cautiously. The intervals between doses are dependent on the type of previous reaction, and the entire procedure may take hours or days to complete. Because parenteral administration of a drug is more likely to produce severe anaphylaxis than oral administration, more caution should be exercised for graded challenge procedures that use a parenteral route of administration.

One example of when a graded challenge may be appropriate is in penicillin skin test-positive patients who require treatment with cephalosporins because their reaction rate to cephalosporins is low (see section VII.A.4). Readministration of a drug via graded challenge is generally contraindicated if it caused a severe non-IgE-mediated reaction, such as SJS, TEN, or exfoliative dermatitis. Rare exceptions to this may exist, such as treatment of a life-threatening illness, in which case the benefit of treatment outweighs the risk of a potentially life-threatening reaction.

#### **VII. SPECIFIC DRUGS**

Almost any drug is capable of inducing an allergic reaction and the likelihood that this will occur increases in direct proportion to the use pattern of a drug in the general population.

Drugs differ, however, with their propensities to induce either restricted or heterogeneous immune responses within the Gell-Coombs spectrum of human hypersensitivity. This section will discuss several of the most common clinical entities of drug hypersensitivity, some as representative examples of each of the 4 major Gell-Coombs categories of human hypersensitivity and others with heterogeneous and often unclassifiable immune characteristics.

## A. β-Lactam Antibiotics

## 1. Penicillin

Summary Statement 71: Approximately 10% of patients report a history of penicillin allergy, but after complete evaluation, up to 90% of these individuals are able to tolerate penicillins. (B)

*Summary Statement 72:* Treatment of patients assumed to be penicillin allergic with alternate broad-spectrum antibiotics may compromise optimal medical care by leading to multiple drug-resistant organisms, higher costs, and increased toxic effects. (C)

*Summary Statement 73:* Evaluation of patients with penicillin allergy by skin testing leads to reduction in the use of broad-spectrum antibiotics and may decrease costs. (B)

*Summary Statement 74:* The rate of penicillin-induced anaphylaxis after parenteral administration is about 1 to 2 per 10,000 treated patients. (C)

Summary Statement 75: Penicillin is immunologically inert and haptenates proteins after undergoing spontaneous conversion under physiologic conditions to reactive intermediates. These transformation products are known as penicillin major and minor antigenic determinants. (C)

*Summary Statement 76:* Penicillin skin testing is the most reliable method for evaluating IgE-mediated penicillin allergy. (B) Ideally, penicillin skin testing should be performed with both major and minor determinants. The negative predictive value of penicillin skin testing for immediate reactions approaches 100%, whereas the positive predictive value is between 40% and 100%. (B)

*Summary Statement 77:* Skin testing with the major determinant and penicillin G only (without penicilloate and penilloate) may miss up to 20% of allergic patients, but data on this are conflicting. (C)

Summary Statement 78: Penicillin G left in solution ("aged" penicillin) does not spontaneously degrade to form antigenic determinants and has no role in penicillin skin testing. (B)

Summary Statement 79: Penicillin skin testing without the major determinant is not recommended because this would fail to identify many patients with penicillin specific IgE antibodies. (B)

*Summary Statement 80:* When performed by skilled personnel using proper technique, serious reactions due to penicillin skin testing are extremely rare. (C)

*Summary Statement 81:* Penicillin skin testing may be performed electively—when patients are well and not in immediate need of antibiotic therapy. Alternatively, penicillin skin testing may be performed when treatment with a penicillin compound is contemplated. (D)

*Summary Statement 82:* Patients who have had negative skin test results to penicillin major and minor determinants may receive penicillin with minimal risk of an IgE-mediated reaction. Depending on the reaction history, the first dose may need to be given via graded challenge. (D)

*Summary Statement 83:* Penicillin skin test–positive patients should avoid penicillin, but if they develop an absolute need for penicillin, rapid induction of drug tolerance may be performed. (B)

*Summary Statement 84:* Resensitization after treatment with oral penicillin is rare, and therefore penicillin skin testing does not routinely need to be repeated in patients with a history of penicillin allergy who have tolerated 1 or more courses of oral penicillin. (B)

*Summary Statement 85:* Resensitization after treatment with parenteral penicillin appears to be higher than for oral treatment, and therefore repeat penicillin skin testing may be considered in patients with a history of penicillin allergy who have tolerated a course of parenteral penicillin. (C)

*Summary Statement 86:* The negative predictive value of penicillin skin testing without penicilloylpolylysine is poor because many allergic patients show skin test reactivity only to the major determinant. (B)

*Summary Statement 87:* When penicillin skin testing is unavailable, evaluation of penicillin allergy is based on the reaction history and likelihood of needing treatment with penicillins. (C)

*Summary Statement 88:* Patients with a vague and/or distant history of penicillin allergy may be candidates to receive penicillins via graded challenge. Patients with recent or convincing reaction histories should only receive penicillins via rapid induction of drug tolerance. (C)

*Summary Statement 89:* The usefulness of in vitro tests for penicillin specific IgE is limited by their uncertain predictive value. They are not suitable substitutes for penicillin skin testing. (C)

Approximately 10% of patients report a history of reacting to a penicillin class antibiotic. When evaluated for penicillin allergy, up to 90% of these individuals are able to tolerate penicillins and therefore are designated as being penicillin allergic unnecessarily.<sup>17,18,369</sup> There are several explanations to account for this discrepancy. Penicillin specific IgE antibodies are known to rapidly wane over time.<sup>370</sup> It is likely that some reactions, particularly cutaneous eruptions, were the result of an underlying viral or bacterial infection or an interaction between the infectious agent and the antibiotic.<sup>371,372</sup> Some patients may mislabel the antibiotic they were treated with as penicillin or may attribute predictable reactions (ie, diarrhea or vaginitis) as allergic.

Although most patients with a history of penicillin allergy could tolerate penicillin, clearly there is potential for serious and life-threatening immediate-type reactions to penicillin if it is readministered.<sup>302</sup> For this reason, physicians are faced with antibiotic choices that may be less effective, more toxic, or more expensive and may compromise optimal medical care.<sup>19,373-377</sup> In addition, in the era of multiple antimicrobial drug resistance, the use of broad-spectrum antibiotics in patients designated as being penicillin allergic augments this problem.<sup>19,374,378,379</sup> A number of medical centers have used penicillin skin testing (many using only penicilloylpolylysine and penicillin G as skin test reagents) in patients with a history of penicillin allergy to reduce the use of broad-spectrum antibiotics and improve use of antibiotic selections.<sup>377,380-384</sup>

There are few prospective data on the rate of penicillin sensitization. Among military recruits without a history of penicillin allergy, 51 of 614 patients (8.2%) converted from a negative to positive penicillin skin test result (using penicilloylpolylysine as the only reagent) after a single injection of benzathine penicillin G.385 Most penicillin class antibiotic reactions involve cutaneous eruptions, and in a large-scale review of adverse skin reactions of the Boston Collaborative Drug Surveillance Program, the frequency of skin reactions was 5.1% with amoxicillin, 4.5% with ampicillin, and 1.6% with penicillin.<sup>305</sup> Most of these reactions were macular, morbilliform, or urticarial, and it is unclear how many were IgE dependent. Life-threatening anaphylactic reactions to penicillin are of the most concern, and they appear to be rare. In 1968, in a review of published and unpublished reports, the rate of penicillin-induced anaphylaxis was 0.015% to 0.04% of treated patients.<sup>302</sup> In a study of children and young adults receiving monthly injections of benzathine penicillin G for an average of 3.4 years, the incidence of anaphylaxis was 1.23 per 10,000 injections, but none occurred in the 600 patients younger than 12 years.<sup>386</sup> Among healthy military recruits, 2 of 9,203 experienced anaphylaxis after prophylactic treatment with a single dose of benzathine penicillin (ie, 2.17 per 10,000).387

Penicillin is chemically inert in its native state and can only haptenate proteins after undergoing conversion to reactive intermediates. This process occurs spontaneously under physiologic conditions, whereas most other antibiotics must be metabolized enzymatically to produce intermediates capable of binding to host proteins. The penicillin molecule has a core bicyclic structure composed of a 4-member  $\beta$ -lactam ring and a 5-member thiazolidine ring. Under physiologic conditions, the  $\beta$ -lactam ring opens spontaneously, allowing the carbonyl group to form an amide linkage with amino groups of lysine residues on nearby proteins.388,389 This penicilloyl group comprises approximately 95% of the tissue-bound penicillin and therefore is called the major antigenic determinant. The remaining portion of penicillin either remains in the native state or degrades further to a variety of minor antigenic determinants capable of haptenating proteins. The most important of these are penicilloate and penilloate, and they, along with penicillin itself, cover all clinically relevant allergenic determinants not covered by penicilloyl and are not cross-reactive with one another.390

Immediate-type penicillin allergy cannot be accurately diagnosed by history alone. This observation is partially explained by the fact that patients with convincing reaction histories lose their sensitivity over time. In addition, patients with vague reaction histories may be allergic and demonstrate positive skin test results.<sup>375,391,392</sup> Overall, approximately one-third of patients with positive penicillin skin test results report vague reaction histories.<sup>393</sup> Penicillin skin testing is the most reliable method for evaluating IgE-mediated penicillin allergy. In vitro tests (radioallergosorbent test or enzyme-linked immunoassay) are less sensitive and specific compared with skin testing.<sup>394</sup> Penicillin skin testing detects the presence or absence of penicillin specific IgE antibodies, and it is not useful or indicated for clearly non–IgE-mediated reactions.

Ideally, both major and minor determinant reagents are used for skin testing. The major determinant has been commercially available as penicilloylpolylysine (PRE-PEN) in a premixed 6  $\times$  10<sup>-5</sup>M solution. Of the minor determinants, penicillin G is commercially available and should be used for skin testing at a concentration of 10,000 U/mL. The other minor determinants (penicilloate and penilloate) are used for skin testing at 0.01M but have never been commercially available in the United States. Penicillin G left in solution ("aged" penicillin) does not spontaneously degrade to form other minor determinants and therefore cannot be used as a substitute for the other minor determinants.<sup>395</sup> The negative predictive value of penicillin skin testing (using penicilloylpolylysine, penicillin G and penicilloate, and/or penilloate) for serious immediate-type reactions approaches 100%,<sup>17,18,396</sup> and the positive predictive value (based on limited challenges of skin test-positive patients) is between 40% and 100%.<sup>17,396,397</sup>

Because penicilloate and penilloate have never been commercially available in the United States, most allergists perform penicillin skin tests with only penicilloylpolylysine and penicillin G. However, some studies report that approximately 10% to 20% of penicillin-allergic patients show skin test reactivity only to penicilloate or penilloate.<sup>17,18,391,398</sup> The clinical significance of these findings is uncertain. Penicillin challenges of individuals skin test negative to penicilloylpolylysine and penicillin G<sup>397,399</sup> have similar reaction rates compared with individuals skin test negative to the full set of major and minor penicillin determinants.<sup>17,18,396</sup> Therefore, based on the available literature, skin testing with penicilloylpolylysine and penicillin G appears to have adequate negative predictive value in the evaluation of penicillin allergy.

Penicillin skin testing should only be performed by personnel skilled in the application and interpretation of this type of skin testing, with preparedness to treat potential anaphylaxis.<sup>400</sup> Appropriate positive (histamine) and negative (saline) controls should be placed. First, full-strength reagents are applied by the prick/puncture technique, and if these results are negative, intradermal testing should be performed. There is no uniform agreement on what constitutes a positive skin test response, but most experts agree that it is defined by the size of the wheal, which should be 3 mm or greater than that of the negative control for either prick/puncture or intradermal tests. Penicillin skin testing, using the reagents described above and proper technique, are safe with only a rare risk of a systemic reactions occurring.<sup>18,401</sup> Penicillin skin testing appears to sensitize a small percentage of patients. Of 239 patients with initially negative penicillin skin test results, 6 patients (2.5%) converted to a positive skin test 1 month later (without any treatment with penicillin).<sup>402</sup> The clinical significance of this skin test conversion is unknown because none of the patients were subsequently challenged with penicillin. In a previous study, among 614 patients without a history of penicillin allergy, 51 (8.2%) converted from a negative to positive skin test result (using penicilloylpolylysine as the only reagent) after a single injection of penicillin G.<sup>385</sup> Each of these 51 patients was then given a second injection of penicillin G and none experienced a reaction.

Penicillin skin testing is indicated in patients who have a reaction history consistent with a possible IgE-mediated mechanism. Penicillin skin testing may be performed electively (when patients are well and not in immediate need of antibiotic therapy) or only when treatment with a penicillin compound is contemplated. Arguments in favor of elective skin testing include the fact that penicillin skin testing in the acute setting when a patient is ill is more difficult to accomplish in a timely fashion. Consequently, such patients are treated with alternate antibiotics, 19,374,376,393 many of which, such as vancomycin and fluoroquinolones, have a broader spectrum of antimicrobial activity or may be more toxic or expensive. Overuse of broad-spectrum antibiotics is known to contribute to the development and spread of multiple antibiotic resistance.<sup>378,379,403</sup> Arguments in favor of testing at time of need include the potential of skin testing or the subsequent course of penicillin (in skin test-negative individuals) to induce resensitization and hence the need to repeat penicillin skin testing before each future course.

There is lack of agreement regarding the need, immediately after a negative penicillin skin test result, to perform an elective challenge with penicillin. Surveys of patient with negative penicillin skin test results (without subsequently being challenged with penicillin) found that a large proportion was not treated with  $\beta$ -lactam antibiotics because of fear on either the part of the patient or the treating physician.<sup>404</sup> In an enclosed health maintenance organization setting, review of medical records found that subsequent prescriptions for penicillins in penicillin skin test-negative patients were comparable in those individuals who were and were not challenged with oral penicillin after their skin test (47% vs 48% during the year after the skin test).<sup>380</sup> If penicillin skin testing is performed with only penicilloylpolylysine and penicillin G, initial administration of penicillin, depending on the pretest probability of the patient being allergic, may need to be done via graded challenge (ie, 1/100 of the dose, followed by the full dose, assuming no reaction occurs during a brief observation period).

Several studies have addressed the issue of resensitization (ie, redevelopment of penicillin allergy) in patients with a history of penicillin allergy who later demonstrate negative penicillin skin test results. Resensitization after oral treatment with penicillin is rare in both pediatric and adult patients, including after repeated courses.<sup>369,380,405,406</sup> Hence, routine repeat penicillin skin testing is not indicated in patients with a history of penicillin allergy who have tolerated 1 or more oral courses of oral penicillin. Consideration may be given to retesting individuals with recent or particularly severe previous reactions. Resensitization after high-dose parenteral treatment with penicillin appears to be more likely; therefore, repeat penicillin skin testing in this situation may be warranted.<sup>407,408</sup>

The approach to evaluation of penicillin allergy in the absence of penicilloylpolylysine is different compared with when the major determinant is available. Omission of penicilloylpolylysine from the penicillin skin testing panel results in a failure to identify many penicillin-allergic individuals. Depending on the population studied, as many as 75% of penicillin skin test–positive patients showed positive responses to only penicilloylpolylysine.<sup>18,398,409</sup> As a result, the negative predictive value of penicillin skin testing without penicilloylpolylysine is poor, and, in that situation, elective penicillin skin testing is not recommended. Also, in remote areas, clinicians may not have access to an allergist/immunologist to perform penicillin skin testing even if appropriate reagents are available.

Without penicillin skin testing, the approach to patients with a history of penicillin allergy is based on the reaction history and likelihood of needing treatment with penicillins. One such group of patients is those who report reactions to many different classes of antibiotics and thus are "running out" of antibiotic choices. Patients with convincing reaction histories are more likely to be allergic than patients with vague reaction histories.<sup>18,397,410,411</sup> However, as discussed earlier, vague reaction histories cannot be completely discounted because those patients may also be penicillin allergic.<sup>375,391,392</sup> The time elapsed since the reaction is useful because penicillin specific IgE antibodies wane over time, and therefore patients with recent reactions are more likely to be allergic than patients with distant reactions. Approximately 50% of patients with IgE-mediated penicillin allergy lose their sensitivity 5 years after reacting, and this percentage increases to approximately 80% in 10 years.<sup>370,412</sup> Recently, a study of 169 patients with a non-life-threatening history of penicillin allergy and who had avoided penicillin for more than 3 years were evaluated by penicillin skin tests with major and minor determinants and graded challenge, regardless of whether the penicillin skin test result was positive or negative.413 A low rate of positive penicillin challenges occurred in both groups, which was not statistically different (6.6% in the penicillin skin test-positive group and 3.7% in the penicillin skin testnegative group). This study suggests that penicillin specific IgE in some patients may indicate sensitization rather than true clinical allergy. Patients with distant (longer than 10 years) or questionable reaction histories (eg. vague childhood rash), due to their relatively low likelihood of being penicillin allergic, may be candidates to receive penicillin via graded challenge, as opposed to induction of drug tolerance procedure. In contrast, if there is a convincing history of an IgE-mediated reaction to penicillin (eg. anaphylaxis), particularly if the reaction was recent, penicillin should be administered via induction of drug tolerance procedure. Clinical judgment is required to carefully weigh the risks and benefits of either procedure and informed consent (verbal or written) of the patient in determining which type of procedure is in the patient's best interest.

In vitro tests for IgE directed against penicilloylpolylysine, penicillin G, penicillin V, amoxicillin, and ampicillin are commercially available, but they are not suitable alternatives to skin testing because these assays have unknown predictive value, which limits their usefulness. When performed in academic settings, the sensitivity of in vitro tests for penicillin specific IgE was as low as 45% compared with skin testing.<sup>414,415</sup> A positive penicillin in vitro test result in the context of an appropriate reaction history suggests presence of an IgE-mediated allergy; however, a negative in vitro test result does not rule out an IgE-mediated allergy.

## 2. Ampicillin and Amoxicillin

*Summary Statement 90:* Some patients with immediatetype reactions to amoxicillin and ampicillin have IgE antibodies directed at the R-group side chain (rather than the core penicillin determinants) and are able to tolerate other penicillin class compounds. (C)

Summary Statement 91: Amoxicillin and ampicillin are associated with the development of a delayed maculopapular rash in approximately 5% to 10% of patients. (C) These reactions are not related to IgE-mediated allergy, and they are postulated in many cases to require the presence of a concurrent viral infection or another underlying illness. (D)

Some patients with immediate-type reactions to amoxicillin or ampicillin are able to tolerate other penicillin class compounds.<sup>416-418</sup> These individuals appear to have reactions directed at the R-group side chain, which distinguishes the chemical structure of different penicillin class compounds. These patients may have skin test results that are positive to a nonirritating concentration of either amoxicillin or ampicillin but test negative to penicillin major and minor determinants.<sup>416-418</sup> Therefore, skin testing of patients who have reacted to semisynthetic penicillins with the implicated antibiotic and penicillin major and minor determinants may add additional useful information. The negative predictive value of skin testing with native semisynthetic penicillins is unknown, and there is no consensus regarding the appropriate concentration that should be used.

Administration of ampicillin and amoxicillin is associated with the development of a delayed maculopapular rash in 5% to 10% of patients.<sup>419</sup> These patients are not at risk of a life-threatening immediate reaction to penicillin. Most patients will tolerate future administration of penicillin other than ampicillin and amoxicillin. If ampicillin or amoxicillin is administered again, the patient may develop a similar eruption or no reaction at all. It is postulated that many amoxicillin/ampicillin-associated delayed maculopapular rashes require the presence of a concurrent viral illness. In the case of

patients with Epstein-Barr virus infections, almost 100% will develop a nonpruritic rash.<sup>371,372</sup> The incidence of nonpruritic, cutaneous reactions also may be increased in patients who have an elevated uric acid, are being treated with allopurinol, or have chronic lymphocytic leukemia.<sup>420,421</sup> Because patients' reaction histories are known to be a poor predictor of skin test results,<sup>375,392</sup> penicillin skin testing should be considered even in patients with a history suggestive of amoxicillin/ampicillin-associated maculopapular rashes before a future course of penicillin is given. If the penicillin skin test result is negative, the patient should be approached as outlined in the prior discussion about penicillin. If the penicillin skin test result is positive, the patient should be given an alternative antibiotic or undergo induction of drug tolerance to penicillin.

## **3.** Cephalosporins (Figure 2)

*Summary Statement 92:* The overall reaction rate to cephalosporins is approximately 10-fold lower than it is for penicillin. (C)

Summary Statement 93: Most hypersensitivity reactions to cephalosporins are probably directed at the R-group side chains rather than the core  $\beta$ -lactam portion of the molecule. (D)

Summary Statement 94: Skin testing with native cephalosporins is not standardized, but a positive skin test result using a nonirritating concentration suggests the presence of drug specific IgE antibodies. (D) A negative skin test result does not rule out an allergy because the negative predictive value is unknown. (D)

Summary Statement 95: Patients with a history of an immediate-type reaction to 1 cephalosporin should avoid cephalosporins with similar R-group side chains. (D) Treatment with cephalosporins with dissimilar side chains may be considered, but the first dose should be given via graded challenge or induction of drug tolerance, depending on the severity of the previous reaction. (D)

Summary Statement 96: Cephalosporins and penicillins share a common  $\beta$ -lactam ring structure and moderate cross-reactivity has been documented in vitro. (B)

Overall, the rate of allergic reactions to cephalosporins is approximately 10-fold lower than it is to penicillin.<sup>422</sup> Anecdotal evidence suggests that allergic reactions to cephalosporins are directed at the R-group side chains rather than the core  $\beta$ -lactam portion of the molecule.<sup>423-427</sup> However, there are no clinical challenge studies to prove that patients allergic to one cephalosporin are able to tolerate other cephalosporins with dissimilar side chains. If a patient with a history of allergy to one cephalosporin requires treatment with another cephalosporin, the following approach may be considered: (1) after ensuring that 2 cephalosporins do not share R-group side chains, perform a graded challenge with the new cephalosporin; (2) perform cephalosporin skin testing (with the agent to be used), although such skin testing is not standardized and the negative predictive value is unknown; or (3) perform cephalosporin induction of drug tolerance, particu-



Figure 2. Cephalosporin algorithms.

larly if there is a history of severe anaphylaxis Ten-fold dilutions of native cephalosporins have been reported to be nonirritating,428 but each cephalosporin may require concurrent evaluation for its irritation potential in nonallergic patients. Skin testing should be performed as described in the penicillin section with a prick/puncture test followed by an intracutaneous test (if the prick-test reaction is negative in 10 to 15 minutes). If the previous clinical reaction was documented as anaphylactic and life-threatening, testing should start at a further 10-fold dilution or lower. A positive cephalosporin skin test result (using a nonirritating concentration) implies the presence of drug specific IgE antibodies, and the patient should receive an alternate drug or undergo induction of drug tolerance. A negative cephalosporin skin test (using a nonirritating concentration) does not rule out the presence of drug specific IgE antibodies. IgE antibodies to cephalosporin degraded products not used in the testing may be present but not detectable. Therefore, because the negative predictive value of cephalosporin skin testing is unknown, a cautious graded challenge should be performed (eg, 1/100 of the therapeutic dose, increasing 10-fold every 30 to 60 minutes up to the full therapeutic dose). The number of steps in the graded challenge and the pace of the challenge are determined by the reaction history. Graded challenges require may be performed in an outpatient setting, without intravenous access, but with preparedness to treat severe allergic reactions, such as anaphylaxis. If the previous history is consistent with a severe IgE-mediated reaction, induction of drug tolerance with the cephalosporin may be undertaken instead.

## 4. Cephalosporin Administration to Patients With a History of Penicillin Allergy (Figure 2)

Summary Statement 97: Since 1980, studies show that approximately 2% of penicillin skin test-positive patients react to treatment with cephalosporins, but some of these reactions may be anaphylactic reactions. (C)

Summary Statement 98: Without preceding penicillin skin testing, cephalosporin treatment of patients with a history of penicillin allergy, selecting out those with severe reaction histories, show a reaction rate of 0.1% based on recent studies. (C)

*Summary Statement 99:* Penicillin skin testing, when available, should be considered before administration of cephalosporins in patients with a history of penicillin allergy. (E)

Summary Statement 100: Patients who have a history of a possible IgE-mediated reaction to penicillin, regardless of the severity of the reaction, may receive cephalosporins with minimal concern about an immediate reaction if skin test results for penicillin major and minor determinants are negative. (B)

Summary Statement 101: Treatment options for penicillin skin test–positive patients include (1) administration of an alternate (non– $\beta$ -lactam) antibiotic, (2) administration of cephalosporin via graded challenge, or (3) administration of cephalosporin via rapid induction of drug tolerance. (E)

*Summary Statement 102:* Skin testing to the cephalosporin followed by graded challenge appears to be a safe method for administration of some cephalosporins in penicillin allergic patients. (B)

*Summary Statement 103:* If penicillin and cephalosporin skin testing is unavailable, depending on the reaction history, cephalosporins may need to be given via graded challenge or rapid induction of drug tolerance. (E)

Cephalosporins and penicillins have a common  $\beta$ -lactam ring structure and moderate cross-reactivity has been documented in vitro.<sup>429-431</sup> Most of the in vitro cross-reactions between penicillins and cephalosporins have involved firstand second-generation cephalosporins.429-431 Although clinically significant cross-reactivity between penicillin and the cephalosporins is infrequent, anaphylactic reactions after administration of cephalosporin have occurred in patients with a history of penicillin allergy.<sup>23,432-436</sup> Before 1980, penicillin allergy history-positive and skin test-positive patients who were given cephalosporins had a reaction rate of approximately 10% to 20%. 430,437 Since 1980, reaction rates in penicillin history-positive and skin test-positive patients treated with cephalosporins have decreased to 2%.22,438-440 Before 1980, all penicillin allergic patients who reacted to a cephalosporin had been treated with cephalothin or cephaloridine. Benzyl penicillin and these cephalosporins share a similar side chain, a finding that could account for increased crossreactivity. Also, during this time, some early first-generation cephalosporins were contaminated with trace amounts of penicillin.441 Since 1980, contamination of this type has not been documented.

If patients with a history of allergy to penicillin are not skin tested but given cephalosporins directly, the chance of a reaction is probably less than 1%. This figure is based on the fact that only approximately 10% of penicillin history–positive patients have positive skin test results,<sup>17,18</sup> and of those, only 2% will react to a cephalosporin.<sup>22,438-440</sup> This finding may be interpreted to mean that skin testing is unnecessary because a 2% reaction rate may occur even without a prior history of allergy. However, some of these reactions were fatal anaphylaxis.<sup>23,435</sup> Patients with a history of penicillin allergy who have negative skin test results to penicillin using major and minor determinants may receive cephalosporins safely.<sup>24</sup>

Recent retrospective studies of administration of mostly parenteral cephalosporins to patients with a history of penicillin allergy, without prior penicillin skin testing, have shown only 2 possible cephalosporin allergic reactions among 906 patients, neither of which appeared to be IgE mediated.<sup>442,443</sup> However, there was probably a selection bias in deciding which patients were treated with cephalosporins instead of non– $\beta$ -lactam antibiotics. Physicians in these "real-world" studies were probably less likely to treat with cephalosporins if patients had more severe or recent reaction histories, and, in some cases, pharmacists intervened to prevent patients with severe reaction histories from receiving cephalosporins.<sup>443</sup>

Amoxicillin	Ampicillin	Ceftriaxone	Cefoxitin	Cefamandole	Ceftazidime
Cefadroxil	Cefaclor	Cefotaxime	Cephaloridine	Cefonicid	Aztreonam
Cefprozil	Cephalexin	Cefpodoxime	Cephalothin		
Cefatrizine	Cephradine	Cefditoren			
	Cephaloglycin	Ceftizoxime			
	Loracarbef	Cefmenoxime			

Table 16. Groups of β-Lactam Antibiotics That Share Identical R<sub>1</sub>-Group Side Chains<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Each column represents a group with identical R<sub>1</sub> side chains.

It is also possible that some patients with a history of penicillin allergy react to cephalosporins because of their underlying propensity to develop reactions to unrelated drugs rather than allergic cross-reactivity between the  $\beta$ -lactams. In patients with documented allergic-like reactions to penicillins, the relative risk for allergic-like reactions was elevated for both cephalosporins and sulfonamides.<sup>307</sup>

Nevertheless, because of these disparate observations, there is not a common consensus regarding the management of a patient with a history of an IgE-mediated reaction to penicillin and who subsequently requires administration of cephalosporin. The following are options that may be considered: (1) substitute a non– $\beta$ -lactam antibiotic; (2) perform penicillin skin testing; (3) perform cephalosporin skin test and if the result is negative perform a graded challenge; or (4) treat with the cephalosporin. The fourth option should be considered only in the absence of a severe and/or recent penicillin allergy reaction history. If the penicillin skin test result is negative, the patient can receive the cephalosporin. If the skin test result is positive, there may be a slightly increased risk of a reaction if the cephalosporin is given and cephalosporin should be administered via graded challenge or rapid induction of drug tolerance. Skin testing to cephalosporins may also be considered for patients with a history of penicillin allergy. One study evaluated 128 patients with convincing histories of penicillin allergy and confirmed by positive penicillin skin test results.<sup>22</sup> Of these 128 subjects, 114 had negative intracutaneous skin test results to cephalosporing at 2 mg/mL, 90 underwent challenges to cefuroxime and ceftriaxone, and all the results were negative. Therefore, particularly in patients with convincing histories for penicillin allergy who require cephalosporins, skin testing to the cephalosporin followed by graded challenge appears to be a safe method for administration of cephalosporins.

Allergic cross-reactivity between amoxicillin and cephalosporins that share identical R-group side chains is higher than for penicillin skin test–positive patients. Twelve percent to 38% of patients proven to be selectively allergic to amoxicillin (ie, able to tolerate penicillin) reacted to cefadroxil.<sup>444,445</sup> Therefore, amoxicillin allergic patients should avoid cephalosporins with identical R-group side chains (cefadroxil, cefprozil, cefatrizine) or receive them via rapid induction of drug tolerance (Table 16). Similarly, ampicillin allergic patients should avoid cephalexin, cefaclor, cephradine, cephaloglycin, and loracarbef or receive them via rapid induction of drug tolerance (Table 17).

## 5. Penicillin Administration to Patients With a History of Cephalosporin Allergy (Figure 2)

<u>Summary Statement 104</u>: Patients allergic to amoxicillin should avoid cephalosporins with identical R-group side chains (cefadroxil, cefprozil, cefatrizine) or receive them via rapid induction of drug tolerance. (C) Similarly, patients allergic to ampicillin should avoid cephalosporins/carbacephems with identical R-group side chains (cephalexin, cefaclor, cephradine, cephaloglycin, loracarbef) or receive them via rapid induction of drug tolerance. (C)

<u>Summary Statement 105:</u> Patients with a history of an immediate-type reaction to a cephalosporin should undergo penicillin skin testing, if available, before treatment with penicillin. (E) If test results are negative, they may safely receive penicillins. (B) If test results are positive, an alternate drug should be used or they should undergo rapid penicillin induction of drug tolerance. (B) If penicillin skin testing is unavailable, penicillin may be administered via cautious graded challenge. (C)

Patients with a history of an immediate-type allergic reaction to a cephalosporin who require penicillin should undergo penicillin skin testing. If results are negative, they can receive penicillin; if results are positive, they should receive an alternate drug or undergo penicillin induction of drug tolerance. If penicillin skin testing is unavailable, because the likelihood of reaction is low, cautious graded challenge with penicillin may be considered in patients with a history of immediate-type allergy to cephalosporins. If a patient has a history of a non–IgE-mediated reaction to cephalosporin (other than serious reactions such as SJS or TEN) and re-

Table 17, Groups of	B-Lactam Antibiot	ics That Share	Identical R <sub>2</sub> -Group	Side Chains <sup>a</sup>
		los mai onaio	achillour ng aroup	Olde Ollano

Cephalexin	Cefotaxime	Cefuroxime	Cefotetan	Cefaclor	Ceftibuten
Cefadroxil	Cephalothin	Cefoxitin	Cefamandole	Loracarbef	Ceftizoxime
Cephradine	Cephaloglycin		Cefmetazole		
	Cephapirin		Cefpiramide		

<sup>a</sup> Each column represents a group with identical R<sub>2</sub> side chains.

quires penicillin, a graded challenge with penicillin may be performed and skin testing is not indicated.

#### 6. Monobactams (Aztreonam)

Summary Statement 106: Aztreonam is less immunogenic than penicillin and cephalosporins, and clinical allergic reactions to aztreonam are less common than other  $\beta$ -lactam antibiotics. (C)

Summary Statement 107: Aztreonam does not cross-react with other  $\beta$ -lactams except for ceftazidime, with which it shares an identical R-group side chain. (B)

Aztreonam is less immunogenic than both penicillin and cephalosporins,<sup>446</sup> and clinical experience confirms that allergic reactions to aztreonam appear to be uncommon. Evaluation of IgE-mediated allergy to aztreonam is analogous to cephalosporins in that relevant allergenic degradation products are unknown, and thus there are no standardized skin test reagents available. Skin testing with a nonirritating concentration of native aztreonam has the same limitation and questionable predictive value as with cephalosporins.

In vitro tests, skin tests, and patient challenge studies have consistently shown no cross-reactivity between penicillin and aztreonam.<sup>447-452</sup> Likewise, no cross-reactivity has been demonstrated between cephalosporins and aztreonam, except for ceftazidime, which shares an identical R-group side chain with aztreonam.<sup>315,446,449</sup> Therefore, penicillin and cephalosporin allergic patients may safely receive aztreonam, with the exception of patients who are allergic to ceftazidime. Conversely, aztreonam allergic patients may be treated with all  $\beta$ -lactams except for ceftazidime.

#### 7. Carbapenems

Summary Statement 108: Limited data indicate lack of significant allergic cross-reactivity between penicillin and carbapenems. (B) Penicillin skin test–negative patients may safely receive carbapenems. (C) Penicillin skin test–positive patients and patients with a history of penicillin allergy who do not undergo skin testing should receive carbapenems via graded challenge. (C)

There are no formal studies into the immunogenicity or frequency of allergic reactions to carbapenems. Evaluation of IgE-mediated allergy to carbapenems is analogous to that of cephalosporins and monobactams. No standardized skin test reagents are available, and skin testing with nonirritating concentrations of the native antibiotic has questionable predictive value.

The extent of clinical cross-reactivity between carbapenems and other  $\beta$ -lactams appears to be very low. Retrospective studies of hospitalized patients with a history of penicillin allergy (who were not skin tested) showed that approximately 10% developed possibly allergic reactions during treatment with carbapenems, and none of these reactions was life-threatening.<sup>453-455</sup> Among penicillin skin testpositive patients, 111 of 112 were skin test negative to imipenem and all 111 tolerated challenge with imipenem.<sup>26</sup> Similar tolerability was seen with meropenem in this same group of individuals.<sup>25</sup> A previous study found that 20 of 40 penicillin skin test–positive patients were skin test positive to imipenemoyl-polylysine or imipenemoate, and none of them were challenged with imipenem.<sup>456</sup> Therefore, penicillin skin test–negative patients may safely receive carbapenems. Penicillin skin test–positive patients and patients with a history of penicillin allergy who do not undergo skin testing should receive carbapenems via graded challenge.

## **B.** Non–β-Lactam Antibiotics

Summary Statement 109: Any non- $\beta$ -lactam antibiotic has the potential of causing an IgE-mediated reaction, but these appear to occur less commonly than with  $\beta$ -lactam antibiotics. (C)

Summary Statement 110: There are no validated diagnostic tests for evaluation of IgE-mediated allergy to non– $\beta$ -lactam antibiotics. (C) Evaluation of possible allergy to these antibiotics should be limited to situations when treatment with the drug is anticipated (rather than electively as for penicillin). (D)

Summary Statement 111: Skin testing with nonirritating concentrations of non- $\beta$ -lactam antibiotics is not standardized. A negative skin test result does not rule out the possibility of an immediate-type allergy. A positive skin test result suggests the presence of drug specific IgE antibodies, but the predictive value is unknown. (D)

Summary Statement 112: Patients with a history of reactions to non- $\beta$ -lactam antibiotics consistent with an IgE-mediated mechanism should only receive them if an alternate agent cannot be substituted and only via rapid induction of drug tolerance. (D)

*Summary Statement 113:* Sulfonamide antibiotics rarely cause IgE-mediated reactions and more commonly result in delayed maculopapular rashes, particularly in human immunodeficiency virus-positive patients. (C)

*Summary Statement 114:* There is no evidence to suggest allergic cross-reactivity between sulfonamide antibiotics and nonantibiotic sulfonamides. (C)

Summary Statement 115: Vancomycin rarely causes IgEmediated reactions, but more than 50% of patients experience immediate cutaneous erythema, flushing, and pruritus (red man syndrome), which is the result of non–IgE-mediated histamine release. (C)

*Summary Statement 116:* Red man syndrome reactions can be prevented by slowing the rate of infusion and premedicating with histamine<sub>1</sub> receptor antihistamines. (C)

Summary Statement 117: Aminoglycosides rarely cause drug allergic reactions, including IgE-mediated systemic reactions. (C)

Summary Statement 118: IgE-mediated and non–IgE-mediated anaphylactic reactions have been reported with quinolones. In vitro studies suggest a large extent of allergic cross-reactivity among quinolones, but there are no clinical studies to confirm this. (C)

Summary Statement 119: Anaphylactic or anaphylactoid reactions during the operative and perioperative periods may

Table 18. Nonirritating	Concentrations	of 15	Antibiotics428
-------------------------	----------------	-------	----------------

Antimicrobial drug	Full-strength concentration	Dilution from full strength	Nonirritating concentration
Azithromycin	100 mg/mL	10 <sup>-4</sup>	10 μg/mL
Cefotaxime	100 mg/mL	10 <sup>-1</sup>	10 mg/mL
Cefuroxime	100 mg/mL	<b>10</b> <sup>-1</sup>	10 mg/mL
Cefazolin	330 mg/mL	10 <sup>-1</sup>	33 mg/mL
Ceftazidime	100 mg/mL	10 <sup>-1</sup>	10 mg/mL
Ceftriaxone	100 mg/mL	<b>10</b> <sup>-1</sup>	10 mg/mL
Clindamycin	150 mg/mL	10 <sup>-1</sup>	15 mg/mL
Cotrimoxazole	80 mg/mL	10 <sup>-2</sup>	800 μg/mL
Erythromycin	50 mg/mL	10 <sup>-3</sup>	50 μg/mL
Gentamicin	40 mg/mL	10 <sup>-1</sup>	4 mg/mL
Levofloxacin	25 mg/mL	10 <sup>-3</sup>	25 μg/mL
Nafcillin	250 mg/mL	10-4	25 μg/mL
Ticarcillin	200 mg/mL	10 <sup>-1</sup>	20 mg/mL
Tobramycin	80 mg/2 mL	<b>10</b> <sup>-1</sup>	4 mg/mL
Vancomycin	50 mg/mL	10-4	5 μg/mL

be caused by induction agents, muscle relaxing agents, opiates, antibiotics, and latex allergy. (C)

Allergic reactions to non– $\beta$ -lactam antibiotics can cause morbidity and, rarely, mortality. The overall incidence of hypersensitivity reactions to these agents is estimated to be 1% to 3%. Some agents, such as trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole, are more prone to induce such reactions, particularly in HIV-infected individuals (see section VII.F).<sup>457</sup> Because there are no validated diagnostic tests for allergies to non– $\beta$ -lactam antibiotics, evaluation of a possible allergy should not be performed electively but rather be limited to situations when treatment with the drug is required and anticipated.

For most non– $\beta$ -lactam antibiotics, there are case reports of positive skin test results with the native drug; however, large-scale validation of such skin testing has not been accomplished. It is well recognized that most antibiotics have multiple end products, and therefore it is possible that the relevant allergens may be metabolites and not the parent drug. Although no validated in vivo or in vitro diagnostic tests are available for non- $\beta$ -lactam antibiotics, skin testing with nonirritating concentrations of the drug (ie, negative skin test reactivity in a panel of normal, nonexposed volunteers) may provide useful information. Table 18 lists nonirritating concentrations for intradermal skin testing for 15 commonly used antibiotics. If the skin test result is positive under these circumstances, it is likely that drug specific IgE antibodies are present. Therefore, the patient should receive an alternative non-cross-reacting antibiotic or undergo rapid induction of drug tolerance. On the other hand, a negative skin test result does not denote that drug specific IgE antibodies are absent because it is possible that a drug metabolite not present in the test reagent may be the relevant allergen. However, if this particular antibiotic is required for treatment, the amount of drug injected intracutaneously can be used as the initial starting dose for rapid induction of drug tolerance. In skin test-negative patients who have mild reaction histories, a graded challenge procedure may be considered. Readministration of drugs that caused severe non–IgE-mediated reactions (such as SJS, TEN, and others), by either induction of drug tolerance or graded challenge, is generally contraindicated, with rare exceptions, such as treatment of a lifethreatening infection in which case the benefit of treatment outweighs the risk of a potentially life-threatening reaction.

Up to 4% of patients treated with sulfonamide antibiotics experience allergic reactions.<sup>458</sup> The most typical reaction consists of a delayed maculopapular eruption, and type I reactions appear to be much less common. HIV-positive patients are at greatly increased risk of experiencing cutaneous reactions to trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole, and this topic is discussed in more detail in section VII.F. There are data suggesting that patients with a history of allergy to sulfonamide antibiotics are at slightly increased risk of reacting to nonantibiotic sulfonamides, although this does not appear to be due to immunologic cross-reactivity but rather a nonspecific predisposition to react to drugs.<sup>27,459,460</sup> Although all sulfonamides contain an NH<sub>2</sub>-SO<sub>2</sub> moiety, sulfonamide antibiotics also contain an aromatic amine at the N<sub>4</sub> position and a substituted ring at the N<sub>1</sub> position, and these groups are believed to be essential for various types of allergic reactions to sulfonamide antibiotics.461-463

Vancomycin has been reported to cause drug fever, immune cytopenias, rash, or a distinctive cutaneous lesion, the red man syndrome, characterized by pruritus, erythema, and flushing of the face, neck, and upper chest with occasional hypotension. More than 50% of treated patients experience some of these manifestations, although most of them are mild. The symptoms are due to non-IgE-mediated histamine release that is probably related to the peak concentration,<sup>464</sup> so that slowing the rate of infusion will generally prevent further symptoms. Premedication with an histamine<sub>1</sub> receptor antihistamine also helps to alleviate symptoms.465 IgE-mediated anaphylaxis to vancomycin has also been observed and may be identified by skin tests, but skin tests at concentrations of 100  $\mu$ g or greater may elicit false-positive wheal-and-flare reactions in normal skin.<sup>354</sup> Anaphylaxis should be managed in the same manner described for other non- $\beta$ -lactam antibiotics. For patients for whom an alternate antibiotic cannot be used, successful rapid induction of drug tolerance for IgE-mediated hypersensitivity to vancomycin has been described.345,348,466,467

Although aminoglycosides rarely cause hypersensitivity reactions, there are individual case reports of IgE-mediated systemic reactions.<sup>468-470</sup> Rapid induction of drug tolerance may be indicated when the allergy is thought to involve IgE antibodies and no alternative antibiotic is available.<sup>468</sup> Both graded challenge and induction of drug tolerance procedures should be performed by specialists experienced with these protocols and the possible adverse events associated with them. The degree of allergic cross-reactivity among aminoglycosides is unknown but is assumed to be high.

Quinolones are a class of antibiotics related to nalidixic acid. Anaphylactoid reactions to this class of drug after the

initial dose have been reported to occur at a rate of 1:1,000 and 1:100,000.<sup>471-473</sup> Reports of IgE-mediated anaphylactic reactions to quinolones appear to be increasing, possibly because of increased use of these agents.<sup>28-31</sup> In vitro studies suggest a large extent of allergic cross-reactivity among quinolones,<sup>2,28,29</sup> but there are no clinical studies to confirm this. Delayed cutaneous eruptions appear in approximately 2% of quinolone-treated patients.<sup>32,33</sup> There is evidence to show that drug-specific T cells are responsible for delayed maculopapular exanthems from quinolones.<sup>472</sup>

Although bacitracin is a common cause of type IV contact dermatitis reactions,<sup>474</sup> there are rare published reports of IgE-mediated anaphylactic reactions to bacitracin.<sup>475-477</sup>

#### C. Antimycobacterial Drugs

Summary Statement 120: Allergic drug reactions to antimycobacterial drugs present significant problems in the implementation of long-term treatment regimens and preventing drug resistance to *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. (C)

Shortly after the introduction of the first-line drugs (streptomycin and para-amino salicylic acid) as effective therapy for tuberculosis, it became apparent that these drugs can induce both minor and life-threatening allergic reactions.478-480 The frequency of allergic reactions to streptomycin is still considerable when used alone or in combination with other agents.<sup>481,482</sup> Many allergic reactions were also encountered after use of second-generation drugs, including isoniazid, ethambutol, pyrazinamide, and rifampicin.<sup>34</sup> These include anaphylaxis, angioedema, pulmonary infiltrates, and cutaneous reactions.<sup>35-39</sup> Many cases of rifampicin-induced, non-IgE immune reactions present with a flulike syndrome with subsequent thrombocytopenia, hemolytic anemia, and renal failure.<sup>483</sup> A significant confounder is the fact that a relatively high occurrence (up to 1%) of toxic rather than allergic hepatitis may occur in the therapeutic course of isoniazid or rifampicin.<sup>34</sup> Occasionally, patients may develop hypersensitivity to multiple antimycobacterial drugs (eg, streptomycin, rifampicin, and ethambutol) either concurrent or sequential.<sup>34,481</sup>

In addition to the previously discussed multisystem syndrome, dapsone, the drug of choice in the treatment of leprosy and neutrophilic dermatoses, may rarely induce other immune-mediated reactions, such as rash DRESS, renal hypersensitivity vasculitis, angioedema, and/or interstitial pneumonitis.<sup>484-487</sup>

#### **D.** Diabetes Medications

Summary Statement 121: The advent of human recombinant insulin has greatly reduced the incidence of life-threatening allergic reactions to approximately 1%. (C)

Summary Statement 122: Metformin and sulfonylurea antidiabetic drugs rarely cause immune-mediated reactions, such as leukocytoclastic vasculitis, generalized arteritis, granulomatous hepatitis, and autoimmune pemphigus vulgaris. (C)

Since the introduction of purified human recombinant insulin, allergy to insulin is rare and is now encountered in less than 1% of patients.<sup>40-43</sup> However, life-threatening allergic reactions to human insulin and insulin analogs (Aspart, Lispro, and Glargine) have been documented and can be confirmed by appropriate intracutaneous and/or in vitro test-ing.<sup>44,45</sup> The latter tests have also revealed immunologic cross-reactivity to porcine and bovine insulin.<sup>488</sup> Tolerance to insulin may be achieved by continuous subcutaneous infusion of insulin lispro.<sup>489,490</sup> Adverse reactions to inhaled insulin have not been reported, but there is a marginally greater decline in pulmonary function tests in subjects with asthma or chronic obstructive pulmonary disease.<sup>491</sup> As has been the case for many years, protamine (ie, neutral Hagedorn insulin) may either masquerade as insulin allergy or act as a concurrent sensitizing drug.<sup>40,492</sup>

Leukocytoclastic vasculitis, generalized arteritis, granulomatous hepatitis, and autoimmune pemphigus vulgaris are rare immune-mediated reactions that have been described to occur during treatment with metformin and/or sulfonylurea antidiabetic agents.<sup>47-53</sup>

## **E.** Cancer Chemotherapeutic Agents

Summary Statement 123: Cancer chemotherapeutic agents, such as taxanes (paclitaxel, docetaxel), platinum compounds (cisplatin, carboplatin, oxaliplatin), and asparaginase, may cause severe immediate-type reactions, which may be either anaphylactic or anaphylactoid in nature. (C)

Summary Statement 124: For some chemotherapeutics (primarily the platinum-based compounds), skin testing may assist in identifying allergic patients who are at increased risk for an allergic reaction and for confirming IgE-mediated sensitivity. (C)

*Summary Statement 125:* Rapid induction of drug tolerance protocols are available for most chemotherapeutic agents that cause immediate-type reactions, but they are not uniformly successful. (C)

*Summary Statement 126:* Methotrexate can cause interstitial reactions in the lungs, which can progress to fibrosis if use of the drug is continued. (C)

Hypersensitivity reactions have been reported for virtually all commonly used chemotherapeutic agents. Reactions range from mild cutaneous eruptions to fatal anaphylaxis. In some cases, it is difficult to determine whether a reaction is anaphylactic (ie, mediated by drug specific IgE antibodies) or anaphylactoid (due to nonimmune degranulation of mast cells and basophils). Some reactions may be the result of excipients rather than the active drug, such as Cremophor-EL, a lipid solvent vehicle used in paclitaxel and other intravenous chemotherapeutics. Cremophor-EL is a nonionic emulsifier consisting of a mixture of amphophilic molecules that form micelles, spherical "core-shell" structures. These Cremophor-EL particles in blood activate complement, leading to production of anaphylatoxins.<sup>493</sup>

In addition to life-threatening reactions, cancer chemotherapeutic agents (eg, cyclophosphamide, methotrexate) may induce a variety of cutaneous IgE and non-IgE allergic manifestations. These include urticaria, erythroderma, mixed cutaneous dermatitides, leukocytoclastic vasculitis, and toxic epidermal necrolysis. The possibility of such reactions is particularly important when toxic drugs are used to treat immunologically mediated conditions such as vasculitis.

In the taxane family, paclitaxel and docetaxel produce anaphylactoid reactions in as many as 42% of patients on first administration,<sup>54</sup> suggesting an anaphylactoid mechanism. Pretreatment with systemic corticosteroids and antihistamines prevents the reaction in more than 90% of patients.<sup>55</sup> Patients who react despite pretreatment can usually be successfully desensitized.<sup>56,57</sup> Another option for patients who react to paclitaxel is to switch to docetaxel because most are able to tolerate it.<sup>59</sup>

Platinum compounds (cisplatin, carboplatin, and oxaliplatin) typically cause hypersensitivity reactions after completion of several treatment courses,<sup>60,61</sup> suggesting an immunologic mechanism. Pretreatment with corticosteroids and antihistamines does not prevent these reactions.<sup>62</sup> Skin testing with the undiluted drug has been found to identify patients at risk of reactions, and skin testing should be repeated before each subsequent course with the drug.<sup>61,63,64</sup> For patients with positive skin test results, various rapid induction of drug tolerance protocols have been reported, but they are not uniformly successful.<sup>61,63,64</sup> Immediate-type reactions to asparaginase occur in as many as 43% of patients, and the reaction rate increases after the fourth weekly dose.<sup>494</sup> It is unknown whether the mechanism is anaphylactic or anaphylactoid, and it may be different in different patients. Although use of skin testing with asparaginase before treatment has been recommended, it has not been shown to identify all patients at risk of reactions. Rapid induction of drug tolerance with asparaginase has been described.<sup>350</sup> In patients who react to Escherichia coli asparaginase, substitution of either Erwinia asparaginase or pegylated asparaginase may allow them to complete the treatment course.495,496

Methotrexate is a cause of noncytotoxic pulmonary reactions.<sup>65,66</sup> Methotrexate pneumonitis occurs most frequently within the first year of treatment, and the reported incidence of this reaction varies from 0.86% to 6.9%.<sup>67,68</sup> Symptoms of fever, cough, and dyspnea may occur anywhere from several days to several months after initiation of therapy. The chest radiograph is characterized by a diffuse, fine interstitial infiltrate. When use of the drug is discontinued, symptoms and pulmonary infiltrates typically clear within a few days. If the drug is inadvertently continued, interstitial fibrosis may ensue. Bleomycin and procarbazine are most commonly associated with cytotoxic pulmonary reactions but also have been reported to cause reactions similar to those ascribed to methotrexate.<sup>66,240</sup> Hypersensitivity pneumonitis in association with the use of an alkylating agent has also been documented.<sup>497</sup>

## F. HIV Medications

Summary Statement 127: Patients infected with HIV have an increased frequency of adverse reactions to a variety of drugs, and the pathogenesis of these reactions is likely multifactorial. (C) *Summary Statement 128:* The most common adverse drug reaction in HIV-positive patients who take trimethoprimsulfamethoxazole is a morbilliform and/or maculopapular eruption, often associated with fever that occurs after 7 to 12 days of therapy. (C)

Summary Statement 129: HIV-positive patients who have experienced typical delayed exanthematous reactions to trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole and who require treatment with the drug (such as for *Pneumocystis jiroveci* pneumonia) may undergo one of several published trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole induction of drug tolerance protocols. (D) Usually, this should be done after waiting for at least 1 month after the reaction to increase the likelihood of success. (D)

*Summary Statement 130:* Reintroduction of trimethoprimsulfamethoxazole in HIV-positive patients with a history of more severe reactions to trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole, such as Stevens-Johnson syndrome or toxic epidermal necrolysis, is generally contraindicated, with rare exceptions, such as treatment of a life-threatening infection in which case the benefit of treatment outweighs the risk of a potentially life-threatening reaction. (D)

*Summary Statement 131:* Antiretroviral drugs used for highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) of HIV-infected patients may cause allergic reactions of various kinds. (C)

*Summary Statement 132:* Abacavir is the most common HAART drug to cause severe allergic reactions, and this risk is associated with the presence of HLA B 5701. (C)

Drug reactions are common in patients infected with HIV, and in some cases the incidence of reactions may be related to the degree of immunodeficiency.<sup>69-73</sup> These reactions cause significant morbidity and mortality in this population. The pathogenesis of adverse drug reactions in HIV-positive patients is unknown, but it is likely that the responsible mechanism is multifactorial.<sup>70</sup> Although these reactions are commonly referred to as being "allergic," it is likely that both toxic and immunologic mechanisms are involved. There are data to support several risk factors for the development of adverse drug reactions in HIV-positive patients. These include coexistent cytomegalovirus or Epstein-Barr virus infections, altered drug metabolism, slow acetylator phenotype, relative deficiency of glutathione or other scavengers, increased expression of major histocompatibility complex class I and II on keratinocytes, and high-dose trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole treatment.298,498-504

Adverse reactions to sulfonamides may complicate both treatment and prophylaxis of *Pneumocystis jiroveci* pneumonia in many patients with AIDS. However, unlike reactions to amoxicillin<sup>505</sup> and antimycobacterial agents,<sup>506</sup> adverse reactions to sulfonamides may decrease with HIV disease progression.<sup>72</sup> Adverse cutaneous sulfonamide reactions may be tolerated without ceasing therapy in some cases. The use of sulfonamides should be discontinued immediately, however, if any of the following develop: (1) persistent rash and/or fever for more than 5 days, (2) absolute neutrophil count less than 500/ $\mu$ L, (3) hypotension, (4) dyspnea, or (5) any signs of

blistering, desquamation of the skin, or mucous membrane involvement.

There appears to be a relationship between the development of adverse sulfonamide reactions and the dose administered because some patients can continue treatment after interruption of therapy or lowering of the dosage.<sup>499</sup> The degree of clinical cross-sensitivity among different sulfonamides is not known. The degree of clinical cross-sensitivity between trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole and dapsone is thought to be low, and it appears that most patients who react to trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole tolerate dapsone.<sup>507</sup> Dapsone, however, probably should not be used in those patients in whom trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole caused severe reactions, such as SJS, or visceral involvement, such as hepatitis or pneumonitis.

The most common reaction to sulfonamides is a morbilliform, maculopapular eruption often associated with fever that occurs after 7 to 12 days of therapy. Immediate (anaphylaxis, urticaria/angioedema) and delayed (erythema multiforme minor, erythema multiforme major/SJS, TEN) hepatic, hematologic, renal, and immune complex reactions may occur. The spectrum of clinical manifestations of sulfonamide reactions in patients with AIDS suggests that most of these reactions are not IgE mediated. In addition, the observation that induction of drug tolerance protocols beginning with relatively high starting doses are often successful lends further support to the impression that an alternative pathogenic mechanism is operative. Sulfonamide specific IgG and IgM antibodies have been found in patients with AIDS, both those with and without skin reactions to sulfonamides.<sup>508,509</sup> It is unlikely that these antibodies play a pathogenic role in sulfonamide hypersensitivity reactions. For HIV-positive individuals who develop typical delayed maculopapular rashes after trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole administration, many different induction of drug tolerance protocols have been developed and used successfully.74-85 Reintroduction of trimethoprimsulfamethoxazole by 1 of these protocols optimally should not take place any earlier than 1 month after the initial adverse reaction, and none of these protocols should be used in individuals with a history of bullous dermatitis or SJS. However, it may be started earlier if treatment of a serious infection requiring these drugs is necessary. Although reintroduction of trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole in HIV-positive patients with a history of more severe reactions to trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole, such as SJS is generally contraindicated, successful trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole desensitization has been described in 2 patients with a history of SJS.<sup>510</sup> This should be considered only if alternate therapy has failed and the patient has a life-threatening infection, in which case benefit of treatment with trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole outweighs the risk of a potentially life-threatening reaction.

It is not clear how or to what extent the immune response to trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole is modified during these types of induction of drug tolerance procedures. In a randomized trial of trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole induction of drug tolerance vs rechallenge (single dose), the success rates were 79% and 72%, respectively, and the difference was not statistically significant.<sup>83</sup> Sulfadiazine, acyclovir, zidovudine, dapsone, and pentamidine induction of drug tolerance protocols have also been developed for patients with AIDS.<sup>86-91</sup>

In addition to trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole, patients with AIDS may have an increased frequency of various drug allergic reactions and syndromes to a number of other agents, including antituberculous agents, pentamidine, amoxicillinclavulanic acid, clindamycin, carbamazepine, phenytoin, thalidomide, foscarnet, and ciprofloxacin.<sup>505,506,511-514</sup> The fact that these reactions are clinically diverse suggests that they are likely produced by a variety of mechanisms.

Twenty antiretroviral drugs are approved by the US Food and Drug Administration for HAART of HIV-infected patients.<sup>92,93</sup> Many of these drugs have been associated with hypersensitivity responses ranging from mild cutaneous rashes to life-threatening SJS and TEN.94 The most common HAART offenders are abacavir, all nonnucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors, and amprenavir.93 Abacavir, a nucleoside analogue reverse transcriptase inhibitor, causes severe hypersensitivity in 4% to 5% of patients.95,96 Such reactions have been identified with a genetic risk factor, the presence of HLA B 5701.97,98 Among the nonnucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors, nevirapine has been cited most often as a cause of rash or combination of symptoms of fever, rash, and hepatitis.<sup>515</sup> This drug has been associated with an interaction between HLA-DRB1\*0101 and CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells higher than 250 cells/ $\mu$ L.<sup>516</sup> Women are at increased risk for nevirapine and other HAART-induced drug reactions.515

Coadministration of tuberculosis drugs and antiretroviral therapy in AIDS patients infected with *Mycoplasma hominis* and atypical organisms (*Mycobacterium avium*, *Mycobacterium intracellulare*) is often required. This combination is associated with 3 major complications: (1) induction of cytochrome P450 enzymes by rifampicin induces reduction of antiretroviral drug levels, (2) overlapping toxic effects and hypersensitivities occur often, and (3) an immunologic reaction termed "the immune reconstitution inflammatory syndrome" may develop.<sup>517</sup> It is postulated that increased risk of anaphylaxis is due to a skewing of  $T_H^2$  cytokine cytokines.<sup>518</sup> Severe cutaneous hypersensitivity reactions, anaphylaxis, fulminant hepatitis, and SJS have been reported.<sup>37,519,520</sup>

#### G. Disease-Modifying Antirheumatic Drugs (DMARDs)

Summary Statement 133: Apart from adverse reactions to aspirin, other NSAIDs, and certain pyrazolone derivatives (discussed in VII-R), a variety of allergic reactions to other DMARDs may occur. (C)

Parenteral gold salts were responsible for isolated instances of anaphylaxis, hypersensitivity pneumonitis, and severe mucocutaneous reactions.<sup>521-524</sup> D-penicillamine has been noted to induce bullous dermatoses and autoimmune diseases.<sup>525</sup> The potentially serious immunotoxic effects of methotrexate have been previously discussed. Combination therapy with azathioprine may lead to leukocytoclastic vasculitis in approximately 10% of such treatments.<sup>526</sup> Hydroxychloroquine is rarely associated with phototoxic and photoallergic dermatitis.<sup>527</sup> Sulfasalazine-induced reactions include DRESS and extrinsic allergic alveolitis.<sup>237,528</sup> Allergic reactions also occur after use of the newest DMARD, leflunomide. These include erythema multiforme, lupus erythematosus, and TEN.<sup>529-531</sup> Infusion reactions, frank allergic reactions, and new autoantibodies have been observed after treatment by anakinra, an interleukin 1 receptor antagonist.<sup>532,533</sup>

## H. Immunomodulatory Agents for Autoimmune Diseases

Summary Statement 134: Although hypersensitivity reactions to several unique therapeutic agents for autoimmune diseases have already occurred, it is too early to assess the global impact of adverse events for diverse immunologic interventions in early development. (C)

Glatiramer acetate (Copaxone) was developed as a copolymer with a mixture of amino acids resembling those of myelin basic protein to diminish the rate of relapse in multiple sclerosis.<sup>534</sup> Hypersensitivity reactions in the form of injection site and erythema nodosum have occurred<sup>535,536</sup>; instances of systemic reactions and anaphylaxis have been reported.<sup>537,538</sup> On the basis of a similar rationale, altered peptide ligands were evaluated in several phase 2 trials.<sup>539</sup> Although the efficacy results were promising, anaphylactic reactions to the self-peptide were encountered. Skin reactions are common after the use of interferon beta-1b.<sup>540</sup>

The immunologic complexity of systemic lupus erythematosus provides multiple therapeutic targets and corresponding therapies: B cells (rituximab), T- and B-cell collaboration (CTLA4Ig), B-cell factors (anti-BLyS, anti-BAFF), complement (anti-C5a antibodies), and suppressor proteins (suppressor of cytokine signaling-1).<sup>541</sup> Thus far, only rituximab has received significant clinical experience, and reactions to this agent will be discussed in section VII. T.<sup>186</sup> However, as some of the other biologic modifiers become part of the clinical armamentarium within the next few years, the possibility of allergic reactions to other new agents may be anticipated.

Immunomodulation strategies are being actively pursued for prevention or attenuation of type 1 diabetes. Thus far, most of these interventions are not autoantigen/HLA specific. Among the most promising of these immunotolerance interventions are (1)  $\beta$ -chain of insulin in incomplete Freund adjuvant, (2) an altered insulin peptide, (3) an alum-formulated glucose acid decarboxylase epitope, (4) rituximab, (5) CTLA-4 immunoglobulin, (6) anti-CD40L monoclonal antibody, and (7) anti-CD3 (anti–T-cell) monoclonal antibody, and (7) anti-CD3 (anti–T-cell) monoclonal antibody. As previously discussed, human monoclonal antibodies freund adjuvant or alum) will counteract IgE-mediated reactions. As previously discussed, human monoclonal antibodies differ with respect to allergic effects, so it is not yet known how widespread use of anti-CD3 will fare in this respect, but a recent clinical trial showed promise.<sup>545,546</sup>

## I. Modifying Drugs for Dermatologic Diseases

*Summary Statement 135:* Allergic reactions to immunosuppressant and anti-inflammatory drugs are commonly encountered in the treatment of chronic cutaneous diseases. (C)

The modern dermatologic armamentarium consists of a spectrum of T-cell immunosuppressant drugs, such as macrolides (cyclosporine, tacrolimus, pimecrolimus, sirolimus), dapsone, mycophenolate mofetil, and previously discussed monoclonal antibodies. The macrolide immunosuppressants, which are extensively used to prevent transplantation rejection and to treat inflammatory bowel disease, are also used to treat psoriasis, a T<sub>H</sub>1-cytokine-mediated disease. In general, immune-mediated reactions to these agents are rare. Infusion reactions to cyclosporine have been attributed to an IgEmediated reaction to the Cremophor-EL solvent. Although ingestion of cyclosporine is often tolerated after such severe events, anaphylactic shock has also rarely occurred after oral cyclosporine.547-550 Angioedema and leukocytoclastic vasculitis have been reported after use of tacrolimus and sirolimus, respectively.<sup>551-554</sup> Both cyclosporine and tacrolimus may be associated with elevated total IgE levels.555,556 In the case of tacrolimus, food and inhalant specific IgE levels were also elevated, and several children developed clinical food allergies, suggesting that these agents may induce a shift to a  $T_{\rm H}2$ pattern.552,554,556 Apart from its toxic effects of methemoglobulinemia, hemolytic anemia, and previously discussed hypersensitivity effects, dapsone may induce a potentially fatal multisystem disorder known as the dapsone hypersensitivity syndrome.557,558 Urticaria and a severe papulosquamous skin eruption have been reported after use of CellCept (mycophenolate mofetil).<sup>559,560</sup> Of particular interest to allergists is the fact that all of these drugs have been and are being used for the treatment of refractory atopic dermatitis or chronic idiopathic urticaria.561-564

## J. Perioperative Agents

*Summary Statement 136:* Anaphylactic or anaphylactoid reactions during the operative and perioperative periods may be caused by induction agents, muscle-relaxing agents, opiates, antibiotics, and latex allergy. (C)

Anaphylactic or anaphylactoid reactions are not infrequent during general anesthesia.<sup>565</sup> The incidence of these reactions during general anesthesia is estimated to be between 1 in 2,100 to 1 in 20,000 anesthesias.<sup>565,566</sup> The higher incidence (1 per 2,100 operations) was reported in a 12-year French pediatric survey.566 The reactions may be due to induction agents, neuromuscular blocking agents, antibiotics, opiates, and latex. Because anaphylactic reactions cannot be distinguished from anaphylactoid, nonimmune occurrences, it has been recommended that plasma histamine, tryptase, and specific IgEs (if available) may be ordered at the time of reaction and skin tests be performed later.99 The incidence of lifethreatening reactions to muscle relaxants has been estimated at 1 in 4,500 anesthesia events.<sup>567</sup> Some muscle relaxants, such as curare, are potent histamine-releasing agents.568,569 Others, such as atracurium, pancuronium, and vecuronium,

are less potent in this regard. Drug specific IgE antibodies have been demonstrated to some of these agents so that it is apparent that reactions to muscle relaxants may involve more than 1 mechanism.<sup>570</sup> Life-threatening reactions to propofol, which is formulated with soybean oil, egg phosphatide, and sometimes metabisulfite, have been reported.<sup>571-573</sup> Hyaluronidase in ophthalmic anesthesia may cause angioedema.<sup>574</sup> The diagnosis and management of reactions occurring during and after surgery are discussed in more detail in the Anaphylaxis Practice Parameter<sup>326</sup> and Diagnostic Testing Practice Parameter.<sup>330</sup>

#### K. Blood and Blood Products

Summary Statement 137: Reactions due to blood and blood products include urticaria, anaphylaxis (particularly in patients with complete IgA deficiency), anaphylactoid reactions, and transfusion-related acute lung injury (TRALI). (C)

Acute urticarial reactions occur in 1% to 3% of blood transfusions, whereas significant bronchoconstriction/laryngeal edema and anaphylactic shock occur in 0.1% to 0.2% and 0.002% to 0.005%, respectively.<sup>575</sup> Diagnostic in vivo or in vitro tests are not available for such reactions. Rarely, a patient totally lacking serum IgA may develop specific IgE or IgG antibodies against IgA and subsequently react to IgA in the blood transfusion or in trace amounts contained in some preparations of intravenous gamma globulin.576,577 Activation of complement and other non-IgE-mediated reactions may also occur after blood transfusions, presumably as a result of alloantigenic reactivity.575 Reactions to human serum albumin are extremely rare (0.01%), but occasionally allergic patients exhibit positive prick test results to albumin-containing diluent solutions.578 Such reactivity has been demonstrated in house dust mite-sensitive patients tested with mite culture medium containing human serum albumin components. TRALI is a complex syndrome that has multiorgan manifestations and has only recently been identified to be an important cause of transfusion-associated morbidity and mortality.<sup>104,105</sup> The pathogenesis of TRALI is as yet unknown, but it is postulated to involve (1) an antibody-mediated event caused by transfusion of donor antibodies (anti-HLA or antigranulocytic) into patients whose leukocytes express the cognate antigen and/or (2) pulmonary endothelial activation leading to endothelial damage and capillary leak syndrome after the transfusion.579

#### L. Opiates

*Summary Statement 138:* Opiates and their analogs are a common cause of pseudoallergic reactions that are generally mild, are not life-threatening, and can be attenuated by preadministration of histamine<sub>1</sub> receptor antihistamines. (C)

Opiates such as morphine, meperidine, codeine, and narcotic analogs can stimulate mast cell-mediated release directly without a specific immunologic mechanism. Patients who exhibit this tendency may experience generalized pruritus and urticaria after administration of a narcotic analgesic. Occasional mild wheezing may be noted. Skin test results to opiates are difficult to interpret because these agents cause release of histamine from skin mast cells in all patients. Dilute skin test concentrations have been recommended if an IgE-mediated reaction is suspected.<sup>580</sup> A single case of a documented IgE-mediated reactions can be attenuated by pread-ministration of antihistamines. Narcotic-induced pseudoaller-gic reactions are rarely life-threatening. If there is a history of such a reaction to an opiate and analgesia is required, a nonnarcotic alternative pain medication should be selected. If this does not control pain, graded challenge with an alternative opiate up to a dose that will control pain should be tried.

#### **M.** Corticosteroids

Summary Statement 139: Immediate-type reactions to corticosteroids are rare and may be either anaphylactic or anaphylactoid in nature. (C)

Summary Statement 140: Most reported reactions to corticosteroids involved intravenous methylprednisolone and hydrocortisone, and preservatives and diluents have also been implicated. (C)

Allergic contact dermatitis (Gell-Coombs type IV reaction) due to topical application of corticosteroids is the most common type of allergic reaction induced by this class of drugs. Rarely, immediate-type allergic reactions to corticosteroids have been described. Most such reported reactions are due to intravenous administration of methylprednisolone and hydrocortisone.53,106-111 Patients with AERD or renal transplants may be at increased risk of reacting to corticosteroids, but this could be due to increased use of corticosteroids in these patients. In most cases, drug specific IgE has not been detected (either via skin testing or in vitro tests). Hence, it is unclear whether these reactions are anaphylactoid or represent true IgE-mediated allergy. Some of the reactions are believed to be secondary to the diluent or preservative, rather than the active drug.<sup>107,296</sup> Although corticosteroid-induced reactions are rare, the possibility should be entertained in patients who experience immediate symptoms (urticaria, angioedema, bronchospasm) in the context of receiving the drug, with no other ascertained cause. Evaluation should include skin testing with the corticosteroid in question, although its predictive value is uncertain. Skin testing with the diluent itself may also be helpful. Because most (but not all) patients appear to be able to tolerate other corticosteroids, management should focus on finding an alternate agent for future use. If a patient with suspected allergy to a corticosteroid requires treatment with it, rapid induction of drug tolerance should be performed.

#### **N. Protamine**

Summary Statement 141: Severe immediate reactions may occur in patients receiving protamine for reversal of hepa-rinization. (C)

Summary Statement 142: Diabetic patients receiving protamine-containing insulin are at greatest risk of severe reactions due to intravenous protamine. (C)

Protamine sulfate is a low-molecular-weight (4500 Da) polycationic protein isolated from salmon testes. Its original use was to complex insulin (neutral protamine Hagedorn [NPH] insulin) to delay absorption, but it is also used to reverse the anticoagulant effects of heparin after a variety of procedures, including cardiopulmonary bypass and hemodialysis. Immediate generalized reactions to protamine, including hypotension, shock, and death, have been reported.<sup>100,101</sup> The occurrence of dose-dependent hypotension after rapid intravenous administration may be a manifestation of nonspecific histamine release.<sup>582</sup> However, the fact that diabetic patients receiving protamine-containing insulins appear to be at 40 to 50 times greater risk for developing anaphylaxis and other adverse reactions to intravenous protamine suggests that immune mechanisms are also involved.<sup>102,103</sup> IgE and IgG antibodies directed against protamine have been detected in some patients who reacted to protamine.<sup>100</sup> IgE-mediated reactions to the protamine moiety of NPH insulin also have been reported.<sup>583</sup> There are no widely available alternate agents for heparin reversal. Pretreatment with corticosteroids and antihistamines has been recommended, but no studies have shown this to be efficacious.

## O. Heparin

*Summary Statement 143:* Hypersensitivity reactions to unfractionated heparin and low-molecular-weight heparin are uncommon and include thrombocytopenia, various cutaneous eruptions, hypereosinophilia, and anaphylaxis. (C)

Hypersensitivity reactions to unfractionated heparin and low-molecular-weight heparin are uncommon and include thrombocytopenia, various cutaneous eruptions, hypereosinophilia, and anaphylaxis. Mild thrombocytopenia is due to platelet aggregation and occurs in 1% to 3% of patients treated with unfractionated heparin. Severe thrombocytopenia is caused by immune complexes, a component of which is heparin-dependent IgG specific for platelet factor 4.112 This reaction usually occurs after approximately 5 days of treatment with unfractionated heparin and is associated with development of thrombosis and necrosis. Low-molecularweight heparin does not cause anti-platelet 4 IgG-related reactions, but it may cause thrombocytopenia. Although immediate hypersensitivity reactions to unfractionated heparin and low-molecular-weight heparin are rare, anaphylactic and anaphylactoid reactions have been documented.<sup>584,585</sup> The extent of allergic cross-reactivity between high- and low-molecular-weight heparins is unknown.586,587 Management of patients with allergic reactions to heparin may require switching to a direct thrombin inhibitor such as a hepanoid (danaparoid) or a hirudin (lepirudin or argatroban). However, patients may develop antihirudin antibodies, and a small percentage of such patients may experience anaphylaxis.<sup>588</sup> A recent outbreak of anaphylactic reactions to heparin in the United States and Germany was attributed to a contaminant in heparin lots, an oversulfated form of chondroitin sulfate. This oversulfated chondroitin sulfate contaminant has been shown in vitro and in vivo to cause activation of the kinin-kallikrein pathway with generation of bradykinin, a potent vasoactive mediator, and generation of C3a and C5a anaphylatoxins.<sup>113</sup> Clinically, reactions to contaminated heparin products were associated with hypotension and abdominal pain, and variably angioedema, but typically lacked urticaria and pruritus.<sup>114</sup> The findings of abdominal pain and angioedema are somewhat analogous to C1 inhibitor deficiency in which symptoms are due to local production of bradykinin.

## **P. Local Anesthetics**

*Summary Statement 144:* Most adverse reactions to local anesthetics are not due to IgE-mediated mechanisms but are due to nonallergic factors that include vasovagal responses, anxiety, toxic reactions including dysrhythmias, and toxic or idiosyncratic reactions due to inadvertent intravenous epinephrine effects. (C)

Summary Statement 145: To exclude the rare possibility of an IgE-mediated reaction to local anesthetics, skin testing and graded challenge can be performed in patients who present with a reaction history suggestive of possible IgE-mediated allergy to these drugs. (B)

Possible systemic allergy to local anesthetics is often of concern to patients and their dentists or physicians. Documentation of IgE-mediated reactions is extremely rare.115-118 Most adverse reactions to local anesthetics are due to nonallergic factors that include vasovagal responses, toxic or idiosyncratic reactions due to inadvertent intravenous epinephrine, or anxiety.<sup>589-592</sup> Of these, anxiety is probably the most difficult to manage. Therefore, the history of a previous reaction must be carefully evaluated. It is necessary to determine the type of local anesthetics to be used. Local anesthetics are either group 1 benzoic acid esters (eg, procaine, benzocaine) or group 2 amides (eg, lidocaine, mepivacaine). On the basis of patch testing, the benzoic acid esters crossreact with each other, but they do not cross-react with the group 2 amide drugs. It is not known what, if any, relevance this has on immediate-type reactions to local anesthetics. Graded challenge tests may then be performed using incremental concentrations of the local anesthetic that the dentist intends to use. This test reagent should not contain epinephrine or other additives, such as parabens or sulfites. When there is concern about a previously reported reaction, skin testing and incremental challenge with a local anesthetic is a reasonable approach in the evaluation of a possible reaction. Although there are slight differences in reported graded challenge procedures, a typical protocol is as follows. Skin prick tests are first performed with the undiluted anesthetic. If the result is negative, successive injections (subcutaneous or intracutaneous) of 0.1 mL of 1:100 dilution, 1:10 dilution, and the full-strength solution are given at 15-minute intervals. If reactions are not encountered, 0.5 to 1 mL of the anesthetic is injected subcutaneously. A placebo step may be added after the skin prick test and before challenging with the local anesthetic. With this protocol, there have been no serious allergic reactions reported after administration of local anesthetics if the skin test results and test dosing are negative.<sup>591</sup>
A more recent evaluation of a similar protocol revealed no incidence of an allergic reaction in a total of 256 referred patients.<sup>593</sup> Test reagents in this investigation included preservatives and epinephrine. The investigators concluded that local anesthetic tests could be performed with formulations that contain either preservatives and/or epinephrine.

Dentists and other health care professionals may develop contact dermatitis from local anesthetics. In the event that this occurs, patch testing should be performed to determine the degree of sensitization to the suspected local anesthetic and identify the agent(s) that is least likely to produce a reaction.

False-positive intracutaneous test results may occur in some history-negative patients and patients with a history of adverse reactions to local anesthetics.<sup>594</sup> On the basis of the low pretest probability of IgE-mediated local anesthetic allergy and the occurrence of false-positive results, it is unclear whether intracutaneous tests have any benefit in the diagnostic approach to local anesthetic allergy.<sup>593</sup> Rare patients may also have positive skin test results to methylparabens in the local anesthetics, and some of these may be false-positive skin test results because subsequent results of subcutaneous challenges to local anesthetic with methylparabens are negative.595 Subcutaneous local anesthetic challenges using a graded incremental approach after skin tests have been reported to be a safe method in a study of 236 patients with histories of adverse reactions to local anesthetics.593 Alternatively, a more rapid subcutaneous challenge approach using 1.0 mL of saline (placebo) followed in 20 minutes by 1.0 mL of undiluted local anesthetic was a safe and effective method in a study of 252 patients.595

### **Q. Radiocontrast Media (RCM)**

Summary Statement 146: Anaphylactoid reactions occur in approximately 1% to 3% of patients who receive ionic RCM and less than 0.5% of patients who receive nonionic RCM. (C)

Summary Statement 147: Risk factors for anaphylactoid reactions to RCM include female sex, atopy, concomitant use of  $\beta$ -blocking drugs, and a history of previous reactions to RCM. (C)

*Summary Statement 148:* Although asthma is associated with an increased risk of a RCM reaction, specific sensitivity to seafood (which is mediated by IgE directed to proteins) does not further increase this risk. There is no evidence that sensitivity to iodine predisposes patients to RCM reactions. (C)

Summary Statement 149: Patients who experienced previous anaphylactoid reactions to RCM should receive nonionic, iso-osmolar agents and be treated with a premedication regimen, including systemic corticosteroids and histamine<sub>1</sub> receptor antihistamines; this will significantly reduce, but not eliminate, risk for anaphylactoid reaction with reexposure to contrast material. (D)

Summary Statement 150: Delayed reactions to RCM, defined as reactions occurring 1 hour to 1 week after administration, occur in approximately 2% patients. (C) Most are mild, self-limited cutaneous eruptions that appear to be T-cell mediated, although more serious reactions, such as SJS, TEN, and DRESS syndrome, have been described.

Adverse reactions to RCM are classified as chemotoxic or anaphylactoid. Chemotoxic reactions (cardiotoxicity, neurotoxicity, and nephrotoxicity) are related to the chemical properties of the contrast agent, and they are dose and concentration dependent. Chemotoxic reactions tend to occur in medically unstable patients who are debilitated. Anaphylactoid reactions occur in approximately 1% to 3% of patients who receive ionic RCM and less than 0.5% of patients who receive nonionic agents.<sup>119,120</sup> Severe life-threatening reactions are less common, occurring in 0.22% of patients receiving ionic RCM and 0.04% of patients receiving nonionic agents.<sup>121</sup> The fatality rate from RCM is approximately 1 to 2 per 100,000 procedures, and it is similar for both ionic and nonionic agents.<sup>596,597</sup> Risk factors for anaphylactoid reactions to RCM include female sex, asthma, and a history of previous anaphylactoid reaction to RCM; *β*-blocker exposure and/or presence of cardiovascular conditions is associated with greater risk for more serious anaphylactoid reaction.<sup>122-126</sup>

A relationship between anaphylactoid reaction to RCM and "seafood allergy" is a frequent misconception. There is no convincing evidence in the medical literature that individuals with "seafood allergy" are at elevated risk for anaphylactoid reaction to RCM compared with the general population. The pathogenesis of anaphylactoid reactions is also unrelated to iodine. Rates of anaphylactoid reactions to low-osmolar contrast agents are significantly lower than rates observed with conventional contrast media,<sup>121</sup> yet their content of iodine is similar. RCM reactions are typically not mediated by specific IgE antibodies with rare exceptions.<sup>598</sup> RCM likely has direct effects on mast cells and basophils, leading to degranulation and systemic mediator release, which accounts for the clinical manifestations of anaphylactoid reactions. Complement activation may account for some reactions.

Management of a patient who requires RCM and has had a prior anaphylactoid reaction to RCM includes the following: (1) determine whether the study is essential; (2) determine that the patient understands the risks; (3) ensure proper hydration; (4) use a nonionic, iso-osmolar RCM, especially in high-risk patients (asthmatic patients, patients taking  $\beta$ -blockers, and those with cardiovascular disease), and (5) use a pretreatment regimen that has been documented to be successful in preventing most reactions.<sup>127-130</sup> One reported regimen consists of prednisone, 50 mg, at 13, 7, and 1 hour before the procedure; diphenhydramine, 50 mg, at 1 hour before the procedure; and either ephedrine, 25 mg, or albuterol, 4 mg, at 1 hour before the procedure. However, the latter agents may not be favorable from a risk-benefit standpoint in patients with cardiovascular disease. Although histamine<sub>2</sub> receptor antagonists are beneficial in the treatment of anaphylaxis,<sup>326</sup> when the addition of histamine<sub>2</sub> receptor antagonists 1 hour before RCM procedures was studied, paradoxically, a modest increase in reaction rate was observed.<sup>127</sup>

Delayed reactions to RCM, defined as those occurring between 1 hour and 1 week after administration, occur in approximately 2% of patients.<sup>131</sup> These reactions most commonly manifest as mild, self-limited cutaneous eruptions and do not require any treatment.<sup>131</sup> The mechanism of delayed skin reactions to RCM appears to be T-cell mediated.<sup>132</sup> Rarely, more serious and life-threatening delayed reactions to RCM have been described, such as SJS, TEN, and DRESS.<sup>599</sup>

# **R.** Aspirin and Nonsteroidal Anti-inflammatory Agents (NSAIDs)

*Summary Statement 151:* One type of adverse reaction to aspirin and NSAIDs is AERD, a clinical entity characterized by aspirin- and NSAID-induced respiratory reactions in patients with underlying asthma and/or rhinitis or sinusitis. (B)

Summary Statement 152: The mechanism of AERD appears to be related to aberrant arachidonic acid metabolism. (B)

*Summary Statement 153:* Controlled oral provocation with aspirin is considered to be the most conclusive way to confirm the diagnosis of AERD. (B)

Summary Statement 154: Aspirin and NSAIDs that inhibit cyclooxygenase 1 (COX-1) cross-react and cause respiratory reactions in AERD, whereas selective COX-2 inhibitors almost never cause reactions in patients with AERD and can typically be taken safely. (B)

Summary Statement 155: Aspirin desensitization followed by daily aspirin therapy to perpetuate the aspirin tolerant state in patients with AERD is indicated in patients with AERD if aspirin or NSAIDs are therapeutically necessary for treatment of some other condition, such as cardiac or rheumatologic diseases. (D)

Summary Statement 156: Aspirin desensitization followed by daily aspirin has been associated with improved outcomes in patients with AERD who are poorly controlled with medical and/or surgical management. (D)

Summary Statement 157: A second reaction type to aspirin and NSAIDs is exacerbation of urticaria and angioedema in approximately 20% to 40% of patients with underlying chronic idiopathic urticaria. (C) Drugs that inhibit COX-1 cross-react to cause this reaction, whereas selective COX-2 inhibitors typically are better tolerated by these patients. (C)

Summary Statement 158: A third reaction type to aspirin and NSAIDs is suggestive of an IgE-mediated mechanism and manifests as urticaria or angioedema or anaphylaxis, and it occurs in patients with no underlying respiratory or cutaneous disease. (C) These reactions appear to be drug specific and there is no cross-reactivity with other NSAIDs. (D)

Summary Statement 159: A fourth reaction type to aspirin and NSAIDs is urticaria or angioedema caused by all drugs that inhibit COX-1, and it occurs in patients without a prior history of chronic urticaria. (C)

*Summary Statement 160:* Rarely, patients exhibit combined ("blended") respiratory and cutaneous reaction to aspirin or NSAIDs and hence cannot be classified into 1 the 4 reaction types described above. (C)

Aspirin and NSAIDs can cause a spectrum of drug allergic reactions, including exacerbation of underlying respiratory disease, urticaria, angioedema, anaphylaxis, and rarely pneumonitis and meningitis. AERD is a clinical entity characterized by aspirin- and NSAID-induced respiratory reactions in patients with chronic rhinosinusitis and asthma. The nomenclature ascribed to this type of reaction has included terms such as aspirin sensitivity, aspirin intolerance, aspirin idiosyncrasy, aspirin-induced asthma, and aspirin triad.<sup>600</sup> AERD does not fit precisely into a specific category of adverse drug reactions. AERD typically follows an illness and starts as severe perennial rhinitis followed by the development of nasal and/or sinus polyps, which then progress to include symptoms of asthma.140 Rhinitis is often complicated by chronic sinusitis, anosmia, and nasal polyposis. Asthma and sensitivity to aspirin usually develop several years after the onset of rhinitis. Upper and lower respiratory tract symptoms are frequently sudden and severe after administration of aspirin or any NSAID that inhibits the COX-1 enzyme. Despite avoidance of aspirin and cross-reacting drugs, these patients typically experience refractory rhinosinusitis and asthma-in some cases requiring repeated sinus surgery procedures and regular administration of oral steroids. AERD is rare in asthmatic children and becomes increasingly more common in adults with asthma. Approximately 10% of adults with asthma and a third of patients with asthma with nasal polyposis have AERD.<sup>601</sup>

The mechanism of AERD is related to aberrant arachidonic acid metabolism. Before administration of aspirin, compared with non-aspirin-sensitive asthmatic patients, patients with AERD have higher levels of both COX and 5-lipoxygenase products, such as increased urinary leukotriene E4 and thromboxane B<sub>2</sub>, and increased leukotriene E<sub>4</sub> and thromboxane B<sub>2</sub> in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid.<sup>602-604</sup> Patients with AERD also have increased respiratory tract expression of the cysteinyl leukotriene 1 receptor and heightened responsiveness to inhaled leukotriene E<sub>4</sub>.<sup>133,134</sup> A number of genetic polymorphisms involving the leukotriene pathway have been reported to be associated with AERD, including the leukotriene  $C_4$ promotor,605 cysteinyl leukotriene receptor 1 promotor,606 prostanoid receptor related genes,<sup>607</sup> and thromboxane A<sub>2</sub> receptor genes.<sup>608</sup> However, not all of these findings have been replicated, and there is significant heterogeneity in study populations (ie, Polish vs Korean populations).<sup>609</sup>

Administration of aspirin leads to inhibition of COX-1 with resultant decrease in prostaglandin  $E_2$ . Prostaglandin  $E_2$  normally inhibits 5-lipoxygenase, but with a loss of this modifying effect, arachidonic acid molecules are preferentially metabolized in the 5-lipoxygenase pathway, resulting in increased production of cysteinyl leukotrienes. After aspirin challenge, patients with AERD have elevated levels of urinary leukotriene  $E_4$ , increased levels of histamine and leukotriene  $C_4$  in nasal and bronchial secretions, and greatly upregulated cysteinyl leukotriene receptors.<sup>602-604,610</sup> Tryptase and histamine are released into peripheral blood after aspirin administration, suggesting mast cell involvement.

Aspirin and NSAIDs that inhibit COX-1 all cross-react and cause reactions in AERD. Analgesics that are poor inhibitors of COX-1 (eg, nonacetylated salicylates and acetaminophen) may cause reactions only if administered at high doses.<sup>611</sup> NSAIDs that preferentially inhibit COX-2 but also inhibit COX-1 at higher doses may result in reactions, depending on the dose given. Selective COX-2 inhibitors almost never cause reactions in patients with AERD and can typically be taken safely.<sup>135-139</sup>

There is no diagnostic in vitro or skin test for AERD. The diagnosis is usually established by history, but if the history is unclear or when definite diagnosis is required, a controlled oral provocation challenge with aspirin may be performed. When patients with a history suggestive of AERD (ie, asthma, rhinosinusitis, and history of respiratory reaction to aspirin or aspirin-like drug) are challenged with aspirin, approximately 85% will have a respiratory reaction confirming the diagnosis.<sup>140</sup> A recent study showed that 100% of patients with a history of aspirin causing a severe reaction (poor response to albuterol with need for medical intervention) had positive oral aspirin challenges.<sup>141</sup>

Management of patients with AERD involves avoidance of aspirin and NSAIDs and aggressive medical and/or surgical treatment of underlying asthma and rhinitis or sinusitis. A pharmacologic induction of drug tolerance procedure (also known as aspirin desensitization), during which tolerance to aspirin can be induced and maintained, is an important therapeutic option for patients with AERD. This procedure entails administration of incremental oral doses of aspirin throughout several days, until a dosage of 650 mg (2 tablets) of aspirin can be taken without adverse reaction. Induction of drug tolerance of patients with AERD may be appropriate if aspirin or NSAIDs is therapeutically necessary or if their respiratory disease is poorly controlled with medical and/or surgical management. Aspirin desensitization treatment improves clinical outcomes for both upper and lower respiratory tract disease.<sup>247,360,361</sup> During long-term aspirin desensitization, urinary leukotriene E4 decreases to baseline levels, bronchial responsiveness to leukotriene E4 is greatly reduced, serum histamine and tryptase levels decrease, leukotriene C<sub>4</sub> and histamine in nasal secretions disappears, and there is a decrease in the number of respiratory cells expressing the cysteinyl leukotriene 1 receptor. 133,134,610,612,613

A second clinical presentation of aspirin and NSAID drug allergic reactions is an exacerbation of urticaria or angioedema in patients with chronic idiopathic urticaria. Approximately 20% to 40% of patients with chronic idiopathic urticaria develop a worsening of their condition after exposure to aspirin or NSAIDs.<sup>614,615</sup> The rate appears to be more frequent in patients in an active phase of their urticaria or angioedema syndrome. Most patients with a history of exacerbations induced by aspirin or NSAIDs demonstrated the presence of histamine-releasing factors assessed by autologous serum skin tests and basophil histamine release assays.<sup>309</sup> All drugs that inhibit COX-1 cross-react to cause this reaction, and the arachidonic acid metabolism dysfunction described herein is thought to play a pathogenic role. Selective COX-2 inhibitors are generally well tolerated in patients with chronic idiopathic urticaria, although there may be rare exceptions.<sup>142-144</sup>

A third type of drug allergic reaction is aspirin or single NSAID-induced urticaria or angioedema or anaphylactic reaction, in which case other NSAIDs are tolerated.<sup>145-147</sup> The underlying cause of these reactions is not fully understood. The clinical pattern of a preceding period of sensitization during which the drug is tolerated suggests an IgE-mediated mechanism, but attempts to detect drug specific IgE have been unsuccessful in most cases. However, a recent investigation of 53 patients experiencing systemic symptoms 30 minutes after ingestion of a pyrazolone (propyphenazone) revealed positive skin and enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay in vitro test results in 51 of the 53 patients.<sup>616</sup> These specific IgE tests were specific in that other pyrazolone derivatives (antipyrine, aminophenazone, or metamizol) were unable to inhibit IgE binding in the in vitro system. The reaction is not due to arachidonic acid dysfunction, and any NSAID, including selective COX-2 inhibitors, may be responsible.<sup>617,618</sup> Patients with a history of acute urticaria to aspirin are at increased risk for the subsequent development of chronic urticaria.<sup>619</sup>

A fourth type of drug allergic reaction of aspirin or NSAID allergy is urticaria or angioedema due to aspirin and any NSAID that inhibits COX-1 and thus differs from the aforementioned type of reaction in that it is nonselective. This type of reactions also occurs in individuals without a prior history of chronic urticaria.<sup>364,620</sup> These patients are usually able to tolerate COX-2 inhibitors, and their reactions are purely cutaneous without accompanying anaphylactic symptoms.<sup>142-144</sup> Patients with a history of acute urticaria to multiple NSAIDs are also at increased risk for the development of chronic urticaria.<sup>619</sup>

Rarely, patients exhibit combined ("blended") respiratory and cutaneous reaction to aspirin or NSAIDs and hence cannot be classified into 1 of the 4 reaction types described herein. In addition, drug allergic reactions to aspirin or NSAIDs can rarely manifest as pneumonitis or meningitis. These reactions appear to be drug specific, and avoidance of all NSAIDs is not necessary.<sup>621</sup>

Allergic rashes are common adverse effects of clopidogrel, a thiopyridine inhibitor of platelet activation that is often recommended in aspirin-intolerant patients.<sup>622-624</sup> Although the mechanisms of such reactions are unknown, successful oral induction of drug tolerance protocols have been reported.<sup>622,624</sup>

Quinine-induced angioedema may occur in a spirin-intolerant patients.  $^{\rm 625}$ 

# S. Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme (ACE) Inhibitors

*Summary Statement 161:* ACE inhibitors are associated with 2 major adverse effects—cough and angioedema. (C)

*Summary Statement 162:* ACE inhibitor–related cough often begins within the first few weeks of treatment and occurs

in up to 20% of patients, particularly women, blacks, and Asians. (C)  $% \left( C\right) =0$ 

*Summary Statement 163:* The mechanism of ACE inhibitor–related cough is unclear. The cough resolves with discontinuation of the drug therapy in days to weeks. (D)

Summary Statement 164: Patients with ACE inhibitorrelated cough are able to tolerate angiotensin II receptor blockers (ARBs). (A)

Summary Statement 165: ACE inhibitor-induced angioedema occurs in approximately 0.1% to 0.7% of patients and is most common in blacks. (C)

*Summary Statement 166:* ACE inhibitor–induced angioedema frequently involves the face and oropharynx and can be life-threatening or fatal. (C)

*Summary Statement 167:* The mechanism of ACE inhibitor–induced angioedema may be related to interference with bradykinin degradation. It may take months or years after initiation of therapy for a reaction to appear and often occurs sporadically despite persistent treatment. (C)

*Summary Statement 168:* ACE inhibitor–induced angioedema is treated with discontinuation of the drug therapy and subsequent avoidance of all ACE inhibitors. (D)

Summary Statement 169: Most patients who experience angioedema during ACE inhibitor treatment are able to tolerate ARBs. (C)

Summary Statement 170: Patients with a history of angioedema or C1 esterase inhibitor deficiency are at increased risk of more frequent and severe episodes of angioedema with the administration of ACE inhibitors, so they should not receive these drugs. (C)

ACE inhibitors have 2 major adverse effects-cough and angioedema. Cough occurs in up to 20% of patients, is typically dry and nonproductive, and occurs more commonly in women, blacks, and Asians.<sup>149</sup> The cough generally begins within the first few weeks of treatment, but occasionally the onset may occur much later. Aside from enzymatically converting angiotensin 1 to angiotensin 2, ACE inhibitors also normally metabolize bradykinin. ACE inhibitors allow the accumulation of bradykinin, which may cause stimulation of vagal afferent nerve fibers to produce cough. Bradykinin has also been shown to induce the production of arachidonic acid metabolites and nitric oxide, and these products may contribute to cough production through proinflammatory mechanisms.149 ARBs are not associated with development of cough, the incidence of which is comparable to treatment with either placebo or diuretics.<sup>626-628</sup> There are no controlled studies on potential medical treatment of ACE inhibitorinduced cough in patients who require continued treatment.

The incidence of angioedema with ACE inhibitors is approximately 0.1% to 0.7%<sup>149,150</sup> and appears to be more common in blacks.<sup>151,152</sup> The angioedema frequently involves the face or upper airway and can be life-threatening or fatal.<sup>153,154</sup> Reports of angioedema of the intestinal tract secondary to ACE inhibitors have also been described.<sup>155</sup> Patients with C1 esterase inhibitor deficiency are at increased risk of more frequent and severe episodes of angioedema with the admin-

istration of ACE inhibitors and they should not receive these drugs. The temporal relationship between initiation of therapy with ACE inhibitors and occurrence of angioedema is unpredictable and differs from the temporal pattern of other adverse drug reactions. Patients typically take ACE inhibitors for months or even years before angioedema occurs.<sup>156</sup> It is also puzzling that recurrent episodes of angioedema occur sporadically despite continued daily use of ACE inhibitors.

ACE inhibitor–associated angioedema is often difficult to manage. Treatment includes discontinuing use of the medication and supportive care with careful management of the airway. Selected cases of refractory ACE inhibitor–induced angioedema have been successfully treated with infusion of fresh frozen plasma.<sup>629</sup> Most patients with angioedema related to ACE inhibitor usually tolerate ARBs. There are, however, case reports of occasional patients who continue to experience angioedema after being switched from ACE inhibitors to ARBs.<sup>630,631</sup> Because there is no diagnostic test to prove whether angioedema in a given patient is truly due to use of an ACE inhibitor (rather than idiopathic), these cases may not represent true cross-reactivity between these agents.

## **T. Biologic Modifiers**

In the past decade, a number of biologic agents have been developed to neutralize proinflammatory cytokines, their cellular receptors, and IgE antibody.<sup>157,158</sup> Because the clinical experience with these drugs varies (ie, phase IV experiences), the spectrum of reported allergic reactions may not yet be fully known for all of them. A separate type of classification for adverse reactions to biological agents has been proposed based on the mechanism of reactions (Table 3).<sup>159</sup> High-dose reactions are related to high cytokine levels administered directly or from cytokines released (cytokine release syndrome). Hypersensitivity reactions may be either antibody or cell mediated. Immune or cytokine dysregulation may result in secondary immunodeficiency, autoimmunity, or allergic or atopic disorders. Cross-reactive reactions may occur when the biologic agent is intended for a pathologic cell type but cross-reacts with normal cells. Finally, biologics may also result in nonimmunologic adverse effects.

### 1. Cytokines

Summary Statement 171: Allergic drug reactions ranging from cutaneous lesions to severe anaphylaxis may occur during treatment with recombinant interferons. (C)

Both  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -interferons have been associated with a variety of allergic drug events. Cutaneous lesions include urticaria, atopic dermatitis, eczematous reactions at injection sites, leukocytoclastic vasculitis, and fixed drug eruption.<sup>632-637</sup> Visceral adverse events include pulmonary vasculitis and autoimmune hepatitis.<sup>638,639</sup> Life-threatening events, such as angioedema and anaphylaxis, have been reported.<sup>640,641</sup>

Allergic mechanisms may or may not play a role in thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura or hemolytic uremic syndrome and systemic capillary permeability syndrome associated with the use of interleukin 2 and granulocyte colonystimulating factor, respectively.<sup>642,643</sup>

## 2. Anti–TNF-α Drugs

Summary Statement 172: Both cutaneous and systemic allergic reactions have been reported after treatment with infliximab, a human monoclonal antibody against tumor necrosis factor  $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ). (C)

A variety of immune-mediated reactions have occurred during infliximab (Remicade) treatment for adult and juvenile rheumatoid arthritis, Crohn's disease, and psoriasis. These include urticaria, flare-up of atopic dermatitis, maculopapular rashes, leukocytoclastic vasculitis, serum sickness, and at least 7 instances of life-threatening anaphylactic reactions.<sup>160-173</sup> Severe adverse reactions, including anaphylaxis and progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy, appear to be common in young (<10 years of age) children.<sup>644</sup> A recent retrospective evaluation of safety with this agent revealed that immediate hypersensitivity reactions (9/84 or 11%) were a major reason for discontinuation of the drug therapy.<sup>645</sup> A subset of patients experienced allergic reactions as a result of antibodies to infliximab.<sup>175</sup> Other possible immunologically related reactions include the Guillain-Barré syndrome, peripheral neuropathy, and demyelinating syndromes.<sup>646,647</sup> Fewer adverse effects have been associated with adalimumab (Humira), another recently available fully humanized TNF- $\alpha$  monoclonal antibody. These include injection site pruritic rashes and new-onset asthma.<sup>174,175</sup> New-onset asthma may also appear during treatment with both infliximab and etanercept (Enbrel). Immune-mediated reactions have also been rarely associated with the latter agent, a recombinant TNF- $\alpha$  extracellular protein domain fused to human IgG1 Fc, which neutralizes soluble TNF- $\alpha$ . These include urticaria, rashes, injection site reactions, leukocytoclastic vasculitis, lupus erythematosus, and 1 instance of lung granulomatosis injury.<sup>176-182</sup>

# 3. Monoclonal Antibodies

*Summary Statement 173:* Both cutaneous and systemic allergic reactions have been reported after treatment with both murine and humanized monoclonal antibodies. (C)

Documented episodes of anaphylaxis after administration of a chimeric anti-interleukin 2 receptor antagonist monoclonal antibody (basiliximab) and muromonab (murine anti-CD3 monoclonal antibody of the IgG2a class [OKT3]) have occurred.545,648 A patient who had experienced anaphylaxis to basiliximab subsequently tolerated a humanized version (daclizumab) with impunity.<sup>649</sup> It is not yet evident whether severe allergic reactions will occur after use of visilizumab, a fully humanized anti-CD3 monoclonal antibody now in phase 1 studies.<sup>650</sup> Hypersensitivity reactions to cetuximab (chimeric mouse-human IgG1 monoclonal antibody against the epidermal growth factor receptor), including IgE-mediated anaphylaxis, has been reported to occur at a national rate of 3% or less but much higher (22%) in the Mid South region of the United States.<sup>183</sup> IgE antibodies in this condition are specific for an oligosaccharide galactose- $\alpha$ -1, 3-galactose, which is present on the Fab portion of the cetuximab heavy chain. In most of these patients, specific IgE cetuximab antibodies were present in patients' sera before therapy.<sup>184</sup> A fatal hypersensitivity reaction after infusion of gemtuzumab oxogamicin followed by irradiated platelets was recently reported.<sup>651</sup> There have been several recent reports of immunemediated hemolytic anemia after injections of anti-CD11a (the  $\alpha$ subunit of leukocyte function–associated antigen 1) monoclonal antibody (efalizumab).<sup>652</sup> Such reactions should be clearly distinguished from cytokine release or acute respiratory distress syndromes caused by other monoclonal antibodies (eg, rituximab).<sup>186</sup> However, severe serum sickness–like reactions have been reported after infusions of rituximab and natalizumab.<sup>653,654</sup> In 2006, 3 patients treated with natalizumab developed progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy, resulting in 2 deaths.<sup>655</sup>

Depending on the monoclonal antibody and type of reaction, readministration strategies may include medication pretreatment, slowing infusion rates, or induction of drug tolerance.<sup>184</sup> In patients with immediate-type reactions, successful induction of tolerance to rituximab, infliximab, and trastuzumab has been reported using a 6-hour protocol in combination with corticosteroid and antihistamine premedication.

## 4. Omalizumab

*Summary Statement 174:* Rare anaphylactic reactions to anti-IgE humanized monoclonal antibody (omalizumab) were described during phase 3 clinical trials and during the post-marketing surveillance period. (C)

A combined review of spontaneous postmarketing adverse events from the US Food and Drug Administration Adverse Event Reporting System, records of the manufacturers of omalizumab, and published cases through December 2006 revealed 124 cases of anaphylaxis associated with this drug.656 Many cases experienced either delayed onset (>2 hours) or protracted progression of signs and symptoms after dose administration. A contemporaneous review of omalizumab (Xolair; Genentech) clinical trials and postmarketing surveillance data by a joint task force of the major US allergy societies between June 1, 2003, and December 31, 2005, revealed 41 episodes of anaphylaxis in 35 patients. Because 39,510 patients in this database received omalizumab during the same period, this corresponded to a reporting rate of 0.103% of anaphylactic episodes.<sup>187</sup> It is noteworthy that 83 additional anaphylactic instances were reported in the 1-year interval between these 2 surveys. The Omalizumab Joint Task Force report recommended that patients receiving omalizumab should be directly observed, in a physician's office, after receiving omalizumab for 2 hours following the first 3 doses and 30 minutes after subsequent doses.<sup>187</sup>

### **5.** Anticancer Monoclonal Antibodies

*Summary Statement 175:* The cytokine release syndrome must be distinguished between anaphylactoid and anaphylactic reactions due to anticancer monoclonal antibodies. (C)

The development of monoclonal antibodies for the treatment of malignant neoplasms has increased rapidly in the past decade.<sup>657,658</sup> These include rituximab (anti-CD20), trastuzumab (anti–HER-2), and alemtuzumab (anti-CLL) among others. Severe symptoms, such as fever, rigors, chills, and the acute respiratory distress syndrome, may occur during administration of the first dose of the drug due to a cytokine release syndrome.<sup>185,186</sup> An extreme example of a life-threatening cytokine storm occurred in 6 healthy volunteers after receiving a superagonistic anti-CD28 monoclonal antibody.<sup>659</sup> Immune-mediated reactions, including anaphylaxis and thrombocytopenia, have also been reported.<sup>660-662</sup> Successful induction of drug tolerance to HER-2 monoclonal antibody has been documented.<sup>663</sup> The cytokine release syndrome also occurred after dosing with antisense oligonucleotides in patients with advanced leukemia.<sup>664</sup>

# **U. Complementary Medicines**

Summary Statement 176: Allergic reactions may occur after use of complementary medicines such as bee pollen, echinacea, and vitamins. (C)

The term complementary medicine includes herbal products, vitamins, minerals, amino acids, and essential oils.<sup>188</sup> There is widespread belief that these products are safe because they are "natural."189 However, well-recognized adverse effects, including anaphylaxis, have been reported in patients using bee pollen products.<sup>190</sup> Allergic reactions, including asthma and anaphylaxis, have been reported after ingestion of echinacea, an herb that is derived from several species of a flowering plant.<sup>191</sup> A variety of cutaneous reactions and 1 instance of TEN have been reported after use of Chinese herbal medications, which sometimes have been adulterated with synthetic medications.<sup>192,193</sup> Herbal products, homeopathic remedies. and multivitamin-mineral complexes may be a potential risk for systemic contact dermatitis in nickel and mercury allergic patients.<sup>665,666</sup> Because the extent of this problem is unknown, patients should be questioned about the use of herbs and health supplements. Anaphylactic reactions to vitamins (particularly  $B_1$  and  $B_2$ ) are extremely rare.<sup>667</sup> The incidence of anaphylaxis to intravenous phytonadione (vitamin K<sub>1</sub>) solubilized in Cremophor-EL was 3 per 10,000 doses.668

### V. Other Agents

Summary Statement 177: N-acetylcysteine may cause anaphylactoid reactions. (C)

Summary Statement 178: Anaphylactoid reactions and deaths have been associated with intravenous iron preparations, particularly iron-dextran. (C)

*Summary Statement 179:* Life-threatening anaphylactic reactions have occurred after intravenous use of isosulfan blue and Patent Blue V dyes. (C)

Summary Statement 180: Anaphylactoid reactions may occur after treatment with colloid volume expanders, mannitol, Cremophor-EL, and preservatives. (C)

Summary Statement 181: Preservatives and additives in medications rarely cause immunologic drug reactions. (C)

*N*-acetylcysteine is the treatment of choice for paracetamol overdosage. In a prospective case controlled study, 31/64

patients (48%) who received this treatment experienced anaphylactoid reactions.<sup>669</sup> Most of these reactions occurred within the first 15 minutes. Anaphylactoid reactions and deaths have been associated with intravenous iron preparations.<sup>670</sup> According to a US Food and Drug Administration surveillance database, all-event and all-fatal reporting events were highest, intermediate, and very low after administration of iron-dextran, sodium ferric gluconate, and iron sucrose preparations, respectively.<sup>670</sup>

In recent years, life-threatening anaphylactic reactions have occurred after intravenous use of isosulfan blue and Patent Blue V dyes, an adjunctive diagnostic lymphangiographic agent.<sup>671-673</sup> The results of epicutaneous skin testing and, if required, intradermal skin testing are positive in most patients.<sup>673</sup> Methylene blue dye differs structurally from both isosulfan blue and Patent Blue V, and anaphylactic reactions are rare. A recent case report of 3 melanoma patients with systemic reactions to Patent Blue V dye demonstrated epicutaneous skin test cross-reactivity to methylene blue dye.<sup>671</sup> However, confirmatory challenges were never performed, and therefore a determination of the positive and negative predictive values of such testing requires further evaluation.

Anaphylactoid reactions have been described after administration of colloid volume expanders (dextran, gelatin, hydroxyethyl starch, and human serum albumin).<sup>578</sup> An effective graded challenge protocol may be used to prevent severe anaphylactoid reactions to dextran contained in iron-dextran complexes.<sup>674</sup> This may be life saving in patients who require parenteral iron. Life-threatening reactions to the osmotic diuretic mannitol is most likely due to hyperosmolar-dependent histamine release. Systemic anaphylactoid reactions may occur after parenteral administration of Cremophor-EL, a solvent for paclitaxel, teniposide cyclosporine, and some anesthetics. There are also anecdotal reports of reactions to sodium benzoate and chlorobutanol, which are used as preservatives in various biologicals.

Some preservatives may evoke cough and bronchoconstriction in susceptible asthmatic patients after exposure to nebulizer solutions or formulations containing benzalkonium chloride or sulfites.<sup>206</sup> It has been suggested that susceptibility to sulfites in some asthmatic patients may be due to a deficiency of sulfite oxidase; however, most cases are due to generation of sulfur dioxide in the oropharynx.<sup>675</sup> Anecdotal instances of anaphylaxis or severe asthma have been reported in milk or soy allergic patients after inhalation of specific dry powder formulated metered dose inhalers.<sup>676,677</sup> A large randomized controlled study revealed that paradoxical bronchoconstriction occurred more often after inhalation of metered dose inhalers containing soy-derived lecithin and oleic acid than one with salmeterol alone.677 In a case report, it was demonstrated that anaphylactic reactions may occur due to use of a lactose-containing dry powder inhaler in a milk allergic patient.<sup>676</sup> In vitro and in vivo testing demonstrated presence of milk protein in the dry powder device used by the patient.<sup>676</sup> This illustrates that food allergens may be hidden excipients in commonly used drug formulations.

Mannitol is occasionally used as a hyperosmolar intravenous infusion. Reactions occurring after this use are attributed to an anaphylactoid or direct mast cell mechanism. However, it is more widely used as an excipient in pharmaceutical preparations. A case report documented IgE-mediated anaphylaxis occurring after ingestion of a cisapride chewable tablet containing mannitol.<sup>678</sup>

#### REFERENCES

- Pichler WJ. Delayed drug hypersensitivity reactions. Ann Intern Med. 2003;139:683–693. IV.
- Schmid DA, Depta JP, Luthi M, et al. Transfection of drug-specific T-cell receptors into hybridoma cells: tools to monitor drug interaction with T-cell receptors and evaluate cross-reactivity to related compounds. *Mol Pharmacol.* 2006;70:356–365. IIb.
- Sieben S, Kawakubo Y, Al Masaoudi T, et al. Delayed-type hypersensitivity reaction to p-phenylenediamine is mediated by two different pathways of antigen recognition by specific alpha-beta human T-cell clones. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2002;109:1005–1011. IIb.
- McKenna JK, Leiferman KM. Dermatologic drug reactions. *Immunol Allergy Clin North Am.* 2004;24:399–423. IV.
- Blanca M, Mayorga C, Torres MJ, et al. Clinical evaluation of Pharmacia CAP System RAST FEIA amoxicilloyl and benzylpenicilloyl in patients with penicillin allergy. *Allergy*. 2001;56:862–870. IIa.
- Fontaine C, Mayorga C, Bousquet PJ, et al. Relevance of the determination of serum-specific IgE antibodies in the diagnosis of immediate beta-lactam allergy. *Allergy*. 2007;62:47–52. IIa.
- Sanz ML, Maselli JP, Gamboa PM, et al. Flow cytometric basophil activation test: a review. J Investig Allergol Clin Immunol. 2002;12: 143–254. III.
- Gamboa P, Sanz ML, Caballero MR, et al. The flow-cytometric determination of basophil activation induced by aspirin and other nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) is useful for in vitro diagnosis of the NSAID hypersensitivity syndrome. *Clin Exp Allergy*. 2004;34:1448–1457. IIb.
- Sanz ML, Gamboa PM, Antepara I, et al. Flow cytometric basophil activation test by detection of CD63 expression in patients with immediate-type reactions to betalactam antibiotics. *Clin Exp Allergy*. 2002;32:277–286. IIb.
- Torres MJ, Padial A, Mayorga C, et al. The diagnostic interpretation of basophil activation test in immediate allergic reactions to betalactams. *Clin Exp Allergy*. 2004;34:1768–1775. IIb.
- Romano A, Viola M, Mondino C, et al. Diagnosing nonimmediate reactions to penicillins by in vivo tests. *Int Arch Allergy Immunol.*. 2002;129:169–174. III.
- Barbaud A, Reichert-Penetrat S, Trechot P, et al. The use of skin testing in the investigation of cutaneous adverse drug reactions. *Br J Dermatol.* 1998;139:49–58. IIb.
- Britschgi M, Steiner UC, Schmid S, et al. T-cell involvement in drug-induced acute generalized exanthematous pustulosis. J Clin Invest. 2001;107:1433–1441. III.
- Cuerda Galindo E, Goday Bujan JJ, Garcia Silva JM, et al. Fixed drug eruption from piroxicam. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol. 2004;18: 586–587. III.
- Wolkenstein P, Chosidow O, Flechet ML, et al. Patch testing in severe cutaneous adverse drug reactions, including Stevens-Johnson syndrome and toxic epidermal necrolysis. *Contact Dermatitis*. 1996;35: 234–236. III.
- 16. Bronnimann M, Yawalkar N. Histopathology of drug-induced exanthems: is there a role in diagnosis of drug allergy? *Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol.* 2005;5:317–321. III.
- Sogn DD, Evans R, Shepherd GM, et al. Results of the National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases collaborative clinical trial to test the predictive value of skin testing with major and minor penicillin derivatives in hospitalized adults. *Ann Intern Med.* 1992;152: 1025–1032. IIa.

- Gadde J, Spence M, Wheeler B, et al. Clinical experience with penicillin skin testing in a large inner-city STD clinic. *JAMA*. 1993;270: 2456–2463. III.
- Lee CE, Zembower TR, Fotis MA, et al. The incidence of antimicrobial allergies in hospitalized patients: implications regarding prescribing patterns and emerging bacterial resistance. *Ann Intern Med.* 2000;160: 2819–2822. III.
- Green GR, Rosenblum AH. Report of the penicillin study group, American Academy of Allergy. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1971;48: 331–343. IIb.
- del Real GA, Rose ME, Ramirez-Atamoros MT, et al. Penicillin skin testing in patients with a history of beta-lactam allergy. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol.* 2007;98:355–359. III.
- Romano A, Gueant-Rodriguez RM, Viola M, et al. Cross-reactivity and tolerability of cephalosporins in patients with immediate hypersensitivity to penicillins. *Ann Intern Med.* 2004;141:16–22. IIb.
- Pumphrey RSH, Davis S. Under-reporting of antibiotic anaphylaxis may put patients at risk. *Lancet.* 1999;353:1157–1158. III.
- 24. Park M, Markus P, Matesic D, et al. Safety and effectiveness of a preoperative allergy clinic in decreasing vancomycin use in patients with a history of penicillin allergy. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol.* 2006;97:681–687. III.
- Romano A, Viola M, Gueant-Rodriguez RM, et al. Tolerability of meropenem in patients with IgE-mediated hypersensitivity to penicillins. *Ann Intern Med.* 2007;146:266–269. III.
- Romano A, Viola M, Gueant-Rodriquez RA, et al. Imipenem in patients with immediate hypersensitivity to penicillins. *N Engl J Med.* 2006;354:2835–2837. IIb.
- Strom BL, Schinnar R, Apter AJ, et al. Absence of cross-reactivity between sulfonamide antibiotics and sulfonamide nonantibiotics. N Engl J Med. 2003;349:1628–1635. IIb.
- Manfredi M, Severino M, Testi S, et al. Detection of specific IgE to quinolones. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2004;113:155–160. III.
- Heine H. Cutaneous adverse reaction to ciprofloxacin: demonstration of specific lymphocyte proliferation and cross-reactivity to ofloxacin *in vitro. Acta Dermato-Venereol.* 1997;77:285–286. III.
- 30. Sachs B, Riegel S, Seebeck J, et al. Fluoroquinolone-associated anaphylaxis in spontaneous adverse drug reaction reports in Germany: differences in reporting rates between individual fluoroquinolones and occurrence after first-ever use. *Drug Saf.* 2006;29:1087–1100. III.
- Venturini Diaz M, Lobera Labairu T, del Pozo Gil MD, et al. In vivo diagnostic tests in adverse reactions to quinolones. J Investig Allergol Clin Immunol. 2007;17:393–398. III.
- Halkin H. Adverse effects of fluoroquinolones. *Rev Infect Dis.* 1988; 10(suppl 1):S258–S261. IV.
- Schacht P, Arcieri G, Hullman R. Safety of oral ciprofloxacin. Am J Med. 1989;87(suppl 5A):98S–102S. IV.
- Yee D, Valiquette C, Pelletier M, et al. Incidence of serious side effects from first-line antituberculosis drugs among patients treated for active tuberculosis. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* 2003;167:1472–1477. III.
- Bakkum RS, Waard-Van Der Spek FB, Thio HB. Delayed-type hypersensitivity reaction to ethambutol and isoniazid. *Contact Dermatitis*. 2002;46:359. III.
- Crook MJ. Isoniazid-induced anaphylaxis. J Clin Pharmacol. 2003;43: 545–546. III.
- Dukes CS, Sugarman J, Cegielski JP, et al. Severe cutaneous hypersensitivity reactions during treatment of tuberculosis in patients with HIV infection in Tanzania. *Trop Geogr Med.* 1992;44:308–311. III.
- Wong PC, Yew WW, Wong CF, et al. Ethambutol-induced pulmonary infiltrates with eosinophilia and skin involvement. *Eur Respir J.* 1995; 8:866–868. III.
- Yagi S, Moriya O, Nakajima M, et al. A case of tuberculous pleurisy associated with myoclonus and Quincke's edema due to isoniazid and isoniazid sodium methanesulfonate [in Japanese]. *Kekkaku*. 1989;64: 407–412. III.
- 40. Baur X, Bossert J, Koops F. IgE-mediated allergy to recombinant human insulin in a diabetic. *Allergy*. 2003;58:676–678. III.

- Heinzerling L, Raile K, Rochlitz H, et al. Insulin allergy: clinical manifestations and management strategies. *Allergy*. 2008;63:148–155. III.
- 42. Nagai Y, Mori T, Abe T, et al. Immediate-type allergy against human insulin associated with marked eosinophilia in type 2 diabetic patient. *Endocr J.* 2001;48:311–316. III.
- 43. Schernthaner G. Immunogenicity and allergenic potential of animal and human insulins. *Diabetes Care*. 1993;16(suppl 3):155–165. IV.
- Adachi A, Fukunaga A, Horikawa T. A case of human insulin allergy induced by short-acting and intermediate-acting insulin but not by long-acting insulin. *Int J Dermatol.* 2004;43:597–599. III.
- 45. Castera V, Dutour-Meyer A, Koeppel M, et al. Systemic allergy to human insulin and its rapid and long acting analogs: successful treatment by continuous subcutaneous insulin lispro infusion. *Diabetes Metab.* 2005;31(4 pt 1):391–400. III.
- Brange J, Andersen L, Laursen ED, et al. Toward understanding insulin fibrillation. J Pharm Sci. 1997;86:517–525. IIb.
- Ben Salem C, Hmouda H, Slim R, et al. Rare case of metformininduced leukocytoclastic vasculitis. *Ann Pharmacother*. 2006;40: 1685–1687. III.
- Bukhalo M, Zeitouni NC, Cheney RT. Leukocytoclastic vasculitis induced by use of glyburide: a case of possible cross-reaction of a sulfonamide and a sulfonylurea. *Cutis.* 2003;71:235–238. III.
- Clarke BF, Campbell IW, Ewing DJ, et al. Generalized hypersensitivity reaction and visceral arteritis with fatal outcome during glibenclamide therapy. *Diabetes*. 1974;23:739–742. III.
- Ernst EJ, Egge JA. Celecoxib-induced erythema multiforme with glyburide cross-reactivity. *Pharmacotherapy*. 2002;22:637–640. III.
- Goldberg I, Sasson A, Gat A, et al. Pemphigus vulgaris triggered by glibenclamide and cilazapril. *Acta Dermatovenerol Croat.* 2005;13: 153–155. III.
- 52. Ingelmo M, Vivancos J, Bruguera M, et al. Hypersensitivity vasculitis and granulomatous hepatitis induced by glybenclamide: a case report [in Spanish]. *Med Clin (Barc)*. 1980;75:306–308. III.
- Paterson AJ, Lamey PJ, Lewis MA, et al. Pemphigus vulgaris precipitated by glibenclamide therapy. *J Oral Pathol Med.* 1993;22:92–95. III.
- 54. Eisenhauer EA, ten Bokkel-Huinink WW, Swenerton KD, et al. European-Canadian randomized trial of paclitaxel in relapsed ovarian cancer: high-dose versus low-dose and long versus short infusion. J Clin Oncol. 1994;12:2654–2666. Ib.
- Markman M, Kennedy A, Webster K, et al. Paclitaxel-associated hypersensitivity reactions: experience of the gynecologic oncology program of the Cleveland Clinic cancer Center. J Clin Oncol. 2000; 18:102–105. III.
- Lee CW, Matulonis UA, Castells MC. Carboplatin hypersensitivity: a 12-step protocol effective in 35 desensitizations in patients with gynecological malignancies and mast cell/IgE-mediated reactions. *Gynecol Oncol.* 2004;95:370–376. III.
- Essayan DM, Kagey-Sobotka A, Colarusso PJ, et al. Successful parental desensitization to paclitaxel. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1996;97: 42–46. III.
- Castells MC, Tennant NM, Sloane DE, et al. Hypersensitivity reactions to chemotherapy: outcomes and safety of rapid desensitization in 413 cases. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2008;122:574–580. III.
- Bernstein BJ. Docetaxel as an alternative to paclitaxel after acute hypersensitivity reactions. *Ann Pharmacother*. 2000;11:1332–1335. IV.
- Polyzos A, Tsavaris N, Kosmas C, et al. Hypersensitivity reactions to carboplatin administration are common but not always severe: a 10year experience. *Oncology*. 2001;61:129–133. IIb.
- 61. Zanotti KM, Rybicki LA, Kennedy AW, et al. Carboplatin skin testing: a skin-testing protocol for predicting hypersensitivity to carboplatin chemotherapy. *J Clin Oncol.* 2001;19:3126–3129. IIa.
- Goldberg A, Confino-Cohen R, Fishman A, et al. A modified, prolonged desensitization protocol in carboplatin allergy. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1996;98:841–843. III.
- Markman M, Zanotti K, Peterson G, et al. Expanded experience with an intradermal skin test to predict for the presence or absence of carboplatin hypersensitivity. *J Clin Oncol.* 2003;21:4611–4614. IIa.

- 64. Garufi C, Cristaudo A, Vanni B, et al. Skin testing and hypersensitivity reactions to oxaliplatin. *Ann Oncol.* 2003;14:497–498. III.
- 65. Alarcon GS, Kremer JM, Macaluso M, et al; Methotrexate-Lung Study Group. Risk factors for methotrexate-induced lung injury in patients with rheumatoid arthritis: a multicenter, case-control study. *Ann Intern Med.* 1997;127:356–364. III.
- Cooper JJ, White D, Matthay R. Drug-induced pulmonary disease, part 1: cytotoxic drugs; and part 2: noncytotoxic drugs. *Am Rev Respir Dis.* 1986;133:321–340, 526-534. IV.
- 67. Saravanan V, Kelly CA. Reducing the risk of methotrexate pneumonitis in rheumatoid arthritis. *Rheumatology (Oxford).* 2004;43: 143–147. Ia.
- Zisman DA, McCune WJ, Tino G, et al. Drug-induced pneumonitis: the role of methotrexate. *Sarcoidosis Vasc Diffuse Lung Dis.* 2001;18: 243–252. III.
- 69. Lee BL, Safrin S. Interactions and toxicities of drugs used in patients with AIDS. *Clin Infect Dis.* 1992;14:773–779. IV.
- Koopmans PP, vanderVen AJ, Vree TB, et al. Pathogenesis of hypersensitivity reactions to drugs in patients with HIV infection: allergic or toxic? *AIDS*. 1995;9:217–222. IV.
- Carr A, Cooper DA, Penny R. Allergic manifestations of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection. J Clin Immunol. 1991;11: 55–64. IV.
- 72. Carr A, Swanson R, Penny R, et al. Clinical and laboratory markers of hypersensitivity to trimethoprim-sulphamethoxazole in patients with *Pneumocystis carinii* pneumonia and AIDS. J Infect Dis. 1993;167: 180–185. III.
- Bayard P, Berger T, Jacobson M. Drug hypersensitivity reactions and human immunodeficiency virus disease. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 1992;5:1237–1257. IV.
- Absar N, Daneshvar H, Beall G. Desensitization to trimethoprim/ sulfamethoxazole in HIV-infected patients. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1994;93:1001–1005. III.
- Gluckstein D, Ruskin J. Rapid oral desensitization to trimethoprimsulfathoxazole (TMP-SMZ): use in prophylaxis for *Pneumocystis carinii* pneumonia in patients with AIDS who were previously intolerant to TMP-SMZ. *Clin Infect Dis.* 1995;20:849–853. III.
- Nguyen M, Weiss PJ, Wallace MR. Two-day oral desensitization to trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole in HIV-infected patients. *AIDS*. 1995; 9:573–575. III.
- Belchi-Hernandez J, Espinosa-Parra FJ. Management of adverse reactions to prophylactic trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole in patients with human immunodeficiency virus infection. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol.* 1996;76:355–358. III.
- Kalanadhabhatta V, Muppidi D, Sahni H, et al. Successful oral desensitization to trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole in acquired immune deficiency syndrome. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol.* 1996;77:394–400. III.
- 79. Caumes E, Guermonprez G, Lecomte C, et al. Efficacy and safety of desensitization with sulfamethoxazole and trimethoprim in 48 previously hypersensitive patients infected with human immunodeficiency virus. Arch Dermatol. 1997;133:465–469. III.
- Rich JD, Sullivan T, Greineder D, et al. Trimethoprim/sulfamethoxazole incremental dose regimen in human immunodeficiency virus-infected persons. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol.* 1997;79:409–414. III.
- Ryan C, Madalon M, Wortham DW, et al. Sulfa hypersensitivity in patients with HIV infection: onset, treatment, critical review of the literature. Wis Med J. 1998;97:23–27. III.
- Demoly P, Messaad D, Sahla H, et al. Six-hour trimethoprimsulfamethoxazole-graded challenge in HIV-infected patients. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* 1998;102(6 pt 1):1033–1036. III.
- 83. Bonfanti P, Pusterla L, Parazzini F, et al. The effectiveness of desensitization versus rechallenge treatment in HIV-positive patients with previous hypersensitivity to TMP-SMX: a randomized multicentric study. *Biomed Pharmacother*. 2000;54:45–49. Ib.
- 84. Yoshizawa S, Yasuoka A, Kikuchi Y, et al. A 5-day course of oral desensitization to trimethoprim/sulfamethoxazole (T/S) in patients with human immunodeficiency virus type-1 infection who were previously intolerant to T/S. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. 2000;85:241–244. III.

- Moreno JN, Poblete RB, Maggio C, et al. Rapid oral desensitization for sulfonamides in patients with the acquired immunodeficiency syndrome. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. 1995;74:140–146. III.
- Tenant-Flowers M, Boyle MJ, Carey D, et al. Sulphadiazine desensitization in patients with AIDS and cerebral toxoplasmosis. *AIDS*. 1991;5:311–315. III.
- Carr A, Penny R, Cooper DA. Allergy and desensitization to zidovudine in patients with acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS). J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1993;91:683–685. III.
- Henry RE, Wegmann JA, Hartle JE, et al. Successful oral acyclovir desensitization. Ann Allergy. 1993;70:386–388. III.
- Duque S, delaPuente J, Rodriguez F, et al. Zidovudine-related erythroderma and successful desensitization: a case report. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1996;98:234–235. III.
- Cook DE, Kossey JL. Successful desensitization to dapsone for *Pneumocystis carinii* prophylaxis in an HIV-positive patient. *Ann Pharmacother*. 1998;32:1302–1305. III.
- Metroka CE, Lewis NJ, Jacobus DP. Desensitization to dapsone in HIV-positive patients [letter]. JAMA. 1992;267:512. III.
- Davis CM, Shearer WT. Diagnosis and management of HIV drug hypersensitivity. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2008;121:826–832e5. IV.
- Temesgen Z, Beri G. HIV and drug allergy. Immunol Allergy Clin North Am. 2004;24:521–531. VIII.
- Rotunda A, Hirsch RJ, Scheinfeld N, et al. Severe cutaneous reactions associated with the use of human immunodeficiency virus medications. *Acta Derm Venereol.* 2003;83(1):1–9. III.
- Clay PG. The abacavir hypersensitivity reaction: a review. *Clin Ther*. 2002;24:1502–1514. III.
- King D, Tomkins S, Waters A, et al. Intracellular cytokines may model immunoregulation of abacavir hypersensitivity in HIV-infected subjects. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2005;115:1081–1087. IIb.
- Hetherington S, Hughes AR, Mosteller M, et al. Genetic variations in HLA-B region and hypersensitivity reactions to abacavir. *Lancet.* 2002; 359:1121–1122. IIb.
- Mallal S, Phillips E, Carosi G, et al. HLA-B\*5701 screening for hypersensitivity to abacavir. N Engl J Med. 2008;358:568–579. Ib.
- McNeill O, Kerridge RK, Boyle MJ. Review of procedures for investigation of anaesthesia-associated anaphylaxis in Newcastle, Australia. *Anaesth Intensive Care*. 2008;36:201–207. III.
- Weiss ME, Nyhan D, Peng ZK, et al. Association of protamine IgE and IgG antibodies with life-threatening reactions to intravenous protamine. N Engl J Med. 1989;320:886–892. III.
- Vincent GM, Janowski M, Menlove R. Protamine allergy reactions during cardiac catheterization and cardiac surgery: risk in patients taking protamine-insulin preparations. *Cathet Cardiovas Diag.* 1991; 23:164–168. III.
- Gottschlich GM, Gravlee GP, Georgitis JW. Adverse reactions to protamine sulfate during cardiac surgery in diabetic and non-diabetic patients. *Ann Allergy*. 1988;61:277–281. III.
- 103. Stewart WJ, McSweeney SM, Kellett MA, et al. Increased risk of severe protamine reactions in NPH insulin-dependent diabetics undergoing cardiac catheterization. *Circulation*. 1984;70:788–792. III.
- 104. Cherry T, Steciuk M, Reddy VV, et al. Transfusion-related acute lung injury: past, present, and future. Am J Clin Pathol. 2008;129:287–297. III.
- Goldman M, Webert KE, Arnold DM, et al. Proceedings of a consensus conference: towards an understanding of TRALI. *Transfus Med Rev.* 2005;19:2–31. IV.
- Peller JS, Bardana EJ. Anaphylactoid reaction to corticosteroid: case report and review of the literature. Ann Allergy. 1986;54:302–305. III.
- Freedman MD, Schocket AL, Chapel N, et al. Anaphylaxis after intravenous methylprednisolone administration. JAMA. 1981;245: 607–608. III.
- Mendelson LM, Meltzer EO, Hamburger RN. Anaphylaxis-like reactions to corticosteroid therapy. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1974;54: 125–131. III.
- Butani L. Corticosteroid-induced hypersensitivity reactions. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. 2002;89:439–445. III.

- Burgdorff T, Venemalm L, Vogt T, et al. IgE-medicated anaphylactic reaction induced by succinate ester of methylprednisolone. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol.* 2002;89:425–428. III.
- Rasanen L, Tarvainen K, Makinen-Kiljunen S. Urticaria to hydrocortisone. *Allergy*. 2001;56:352–353. III.
- 112. Warkentin TE, Greinacher A. Heparin-induced thrombocytopenia: recognition, treatment, and prevention: the Seventh ACCP Conference on Antithrombotic and Thrombolytic Therapy. *Chest.* 2004;126: 311S–337S. IV.
- 113. Kishimoto TK, Viswanathan K, Ganguly T, et al. Contaminated heparin associated with adverse clinical events and activation of the contact system. *N Engl J Med.* 2008;358:2457–2467. IIb.
- 114. Schwartz LB. Heparin comes clean. N Engl J Med. 2008;358: 2505–2509. IV.
- 115. Cuesta-Herranz J, de las Heras M, Fernandez M, et al. Allergic reaction caused by local anesthetic agents belonging to the amide group. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1997;99:427–428. III.
- 116. Gonzalez-Delgado P, Anton R, Soriano V, et al. Cross-reactivity among amide-type local anesthetics in a case of allergy to mepivacaine. *J Investig Allergol Clin Immunol.* 2006;16:311–313. III.
- 117. Prieto A, Herrero T, Rubio M, et al. Urticaria due to mepivacaine with tolerance to lidocaine and bupivacaine. *Allergy*. 2005;60:261–262. III.
- Venemalm L, Degerbeck F, Smith W. IgE-mediated reaction to mepivacaine. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2008;121:1058–1059. III.
- Coleman WP, Ochsner SF, Watson BE. Allergic reactions in 10,000 consecutive intravenous urographies. *Southern Med.* 1964;57: 1401–1404. III.
- 120. Wolf GL, Mishkin MM, Roux SG, et al. Comparison of the rates of adverse drug reactions: Ionic contrast agents, ionic agents combined with steroids, and nonionic agents. *Invest Radiol.* 1991;26:404–410. III.
- 121. Katayama H, Yamaguchi K, Kozuka T, et al. Adverse reactions to ionic and nonionic contrast media: a report from the Japanese Committee on the Safety of Contrast Media. *Radiology*. 1990;175:621–628. III.
- Lang DM, Alpern MB, Visintainer PF, et al. Gender risk for anaphylactoid reaction to radiographic contrast media. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1995;95:813–817. III.
- 123. Enricht T, Chau-Lim E, Duda E, et al. The role of a documented allergic profile as a risk factor for radiographic contrast media reaction. *Ann Allergy.* 1989;62:302–305. III.
- 124. Schatz M, Patterson R, O'Rourke J, et al. The administration of radiographic contrast media to patients with a history of a previous reaction. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1975;55:358–366. IIb.
- 125. Lang DM, Alpern MB, Visintainer PF, et al. Increased risk for anaphylactoid reaction from contrast media in patients on beta-adrenergic blockers or with asthma. *Ann Intern Med.* 1991;115:270–276. III.
- 126. Lang DM, Alpern MB, Visintainer PF, et al. Elevated risk of anaphylactoid reaction from radiographic contrast media is associated with both beta-blocker exposure and cardiovascular disorders. *Ann Intern Med.* 1993;153:2033–2040. III.
- 127. Greenberger PA, Patterson R, Tapio CM. Prophylaxis against repeated radiocontrast media reactions in 857 cases. Adverse experience with cimetidine and safety of beta-adrenergic antagonists. *Ann Intern Med.* 1985;145:2197–2200. IIb.
- Greenberger PA, Patterson R. The prevention of immediate generalized reactions to radiocontrast media in high-risk patients. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1991;87:867–872. IIb.
- Lasser EC, Berry CC, Mishkin MM, et al. Pretreatment with corticosteroids to prevent adverse reactions to nonionic contrast media. *AJR Am J Roentgenol.* 1994;162:523–526. IIb.
- Marshall GD, Lieberman PL. Comparison of three pretreatment protocols to prevent anaphylactoid reactions to radiocontrast media. *Ann Allergy*. 1991;67:70–74. IIb.
- Webb JA, Stacul F, Thomsen HS, et al. Late adverse reactions to intravascular iodinated contrast media. *Eur Radiol.* 2003;13:181–184. IV.
- 132. Kanny G, Pichler W, Morisset M, et al. T cell-mediated reactions to iodinated contrast media: evaluation by skin and lymphocyte activation tests. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* 2005;115:179–185. III.

- 133. Arm JP, O'Hickey SP, Hawksworth RJ, et al. Asthmatic airways have a disproportionate hyperresponsiveness to LTE4, as compared with normal airways, but not to LTC4, LTD4, methacholine, and histamine. *Am Rev Respir Dis.* 1990;142:1112–1118. IIb.
- 134. Sousa AR, Parikh A, Scadding G, et al. Leukotriene-receptor expression on nasal mucosal inflammatory cells in aspirin-sensitive rhinosinusitis. *N Engl J Med.* 2002;347:1493–1499. IIa.
- 135. Martin-Garcia C, Hinojosa M, Berges P, et al. Safety of a cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitor in patients with aspirin-sensitive asthma. *Chest.* 2002;121:1812–1817. IIa.
- 136. Gyllfors P, Bochenek G, Overholt J, et al. Biochemical and clinical evidence that aspirin-intolerant asthmatic subjects tolerate the cyclooxygenase 2-selective analgetic drug celecoxib. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2003;111:1116–1121. IIa.
- Woessner K, Simon RA, Stevenson DD. The safety of celecoxib in aspirin exacerbated respiratory disease. *Arthritis Rheum.* 2002;46: 2201–2206. IIa.
- Stevenson DD, Simon RA. Lack of cross-reactivity between rofecoxib and aspirin in aspirin-sensitive patients with asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2001;108:47–51. IIa.
- Baldassarre S, Schandene L, Choufani G, et al. Asthma attacks induced by low doses of celecoxib, aspirin, and acetaminophen. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2006;117:215–217. III.
- Szczeklik A, Stevenson DD. Aspirin-induced asthma: advances in pathogenesis, diagnosis, and management. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2003;111:913–921. IV.
- 141. Dursun AB, Woessner KA, Simon RA, et al. Predicting outcomes of oral aspirin challenges in patients with asthma, nasal polyps, and chronic sinusitis. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol.* 2008;100:420–425. III.
- 142. Perrone MR, Artesani MC, Viola M, et al. Tolerability of rofecoxib in patients with adverse reactions to nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs: a study of 216 patients and literature review. *Int Arch Allergy Immunol.* 2003;132:82–86. IIa.
- 143. Sanchez-Borges M, Capriles-Hulett A, Caballero-Fonseca F, et al. Tolerability to new COX-2 inhibitors in NSAID-sensitive patients with cutaneous reactions. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol.* 2001;87: 2001–2004. IIb.
- 144. Nettis E, DiPaola R, Ferrannini A, et al. Tolerability of rofecoxib in patients with cutaneous adverse reactions to nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol.* 2002;88:331–334. IIa.
- Moore ME, Goldsmith DP. Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory intolerance: an anaphylactic reaction to tolmentin. *Ann Intern Med.* 1980;140:1105–1106. III.
- Quiralte J, Blanco C, Castillo R, et al. Anaphylactoid reactions due to nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs: clinical and cross-reactivity studies. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol.* 1997;78:293–296. IIb.
- 147. Alkhawajah AM, Eifawal M, Mahmoud SF. Fatal anaphylactic reaction to diclofenac. *Forensic Sci Int.* 1993;60:107–110. III.
- 148. Quiralte J, Blanco C, Delgado J, et al. Challenge-based clinical patterns of 223 Spanish patients with nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory-druginduced-reactions. *J Investig Allergol Clin Immunol.* 2007;17:182–188. IIb.
- 149. Dykewicz MS. Cough and angioedema from angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors: new insights into mechanisms and management. *Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol.* 2004;4:267–270. IV.
- 150. Israili ZH, Hall WD. Cough and angioneurotic edema associated with angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor therapy: A review of the literature and pathophysiology. *Ann Intern Med.* 1992;117:234–242. IV.
- Sondhi D, Lippmann M, Murali G. Airway compromise due to angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor-induced angioedema. *Chest.* 2004; 126:400–404. III.
- 152. Burkhart DG, Brown NJ, Griffin MR, et al. Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor-associated angioedema: higher risk in blacks than whites. *Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf.* 1996;5:149–154. III.

- 153. Zanotetti E, Bertino G, Malvezzi L, et al. Angioneurotic edema of the upper airways and antihypertensive therapy. *Acta Otolaryngol.* 2003; 123:960–964. III.
- 154. Jason DR. Fatal angioedema associated with Captopril. *J Forensic Sci.* 1992;37:1418–1421. III.
- Orr KK, Myers JR. Intermittent visceral edema induced by long-term enalapril administration. Ann Pharmacother. 2004;38:825–827. III.
- 156. Malde B, Regalado J, Greenberger PA. Investigation of angioedema associated with the use of angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors and angiotensin receptor blockers. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol.* 2007; 98:57–63. III.
- 157. Portielje JE, Kruit WH, Eerenberg AJ, et al. Subcutaneous injection of interleukin 12 induces systemic inflammatory responses in humans: implications for the use of IL-12 as vaccine adjuvant. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. 2005;54:37–43. III.
- 158. Weber RW. Adverse reactions to biological modifiers. *Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol.* 2004;4:277–283. III.
- Pichler WJ. Adverse side-effects to biological agents. *Allergy*. 2006; 61:912–920. IV.
- 160. Anandacoomarasamy A, Kannangara S, Barnsley L. Cutaneous vasculitis associated with infliximab in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. *Intern Med J.* 2005;35:638–640. III.
- Chan JL, Davis-Reed L, Kimball AB. Counter-regulatory balance: atopic dermatitis in patients undergoing infliximab infusion therapy. J Drugs Dermatol. 2004;3:315–318. III.
- 162. Chavez-Lopez MA, Delgado-Villafana J, Gallaga A, et al. Severe anaphylactic reaction during the second infusion of infliximab in a patient with psoriatic arthritis. *Allergol Immunopathol (Madr)*. 2005; 33:291–292. III.
- Devos SA, Van Den Bossche N, De Vos M, et al. Adverse skin reactions to anti-TNF-alpha monoclonal antibody therapy. *Dermatol*ogy. 2003;206:388–390. III.
- 164. Diamanti A, Castro M, Papadatou B, et al. Severe anaphylactic reaction to infliximab in pediatric patients with Crohn's disease. J Pediatr. 2002;140:636–637. III.
- 165. Dumont-Berset M, Laffitte E, Gerber C, et al. Eczematous drug eruption after infliximab. *Br J Dermatol.* 2004;151:1272–1273. III.
- 166. Gamarra RM, McGraw SD, Drelichman VS, et al. Serum sickness-like reactions in patients receiving intravenous infliximab. J Emerg Med. 2006;30:41–44. IV
- Krishnan RS, Hsu S. Serum sickness due to infliximab in a patient with psoriasis. J Drugs Dermatol. 2004;3:305–308. III.
- McIlwain L, Carter JD, Bin-Sagheer S, et al. Hypersensitivity vasculitis with leukocytoclastic vasculitis secondary to infliximab. *J Clin Gastroenterol.* 2003;36:411–413. III.
- O'Connor M, Buchman A, Marshall G. Anaphylaxis-like reaction to infliximab in a patient with Crohn's disease. *Dig Dis Sci.* 2002;47: 1323–1325. III.
- 170. Puchner TC, Kugathasan S, Kelly KJ, et al. Successful desensitization and therapeutic use of infliximab in adult and pediatric Crohn's disease patients with prior anaphylactic reaction. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* 2001;7: 34–37. III.
- 171. Soykan I, Ertan C, Ozden A. Severe anaphylactic reaction to infliximab: report of a case. Am J Gastroenterol. 2000;95:2395–2396. III.
- 172. Stallmach A, Giese T, Schmidt C, et al. Severe anaphylactic reaction to infliximab: successful treatment with adalimumab - report of a case. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol.* 2004;16:627–630. III.
- 173. Wasserman MJ, Weber DA, Guthrie JA, et al. Infusion-related reactions to infliximab in patients with rheumatoid arthritis in a clinical practice setting: relationship to dose, antihistamine pretreatment, and infusion number. *J Rheumatol.* 2004;31:1912–1917. III.
- 174. Bennett AN, Wong M, Zain A, et al. Adalimumab-induced asthma. *Rheumatology (Oxford).* 2005;44:1199–1200. III.
- 175. Youdim A, Vasiliauskas EA, Targan SR, et al. A pilot study of adalimumab in infliximab-allergic patients. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* 2004; 10:333–338. III.

- Brion PH, Mittal-Henkle A, Kalunian KC. Autoimmune skin rashes associated with etanercept for rheumatoid arthritis. *Ann Intern Med.* 1999;131:634. III.
- 177. Cairns AP, Duncan MK, Hinder AE, et al. New onset systemic lupus erythematosus in a patient receiving etanercept for rheumatoid arthritis. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2002;61:1031–1032. III.
- Mohan N, Edwards ET, Cupps TR, et al. Leukocytoclastic vasculitis associated with tumor necrosis factor-alpha blocking agents. J Rheumatol. 2004;31:1955–1958. III.
- 179. Mor A, Bingham C III, Barisoni L, et al. Proliferative lupus nephritis and leukocytoclastic vasculitis during treatment with etanercept. J Rheumatol. 2005;32:740–743. III.
- Peno-Green L, Lluberas G, Kingsley T, et al. Lung injury linked to etanercept therapy. *Chest.* 2002;122:1858–1860. III.
- Skytta E, Pohjankoski H, Savolainen A. Etanercept and urticaria in patients with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. *Clin Exp Rheumatol.* 2000; 18:533–534. III.
- 182. Zeltser R, Valle L, Tanck C, et al. Clinical, histological, and immunophenotypic characteristics of injection site reactions associated with etanercept: a recombinant tumor necrosis factor alpha receptor: Fc fusion protein. *Arch Dermatol.* 2001;137:893–899. III.
- 183. O'Neil BH, Allen R, Spigel DR, et al. High incidence of cetuximabrelated infusion reactions in Tennessee and North Carolina and the association with atopic history. J Clin Oncol. 2007;25:3644–3648. III.
- 184. Chung CH, Mirakhur B, Chan E, et al. Cetuximab-induced anaphylaxis and IgE specific for galactose-alpha-1,3-galactose. N Engl J Med. 2008;358:1109–1117. IIb.
- Montero AJ, McCarthy JJ, Chen G, et al. Acute respiratory distress syndrome after rituximab infusion. *Int J Hematol.* 2005;82:324–326. III.
- 186. Winkler U, Jensen M, Manzke O, et al. Cytokine-release syndrome in patients with B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia and high lymphocyte counts after treatment with an anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody (rituximab, IDEC-C2B8). *Blood.* 1999;94:2217–2224. III.
- 187. Cox L, Platts-Mills TA, Finegold I, et al. American Academy of Allergy, Asthma & Immunology/American College of Allergy, Asthma and Immunology Joint Task Force Report on omalizumab-associated anaphylaxis. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2007;120:1373–1377. IV.
- Bielory L. Complementary and alternative interventions in asthma, allergy, and immunology. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol.* 2004;93(2 suppl 1):S45–S54. IV.
- Schafer T. Epidemiology of complementary alternative medicine for asthma and allergy in Europe and Germany. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. 2004;93(2 suppl 1):S5–S10. III.
- Ernst E. Adverse effects of herbal drugs in dermatology. Br J Dermatol. 2000;143:923–929. IV.
- Mullins RJ, Heddle R. Adverse reactions associated with echinacea: the Australian experience. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. 2002;88:42–51. III.
- 192. Lim YL, Thirumoorthy T. Serious cutaneous adverse reactions to traditional Chinese medicines. *Singapore Med J.* 2005;46:714–717. III.
- 193. Mather J, Knowles SR, Shapiro L, et al. Skin eruption following the use of two Chinese herbal preparations: a case report. *Can J Clin Pharmacol.* 2002;9:69–71. III.
- 194. The diagnosis and management of anaphylaxis: an updated practice parameter. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2005;115(3 suppl 2):S483–S523. IV.
- Lazarou J, Pomeranz BH, Corey PN. Incidence of adverse drug reactions in hospitalized patients: a meta-analysis of prospective studies. *JAMA*. 1998;279:1200–1205. III.
- 196. Gandhi TK, Weingart SN, Borus J, et al. Adverse drug events in ambulatory care. N Engl J Med. 2003;348:1556–1564. III.
- 197. Gandhi TK, Burstin HR, Cook EF, et al. Drug complications in outpatients. J Gen Intern Med. 2000;15:149–154. III.
- 198. Rawlins MD, Thompson W. Mechanisms of adverse drug reactions. In: Davies DM, ed. *Textbook of Adverse Drug Reactions*. New York, NY: Oxford University Press; 1991:18–45. IV.

- 199. Coombs RRA, Gell PGH. Classificationn of allergic reactions responsible for clinical hypersensitivity and disease. In: Gell PGH, Coombs RRA, Lachman PJ, eds. *Clinical Aspects of Immunology*. Oxford, England: Blackwell Scientific; 1975:761–781. IV.
- Bernstein IL. Anaphylaxis to heparin sodium. JAMA. 1956;161: 1379–1381. III.
- 201. Bernstein D, Bernstein IL. Chymopapain induced allergic reactions. *Clin Rev Allergy*. 1986;4:201–213. III.
- Dykewicz MS, McGrath KG, Davison R, et al. Identification of patients at risk for anaphylaxis due to streptokinase. *Ann Intern Med.* 1986;146:305–307. IIb.
- Dykewicz MS, Rosen ST, O'Connell MM, et al. Plasma histamine but not anaphylatoxin levels correlate with generalized urticaria from infusions of anti-lymphocyte monoclonal antibodies. *J Lab Clin Med.* 1992;120:290–296. III.
- Patterson R, Roberts M, Grammer LC. Insulin allergy: reevaluation after two decades. Ann Allergy. 1990;64:459–462. III.
- Abramowicz D, Crusiaux A, Goldman M. Anaphylactic shock after retreatment with OKT3 monoclonal antibody. N Engl J Med. 1992; 327:736. III.
- 206. Weiner M, Bernstein IL. Adverse Reactions to Drug Formulation Agents: A Handbook of Excipients. New York, NY: Marcel Dekker; 1989. IV.
- 207. Chapman JA, Bernstein IL, Lee RE, et al. Food allergy: A practice parameter. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol.* 2006;96:S1–S68. IV.
- Price K, Hamilton R. Anaphylactoid reactions in two patients after omalizumab administration after successful long-term therapy. *Allergy Asthma Proc.* 2007;28:313–319. III.
- Swanson MA, Chanmougan D, Schwartz RS. Immunohemolytic anemia due to antipenicillin antibodies. *N Engl J Med.* 1966;274:178–181. III.
- Petz LD. Drug-induced autoimmune hemolytic anemia. *Transfus Med Rev.* 1993;7:242–254. IV.
- 211. Worlledge SM, Carstairs KC, Dacie JV. Autoimmune hemolytic anemia associated with alpha-methyldopa therapy. *Lancet.* 1966;2: 135–139. III.
- 212. Nand S, Wong W, Yuen B, et al. Heparin-induced thrombocytopenia with thrombosis: incidence, analysis of risk factors, and clinical outcomes in 108 consecutive patients treated at a single institution. Am J Hematol. 1997;56:12–16. III.
- Visentin GP, Newman PJ, Aster RH. Characteristics of quinine- and quinidine-induced antibodies specific for platelet glycoproteins IIb and IIIa. *Blood.* 1991;77:2668–2676. III.
- Curtis BR, McFarland JG, Wu GG, et al. Antibodies in sulfonamideinduced immune thrombocytopenia recognize calcium-dependent epitopes on the glycoprotein IIb/IIIa complex. *Blood.* 1994;84: 176–183. III.
- Pedersen-Bjergaard U, Andersen M, Hansen PB. Drug-induced thrombocytopenia: clinical data on 309 cases and the effect of corticosteroid therapy. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol.* 1997;52:183–189. III.
- VonDrygalski A, Curtis BR, Bougie DW, et al. Vancomycin-induced immune thrombocytopenia. N Engl J Med. 2007;356:904–910. III.
- Strom BL, Carson JL, Schinnar R, et al. Descriptive epidemiology of agranulocytosis. Ann Intern Med. 1992;152:1475–1480. III.
- Kaufman DW, Kelly JP, Jurgelon JM, et al. Drugs in the aetiology of agranulocytosis and aplastic anaemia. *Eur J Haematol Suppl.* 1996;60: 23–30. III.
- Lawley TJ, Bierlory L, Gascon P, et al. A prospective clinical and immunologic analysis of patients with serum sickness. *N Engl J Med.* 1984;311:1407–1413. III.
- Tanriover B, Chuang P, Fishbach B, et al. Polyclonal antibody-induced serum sickness in renal transplant recipients: treatment with therapeutic plasma exchange. *Transplantation*. 2005 Jul 27;80:279–281. III.
- Buchler M, Hurault de Ligny B, Madec C, et al. Induction therapy by anti-thymocyte globulin (rabbit) in renal transplantation: a 1-yr follow-up of safety and efficacy. *Clin Transplant*. 2003;17:539–545. III.
- 222. Charpentier B, Rostaing L, Berthoux F, et al. A three-arm study comparing immediate tacrolimus therapy with antithymocyte globulin

induction therapy followed by tacrolimus or cyclosporine A in adult renal transplant recipients. *Transplantation*. 2003;75:844-851. Ib.

- Clark BM, Kotti GH, Shah AD, et al. Severe serum sickness reaction to oral and intramuscular penicillin. *Pharmacotherapy*. 2006;26: 705–708. III.
- Glick R, Hoying J, Cerullo L, et al. Phenylpropanolamine: an overthe-counter drug causing central nervous system vasculitis and intracerebral hemorrhage: case report and review. *Neurosurgery*. 1987;20: 969–974. III.
- Shapiro KS, Pinn VW, Harrington JT, et al. Immune complex glomerulonephritis in hydralazine-induced SLE. Am J Kidney Dis. 1984;3: 270–274. III.
- 226. Griem P, Wulferink B, Sachs JB, et al. Allergic and autoimmune reactions to xenobiotics: how do they arise? *Immunol Today*. 1998;19: 133–141. IV.
- Padovan E, Mauri-Hellweg D, Pichler WJ, et al. T cell recognition of penicillin G: structural features determining antigenic specificity. *Eur J Immunol.* 1996;26:42–48. III.
- Schnyder B, Mauri-Hellweg D, Zanni M, et al. Direct, MHC-dependent presentation of the drug sulfamethoxazole to human alpha-beta T cell clones. J Clin Invest. 1997;100:136–141. III.
- Jennette JC, Falk RJ. Small-vessel vasculitis. N Engl J Med. 1997;337: 1512–1522. IV.
- Merkel PA. Drugs associated with vasculitis. *Curr Opin Rheum.* 1998; 10:45–50. IV.
- Calabrese LH, Duna GF. Drug-induced vasculitis. Curr Opin Rheumatol. 1996;8:34–40. IV.
- 232. Bocquet H, Bagot M, Roujeau JC. Drug-induced pseudolymphoma and drug hypersensitivity syndrome (Drug Rash with Eosinophilia and Systemic Symptoms: DRESS). Semin Cutan Med Surg. 1996;15: 250–257. IV.
- 233. Peyriere H, Dereure O, Breton H, et al. Variability in the clinical pattern of cutaneous side-effects of drugs with systemic symptoms: does a DRESS syndrome really exist? *Br J Dermatol.* 2006;155: 422–428. III.
- 234. Kardaun SH, Sidoroff A, Valeyrie-Allanore L, et al. Variability in the clinical pattern of cutaneous side-effects of drugs with systemic symptoms: does a DRESS syndrome really exist? *Br J Dermatol.* 2007;156:609-611. III.
- 235. Shiohara T, Iijima M, Ikezawa Z, et al. The diagnosis of a DRESS syndrome has been sufficiently established on the basis of typical clinical features and viral reactivations. *Br J Dermatol.* 2007;156: 1083–1084. III.
- Descamps V, Valance A, Edlinger C, et al. Association of human herpesvirus 6 infection with drug reaction with eosinophilia and systemic symptoms. *Arch Dermatol.* 2001;137:301–304. III.
- Michel F, Navellou JC, Ferraud D, et al. DRESS syndrome in a patient on sulfasalazine for rheumatoid arthritis. *Joint Bone Spine*. 2005;72: 82–85. III.
- 238. Markel A. Allopurinol-induced DRESS syndrome. *Isr Med Assoc J.* 2005;7:656–660. III.
- 239. Fields KS, Petersen MJ, Chiao E, et al. Case reports: treatment of nevirapine-associated DRESS syndrome with intravenous immune globulin (IVIG). *J Drugs Dermatol*. 2005;4:10–13. III.
- 240. Limper AH, Rosenow EC. Drug-induced pulmonary disease. In: Murray JF, Nadel JA, Mason RJ, et al, eds. *Textbook of Respiratory Medicine*. 3rd ed. Philadelphia, PA: WB Saunders; 2000:1971–1994. IV.
- Adams LE, Hess EV. Drug-related lupus. Incidence, mechanisms and clinical implications. *Drug Saf.* 1991;6:431–449. IV.
- 242. Zitnik R, Cooper JJ. Pulmonary disease due to antirheumatic agents. *Clin Chest Med.* 1990;11:139–150. IV.
- Vedove CD, Del Giglio M, Schena D, et al. Drug-induced lupus erythematosus. Arch Dermatol Res. 2009;301:99–105. III.
- Borchers AT, Keen CL, Gershwin ME. Drug-induced lupus. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2007;1108:166–182. IV.

- Costa MF, Said NR, Zimmermann B. Drug-induced lupus due to anti-tumor necrosis factor alpha agents. *Semin Arthritis Rheum.* 2008; 37:381–387. III.
- 246. Srivastava M, Rencic A, Diglio G, et al. Drug-induced, Ro/SSApositive cutaneous lupus erythematosus. Arch Dermatol. 2003;139: 45–49. III.
- 247. Sweet JM, Stevenson DD, Simon RA, et al. Long-term effects of aspirin desensitization-treatment for aspirin-sensitive rhinosinusitisasthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1990;85:59–65. IIa.
- Doyle MK, Cuellar ML. Drug-induced vasculitis. Expert Opin Drug Saf. 2003;2:401–409. IV.
- Hubner C, Dietz A, Stremmel W, et al. Macrolide-induced Churg-Strauss syndrome in a patient with atopy. *Lancet.* 1997;350:563. III.
- Churg A, Brallas M, Cronin SR, et al. Formes frustes of Churg-Strauss syndrome. *Chest.* 1995;108:320–323. III.
- 251. Wechsler ME, Garpestad E, Flier SR, et al. Pulmonary infiltrates, eosinophilia, and cardiomyopathy following corticosteroid withdrawal in patients with asthma receiving zafirlukast. *JAMA*. 1998;279: 455–457. III.
- 252. Bonaci-Nikolic B, Nikolic MM, Andrejevic S, et al. Antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibody (ANCA)-associated autoimmune diseases induced by antithyroid drugs: comparison with idiopathic ANCA vasculitides. *Arthritis Res Ther.* 2005;7:R1072–R1081. III.
- 253. Poomthavorn P, Mahachoklertwattana P, Tapaneya-Olarn W, et al. Antineutrophilic cytoplasmic antibody-positive systemic vasculitis associated with propylthiouracil therapy: report of 2 children with Graves' disease. J Med Assoc Thai. 2002;85(suppl 4):S1295–S1301. III.
- Cooper SM, Libman BS, Lazarovich M. Churg-strauss syndrome in a group of patients receiving fluticasone for asthma. *J Rheumatol.* 2002; 29:2651–2652. III.
- 255. Guilpain P, Viallard JF, Lagarde P, et al. Churg-Strauss syndrome in two patients receiving montelukast. *Rheumatology (Oxford)*. 2002;41: 535–539. III.
- Nathani N, Little MA, Kunst H, et al. Churg-Strauss syndrome and leukotriene antagonist use: a respiratory perspective. *Thorax*. 2008;63: 883–888. Ia.
- Harrold LR, Patterson MK, Andrade SE, et al. Asthma drug use and the development of Churg-Strauss syndrome (CSS). *Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf.* 2007;16:620–626. III.
- 258. Larrey D. Drug-induced liver diseases. J Hepatol. 2000;32(1 suppl): 77–88. IV.
- Varriale M, Salvio A, Giannattasio F, et al. Intrahepatic cholestatic jaundice related to administration of ranitidine. A case report with histologic and ultramicroscopic study. *Minerva Gastroenterolog Dietolog.* 2004;50:339–343. III.
- 260. Katsinelos P, Vasiliadis T, Xiarchos P, et al. Ursodeoxycholic acid (UDCA) for the treatment of amoxycillin-clavulanate potassium (Augmentin)-induced intra-hepatic cholestasis: report of two cases. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol.* 2000;12:365–368. III.
- Regal RE, Billi JE, Glazer HM. Phenothiazine-induced cholestatic jaundice. *Clin Pharm.* 1987;6:787–794. III.
- 262. Krawitt EL. Autoimmune hepatitis. N Engl J Med. 2006;354:54–66. IV.
- 263. Wohrl S, Loewe R, Pickl WF, et al. EMPACT syndrome. J Dtsch Dermatol Ges. 2005;3:39–43. III.
- Roujeau JC, Kelly JP, Naldi L, et al. Medication use and the risk of Stevens-Johnson syndrome or toxic epidermal necrolysis. N Engl J Med. 1995;333:1600–1607. III.
- Roujeau JC, Stern R. Severe adverse curaneous reactions to drugs. N Engl J Med. 1994;331:1272–1285. IV.
- 266. Fine JD. Management of acquired bullous skin diseases. N Engl J Med. 1995;333:1475–1484. IV.
- Cheriyan S, Patterson R, Greenberger PA, et al. The outcome of Stevens-Johnson syndrome treated with corticosteroids. *Allergy Proc.* 1995;16:151–155. III.

- Tripathi A, Ditto AM, Grammer LC, et al. Corticosteroid therapy in an additional 13 cases of Stevens-Johnson syndrome: a total series of 67 cases. *Allergy Asthma Proc.* 2000;21:101–105. III.
- Becker DS. Toxic epidermal necrolysis. *Lancet.* 1998;351:1417–1420. IV.
- 270. Bastuji-Garin S, Rzany B, Stern RS, et al. Clinical classification of cases of toxic epidermal necrolysis, Stevens-Johnson syndrome, and erythema multiforme. *Arch Dermatol.* 1993;129:92–96. IV.
- 271. Bastuji-Garin S, Zahedi M, Guillaume JC, et al. Toxic epidermal necrolysis (Lyell syndrome) in 77 elderly patients. *Age Ageing*. 1993; 22:450–456. III.
- 272. Viard I, Wehrli P, Bullani R, et al. Inhibition of toxic epidermal necrolysis by blockade of CD95 with human intravenous immunoglobulin. *Science*. 1998;282:490–493. III.
- 273. Prins C, Kerdel FA, Padilla RS, et al. Treatment of toxic epidermal necrolysis with high-dose intravenous immunoglobulins: Multicenter retrospective analysis of 48 consecutive cases. *Arch Dermatol.* 2003; 139:26–32. III.
- 274. Trent JT, Kirsner RS, Romanelli P, et al. Analysis of intravenous immunoglobulin for the treatment of toxic epidermal necrolysis using SCORTEN: The University of Miami experience. Arch Dermatol. 2003;139:39–43. III.
- 275. Tristani-Firouzi P, Petersen MJ, Saffle JR, et al. Treatment of toxic epidermal necrolysis with intravenous immunoglobulin in children. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2002;47:548–552. III.
- Al-Mutairi N, Arun J, Osama NE, et al. Prospective, noncomparative open study from Kuwait of the role of intravenous immunoglobulin in the treatment of toxic epidermal necrolysis. *Int J Dermatol.* 2004;43: 847–851. III.
- 277. Bachot N, Revuz J, Roujeau JC. Intraveous immunogobulin treatment for Stevens-Johnson syndrome and toxic epidermal necrolysis: A prospective noncomparative study showing no benefit on mortality or progression. Arch Dermatol. 2003;139:33–36. IIb.
- Shortt R, Gomez M, Mittman N, et al. Intravenous immunoglobulin does not improve outcome in toxic epidermal necrolysis. *J Burn Care Rehabil.* 2004;25:246–255. IIb.
- Brown KM, Silver GM, Halerz M, et al. Toxic epidermal necrolysis: does immunoglobulin make a difference? *J Burn Care Rehabil.* 2004; 25:81–88. IIb.
- Paul C, Wolkenstein P, Adle H, et al. Apoptosis as a mechanism of keratinocyte death in toxic epidermal necrolysis. *Br J Dermatol.* 1996; 134:710–714. III.
- Hunger RE, Hunziker T, Buettiker U, et al. Rapid resolution of toxic epidermal necrolysis with anti-TNF-alpha treatment (letter). J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2005;116:923–924. III.
- 282. Fischer M, Fiedler E, Marsch WC, et al. Antitumour necrosis factoralpha antibodies (infliximab) in the treatment of a patient with toxic epidermal necrolysis. *Br J Dermatol.* 2002;146:707–709. III.
- Kearns GL, Wheeler JG, Childress SH, et al. Serum sickness-like reactions to cefaclor: role of hepatic metabolism and individual susceptibility. *J Pediatr.* 1994;125:805–811. III.
- Stricker BHC, Tijssen JGP. Serum sickness-like reactions to cefaclor. J Clin Epidemiol 1992;45:1177–1184. III.
- Hebert AA, Syman ES, Levy ML. Serum sickness-like reactions from cefaclor in children. J Am Acad Dermatol. 1991;25:805–808. III.
- Lowery N, Kearns GL, Young RA, et al. Serum sickness-like reactions associated with cefprozil therapy. J Pediatr. 1994;1994:325–328. III.
- Kearns GL, Wheeler JG, Rieder MJ, et al. Serum sickness-like reaction to cefaclor: Lack of in vitro cross-reactivity with loracarbef. *Clin Pharmacol Ther.* 1998;63:686–693. III.
- Kleinknecht D, Vanhille P, Morel-Maroger L, et al. Acute interstitial nephritis due to drug hypersensitivity. An up-to-date review with a report of 19 cases. *Adv Nephrol.* 1983;12:277–308. III.
- Galpin JE, Shinaberger JH, Stanley TM, et al. Acute interstitial nephritis due to methicillin. *Am J Med.* 1978;65:756–765. III.
- Ooi BS, Pesce AJ, First MR, et al. IgE levels in interstitial nephritis. Lancet. 1974;1:1254–1256. III.

- 291. Silverberg DS, Kidd EG, Shnitka TK, et al. Gold nephropathy: a clinical and pathologic study. *Arthritis Rheumatol.* 1970;13:812–825. III.
- Sternlieb I, Bennett B, Scheinberg H. D-penicillamine induced Goodpasture's syndrome in Wilson's disease. Ann Intern Med. 1975;82: 673–676. III.
- 293. Aloush V, Litinsky I, Caspi D, et al. Propylthiouracil-induced autoimmune syndromes: two distinct clinical presentations with different course and management. *Semin Arthritis Rheum*. 2006;36:4–9. III.
- 294. Wiik A. Clinical and laboratory characteristics of drug-induced vasculitic syndromes. *Arthritis Res Ther.* 2005;7:191–192. IV.
- 295. Levine B, Redmond A, Fellner M, et al. Penicillin allergy and the heterogeneous immune responses of man to benzylpenicillin. J Clin Invest. 1966;45:1895–1906. III.
- Patterson DL, Yunginger JW, Dunn WF, et al. Anaphylaxis induced by the carboxymethylcellulose component of injectable triamcinolone acetonide suspension (Kenalog). *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol.* 1995;74: 163–166. III.
- 297. Shear NH, Spielberg SP, Grant DM, et al. Differences in metabolism of sulfonamides predisposing to idiosyncratic toxicity. *Ann Intern Med.* 1986;105:179–184. IIb.
- 298. Rieder MJ, Shear NH, Kanee A, et al. Prominence of slow acetylator phenotype among patients with sulfonamide hypersensitivity reactions. *Clin Phamacol Ther* 1991;49:13–17. IIa.
- Black AJ, McLeod HL, Capell HA, et al. Thiopurine methyltransferase genotype predicts therapy-limiting severe toxicity from azathioprine. *Ann Intern Med.* 1998;129:716–718. III.
- Adams LE, Mongey AB. Role of genetic factors in drug-related autoimmunity. *Lupus*. 1994;3:443–447. IV.
- Adkinson NF. Risk factors for drug allergy. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1984;74:567–572. IV.
- Idsoe O, Guthe T, Willcox RR, et al. Nature and extent of penicillin side-reactions, with particular reference to fatalities from anaphylactic shock. *Bull WHO*. 1968;38:159–188. III.
- 303. Ganeva M, Gancheva T, Lazarova R, et al. A prospective study of adverse drug reactions in a dermatology department. *Methods Find Exp Clin Pharmacol.* 2007;29:107–112. III.
- Onder G, Gambassi G, Scales CJ, et al. Adverse drug reactions and cognitive function among hospitalized older adults. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol.* 2002;58:371–377. III.
- 305. Bigby M, Jick S, Jick H, et al. Drug-induced cutaneous reactions: a report from the Boston Collaborative Drug Surveillance Program on 15,438 consecutive inpatients, 1975 to 1982. JAMA. 1986;256: 3358–3363. III.
- Smith JW, Johnson JE, Cliff LE. Studies on the epidemiology of adverse drug reactions II: an evaluation of penicillin allergy. N Engl J Med. 1966;274:998–1002. IIb.
- 307. Apter AJ, Kinman JL, Bilker WB, et al. Is there cross-reactivity between penicillins and cephalosporins? *Am J Med.* 2006;119: 354e11–e20. IIb.
- Asero R. Detection of patients with multiple drug allergy syndrome by elective tolerance tests. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. 1998;80: 185–188. IIb.
- Asero R, Tedeschi A, Lorini M. Autoreactivity is highly prevalent in patients with multiple intolerances to NSAIDs. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol.* 2002;88:468–472. IIb.
- Nettis E, Colanardi MC, Paola RD, et al. Tolerance test in patients with multiple drug allergy syndrome. *Immunopharmacol Immunotoxicol*. 2001;23:617–626. III.
- Kurtz K, Beatty T, Adkinson NJ. Evidence for familial aggregation of immunologic drug reactions. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2000;105: 184–185. IIb.
- Stein HB, Patterson AC, Offer RC, et al. Adverse effects of Dpenicillamine in rheumatoid arthritis. *Ann Intern Med.* 1980;92:24–29. III.
- Petri M, Allbritton J. Antibiotic allergy in systemic lupus erythematosus: A case control study. J Rheumatol. 1992;19:265–269. III.

- Pope J, Jerome D, Fenlon D, et al. Frequency of adverse drug reactions in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *J Rheumatol.* 2003;30: 480–484. III.
- 315. Adkinson NF, Swabb EA, Sugerman AA. Immunology of the monobactam aztreonam. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 1984;25: 93–97. III.
- Dolan TP, Meyers A. Bronchial asthma and inhaled rhinitis associated with inhalation of pancreatic extracts. *Am Rev Respir Dis.* 1974;110: 812–813. III.
- 317. Bernstein D, Gallagher JS, Ulmer A, et al. Prospective evaluation of chymopapain sensitivity in patients undergoing chemonucleolysis. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1985;76:458–465. IIb.
- Roujeau JC. Clinical heterogeneity of drug hypersensitivity. *Toxicology*. 2005;209:123–129. III.
- 319. Hausermann P, Harr T, Bircher AJ. Baboon syndrome resulting from systemic drugs: is there strife between SDRIFE and allergic contact dermatitis syndrome? *Contact Dermatitis*. 2004;51:297–310. III.
- Ozkaya E. Fixed drug eruption: state of the art. J Dtsch Dermatol Ges. 2008;6:181–188. III.
- Lorusso D, Di Stefano A, Carone V, et al. Pegylated liposomal doxorubicin-related palmar-plantar erythrodysesthesia ('hand-foot' syndrome). Ann Oncol. 2007;18:1159–1164. III.
- 322. Mahe E, Morelon E, Lechaton S, et al. Acne in recipients of renal transplantation treated with sirolimus: clinical, microbiologic, histologic, therapeutic, and pathogenic aspects. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2006; 55:139–142. III.
- 323. Sidoroff A, Halevy S, Bavinck JN, et al. Acute generalized exanthematous pustulosis (AGEP): a clinical reaction pattern. J Cutan Pathol. 2001;28:113–119. III.
- Schaerli P, Britschgi M, Keller M, et al. Characterization of human T cells that regulate neutrophilic skin inflammation. *J Immunol.* 2004; 173:2151–2158. IIb.
- Navi D, Michael DJ, Fazel N. Drug-induced linear IgA bullous dermatosis. *Dermatol Online J.* 2006;12:12. III.
- Lieberman P, Nicklas RA, Oppenheimer J, et al. The diagnosis and management of anaphylaxis: 2010 Update. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2010;126:477–480. IV.
- 327. Kaliner M, Dyer J, Merlin S, et al. Increased urine histamine and contrast media reactions. *Invest Radiol.* 1984;19:116–118. III.
- Grammer LC, Schafer M, Bernstein D, et al. Prevention of chymopapain anaphylaxis by screening chemonucleolysis candidates with cutaneous chymopapain testing. *Clin Orthop.* 1988;234:12–15. IIb.
- Levine BB. Immunologic mechanisms of penicillin allergy: a haptenic model system for the study of allergic diseases of man. N Engl J Med. 1966;275:1115–1125. III.
- Bernstein IL, Li JT, Bernstein DI, et al. Allergy diagnostic testing: an updated practice parameter. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol.* 2008;100(3 suppl 3):S1–S148. IV.
- Romano A, Quaratino D, DiFonso M, et al. A diagnostic protocol for evaluating nonimmediate reactions to aminopenicillins. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1999;103:1186–1190. III.
- 332. Romano A, Quaratino D, Aimone-Gastin I, et al. Cephalosporin allergy: characterization of unique and cross-reacting cephalosporin antigens. *Int J Immunopathol Pharmacol.* 1997;10:187–191. III.
- 333. Barbaud A, Goncalo M, Bruynzeel D, et al. Guidelines for performing skin tests with drugs in the investigation of cutaneous adverse drug reactions. *Contact Dermatitis.* 2001;45:321–328. III.
- Nyfeler B, Pichler WJ. The lymphocyte transformation test for the diagnosis of drug allergy: sensitivity and specificity. *Clin Exp Allergy*. 1997;27:175–181. III.
- Warrington RJ, Tse KS. Lymphocyte transformation studies in drug hypersensitivity. Can Med Assoc J. 1979;120:1089–1094. III.
- Zanni MP, von Greyerz S, Schnyder B, et al. T cell reactions in patients showing adverse immune reactions to drugs. *Inflamm Res.* 1996; 45(suppl 2):79–84. III.
- 337. Hertl M, Jugert F, Merk HF. CD8+ dermal T cells from a sulphamethoxazole-induced bullous exanthem proliferate in response to drugmodified liver microsomes. Br J Dermatol. 1995;132:215–220. III.

- 338. Hertl M, Bohlen H, Jugert F, et al. Predominance of epidermal CD8+ T lymphocytes in bullous cutaneous reactions caused by beta-lactam antibiotics. *J Invest Dermatol.* 1993;101:794–799. III.
- Wendel GD, Stark BJ, Jamison RB, et al. Penicillin allergy and desensitization in serious infections during pregnancy. *N Engl J Med.* 1985; 312:1229–1232. III.
- Stark BJ, Earl HS, Gross GN, et al. Acute and chronic desensitization of penicillin-allergic patients using oral penicillin. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1987;79:523–532. III.
- Sullivan TJ. Antigen-specific desensitization of patients allergic to penicilin. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1982;69:500–508. III.
- 342. Lantner RR. Ciprofloxacin desensitization in a patient with cystic fibrosis. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1995;96:1001–1002. III.
- Earl HS, Stark BJ, Sullivan TJ. Penicillin induced IgE re-sensitization [abstract]. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1987;79:200.
- 344. Wong JT, Ripple RE, MacLean JA, et al. Vancomycin hypersensitivity: Synergism with narcotics and "desensitization" by a rapid continuous intravenous protocol. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1994;94:189–194. III.
- 345. Chopra N, Oppenheimer J, Derimanov GS, et al. Vancomycin anaphylaxis and successful desensitization in a patient with end stage renal disease on hemodialysis by maintaining steady antibiotic levels. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. 2000;84:633–635. III.
- 346. Gorman SK, Zed PJ, Dhingra VK, et al. Rapid imipenem/cilastatin desensitization for multidrug-resistant Acinetobacter pneumonia. *Ann Pharmacother.* 2003;37:513–516. III.
- 347. Ghosal S, Taylor CJ. Intravenous desensitization to ceftazidime in cystic fibrosis patients. J Antimicrob Chemother. 1997;39:556–557. III.
- 348. Turvey SE, Cronin B, Arnold AD, et al. Antibiotic desensitization for the allergic patient: 5 years of experience and practice. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. 2004;92:426–432. III.
- Mattson JR, Patterson R, Roberts M. Insulin therapy in patients with systemic insulin allergy. Ann Intern Med. 1975;135:818–821. IV.
- 350. Bonno M, Kawasaki H, Hori H, et al. Rapid desensitization for L-asparaginase hypersensitivity. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1998;101: 571–572. III.
- 351. Shahar E, Krivoy N, Pollack S. Effective acute desensitization for immediate-type hypersensitivity to human granulocyte-monocyte colony stimulating factor. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. 1999;83: 543–546. III.
- Millar MM, Grammer LC. Case reports of evaluation and desensitization for anti-thymocyte globulin hypersensitivity. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol.* 2000;85:311–316. III.
- 353. Sullivan TJ, Yecies LD, Shatz GS, et al. Desensitization of patients allergic to penicillin using orally administered beta-lactam antibiotics. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* 1982;69:275–282. III.
- 354. Anne' S, Middleton E, Reisman RE. Vancomycin anaphylaxis and successful desensitization. *Ann Allergy*. 1994;73:402–404. III.
- 355. Lin RY. Desensitization in the management of vancomycin hypersensitivity. Ann Intern Med. 1990;150:2197–2198. III.
- 356. Lee CW, Matulonis UA, Castells MC. Rapid inpatient/outpatient desensitization for chemotherapy hypersensitivity: standard protocol effective in 57 patients for 255 courses. *Gynecol Oncol.* 2005;99: 393–399. III.
- 357. Purdy BH, Philips DM, Sumers RW. Desensitization for sulfasalazine skin rash. Ann Intern Med. 1984;100:512–514. III.
- Fam AG, Dunne SM, Iazzetta J, et al. Efficacy and safety of desensitization to allopurinol following cutaneous reactions. *Arthritis Rheum.* 2001;44:231–238. III.
- 359. Pleskow WW, Stevenson DD, Mathison DA, et al. Aspirin desensitization in aspirin-sensitive asthmatic patients: clinical manifestations and characterization of the refractory period. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* 1982;69(1 pt 1):11–19. IIb.
- 360. Berges-Gimeno MP, Simon RA, Stevenson DD. Long-term treatment with aspirin desensitization in asthmatic patients with aspirinexacerbated respiratory disease. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* 2003;111: 180–186. IIb.

- 361. Stevenson DD, Hankammer MA, Mathison DA, et al. Aspirin desensitization treatment of aspirin-sensitive patients with rhinosinusitisasthma: long-term outcomes. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1996;98: 751–758. IIb.
- 362. White A, Ludington E, Mehra P, et al. Effect of leukotriene modifier drugs on the safety of oral aspirin challenges. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. 2006;97:688–693. IIb.
- 363. White AA, Stevenson DD, Simon RA. The blocking effect of essential controller medications during aspirin challenges in patients with aspirin-exacerbated respiratory disease. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol.* 2005;95:330–335. IIb.
- 364. Gollapudi RR, Teirstein PS, Stevenson DD, et al. Aspirin sensitivity: implications for patiets with coronary artery disease. *JAMA*. 2004;292: 3017–3023. IV.
- 365. Rossini R, Angiolillo DJ, Musumeci G, et al. Aspirin desensitization in patients undergoing percutaneous coronary interventions with stent implantation. *Am J Cardiol.* 2008;101:786–789. IIb.
- 366. Wong JT, Nagy CS, Krinzman SJ, et al. Rapid oral challengedesensitization for patients with aspirin-related urticaria-angioedema. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2000;105:997–1001. IIb.
- 367. Silberman S, Neukirch-Stoop C, Steg PG. Rapid desensitization procedure for patients with aspirin hypersensitivity undergoing coronary stenting. Am J Cardiol. 2005;95:509–510. III.
- Solensky R. Drug desensitization. Immunol Allergy Clin N Am. 2004; 24:425–443. IV.
- Mendelson LM, Ressler C, Rosen JP, et al. Routine elective penicillin allergy skin testing in children and adolescents: study of sensitization. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* 1984;73:76–81. IIb.
- Blanca M, Torres MJ, Garcia JJ, et al. Natural evolution of skin test sensitivity in patients allergic to beta-lactam antibiotics. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* 1999;103:918–924. III.
- Kearns DL, Shira JE, Go S, et al. Ampicillin rash in children. Am J Dis Child. 1973;125:187–290. III.
- Patel BM. Skin rash with infectious mononucleosis and ampicillin. *Pediatrics*. 1967;40:910–911. III.
- Puchner TC, Zacharisen MC. A survey of antibiotic prescribing and knowledge of penicillin allergy. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol.* 2002; 88:24–29. III.
- Kwan T, Lin F, Ngai B, et al. Vancomycin use in 2 Ontario tertiary care hospitals: a survey. *Clin Invest Med.* 1999;22:256–264. III.
- 375. Solensky R, Earl HS, Gruchalla RS. Penicillin allergy: prevalence of vague history in skin test-positive patients. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immu*nol. 2000;85:195–199. III.
- Cieslak PR, Strausbaugh LJ, Fleming DW, et al. Vancomycin in Oregon: who's using it and why. *Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol*. 1999;20:557–560. III.
- 377. Arroliga ME, Radojicic C, Gordon SM, et al. A prospective observational study of the effect of penicillin skin testing on antibiotic use in the intensive care unit. *Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol.* 2003;24: 347–350. III.
- 378. Martinez JA, Ruthazer R, Hansjosten K, et al. Role of environmental contamination as a risk factor for acquisition of vancomycin-resistant enterococci in patients treated in a medical intestive care unit. *Ann Intern Med.* 2003;163:1905–1912. III.
- 379. Fridkin SK, Edwards JR, Courval JM, et al. The effect of vancomycin and third-generation cephalosporins on prevalence of vancomycinresistant enterococci in 126 U.S. adult intensive care units. *Ann Intern Med.* 2001;135:175–183. III.
- Macy E. Elective penicillin skin testing and amoxicillin challenge: effect on outpatient use, cost, and clinical outcomes. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1998;102:281–285. III.
- Perencevich EN, Weller PF, Samore MH, et al. Benefits of negative penicillin skin test results persist during subsequent hospital admissions. *Clin Infect Dis.* 2001;32:317–319. III.
- 382. Harris AD, Sauberman L, Kabbash L, et al. Penicillin skin testing: a way to optimize antibiotic utilization. Am J Med. 1999;107:166–168. III.

- 383. Forrest DM, Schellenberg RR, Thien VV, et al. Introduction of a practice guideline for penicillin skin testing improves the appropriateness of antibiotic therapy. *Clin Infect Dis.* 2001;32:1685–1690. III.
- Li JT, Markus PJ, Osmon DR, et al. Reduction of vancomycin use in orthopedic patients with a history of antibiotic allergy. *Mayo Clin Proc.* 2000;75:902–906. III.
- Rytel MW, Klion FM, Arlander TR, et al. Detection of penicillin hypersensitivity with penicilloyl-polylysine. JAMA. 1963;186: 894-898. IIa.
- International Rheumatic Fever Study Group. Allergic reactions to longterm benzathine penicillin prophylaxis for rheumatic fever. *Lancet*. 1991;337:1308–1310. III.
- Napoli DC, Neeno TA. Anaphylaxis to benzathine penicillin G. Pediatr Asthma Allergy Immunol. 2000;14:329–332. III.
- Parker CW, Shapiro J, Kern M, et al. Hypersensitivity to penicillenic acid derivatives in human beings with penicillin allergy. J Exp Med. 1962;115:821–838. III.
- Levine BB, Ovary Z. Studies on the mechanism of the formation of the penicillin antigen, III: the N-(D-alpha-benzyl-penicilloyl) group as an antigenic determinant responsible for hypersensitivity to penicillin G. J Exp Med. 1961;114:875–904. III.
- Levine BB, Redmond AP. Minor haptenic determinant-specific reagins of penicillin hypersensitivity in man. *Int Arch Allergy Appl Immunol*. 1969;35:445–455. III.
- 391. Jost BC, Wedner HJ, Bloomberg GR. Elective penicillin skin testing in a pediatric outpatient setting. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. 2006;97: 807–812. III.
- 392. Stember RH. Prevalence of skin test reactivity in patients with convincing, vague, and unacceptable histories of penicillin allergy. *Allergy Asthma Proc.* 2005;26:59–64. III.
- 393. Solensky R, Earl HS, Gruchalla RS. Clinical approach to penicillin allergic patients: a survey. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. 2000;84: 329–333. III.
- 394. Kraft D, Berglund A, Rumpold H, et al. Radioallergosorbent test with conjugates specific for 'minor' haptenic determinants in the diagnosis of IgE-mediated penicillin allergy in man. *Clin Allergy*. 1981;11: 579–587. III.
- 395. Ressler C, Neag PM, Mendelson LM. A liquid chromatographic study of stability of the minor chromatographic determinants of penicillin allergy: a stable determinant mixture skin test preparation. J Pharm Sci. 1985;74:448–454. IIb.
- 396. Solley GO, Gleich GJ, Dellen RGV. Penicillin allergy: clinical experience with a battery of skin-test reagents. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1982;69:238–244. IIb.
- 397. Green GR, Rosenblum AH, Sweet LC. Evaluation of penicillin hypersensitivity: value of clinical history and skin testing with penicilloyl-polylysine and penicillin G. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1977;60: 339–345. III.
- 398. Macy E, Richter PK, Falkoff R, et al. Skin testing with penicilloate and penilloate prepared by an improved method: Amoxicillin oral challenge in patients with negative skin test responses to penicillin reagents. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1997;100:586–591. IIb.
- Brown BC, Price EV, Moore MB. Penicilloyl-polylysine as an intradermal test of penicilin sensitivity. JAMA. 1964;189:599–604. III.
- Bernstein IL, Storms WW. Practice parameters for allergy diagnostic testing. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. 1995;75:543–625. IV.
- 401. Valyasevi MA, VanDellen RG. Frequency of systematic reactions to penicillin skin tests. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. 2000;85:363–365. III.
- 402. Nugent FS, Quinn FM, McGrath CM, et al. Determination of the incidence of sensitizationn after penicillin skin testing. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol.* 2003;90:398–403. IIb.
- 403. Yates RR. New intervention strategies for reducing antibiotic resistance. Chest. 1999;115:S24–S27. IV.
- 404. Warrington RJ, Burton R, Tsai E. The value of routine penicillin allergy skin testing in an outpatient population. *Allergy Asthma Proc.* 2003;24:199–202. III.

- 405. Solensky R, Earl HS, Gruchalla RS. Lack of penicillin resensitization in patients with a history of penicillin allergy after receiving repeated penicillin courses. *Ann Intern Med.* 2002;162:822–826. IIb.
- Bittner A, Greenberger P. Incidence of resensitization after tolerating penicillin treatment in penicillin-allergic patients. *Allergy Asthma Proc.* 2004;25:161–164. III.
- 407. Parker PJ, Parrinello JT, Condemi JJ, et al. Penicillin resensitization among hospitalized patients. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1991;88: 213–217. III.
- 408. Lopez-Serrano MC, Caballero MT, Barranco P, et al. Booster responses in the study of allergic reactions to beta-lactam antibiotics. J Invest Allergol Clin Immunol. 1996;6:30–35. IIb.
- 409. Bousquet PJ, Co-Minh HB, Arnoux B, et al. Importance of mixture of minor determinants and benzylpenicilloyl poly-L-lysine skin testing in the diagnosis of beta-lactam allergy. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* 2005; 115:1314–1316. III.
- 410. Adkinson NF, Thompson WL, Maddrey WC, et al. Routine use of penicillin skin testing on an inpatient service. N Engl J Med. 1971;46: 457–460. III.
- 411. Van Dellen RG, Gleich GJ. Penicillin skin tests as predictive and diagnostic aids in penicillin allergy. *Med Clin North Am.* 1970;54: 997–1007. III.
- Sullivan TJ, Wedner HJ, Shatz GS, et al. Skin testing to detect penicillin allergy. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1981;68:171–180. III.
- 413. Goldberg A, Confino-Cohen R. Skin testing and oral penicillin challenge in patients with a history of remote penicillin allergy. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol.* 2008;100:37–43. III.
- 414. Patriarca G, Schiavino D, Romano A, et al. Status of patch and other skin tests in the diagnosis of systemic penicillin allergy. *Allergol Immunopathol.* 1987;15:1–5. III.
- 415. Romano A, Di Fonso M, Papa G, et al. Evaluation of adverse cutaneous reactins to aminopenicillins with emphasis on those manifested by maculopapular rashes. *Allergy*. 1995;50:113–118. III.
- Vega JM, Blanca M, Garcia JJ, et al. Immediate allergic reactions to amoxicillin. *Allergy*. 1994;49:317–322. III.
- 417. Blanca M, Vega JM, Garcia J, et al. Allergy to penicillin with good tolerance to other penicillins: study of the incidence in subjects allergic to betalactams. *Clin Exp Allergy*. 1990;20:475–481. III.
- 418. Blanca M, Perez E, Garcia J, et al. Anaphylaxis to amoxycillin but good tolerance for benzyl penicillin: in vivo and in vitro studies of specific IgE antibodies. *Allergy*. 1988;43:508–510. III.
- Shapiro S, Siskind V, Slone D, et al. Drug rash with ampicillin and other penicillins. *Lancet.* 1969;2:969–972. III.
- Cameron SJ, Richmond J. Ampicillin hypersensitivity in lymphatic leukemia. Scot Med J. 1974;16:425–427. III.
- Jick H, Porter JB. Potentiation of ampicillin skin reactions by allopurinol or hyperuricemia. J Clin Pharmacol. 1981;21:456–458. III.
- 422. Lin RY. A perspective on penicillin allergy. Ann Intern Med. 1992; 152:930–937. IV.
- Marcos Bravo C, Luna Ortiz I, Vazquez Gonzalez R. Hypersensitivity to cefuroxime with good tolerance to other beta-lactams. *Allergy*. 1995;50:359–361. III.
- 424. Igea JM, Fraj J, Davila I, et al. Allergy to cefazolin: study of in vivo cross reactivity with other betalactams. Ann Allergy. 1992;68:515–519. III.
- Romano A, Quaratino D, Venuti A, et al. Selective type-1 hypersensitivity to cefuroxime. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1998;101:564–565. III.
- 426. Romano A, Quaratino D, Venemalm L, et al. A case of IgE-mediated hypersensitivity to ceftriaxone. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1999;104: 1113–1114. III.
- 427. Poston SA, Jennings HR, Poe KL. Cefazolin tolerance does not predict ceftriaxone hypersensitivity: unique side chains precipitate anaphylaxis. *Pharmacotherapy*. 2004;24:668–672. III.
- Empedrad R, Darter AL, Earl HS, et al. Nonirritating intradermal skin test concentrations for commonly prescribed antibiotics. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* 2003;112:629–630. IIb.

- Batchelor FR, Dewdney JM, Weston RD, et al. The immunogenicity of cephalosporin derivatives and their cross-reaction with penicillin. *Immunology*. 1966;10:21–33. III.
- Assem ESK, Vickers MR. Tests for penicilin allergy in man II: the immunological cross-reaction between penicillins and cephalosporins. *Immunology*. 1974;27:255–269. III.
- Abraham GN, Petz LD, Fudenberg HH. Immunohaematological crossallergenicity between penicillin and cephalothin in humans. *Clin Exp Immunol.* 1968;3:343–357. III.
- 432. Grieco MH. Cross-allergenicity of the penicillins and the cephalosporins. Ann Intern Med. 1967;119:141–146. III.
- Rothschild PD, Doty DB. Cephalothin reaction after penicillin sensitization. JAMA. 1966;196:372–373. III.
- 434. Scholand JF, Tennenbaum JI, Cerilli GJ. Anaphylaxis to cephalothin in a patient allergic to penicillin. *JAMA*. 1968;206:130–132. III.
- 435. Spruill FG, Minette LJ, Sturner WQ. Two surgical deaths associated with cephalothin. *JAMA*. 1974;229:440–441. III.
- 436. Thoburn R, Johnson JE, Cluff LE. Studies on the epidemiology of adverse drug reactions IV: the relationship of cephalothin and penicillin allergy. JAMA. 1966;198:345–348. III.
- 437. Girard JP. Common antigenic determinants of penicillin G, ampicillin and the cephalosporins demonstrated in men. *Int Arch Allergy*. 1968; 33:428–438. III.
- 438. Macy E, Mangat R, Burchette RJ. Penicillin skin testing in advance of need: multiyear follow-up in 568 test result-negative subjects exposed to oral penicillins. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2003;111:1111–1115. III.
- Saxon A, Beall GN, Rohr AS, et al. Immediate hypersensitivity reactions to beta-lactam antibiotics. *Ann Intern Med.* 1987;107:204–215. III.
- 440. Pichichero ME, Pichichero DM. Diagnosis of penicillin, amoxicillin, and cephalosporin allergy: reliability of examination by skin testing and oral challenge. *J Pediatr.* 1998;132:137–143. IIb.
- 441. Pederson-Bjergaard J. Cephalothin in the treatment of penicillin sensitive patients. *Acta Allergol.* 1967;22:299–306. III.
- 442. Goodman EJ, Morgan MJ, Johnson PA, et al. Cephalosporins can be given to penicillin-allergic patients who do not exhibit an anaphylactic response. *J Clin Anesth.* 2001;13:561–564. IIb.
- 443. Daulat SB, Solensky R, Earl HS, et al. Safety of cephalosporin administration to patients with histories of penicillin allergy. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2004;113:1220–1222. IIb.
- 444. Miranda A, Blanca M, Vega JM, et al. Cross-reactivity between a penicillin and a cephalosporin with the same side chain. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1996;98:671–677. IIb.
- 445. Sastre J, Quijano LD, Novalbos A, et al. Clinical cross-reactivity between amoxicillin and cephadroxil in patients allergic to amoxicillin and with good tolerance of penicillin. *Allergy*. 1996;51:383–386. IIb.
- 446. Adkinson NF, Saxon A, Spence MR, et al. Cross-allergenicity and immunogenicity of aztreonam. *Rev Infect Dis.* 1985;7(suppl 4): S613–S621. III.
- 447. Adkinson NF. Immunogenicity and cross-allergenicity of aztreonam. Am J Med. 1990;88(suppl 3C):S3–14. IV.
- 448. Saxon A, Hassner A, Swabb EA, et al. Lack of cross-reactivity between aztreonam, a monobactam antibiotic, and penicillin in penicillinallergic subjects. *J Infect Dis.* 1984;149:16–22. IIa.
- 449. Saxon A, Swabb EA, Adkinson NF. Investigation into the immunologic cross-reactivity of aztreonam with other beta-lactam antibiotics. *Am J Med.* 1985;78(suppl 2A):19–26. III.
- Vega JM, Blanca M, Garcia JJ, et al. Tolerance to aztreonam in patients allergic to betalactam antibiotics. *Allergy*. 1991;46:196–202. III.
- 451. Moss RB. Sensitization to aztreonam and cross-reactivity with other beta-lactam antibiotics in high-risk patients with cystic fibrosis. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* 1991;87:78–88. III.
- 452. Graninger W, Pirich K, Schindler I, et al. Aztreonam efficacy in difficult-to-treat infections and tolerance in patients with betalactam hypersensitivity. *Chemioterapia*. 1985;4(suppl 1):64–66. III.
- 453. Sodhi M, Axtell SS, Callahan J, et al. Is it safe to use carbapenems in patients with a history of allergy to penicillin? *J Antimicrob Chemother*. 2004;54:1155–1157. III.

- 454. Prescott WA, DePestel DD, Ellis JJ, et al. Incidence of carbapenemassociated allergic-type reactions among patients with versus patients without a reported penicillin allergy. *Clin Infect Dis.* 2004;38: 1102–1107. III.
- 455. McConnell SA, Penzak SR, Warmack TS, et al. Incidence of imipenem hypersensitivity reactions in febrile neutropenic marrow transplant patients with a history of penicillin allergy. *Clin Infect Dis.* 2000;31: 1512–1514. III.
- 456. Saxon A, Adelman DC, Patel A, et al. Imipenem cross-reactivity with penicillin in humans. *J Allergy Clin Immunol*. 1988;82:213–217. IIa.
- 457. Coopman SA, Johnson RA, Platt R, et al. Cutaneous disease and drug reactions in HIV infection. *N Engl J Med.* 1993;328:1670–1674. IV.
- Jick H. Adverse reactions to trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole in hospitalized patients. *Rev Infect Dis.* 1982;4:426–428. III.
- 459. Shapiro LE, Knowles SR, Seber EW, et al. Safety of celecoxib in individuals alergic to sulfonamide: a pilot study. *Drug Saf.* 2003;26: 187–195. IIb.
- Patterson R, Bello AE, Lefkowith F. Immunologic tolerability profile of celecoxib. *Clin Ther.* 1999;21:2065–2079. III.
- 461. Harle DG, Baldo BA, Wells JV. Drugs as allergens: detection and combining site specificities of IgE antibodies to sulfamethoxazole. *Mol Immunol.* 1988;25:1347–1354. III.
- 462. Knowles S, Shapiro L, Shear NH. Should celecoxib be contraindicated in patients who are allergic to sulfonamides? *Drug Saf.* 2001;24: 239–247. III.
- 463. Cribb AE, Lee BL, Trepanier LA, et al. Adverse reactions to sulphonamide and sulphonamide-trimethoprim antimicrobials: clinical syndromes and pathogenesis. *Adverse Drug React Toxicol Rev.* 1996;15: 9–50. IV.
- 464. Polk RE, Healy DP, Schwartz LB, et al. Vancomycin and the red man syndrome: pharmacodynamics of histamine release. *J Infect Dis.* 1988; 157:502–507. IIb.
- 465. Sahai J, Healy DP, Garris R, et al. Influence of antihistamine pretreatment on vancomycin-induced red-man syndrome. *J Infect Dis.* 1989; 160:876–881. III.
- 466. Villavicencio AT, Hey LA, Patel D, et al. Acute cardiac and pulmonary arrest after infusion of vancomycin with subsequent desensitization. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1997;100:853–854. III.
- 467. Lerner A, Dwyer JM. Desensitization to vancomycin (letter). Ann Intern Med. 1984;100:157. III.
- 468. Earl HS, Sullivan TJ. Acute desensitization of a patient with cystic fibrosis allergic to both beta-lactam and aminoglycoside antibiotics. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1987;79:477–483. III.
- 469. Connolly M, McAdoo J, Bourke JF. Gentamicin-induced anaphylaxis. Ir J Med Sci. 2007;176:317–318. III.
- Schulze S, Wollina U. Gentamicin-induced anaphylaxis. *Allergy*. 2003; 58:88–89. III.
- 471. Davis H, McGoodwin E, Reed TG. Anaphylactoid reactions reported after treatment with ciprofloxacin. Ann Intern Med. 1989;111: 1041–1043. III.
- 472. Burke P, Burne SR. Allergy associated with ciprofloxacin. *BMJ*. 2000; 320:679. III.
- 473. Deamer RL, Prichare JG, Loman GJ. Hypersensitivity and anaphylactoid reactions to ciprofloxacin. *Ann Pharmacother*. 1992;26: 1081–1084. III.
- 474. Sood A, Taylor JS. Bacitracin: allergen of the year. Am J Contact Dermat. 2003;14:3–4. IV.
- 475. Freiler JF, Steel KE, Hagan LL, et al. Intraoperative anaphylaxis to bacitracin during pacemaker change and laser lead extraction. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. 2005;95:389–393. III.
- 476. Saryan JA, Dammin TC, Bouras AE. Anaphylaxis to topical bacitracin zinc ointment. Am J Emerg Med. 1998;16:512–513. III.
- 477. Sharif S, Goldberg B. Detection of IgE antibodies to bacitracin using a commercially available streptavidin-linked solid phase in a patient with anaphylaxis to triple antibiotic ointment. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol.* 2007;98:563–566. III.
- Lindars DC. Severe urticaria complicating streptomycin therapy. *Lancet.* 1950;1:110–112. III.

- 479. Paine D. Allergic reactions to paraaminosalicylic acid; report of six cases. Ann Intern Med. 1955;96:768–776. III.
- Romano A, Viola M, Di Fonso M, et al. Anaphylaxis to streptomycin. *Allergy*. 2002;57:1087–1088. III.
- Dhamgaye T, Mohanty KC. Hypersensitivity to multiple drugs streptomycin, rifampicin and ethambutol: an unusual presentation. *Tuber Lung Dis.* 1995;76:181. III.
- 482. Hmouda H, Laouani-Kechrid C, Nejib Karoui M, et al. A rare case of streptomycin-induced toxic epidermal necrolysis in a patient with tuberculosis: a therapeutic dilemma. *Ann Pharmacother*. 2005;39: 165–168. III.
- 483. Martinez E, Collazos J, Mayo J. Hypersensitivity reactions to rifampin: pathogenetic mechanisms, clinical manifestations, management strategies, and review of the anaphylactic-like reactions. *Medicine (Baltimore)*. 1999;78:361–369. IV.
- Agrawal S, Agarwalla A. Dapsone hypersensitivity syndrome: a clinico-epidemiological review. J Dermatol. 2005;32:883–889. III.
- 485. Alves-Rodrigues EN, Ribeiro LC, Silva MD, et al. Renal hypersensitivity vasculitis associated with dapsone. Am J Kidney Dis. 2005;46: e51–3. III.
- Gonzalez P, Soriano V, Caballero T, et al. Idiopatic angioedema treated with dapsone. *Allergol Immunopathol (Madr)*. 2005;33:54–56. III.
- 487. Tobin-D'Angelo MJ, Hoteit MA, Brown KV, et al. Dapsone-induced hypersensitivity pneumonitis mimicking *Pneumocystis carinii* pneumonia in a patient with AIDS. *Am J Med Sci.* 2004;327:163–165. III.
- Fireman P, Fineberg SE, Galloway JA. Development of IgE antibodies to human (recombinant DNA), porcine, and bovine insulins in diabetic subjects. *Diabetes Care*. 1982;5(suppl 2):119–125. III.
- Asai M, Yoshida M, Miura Y. Immunologic tolerance to intravenously injected insulin. N Engl J Med. 2006;354:307–309. III.
- 490. Radermecker RP, Scheen AJ. Allergy reactions to insulin: effects of continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion and insulin analogues. *Diabetes Metab Res Rev.* 2007;23:348–355. III.
- 491. Mudaliar S, Henry RR. Inhaled insulin in patients with asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Diabetes Technol Ther.* 2007; 9(suppl 1):S83–S92. III.
- 492. Kim R. Anaphylaxis to protamine masquerading as an insulin allergy. *Del Med J.* 1993;65:17–23. III.
- 493. Szebeni J, Alving CR, Savay S, et al. Formation of complementactivating particles in aqueous solutions of Taxol: possible role in hypersensitivity reactions. *Int Immunopharmacol.* 2001;1:721–735. IIb.
- 494. Weiss RB. Hypersensitivity reactions. *Semin Oncol.* 1992;19:458–477. IV.
- 495. Woo MH, Hak LJ, Storm MC, et al. Hypersensitivity or development of antibodies to asparaginase does not impact treatment outcome of childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *J Clin Oncol.* 2000;18: 1525–1532. IIb.
- 496. Larson RA, Fretzin MH, Dodge RK, et al. Hypersensitivity reactions to L-asparaginase do not impact on the remission duration of adults with acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Leukemia*. 1998;12:660–665. III.
- 497. Kopp HG, Kanz L, Hartmann JT. Hypersensitivity pneumonitis associated with the use of trofosfamide. *Anticancer Drugs*. 2004;15: 603–604. III.
- 498. Carr A, Tindall B, Penny R, et al. *In vitro* cytotoxicity as a marker of hypresensitivity to sulphamethoxazole in patients with HIV. *Clin Exp Immunol.* 1993;94:21–25. III.
- 499. Carr A, Penny R, Cooper DA. Efficacy and safety of rechallenge with low-dose trimethoprim sulfamethoxazole in previously hypersensitive HIV infected patients. *AIDS*. 1993;7:65–71. IIb.
- 500. Carr A, Gross AS, Hoskins JM, et al. Acetylation phenotype and cutaneous hypersensitivity to trimethoprim-sulphamethoxazole in HIVinfected patients. *AIDS*. 1994;8:333–337. III.
- 501. Lehmann DF, Liu A, Newman N, et al. The association of opportunistic infections with the occurrence of trimethoprim/sulfamethoxazole hypersensitivity in patients infected with human immunodeficiency virus. *J Clin Pharmacol.* 1999;39:533–537. III.

- 502. Lee BL, Wong D, Benowitz NL, et al. Altered patterns of drug metabolism in patients with acquired immunodeficiency syndrome. *Clin Phamacol Ther.* 1993;53:529–535. III.
- 503. Walmsley SL, Khorasheh S, Singer J, et al. A randomized trial of N-acetylcysteine for prevention of trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole hypersensitivity reactions in *Pneumocystis carinii* pneumonia prophylaxis (CTN 057). J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr Hum Retrovirol. 1988;19:498–505. Ib.
- 504. Rieder MJ, Krause R, Bird IA, et al. Toxicity of sulfonamide-reactive metabolites in HIV-infected, HTLV-infected, and noninfected cells. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 1995;8:134–140. III.
- Battegay M, Opravil M, Wuthrich B, et al. Rash with amoxicillin clavulanate therapy in HIV-infected patients. *Lancet.* 1989;2:1100. III.
- 506. Okwera A, Whalen C, Byekwaso F. Randomized trial of thiacetazone and rifampicin-containing regimens for pulmonary tuberculosis in HIV-infected Ugandans: The Makere University-Case Western Reserve University Research Collaboration. *Lancet.* 1994;344: 1323–1328. Ib.
- 507. Pertel P, Hirschtick R. Adverse reactions to dapsone in persons injected with human immunodeficiency virus. *Clin Infect Dis.* 1994;18: 630–632. III.
- 508. O'Neil CE, Reed MA, Lopez M, et al. Evaluation of immune parameters in HIV+ subjects reporting adverse reactions to sulfamethoxazole. Int Arch Allergy Appl Immunol. 1991;94:246–247. III.
- Daftarian MP, Filion LG, Cameron W, et al. Immune response to sulfamethoxazole in patients with AIDS. *Clin Diagn Lab Immunol*. 1995;2:199–204. III.
- 510. Douglas R, Spelman D, Czarny D, et al. Successful desensitization of two patients who previously developed Stevens-Johnson Syndrome while receiving trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole. *Clin Infect Dis.* 1997; 25:1480. III.
- Ackerman Z, Levy M. Hypersensitivity reactions to drugs in acquired immunodeficiency syndrome. *Postgrad Med J.* 1987;63:55–56. IV.
- 512. Holtzman DM, Kaku DA, So YT. New-onset seizures associated with human immunodeficiency virus infection: causation and clinical features in 100 cases. *Am J Med.* 1989;87:173–177. III.
- 513. Jacobson MA, Besch CL, Child C, et al. Toxicity of clindamycin as prophylaxis for AIDS-associated toxoplasmic encephalitis. Community Programs for Clinical Research on AIDS. *Lancet.* 1992;339:333–334. III.
- Kennedy C, Goetz M, Mathisen G. Ciprofloxacin-induced anaphylactoid reactions in patients infected with the human immunodeficiency virus. West J Med. 1990;153:563–564. III.
- 515. Floridia M, Bucciardini R, Fragola V, et al. Risk factors and occurrence of rash in HIV-positive patients not receiving nonnucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor: data from a randomized study evaluating use of protease inhibitors in nucleoside-experienced patients with very low CD4 levels (<50 cells/microL). *HIV Med.* 2004;5:1–10. IIb.
- 516. Martin AM, Nolan D, James I, et al. Predisposition to nevirapine hypersensitivity associated with HLA-DRB1\*0101 and abrogated by low CD4 T-cell counts. *AIDS*. 2005;19:97–99. III.
- 517. McIlleron H, Meintjes G, Burman WJ, et al. Complications of antiretroviral therapy in patients with tuberculosis: drug interactions, toxicity, and immune reconstitution inflammatory syndrome. *J Infect Dis.* 2007; 196(suppl 1):S63–S75. IV.
- Becker Y. HIV-1 induced AIDS is an allergy and the allergen is the Shed gp120: a review, hypothesis, and implications. *Virus Genes*. 2004;28:319–331. IV.
- 519. Canova CR, Kuhn M, Zellweger U, et al. [Fulminant, rapidly reversible hepatitis and life-threatening anaphylaxis following rifampicin in an HIV-positive female patient with latent adrenal cortex insufficiency [in German]. Schweiz Med Wochenschr. 1996;126:392–397. III.
- 520. Inmaculada Rubio M, Alvarez del Vayo C, Cisneros JM, et al. Fatal anaphylactic shock caused by rifampicin in a patient with HIV infection [in French]. *Enferm Infecc Microbiol Clin.* 1996;14:200–201. III.
- 521. Levinson ML, Lynch JP, 3rd, Bower JS. Reversal of progressive, life-threatening gold hypersensitivity pneumonitis by corticosteroids. *Am J Med.* 1981;71:908–912. III.

- 522. Neustadt DH. Another anaphylactic reaction after gold (aurothiomalate) injection. J Rheumatol. 1995;22:190. III.
- 523. Rodriguez-Perez M, Gonzalez-Dominguez J, Mataran L, et al. Association of HLA-DR5 with mucocutaneous lesions in patients with rheumatoid arthritis receiving gold sodium thiomalate. *J Rheumatol.* 1994;21:41–43. III.
- 524. Schapira D, Nahir M, Scharf Y. Pulmonary injury induced by gold salts treatment. *Med Interne*. 1985;23:259–263. III.
- 525. Bialy-Golan A, Brenner S. Penicillamine-induced bullous dermatoses. J Am Acad Dermatol. 1996;35(5 pt 1):732–742. IV.
- 526. Blanco R, Martinez-Taboada VM, Gonzalez-Gay MA, et al. Acute febrile toxic reaction in patients with refractory rheumatoid arthritis who are receiving combined therapy with methotrexate and azathio-prine. *Arthritis Rheum.* 1996;39:1016–1020. III.
- 527. Lisi P, Assalve D, Hansel K. Phototoxic and photoallergic dermatitis caused by hydroxychloroquine. *Contact Dermatitis*. 2004;50:255–256. III.
- 528. Woltsche M, Woltsche-Kahr I, Roeger GM, et al. Sulfasalazineinduced extrinsic allergic alveolitis in a patient with psoriatic arthritis. *Eur J Med Res.* 2001;6:495–497. III.
- Fischer TW, Bauer HI, Graefe T, et al. Erythema multiforme-like drug eruption with oral involvement after intake of leflunomide. *Dermatology*. 2003;207:386–389. III.
- 530. Gensburger D, Kawashima M, Marotte H, et al. Lupus erythematosus with leflunomide: induction or reactivation? *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2005;64: 153–155. III.
- 531. Smolen JS, Emery P. Efficacy and safety of leflunomide in active rheumatoid arthritis. *Rheumatology (Oxford)*. 2000;39(suppl 1):48–56. IV.
- Carrasco R, Smith JA, Lovell D. Biologic agents for the treatment of juvenile rheumatoid arthritis: current status. *Paediatr Drugs*. 2004;6: 137–146. IV.
- 533. Vila AT, Puig L, Fernandez-Figueras MT, et al. Adverse cutaneous reactions to anakinra in patients with rheumatoid arthritis: clinicopathological study of five patients. Br J Dermatol. 2005;153:417–423. III.
- 534. Simpson D, Noble S, Perry C. Spotlight on glatiramer acetate in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. *BioDrugs*. 2003;17:207–210. IIa.
- Galetta SL, Markowitz C. US FDA-approved disease-modifying treatments for multiple sclerosis: review of adverse effect profiles. CNS Drugs. 2005;19:239–252. IV.
- 536. Thouvenot E, Hillaire-Buys D, Bos-Thompson MA, et al. Erythema nodosum and glatiramer acetate treatment in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler*. 2007;13:941–944. III.
- 537. Bayerl C, Bohland P, Jung EG. Systemic reaction to glatiramer acetate. Contact Dermatitis. 2000;43:62–63. III.
- Rauschka H, Farina C, Sator P, et al. Severe anaphylactic reaction to glatiramer acetate with specific IgE. *Neurology*. 2005;64:1481–1482. IIa.
- 539. Kappos L, Comi G, Panitch H, et al; The Altered Peptide Ligand in Relapsing MS Study Group. Induction of a non-encephalitogenic type 2 T helper-cell autoimmune response in multiple sclerosis after administration of an altered peptide ligand in a placebo-controlled, randomized phase II trial. *Nat Med.* 2000;6:1176–1182. IIa.
- 540. Burks J. Interferon-beta1b for multiple sclerosis. *Expert Rev Neurother*. 2005;5:153–164. IV.
- Sabahi R, Anolik JH. B-cell-targeted therapy for systemic lupus erythematosus. *Drugs.* 2006;66:1933–1948. IV.
- 542. Eldor R, Cohen IR, Raz I. Innovative immune-based therapeutic approaches for the treatment of type 1 diabetes mellitus. *Int Rev Immunol.* 2005;24:327–339. IV.
- 543. Gescuk BD, Davis JC, Jr.Novel therapeutic agents for systemic lupus erythematosus. *Curr Opin Rheumatol.* 2002;14:515–521. IV.
- 544. Huurman VA, Unger WW, Koeleman BP, et al. Differential inhibition of autoreactive memory- and alloreactive naive T cell responses by soluble cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen 4 (sCTLA4), CTLA4Ig and LEA29Y. *Clin Exp Immunol.* 2007;150:487–493. III.

- 545. Georgitis JW, Browning MC, Steiner D, et al. Anaphylaxis and desensitization to the murine monoclonal antibody used for renal graft rejection. Ann Allergy. 1991;66:343–347. III.
- 546. Keymeulen B, Vandemeulebroucke E, Ziegler AG, et al. Insulin needs after CD3-antibody therapy in new-onset type 1 diabetes. N Engl J Med. 2005;352:2598–2608. IIa.
- 547. Ebo DG, Piel GC, Conraads V, et al. IgE-mediated anaphylaxis after first intravenous infusion of cyclosporine. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. 2001;87:243–245. III.
- Kuiper RA, Malingre MM, Beijnen JH, et al. Cyclosporine-induced anaphylaxis. *Ann Pharmacother*. 2000;34:858–861. III.
- 549. Sternthal MB, Murphy SJ, George J, et al. Adverse events associated with the use of cyclosporine in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *Am J Gastroenterol.* 2008;103:937–943. III.
- 550. Takamatsu Y, Ishizu M, Ichinose I, et al. Intravenous cyclosporine and tacrolimus caused anaphylaxis but oral cyclosporine capsules were tolerated in an allogeneic bone marrow transplant recipient. *Bone Marrow Transplant.* 2001;28:421–423. III.
- Hardinger KL, Cornelius LA, Trulock EP III, et al. Sirolimus-induced leukocytoclastic vasculitis. *Transplantation*. 2002;74:739–743. III.
- Lykavieris P, Frauger E, Habes D, et al. Angioedema in pediatric liver transplant recipients under tacrolimus immunosuppression. *Transplantation*. 2003;75:152–155. III.
- 553. Nagarajan S, Friedrich T, Garcia M, et al. Gastrointestinal leukocytoclastic vasculitis: an adverse effect of sirolimus. *Pediatr Transplant*. 2005;9:97–100. III.
- Wadei H, Gruber SA, El-Amm JM, et al. Sirolimus-induced angioedema. Am J Transplant. 2004;4:1002–1005. III.
- 555. Granot E, Yakobovich E, Bardenstein R. Tacrolimus immunosuppression: an association with asymptomatic eosinophilia and elevated total and specific IgE levels. *Pediatr Transplant*. 2006;10:690–693. III.
- 556. Hijnen DJ, Knol E, Bruijnzeel-Koomen C, et al. Cyclosporin A treatment is associated with increased serum immunoglobulin E levels in a subgroup of atopic dermatitis patients. *Dermatitis.* 2007;18:163–165. III.
- 557. Kosseifi SG, Guha B, Nassour DN, et al. The Dapsone hypersensitivity syndrome revisited: a potentially fatal multisystem disorder with prominent hepatopulmonary manifestations. J Occup Med Toxicol. 2006; 1:9. IV.
- 558. Teo RY, Tay YK, Tan CH, et al. Presumed dapsone-induced drug hypersensitivity syndrome causing reversible hypersensitivity myocarditis and thyrotoxicosis. *Ann Acad Med Singapore*. 2006;35:833–836. III.
- Levin N, Mali A, Karussis D. Severe skin reaction related to mycophenolate mofetil for myasthenia gravis. *Clin Neuropharmacol.* 2005; 28:152–153. III.
- 560. Szyper-Kravitz M, Sheinberg P, Sidi Y, et al. Hypersensitivity to mycophenolate mofetil in systemic lupus erythematosus: diagnostic measures and successful desensitization. *Int Arch Allergy Immunol.* 2005;138:334–336. III.
- Morgan M, Khan DA. Therapeutic alternatives for chronic urticaria: an evidence-based review, part 1. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. 2008; 100:403–411. IV.
- Morgan M, Khan DA. Therapeutic alternatives for chronic urticaria: an evidence-based review, part 2. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. 2008; 100:517–526. IV.
- 563. Neuber K, Schwartz I, Itschert G, et al. Treatment of atopic eczema with oral mycophenolate mofetil. *Br J Dermatol.* 2000;143:385–391. III.
- 564. Shahar E, Bergman R, Guttman-Yassky E, et al. Treatment of severe chronic idiopathic urticaria with oral mycophenolate mofetil in patients not responding to antihistamines and/or corticosteroids. *Int J Dermatol.* 2006;45:1224–1227. III.
- 565. Moscicki RA, Sockin SM, Corsello BF, et al. Anaphylaxis during induction of general anesthesia: subsequent evaluation and management. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1990;86:325–332. III.

- 566. Karila C, Brunet-Langot D, Labbez F, et al. Anaphylaxis during anesthesia: results of a 12-year survey at a French pediatric center. *Allergy*. 2005;60:828–834. III.
- Vervloet D. Allergy to muscle relaxants and related compounds. *Clin Allergy*. 1985;15:501–508. IV.
- Moss J. Muscle relaxants and histamine release. Acta Anaesthesiologica Scand. 1995;106:7–12. IV.
- Fisher MM, Munro I. Life-threatening anaphylactoid reactions to muscle relaxants. *Anesth Analg.* 1983;62:559–564. III.
- 570. Baldo BA, Fisher MM. Detection of serum IgE antibodies that react with alcuronium and tubocurarine after life-threatening reactions to muscle relaxant drugs. *Anaesth Intensive Care*. 1983;11:194–197. III.
- 571. Hofer KN, McCarthy MW, Buck ML, et al. Possible anaphylaxis after propofol in a child with food allergy. *Ann Pharmacother*. 2003;37: 398–401. III.
- 572. Marik PE. Propofol: therapeutic indications and side-effects. *Curr Pharm Des.* 2004;10:3639–3649. IV.
- McHale SP, Konieczko K. Anaphylactoid reaction to propofol. *Anaes-thesia*. 1992;47:864–865. III.
- 574. Eberhart AH, Weiler CR, Erie JC. Angioedema related to the use of hyaluronidase in cataract surgery. *Am J Ophthalmol.* 2004;138: 142–143. III.
- 575. Greenberger PA. Plasma anaphylaxis and immediate type reactions. In: Rossi EC, Simon TL, Moss GS, eds. *Principles of Transfusion Medicine*. Baltimore, MD: Williams & Wilkins; 1991:635. IV.
- 576. Lederman HM, Roifman CM, Lavi S, et al. Corticosteroids for prevention of adverse reaction to intravenous immune serum globulin infusions in hypogammaglobulinemic patients. Am J Med. 1986;81: 443–446. III.
- 577. Burks AW, Sampson HA, Buckley RH. Anaphylactic reactions after gamma globulin administration in patients with hypogammaglobulinemia: Detection of IgE antibodies to IgA. N Engl J Med. 1986;314: 560–564. III.
- 578. Ring J, Messmer K. Incidence and severity of anaphylactoid reactions to colloid volume substitutes. *Lancet.* 1977;1:466–469. III.
- Silliman CC, Boshkov LK, Mehdizadehkashi Z, et al. Transfusionrelated acute lung injury: epidemiology and a prospective analysis of etiologic factors. *Blood.* 2003;101:454–462. IIb.
- 580. Fisher MM. Intradermal testing in the diagnosis of acute anaphylaxis during anesthesia: results of five years experience. *Anaesth Intensive Care.* 1979;7:58–61. III.
- 581. Harle DG, Baldo BA, Coroneos NJ, et al. Anaphylaxis following administration of Papaveretum: case Report: implication of IgE antibodies that react with morphine and codeine, and the identification of an allergenic determinant. *Anesthesiology*. 1989;71:489–494. III.
- 582. Tobin MC, Karns K, Anselmino LM, et al. Potentiation of human basophil histamine release by protamine: a new role for polycation recognition site. *Mol Immunol.* 1986;23:245–253. III.
- Dykewicz MS, Kim HW, Orfan N, et al. Immunologic analysis of anaphylaxis to protamine component in NPH human insulin. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1994;93:117–125. III.
- Berkun Y, Haviv YS, Schwartz LB, et al. Heparin-induced recurrent anaphylaxis. *Clin Exp Allergy*. 2004;34:1916–1918. III.
- Wutschert R, Piletta P, Bounameaux H. Adverse skin reactions to low molecular weight heparins: frequency, management and prevention. *Drug Saf.* 1999;20:515–525. III.
- MacLaughlin EJ, Fitzpatrick KT, Sbar E, et al. Anaphylactoid reaction to enoxaparin in a patient with deep venous thrombosis. *Pharmacotherapy*. 2002;22:1511–1515. III.
- MacLean JA, Moscicki R, Bloch KJ. Adverse reactions to heparin. Ann Allergy. 1990;69:254–259. III.
- Veach SA, Franks AM, Allan MC. Severe anaphylactic reaction after repeated intermittent exposure to lepirudin. *Pharmacotherapy*. 2007; 27:760–765. III.
- Chandler MJ, Grammer LC, Patterson R. Provocative challenge with local anesthetics in patients with a prior history of reaction. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1987;79:883–886. IIb.

- 590. Schatz M. Skin testing and incremental challenge in the evaluation of adverse reactions to local anesthetics. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1984; 74:606–616. IIb.
- 591. de Shazo RD, Nelson HS. An approach to the patient with a history of local anesthetic hypersensitivity: experience with 90 patients. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* 1979;63:387–394. III.
- 592. Gall H, Kaufmann R, Dalveram CM. Adverse reactions to local anesthetics: analysis of 197 cases. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1996;97: 933–937. III.
- 593. Berkun Y, Ben-Zvi A, Levy Y, et al. Evaluation of adverse reactions to local anesthetics: experience with 236 patients. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol.* 2003;91:342–345. III.
- 594. Schatz M. Adverse reactions to local anesthetics. *Immunol Allergy Clin N Am.* 1992;12:585–603. IV.
- 595. Macy E, Schatz M, Zeiger RS. Immediate hypersensitivity to methylparaben causing false-positive results of local anesthetic skin testing or provocative dose testing. *Permanente J.* 2002;6:17–21. III.
- 596. Fischel HW, Doust VL. An evaluation of pretesting in the problem of serious and fatal reactions to excretory urography. *Radiology*. 1972; 103:497–501. III.
- 597. Caro JJ, Trindale E, McGregor M. The risk of death and of severe nonfatal reactions with high- versus low-osmolality contrast media: a meta analysis. *AJR Am J Roentgenol.* 1991;156:825–832. IV.
- Laroche D, Namour F, Lefrancois C, et al. Anaphylactoid and anaphylactic reactions to iodinated contrast material. *Allergy*. 1999;54(suppl 58):13–16. III.
- 599. Kanny G, Marie B, Hoen B, et al. Delayed adverse reaction to sodium ioxaglic acid-meglumine. *Eur J Dermatol.* 2001;11:134–137. III.
- 600. Stevenson DD, Sanchez-Borges M, Szczeklik A. Classification of allergic and pseudoallergic reactions to drugs that inhibit cyclooxygenase enzymes. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol.* 2001;87:177–180. IV.
- 601. Jenkins C, Costelo J, Hodge L. Systematic review of prevalence of aspirin induced asthma and its implications for clnical practice. *BMJ*. 2004;328:434. IV.
- 602. Sladek K, Dworski R, Soja J, et al. Eicosanoids in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid of aspirin-intolerant patients with asthma after aspirin challenge. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* 1994;149:940–946. IIb.
- 603. Smith CM, Hawksworth RJ, Thien FC, et al. Urinary leukotriene E4 in bronchial asthma. *Eur Respir J.* 1992;5:693–699. IIb.
- 604. Christie PE, Tagari P, Ford-Hutchinson AW, et al. Urinary leukotriene E4 concentrations increase after aspirin challenge in aspirin-sensitive asthmatic subjects. *Am Rev Respir Dis.* 1991;143:1025–1029. IIb.
- 605. Sanak M, Simon HU, Szczeklik A. Leukotriene C4 synthase promoter polymorphism and risk of aspirin-induced asthma. *Lancet.* 1997;350: 1599–1600. IIb.
- 606. Kim SH, Oh JM, Kim YS, et al. Cysteinyl leukotriene receptor 1 promoter polymorphism is associated with aspirin-intolerant asthma in males. *Clin Exp Allergy*. 2006;36:433–439. IIb.
- 607. Kim SH, Kim YK, Park HW, et al. Association between polymorphisms in prostanoid receptor genes and aspirin-intolerant asthma. *Pharmacogenet Genomics*. 2007;17:295–304. IIb.
- 608. Kim SH, Choi JH, Park HS, et al. Association of thromboxane A2 receptor gene polymorphism with the phenotype of acetyl salicylic acid-intolerant asthma. *Clin Exp Allergy*. 2005;35:585–590. IIb.
- 609. Kim SH, Hur GY, Choi JH, et al. Pharmacogenetics of aspirinintolerant asthma. *Pharmacogenomics*. 2008;9:85–91. IV.
- 610. Ferreri NR, Howland WC, Stevenson DD, et al. Release of leukotrienes, prostaglandins, and histamine into nasal secretions of aspirinsensitive asthmatics during reaction to aspirin. *Am Rev Respir Dis.* 1988;137:847–854. IIa.
- 611. Settipane RA, Shrank PJ, Simon RA, et al. Prevalence of crosssensitivity with acetaminophen in aspirin-sensitive asthmatic subjects. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* 1995;96:480–485. IIa.
- 612. Juergens UR, Christiansen SC, Stevenson DD, et al. Inhibition of monocyte leukotriene B4 production after aspirin desensitization. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1995;96:148–156. IIb.

- 613. Nasser SM, Patel M, Bell GS, et al. The effect of aspirin desensitization on urinary leukotriene E4 concentrations in aspirin-sensitive asthma. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* 1995;151:1326–1330. IIb.
- 614. Warren RP. Effect of aspirin in chronic urticaria. Br J Dermatol. 1960;72:350–355. IV.
- Moore-Robinson M, Warin RP. Effect of salicylates in urticaria. Br Med J. 1967;4:262–264. IV.
- 616. Himly M, Jahn-Schmid B, Pittertschatscher K, et al. IgE-mediated immediate-type hypersensitivity to the pyrazolone drug propyphenazone. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2003;111:882–888. III.
- Gagnon R, Marlene J, Gold P. Selective celecoxib-associated anaphylactoid reaction. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2003;111:1404–1405. III.
- Levy MB, Fink JN. Anaphylaxis to celecoxib. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. 2001;87:72–73. III.
- Asero R. Intolerance to nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs might precede by years the onset of chronic urticaria. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* 2003;111:1095–1098. III.
- Stevenson DD. Aspirin and NSAID sensitivity. *Immunol Allergy Clin* N Am. 2004;24:491–505. IV.
- 621. Simon RA, Namazy J. Adverse reactions to aspirin and nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs (NSAIDs). *Clin Rev Allergy. Immunology*. 2003;24:239–252. IV.
- 622. Camara MG, Almeda FQ. Clopidogrel (Plavix) desensitization: a case series. *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv.* 2005;65:525–527. III.
- 623. Doogue MP, Begg EJ, Bridgman P. Clopidogrel hypersensitivity syndrome with rash, fever, and neutropenia. *Mayo Clin Proc.* 2005;80: 1368–1370. III.
- 624. von Tiehl KF, Price MJ, Valencia R, et al. Clopidogrel desensitization after drug-eluting stent placement. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2007;50: 2039–2043.
- 625. Bateman DN, Dyson EH. Quinine toxicity. Adverse Drug React Acute Poisoning Rev. 1986;5:215–233. IV.
- Lacourciere Y, Brunner H, Irwin R, et al. Effects of modulators of the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system on cough. *J Hypertension*. 1994; 12:1387–1393. Ib.
- 627. Benz J, Oshrain C, Henry D, et al. Valsartan, a new angiotensin II receptor antagonist: a double-blind study comparing the incidence of cough with lisinopril and hydrochlorothiazide. *J Clin Pharmacol.* 1997; 37:101–107. Ib.
- 628. Paster RZ, Snavely DB, Sweet AR, et al. Use of losartan in the treatment of hypertensive patients with a history of cough induced by angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors. *Clin Ther.* 1998;20: 978–989. Ib.
- 629. Warrier MR, Copilevitz CA, Dykewicz MS, et al. Fresh frozen plasma in the treatment of resistant angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor angioedema. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. 2004;94:573–575. III.
- 630. Kyrmizakis DE, Papadakis CE, Liolios AD, et al. Angiotensinconverting enzyme inhibitors and angiotensin II receptor antagonists. *Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg.* 2004;130:1416–1419. III.
- Cicardi M, Zingale LC, Bergamaschini L, et al. Angioedema associated with angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor use. *Ann Intern Med.* 2004;164:910–913. IIb.
- 632. Brown DL, Login IS, Borish L, et al. An urticarial IgE-mediated reaction to interferon beta-1b. *Neurology*. 2001;56:1416–1417. III.
- 633. Guillot B, Blazquez L, Bessis D, et al. A prospective study of cutaneous adverse events induced by low-dose alpha-interferon treatment for malignant melanoma. *Dermatology*. 2004;208:49–54. III.
- 634. Mazzeo L, Ricciardi L, Fazio MC, et al. Severe urticaria due to recombinant interferon beta-1a. *Br J Dermatol.* 2003;148:172. III.
- 635. Pinto JM, Marques MS, Correia TE. Lichen planus and leukocytoclastic vasculitis induced by interferon alpha-2b in a subject with HCVrelated chronic active hepatitis. *J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol.* 2003; 17:193–195. III.
- 636. Sanders S, Busam K, Tahan SR, et al. Granulomatous and suppurative dermatitis at interferon alfa injection sites: report of 2 cases. *J Am Acad Dermatol.* 2002;46:611–616. III.
- 637. Tai YJ, Tam M. Fixed drug eruption with interferon-beta-1b. *Australas J Dermatol.* 2005;46:154–157. III.

- 638. Al-Zahrani H, Gupta V, Minden MD, et al. Vascular events associated with alpha interferon therapy. *Leuk Lymphoma*. 2003;44:471–475. III.
- 639. Batisse D, Karmochkine M, Jacquot C, et al. Sustained exacerbation of cryoglobulinaemia-related vasculitis following treatment of hepatitis C with peginterferon alfa. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol.* 2004;16: 701–713. III.
- 640. Corona T, Leon C, Ostrosky-Zeichner L. Severe anaphylaxis with recombinant interferon beta. *Neurology*. 1999;52:425. III.
- 641. Ohmoto K, Yamamoto S. Angioedema after interferon therapy for chronic hepatitis C. Am J Gastroenterol. 2001;96:1311–1312. III.
- 642. Alexandrescu DT, Maddukuri P, Wiernik PH, et al. Thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura/hemolytic uremic syndrome associated with highdose interleukin-2 for the treatment of metastatic melanoma. *J Immunother*. 2005;28:144–147. III.
- 643. Rechner I, Brito-Babapulle F, Fielden J. Systemic capillary leak syndrome after granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF). *Hematol J.* 2003;4:54–56. III.
- 644. Kolho KL, Ruuska T, Savilahti E. Severe adverse reactions to Infliximab therapy are common in young children with inflammatory bowel disease. Acta Paediatr. 2007;96:128–130. III.
- 645. Voulgari PV, Alamanos Y, Nikas SN, et al. Infliximab therapy in established rheumatoid arthritis: an observational study. *Am J Med.* 2005;118:515–520. III.
- 646. Shin IS, Baer AN, Kwon HJ, et al. Guillain-Barre and Miller Fisher syndromes occurring with tumor necrosis factor alpha antagonist therapy. *Arthritis Rheum.* 2006;54:1429–1434. III.
- 647. Tektonidou MG, Serelis J, Skopouli FN. Peripheral neuropathy in two patients with rheumatoid arthritis receiving infliximab treatment. *Clin Rheumatol.* 2007;26:258–260. III.
- 648. Baudouin V, Crusiaux A, Haddad E, et al. Anaphylactic shock caused by immunoglobulin E sensitization after retreatment with the chimeric anti-interleukin-2 receptor monoclonal antibody basiliximab. *Transplantation*. 2003;76:459–463. III.
- 649. Leonard PA, Woodside KJ, Gugliuzza KK, et al. Safe administration of a humanized murine antibody after anaphylaxis to a chimeric murine antibody. *Transplantation*. 2002;74:1697–1700. III.
- 650. Plevy S, Salzberg B, Van Assche G, et al. A phase I study of visilizumab, a humanized anti-CD3 monoclonal antibody, in severe steroidrefractory ulcerative colitis. *Gastroenterology*. 2007;133:1414–1422. IIb.
- 651. Hanbali A, Wollner I, Neme K, et al. Fatal hypersensitivity reaction to gemtuzumab ozogamicin associated with platelet transfusion. Am J Health Syst Pharm. 2007;64:1401–1402. III.
- 652. Scheinfeld N. Efalizumab: a review of events reported during clinical trials and side effects. *Expert Opin Drug Saf.* 2006;5:197–209. IV.
- 653. Finger E, Scheinberg M. Development of serum sickness-like symptoms after rituximab infusion in two patients with severe hypergammaglobulinemia. J Clin Rheumatol. 2007;13:94–95. III.
- 654. Krumbholz M, Pellkofer H, Gold R, et al. Delayed allergic reaction to natalizumab associated with early formation of neutralizing antibodies. *Arch Neurol.* 2007;64:1331–1333. III.
- 655. MacDonald JK, McDonald JW. Natalizumab for induction of remission in Crohn's disease. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2007:CD006097. Ia.
- 656. Limb SL, Starke PR, Lee CE, et al. Delayed onset and protracted progression of anaphylaxis after omalizumab administration in patients with asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2007;120:1378–1381. IV.
- 657. Cersosimo RJ. Monoclonal antibodies in the treatment of cancer, part 1. Am J Health Syst Pharm. 2003;60:1531–1548. IV.
- 658. Cersosimo RJ. Monoclonal antibodies in the treatment of cancer, part 2. *Am J Health Syst Pharm.* 2003;60:1631–1633. IV.
- 659. Schraven B, Kalinke U. CD28 superagonists: what makes the difference in humans? *Immunity*. 2008;28:591–595. III.
- 660. Haider I, Cahill M. Fatal thrombocytopaenia temporally related to the administration of alemtuzumab (MabCampath) for refractory CLL de-

spite early discontinuation of therapy. *Hematology*. 2004;9:409-411. III.

- 661. Sato A, Sakashita A, Taguchi S. Hypersensitivity reactions to cancer chemotherapeutic agents [in Japanese]. *Gan To Kagaku Ryoho*. 2003; 30:793–800. III.
- 662. Tada K, Ito Y, Hatake K, et al. Severe infusion reaction induced by trastuzumab: a case report. *Breast Cancer*. 2003;10:167–169. III.
- 663. Melamed J, Stahlman JE. Rapid desensitization and rush immunotherapy to trastuzumab (Herceptin). J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2002;110: 813–814. III.
- 664. O'Brien SM, Cunningham CC, Golenkov AK, et al. Phase I to II multicenter study of oblimersen sodium, a Bcl-2 antisense oligonucleotide, in patients with advanced chronic lymphocytic leukemia. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23:7697–7702. III.
- 665. Audicana M, Bernedo N, Gonzalez I, et al. An unusual case of baboon syndrome due to mercury present in a homeopathic medicine. *Contact Dermatitis.* 2001;45:185. III.
- 666. de Medeiros LM, Fransway AF, Taylor JS, et al. Complementary and alternative remedies: an additional source of potential systemic nickel exposure. *Contact Dermatitis*. 2008;58:97–100. III.
- 667. Ou LS, Kuo ML, Huang JL. Anaphylaxis to riboflavin (vitamin B2). Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. 2001;87:430-433. III.
- 668. Riegert-Johnson DL, Volcheck GW. The incidence of anaphylaxis following intravenous phytonadione (vitamin K1): a 5-year retrospective review. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. 2002;89:400–406. III.
- 669. Lynch RM, Robertson R. Anaphylactoid reactions to intravenous N-acetylcysteine: a prospective case controlled study. Accid Emerg Nurs. 2004;12:10–15. IIb.
- 670. Bailie GR, Clark JA, Lane CE, et al. Hypersensitivity reactions and deaths associated with intravenous iron preparations. *Nephrol Dial Transplant.* 2005;20:1443–1449. III.
- 671. Keller B, Yawalkar N, Pichler C, et al. Hypersensitivity reaction against patent blue during sentinel lymph node removal in three melanoma patients. *Am J Surg.* 2007;193:122–124. IV.
- 672. Laurie SA, Khan DA, Gruchalla RS, et al. Anaphylaxis to isosulfan blue. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. 2002;88:64-66. II.
- 673. Mertes PM, Malinovsky JM, Mouton-Faivre C, et al. Anaphylaxis to dyes during the perioperative period: reports of 14 clinical cases. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2008;122:348–352. III.
- 674. Monaghan MS, Glasco G, St John G, et al. Safe administration of iron dextran to a patient who reacted to the test dose. *South Med J*. 1994;87:1010–1012. III.
- 675. Gunnison AF, Jaconsen DW. Sulfite sensitivity: a critical review. Crit Rev Toxicol. 1987;17:185–214. IV.
- 676. Nowak-Wegrzyn A, Shapiro GG, Beyer K, et al. Contamination of dry powder inhalers for asthma with milk proteins containing lactose. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2004;113:558–560. III.
- 677. Shaheen MZ, Ayres JG, Benincasa C. Incidence of acute decreases in peak expiratory flow following the use of metered-dose inhalers in asthmatic patients. *Eur Respir J.* 1994;7:2160–2164. Ib.
- 678. Hegde VL, Venkatesh YP. Anaphylaxis to excipient mannitol: evidence for an immunoglobulin E-mediated mechanism. *Clin Exp Allergy*. 2004;34:1602–1609. III.
- 679. Sullivan TJ. Drug allergy. In: Middleton E, Reed CE, Ellis EF, et al, eds. *Allergy: Principles and Practice*. 4th ed. St. Louis, MO: Mosby; 1993:1726–1746. III.
- 680. Gompels MM, Simpson N, Snow M, et al. Desensitization to cotrimoxazole (trimethoprim-sulphamethoxazole) in HIV-infected patients: is patch testing a useful predictor of reaction? J Infect. 1999;38:111–115. III.
- Stevenson DD, Simon RA. Selection of patients for aspirin desensitization treatment. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2006;118:801–804. IV.
- 682. Macy E, Bernstein JA, Castells MC, et al. Aspirin challenge and desensitization for aspirin-exacerbated respiratory disease: a practice paper. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. 2007;98:172–174. IV.